HOW DO EMOTIONS AND FEELINGS REGULATE PHYSICAL ACTIVITY?

EDITED BY: Darko Jekauc and Ralf Brand PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychology





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

> ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-271-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-271-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

HOW DO EMOTIONS AND FEELINGS REGULATE PHYSICAL ACTIVITY?

Topic Editors: **Darko Jekauc,** Goethe University Frankfurt, Germany **Ralf Brand,** University of Potsdam, Germany

Up to date the scientific discussion about how frequency and regularity of physical activity can be increased is dominated by social-cognitive models. However, increasing evidence suggests that emotions and feelings have greater influence on physical activity than originally assumed (Rhodes, Fiala, & Conner, 2009). Generally speaking, humans possess an evaluative system with a basic action tendency to approach pleasurable events and to avoid aversive ones (Cacioppo & Berntson, 1999). Evaluative responses to a behavior and associated emotional states may influence a decision regarding whether or not to repeat being physically active. Generally, behavior associated with positive evaluations has a higher probability of being repeated than behaviors without such an association. On the contrary, an association with negative evaluations tends to decrease the probability of repeating to be physically active. Hence, evaluative responses to physical activity or the related situation can be an important aspect in the process of physical activity maintenance (McAuley et al., 2007).

Several social-cognitive models of behavior change and maintenance were recently extended to take the influence of affective responses into account, in a way that variables already included in the models (e.g. outcome expectancies or attitudes) were more clearly articulated into their cognitive and affective components. For example, with regard to Social Cognitive Theory, Gellert, Ziegelmann and Schwarzer (2012) proposed to distinguish between affective and health-related outcome expectancies, and in the Theory of Planned Behavior, researchers suggested to differentiate between cognitive and affective attitudes (Lawton, Conner, & McEachan, 2009). The results of these and other studies suggest that affective components make a unique contribution to the explanation of the physical activity behavior (Brand, 2006). Other examples come from social cognition research, where it was shown that automatic evaluative responses are part of our everyday life and that they decisively influence health behavior (Hofmann, Friese, & Wiers, 2008). Accordingly, there is evidence that people who exercise regulary hold more positive automatic evaluations with exercise than non-exercisers (Bluemke, Brand, Schweizer, & Kahlert, 2010).

Although significant progress has been made in showing that evaluative responses to physical activity and associated emotional states are important predictors of physical activity underlying psychological processes are far from being fully understood. Some important issues still remain to be resolved. Which role play affective states compared to concrete emotions when influencing physical activity? How do affective states and emotions interact with cognitive variables such as intentions? Are evaluative processes before, during or after physical activity important to predict future physical activity? Do negative and positive evaluations interact antagonistically or rather

synergistically when physical activity as a new behavior shall be adopted? Future research will help us to resolve these and a lot of other so far unresolved issues.

Literature

- Bluemke, M., Brand, R., Schweizer, G., & Kahlert, D. (2010). Exercise might be good for me, but I don't feel good about it: Do automatic associations predict exercise behavior. J Sport Exerc Psychol, 32(2), 137-153.
- Brand, R. (2006). The role of the affective attitudinal component in explaining physical exercise participation. Zeitschrift für Sportpsychologie, 13(4), 147-155.
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Berntson, G. G. (1999). The Affect System Architecture and Operating Characteristics. Current directions in psychological science, 8(5), 133-137. doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.00031
- Gellert, P., Ziegelmann, J. P., & Schwarzer, R. (2012). Affective and health-related outcome expectancies for physical activity in older adults. Psychology and Health, 27(7), 816-828.
- Hofmann, W., Friese, M., & Wiers, R. W. (2008). Impulsive versus reflective influences on health behavior: A theoretical framework and empirical review. Health Psychology Review, 2(2), 111-137.
- Lawton, R., Conner, M., & McEachan, R. (2009). Desire or reason: predicting health behaviors from affective and cognitive attitudes. Health Psychology, 28(1), 56-65.
- McAuley, E., Morris, K. S., Motl, R. W., Hu, L., Konopack, J. F., & Elavsky, S. (2007). Long-term follow-up of physical activity behavior in older adults. Health Psychology, 26(3), 375-380.
- Rhodes, R. E., Fiala, B., & Conner, M. (2009). A review and meta-analysis of affective judgments and physical activity in adult populations. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 38(3), 180-204.

Citation: Jekauc, D., Brand, R., eds. (2017). How Do Emotions and Feelings Regulate Physical Activity? Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-271-2

Table of Contents

Chapter I: Editorial

06 Editorial: How do Emotions and Feelings Regulate Physical Activity? Darko Jekauc and Ralf Brand

Chapter II: The Role of Affective Variables in the Social-Cognitive Perspective

09 Fulfilled Emotional Outcome Expectancies Enable Successful Adoption and Maintenance of Physical Activity

Verena Klusmann, Lisa Musculus, Gudrun Sproesser and Britta Renner

19 Physical Activity Enjoyment and Self-Efficacy As Predictors of Cancer Patients' Physical Activity Level

Nadine Ungar, Joachim Wiskemann and Monika Sieverding

29 Relationships between Psychophysiological Responses to Cycling Exercise and Post-Exercise Self-Efficacy

Eriko Matsuo, Shigeru Matsubara, Seigo Shiga and Kentaro Yamanak

Chapter III: New Theoretical Approaches to Affective Mechanisms

- **37** *The Exercise–Affect–Adherence Pathway: An Evolutionary Perspective* Harold H. Lee, Jessica A. Emerson and David M. Williams
- **48** Exercising for the Pleasure and for the Pain of It: The Implications of Different Forms of Hedonistic Thinking in Theories of Physical Activity Behavior Stephen L. Murphy and Daniel L. Eaves

Chapter IV: Determinants of Affective Variables

- **51 A Qualitative Analysis of Emotional Facilitators in Exercise** Benjamin Wienke and Darko Jekauc
- 64 Exercise Experiences and Changes in Affective Attitude: Direct and Indirect Effects of In Situ Measurements of Experiences Gorden Sudeck, Julia Schmid and Achim Conzelmann
- 79 Task Performance and Meta-Cognitive Outcomes When Using Activity Workstations and Traditional Desks June J. Pilcher and Victoria C. Baker
- 85 Understanding the Reasons behind Anticipated Regret for Missing Regular Physical Activity
 Ryan E. Rhodes and Chetan D. Mistry

Chapter V: Affective Variables as Determinants of Daily Physical Activity

91 The Acute Relationships Between Affect, Physical Feeling States, and Physical Activity in Daily Life: A Review of Current Evidence

Yue Liao, Eleanor T. Shonkoff and Genevieve F. Dunton

- 98 Affect and Subsequent Physical Activity: An Ambulatory Assessment Study Examining the Affect-Activity Association in a Real-Life Context Christina Y. N. Niermann, Christian Herrmann, Birte von Haaren, Dave van Kann and Alexander Woll
- 108 The Bidirectional Effect between Momentary Affective States and Exercise Duration on a Day Level

Anna Schöndube, Martina Kanning and Reinhard Fuchs

- 116 Momentary Affective States Are Associated with Momentary Volume, Prospective Trends, and Fluctuation of Daily Physical Activity Martina K. Kanning and Dominik Schoebi
- 124 Within-Subject Associations between Mood Dimensions and Non-exercise Activity: An Ambulatory Assessment Approach Using Repeated Real-Time and Objective Data

Markus Reichert, Heike Tost, Iris Reinhard, Alexander Zipf, Hans-Joachim Salize, Andreas Meyer-Lindenberg and Ulrich W. Ebner-Priemer

Chapter VI: Non-conscious Mechanisms and Automatic Evaluations

135 Dropping Out or Keeping Up? Early-Dropouts, Late-Dropouts, and Maintainers Differ in Their Automatic Evaluations of Exercise Already before a 14-Week Exercise Course

Franziska Antoniewicz and Ralf Brand

143 Automatic Evaluation Stimuli – The Most Frequently Used Words to Describe Physical Activity and the Pleasantness of Physical Activity

Amanda L. Rebar, Stephanie Schoeppe, Stephanie J. Alley, Camille E. Short, James A. Dimmock, Ben Jackson, David E. Conroy, Ryan E. Rhodes and Corneel Vandelanotte





Editorial: How do Emotions and Feelings Regulate Physical Activity?

Darko Jekauc^{1*} and Ralf Brand²

¹ Institute for Sport Science, Humboldt University of Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² Department for Sport and Exercise Psychology, University of Potsdam, Potsdam, Germany

Keywords: physical activity, exercise, emotions, feelings, affect, regulation, implicit, enjoyment

Editorial on the Research Topic

How do Emotions and Feelings Regulate Physical Activity?

Intuitively, it is obvious that emotions and feelings influence our behavior. Therefore, it can be assumed that activities we like will be pursued with greater engagement and persistence than activities we do not like. When people feel good during or after physical activity, it can be expected that they will be more prone to repeat that behavior.

Despite this apparent relationship, affective states have been long ignored as a possible determinant of physical activity. In the last 15 years, however, the interest of researchers in affective determinants of physical activity erratically increased. Two reviews and meta-analyses have been conducted to summarize the empirical evidence for this relationship showing that only few longitudinal studies with remarkable methodological shortcomings exist (Rhodes et al., 2009; Rhodes and Kates, 2015). Furthermore, these reviews reveal that the underlying mechanisms are not well understood. For example, in 19 out of 20 identified experimental studies in the metaanalysis by Rhodes et al. (2009) affective variables were not influenced by the current intervention strategies. Only few studies used interventions explicitly targeting emotions and affective states to increase exercise adherence (Jekauc, 2015). Overall, it can be concluded that some empirical endeavors exist to analyze the role of affective states as determinants of physical activity but there are no fruitful theoretical frameworks to inspire research. The aim of this Research Topic is to make a contribution to close this research gap. It yielded 16 articles embedded in five strands of research. Firstly, three articles examined the role of affective variables within the scope of the socialcognitive perspective. Secondly, two articles proposed new theoretical approaches to understand the affective mechanisms in promotion of physical activity. Thirdly, four articles examined the determinants of affective variables. Fourthly, five articles examined the effects of affective variables on consecutive physical activity on a daily level using the methodology of ambulatory assessment. Fifthly, two articles examined non-conscious mechanisms by studying automatic evaluations. These five research strands are presented below.

One reason for the above mentioned shortage of theoretical development is that social-cognitive models dominated physical activity research for several decades (Jekauc et al., 2015). These models focused on cognitive mechanisms and neglected the role of affective states and emotions. More recently, researchers operating within the scope of *social-cognitive perspective* began to examine the role of affective variables. Klusmann et al. examined the role of emotional outcome expectancies

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Guy Cheron, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium

> *Correspondence: Darko Jekauc darko.jekauc@hu-berlin.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 18 March 2017 Accepted: 22 June 2017 Published: 11 July 2017

Citation:

Jekauc D and Brand R (2017) Editorial: How do Emotions and Feelings Regulate Physical Activity? Front. Psychol. 8:1145. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01145

within the framework of social-cognitive models and found that fulfillment of emotional outcome expectancies emerges as a significant predictor of adoption and maintenance of physical activity. Furthermore, two studies examined the role and the interdependencies of affective variables and self-efficacy in physical activity setting. Ungar et al. show that physical activity enjoyment was as strong predictor of physical activity level as self-efficacy in cancer patients. This study suggests that physical activity enjoyment has an independent and equal effect on physical activity level as self-efficacy. At the same time, Matsuo et al. provide evidence that post-exercise self-efficacy is related to subjective and objective measures of affectivestates indicating that self-efficacy and affective states are mutually dependent on each other. These three studies suggest that the effects of affective variables on physical activity are independent of self-efficacy whereas they both interact with each other at the same time. These studies imply that theoretical developments to extend social-cognitive models might be a promising way to examine the role of emotions and affects in physical activity maintenance.

Within the scope of this Research Topic, alternative theoretical approaches have been developed to understand the role of affective variables on physical activity. Lee et al. propose an evolutionary perspective hypothesizing that affective response to exercise will be more positive when the perceived immediate utility of the physical activity is high. The authors argue that promotion of activities which have an inherent utility like walking for transportation could be an effective strategy to increase physical activity levels. Furthermore, Murphy and Eaves discuss the hedonic perspective to explain the effects of affective variable on physical activity and point to the indiscriminant use of hedonistic terms in different areas of psychology and philosophy. Both perspectives provide innovative ideas which could be fertile for development of new intervention approaches beyond social-cognitive models.

A group of researchers examined with different methodological approaches the determinants of affective variables. Wienke and Jekauc examined the conditions of exercise under which enjoyment and positive emotions emerge. They discovered four factors, "perceived competence," "social interaction," "novelty experience," and "perceived physical exertion" which are associated with positive emotions. Independently, Sudeck et al. examined how two of these factors "perception of competence" and "perceived exertion" as well as "affective response to exercise" influence the development of affective attitude. The authors found out that perceptions of competence have a direct effect on changes in affective attitude whereas the effect of perceived exertion was indirect via positive activation influences on the development of affective attitude. Furthermore, Pilcher and Baker showed that physical activity at work on a stationary bike with a low level of exertion led to increases in positive affective states compared with the traditional work situation of sitting at an office desk. This study illustrates that low intensity physical activity at an active workstation increases positive feelings during work without having a negative effect on cognitive tasks. Rhodes and Mistry examined the reasons for anticipated regret over missing regular physical activity. The authors identified three dominating themes "missed opportunity to obtain the benefits of physical activity," "shame and guilt for not being able to follow-through with one's goals," and "perceived pressure from others." These studies can be used as a starting point for the development of innovative emotion-based interventions to promote physical activity.

An innovative methodological approach that examines the relationship between physical activity and affective states on a daily basis is the ambulatory assessment method. In a review conducted by Liao et al., six studies were identified that examined the relationship between affective states and subsequent physical activity. The findings suggest that positive affective states, for a few hours afterwards, were positively associated with physical activity while negative affective states had no significant association. These findings were confirmed in the studies by Niermann et al., Schöndube et al., Reichert et al., and Kanning and Schoebi which consistently showed that positive feelings and moods were positively associated with subsequent physical activity. In contrast to the findings of Liao et al., Niermann et al. found that negative affect decreased subsequent MVPA. This number of studies reflects the usefulness of the ambulatory assessment method for the examination of the relationship between affective states and physical activity. It illustrates how technological developments influence research in physical activity.

Another theoretical approach exceeding social-cognitive models represents the analysis of non-conscious processes such as *automatic evaluations*. Antoniewicz and Brand discovered that automatic evaluations of exercise at the beginning of an exercise program significantly predicts exercise adherence in the upcoming months. The study reveals the significance of non-conscious processes for maintenance of physical activity. Furthermore, Rebar et al. establish population-level evidence of the most common word stimuli for physical activity and pleasantness. These can be used as resources for response latency measurement tasks of automatic evaluations and as tools to enhance automatic evaluations of physical activity in evaluative conditioning tasks.

The aim of this Research Topic was to stimulate and pool systematic research on the role of emotions and feelings as predictors of physical activity. Several theoretical and empirical works contributed toward deepening the understanding of the working mechanisms.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Jekauc, D. (2015). Enjoyment during exercise mediates the effects of an intervention on exercise adherence. *Psychology* 6, 48–54. doi: 10.4236/psych.2015.61005
- Jekauc, D., Völkle, M., Wagner, M. O., Mess, F., Reiner, M., and Renner, B. (2015). Prediction of attendance at fitness center: a comparison between the theory of planned behavior, the social cognitive theory, and the physical activity maintenance theory. *Front. Psychol.* 6:121. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00121
- Rhodes, R. E., Fiala, B., and Conner, M. (2009). A review and meta-analysis of affective judgments and physical activity in adult populations. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 180–204. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9147-y
- Rhodes, R. E., and Kates, A. (2015). Can the affective response to exercise predict future motives and physical activity behavior? A systematic review of

published evidence. Ann. Behav. Med. 49, 715–731. doi: 10.1007/s12160-015-9 704-5

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Jekauc and Brand. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Fulfilled Emotional Outcome Expectancies Enable Successful Adoption and Maintenance of Physical Activity

Verena Klusmann^{1*}, Lisa Musculus^{1,2}, Gudrun Sproesser¹ and Britta Renner¹

¹ Department of Psychology, Psychological Assessment and Health Psychology, University of Konstanz, Konstanz, Germany, ² Department of Psychology, German Sport University Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Although outcome expectancies are regarded as key determinants of health behavior change, studies on the role of their degree of fulfillment in long-term activity changes are lacking. This study investigated the impact of (un-)fulfilled outcome expectancies (OE) on (un-)successful attempts to increase physical activity, assuming that disengagement is the logical consequence of perceived futility. Participants (n = 138) of a longitudinal cohort study with three measurement waves were assigned to eight different groups according to a staging algorithm of their self-reported, 1-year-long physical activity behavior track. Stages were validated by objective changes in objective fitness, e.g., Physical Working Capacity (PWC). Social cognitive variables, self-efficacy, proximal and distal OE, and fulfillment of OE, were assessed via self-report. Discriminant analyses revealed that OE fulfillment was the predominant predictor for differentiating between successful and unsuccessful behavior change. Amongst OE, proximal OE concerning emotional rewards, in conjunction with action self-efficacy, further improved discriminatory power. OE adjustment warranting hedonic rewards appears to be a crucial mechanism as it facilitates long-term changes through interventions aimed at increasing physical activity rates. Theoretical models might benefit by including the concept of fulfilled expectations acting in terms of feedback loops between volitional and motivational processes.

Keywords: fulfillment of outcome expectancies, emotional rewards, adoption of physical activity, maintenance of physical activity, stages of behavior, longitudinal cohort study, health behavior change process

INTRODUCTION

Outcome expectancies (OE) attribute value to human action: Without expectations of resultant benefit, the likelihood of health behavior decreases. People might, for example, not question whether they could wear a helmet when riding a bicycle, but whether they decide to do so greatly depends on the belief that this is an effective tool for increasing safety. Thus, alongside self-efficacy beliefs (i.e., the self-conviction that someone is able to perform a behavior even in the face of obstacles and barriers), OE (i.e., providing the value of a behavior) are needed to enable people to form an intention to adopt a certain behavior (Bandura, 2001).

The readiness to act depends on the value of expected outcomes (e.g., Atkinson, 1957). As a core concept in enabling behavior changes, OE have long been established in common health behavior

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Ralf Schwarzer, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany Ines Pfeffer, University of Konstanz, Germany Sandra Klaperski, University of Roehampton, UK

*Correspondence: Verena Klusmann verena klusmann@uni-konstanz.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 23 July 2015 Accepted: 05 October 2015 Published: 06 January 2016

Citation:

Klusmann V, Musculus L, Sproesser G and Renner B (2016) Fulfilled Emotional Outcome Expectancies Enable Successful Adoption and Maintenance of Physical Activity. Front. Psychol. 6:1990. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01990 change models as, for example, perceived benefit in the Health Belief Model (Stretcher et al., 1997), behavioral beliefs in the Theory of Planned Behavior (Ajzen, 1991, 1998), or, more specifically, OE in the Health Action Process Approach (Schwarzer, 1992, 2008a). OE have the form of if-then assumptions (like "If I exercise, then I will..."). These refer to expected consequences of courses of action that differ in the degree of desire and probability (Heckhausen, 1977; Bandura, 2001). These expectations result from a contemplation process with a thorough balancing of pros and cons of anticipated behavioral outcomes. Classically, OE-values refer to positive psychological effects (e.g., fun, relaxation, companionship), body image (e.g., appearance, self-image, confidence), or health benefits (Steinhardt and Dishman, 1989; Schwarzer, 2008a).

Existing research has predominantly focused on self-efficacy beliefs, relegating OE the role of antecedents (Williams, 2010). This is surprising, given that OE were shown to be the most powerful predictor of intention in different longitudinal studies (Renner and Schwarzer, 2000), translating threat appraisals and risk perceptions into action (Renner and Schupp, 2011). Following a dynamic perspective (Renner et al., 2012a), OE are important for moving people from a pre-intending to an intending, that is, a pre-active stage of behavior change (Schwarzer, 2008a). OE are likely to remain important after individuals have formed an intention throughout the whole action process (see Fuchs, 1994). Although not specifying their direct effect on behavior, post-intentional changes of OE were assumed to determine the predictive power of the construct in the volitional phase (Schwarzer, 2008b). Specifically, proximal OE, comprising affective expectations directly related to emotional states during or directly after physical activity, predict physical activity behavior to a greater degree than distal OE, which encompass long-term consequences (Gellert et al., 2012).

In terms of a dynamic feedback loop, OE gain volitional relevance according to the degree of fulfillment: If our expectations are met, it is worth investing the effort. This loop fuels the behavior change process (Rothman, 2000; Fuchs, 2013; Loehr et al., 2014). However, the absence of desired outcomes leads to a deadlock where good intentions weaken or fade and a long-term change of habits becomes unlikely.

The World Health Organization (WHO, 2010) identified the lack of sufficient physical activity as the fourth leading risk factor for global mortality. Thus, raising physical activity levels is still an essential societal goal since for example in Germany more than 75% of the population do not meet common activity recommendations (Krug et al., 2013). Interventions designed to improve this key health behavior often fail to attain long-lasting changes in exercise behavior (e.g., Schwarzer, 2008a; Evers et al., 2012; Renner et al., 2012a). It has also been shown that affective attitude is a significant predictor of physical activity behavior (Conner et al., 2015) and positive activity experiences are important boosters for motivation and stamina (Klusmann et al., 2011). Positive exercise experiences were recently introduced as an additional predictor for changes in physical exercise levels over and above well-established social-cognitive variables (Fleig et al., 2011; Parschau et al., 2013, 2014). In line with the assumption on dynamic feedback loops, a study by Loehr and colleagues (2014) showed that daily-assessed positive physical activity experiences led to higher OE in the following week while negative experiences were followed by lower OE. Basen-Engquist and colleagues (2013) demonstrated that morning positive outcome expectancies were associated with subsequent exercise minutes at the same day, whereas negative outcome expectancies were not. Moreover, spontaneous enumeration of OE resulted in more positive OE (Rhodes and Conner, 2010). Thus, particularly positive emotional OE and their fulfillment might be important for successful adoption and maintenance of physical activity.

The aims of this study were (1) to assess behavior change trajectories concerning the adoption and maintenance of physical activity within the natural dynamics of social cognition and behavior in everyday life, (2) to validate these trajectories with objective indicators, and (3) to clarify the subjective social-cognitive dynamics of behavior change, focusing on the trajectories of those who attempted to become more physically active irrespective of the amount of objective physical activity. We assumed that if physical activity does lead to the expected outcomes, this boosts the behavior change process. In contrast, if expectancies are not met, behavior disengagement is a likely consequence.

Using longitudinal self-report activity data captured over 1 year and objective fitness parameters, the present study analyzes the dynamics between OE, OE fulfillment, and physical activity. As intended behavior initiation is critical to answering the pivotal question of whether OE come true, the target group comprised people with the attempt to become more physically active. To investigate behavior change dynamics within a real-life context, we assessed physical activity within a cohort study and in everyday life without additional interventions.

We developed a three-step staging algorithm to differentiate people with characteristic profiles of physical activity trajectories, based on classical approaches to assess behavior stages (see Prochaska et al., 1992; Schwarzer, 1992, 2008a; Weinstein and Sandman, 1992; for an overview and discussion see: Sutton, 2005). Further, we used direct measures, that is, people's selfevaluations of how successful were their attempts to translate intentions into action. This format fits with our aim to assess the social-cognitive dynamics in the behavior change processes and to clarify the role of OE fulfillment, which was similarly captured as evaluation of the degree of occurrence of previous expectations. In addition, the eight newly identified activity trajectory groups based on the staging algorithm were objectively validated by measured actual changes of physical fitness via bicycle ergometry. Finally, we examined the predictive power of the *fulfillment* of OE for successful real-life adoption and maintenance of physical activity over and above the wellestablished concepts of OE and self-efficacy beliefs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Data were collected as part of the Konstanz Life Study, a longitudinal cohort study of 1321 participants launched in spring 2012 (Renner et al., 2012b; Sproesser et al., 2015). As part of the

EATMOTIVE project, the Konstanz Life Study was funded by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF Grant 0315671, granted to BR and Harald Schupp). Participants were recruited via flyers, posters, and newspaper articles. Waves 2 and 3 took place in autumn 2012 and spring 2013. All three waves, at intervals of about 6 months, captured objective health and fitness parameters as well as self-report variables focusing on physical activity and nutrition behavior. Participants received feedback on their objective health measures referring to current norms at each measurement point.

A bicycle ergometry was used to measure objective physical fitness. Thus, it was ensured that participants' blood pressure was in the normal range, i.e., systole below 150 mm HG and diastole below 100 mm HG, that participants neither suffered from a cardiovascular disease nor a history of cardiac infarction, nor a lung disease, metabolic disorder, or a mental disorder with medical advice to avoid physical exercise, nor epilepsy or multiple sclerosis, that participants did not undergo a current anti-tumor therapy, nor had a major intervention or surgery within the last 12 months, nor suffered another severe chronic or any acute disease, and that women were not pregnant. Participants had to be at least 18 years old. There were no further inclusion or exclusion criteria for the study.

Written informed consent was obtained, and the local ethical review board (University of Konstanz) approved the study protocol. The present study focuses on data captured at Waves 2 and 3, comprising 775 (58% female) and 511 (57% female) participants, respectively. All Wave 2 participants had attended Wave 1 and all Wave 3 participants had attended Wave 2. Age ranged from 19 to 87 years, mean (*SD*) age was 47.7 (17.4) for Wave 2 and 49.8 (16.9) for Wave 3. Mean (*SD*) BMI was 24.8 (3.9) and 24.8 (3.8); years of education, including years of school and years of training, were 15.8 (2.4) and 15.8 (2.4) for Waves 2 and 3, respectively.

The drop-out sample (n = 264) did not differ from the remaining 511 participants regarding the study variables (all F < 3.64, p > 0.05), BMI, $F_{(1, 482)} = 1.05$, p = 0.31, or the sociodemographic variables (gender, years of education; both F < 0.47, p > 0.05) except age. With a mean (*SD*) age of 43.7 (17.7), drop-outs were younger than the remaining sample, $F_{(1, 771)} = 21.96$, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.03$. This is due to the higher number of young participants at the onset of the study period and their dropping-out leads to a more equally distributed age of participants in the final sample.

Measures

Physical Activity Trajectories

A three-step staging algorithm was developed to assess different physical activity trajectories. In a first step at Wave 2, baseline stage (at Wave 1) was assessed retrospectively based on established criteria and validated items for stage assignment (e.g., Sutton, 2005; Lippke et al., 2009). In a second step, at Waves 2 and 3, participants assessed their behavior since the last measurement wave (Waves 1 and 2, respectively) and stated how successful eventual attempts to increase physical activity were.

Specifically, at Wave 2, participants were asked to retrospectively indicate their regular activity level before

Wave 1 of the Konstanz Life Study on a five-point scale ranging from (1) I had been active regularly for a longer period before, (2) I had tried to become active but did not succeed or had been active for a short period only, (3) I was not active but had thought about it, (4) I was not active and had not even thought about it, to (5) I was not active since it is not necessary to be active on a regular basis. Participants who stated that they had either been active on a regular basis (1) or had tried to become active (2) were included in this study. Non-intenders (Schwarzer, 1992, 2008a) or (pre-)contemplators (Prochaska et al., 1992), or those who decided not to act (Weinstein and Sandman, 1992), that is, people without intentions or attempts to become more active were disregarded given that they did not enter the behavior change process.

Furthermore, at Waves 2 and 3 participants indicated whether they had increased physical activity since the last measurement point. Answers to the question "Since your last participation in the Konstanz Life Study, have you been more physically active than before?" were given on a four-point scale ranging from (1) Yes, I became more physically active, (2) No, but I tried to become more physically active and did not succeed, (3) No and I have not (even) tried, to (4) No, because I was already active on a regular basis before. Again we concentrated on participants who reported option 1 or 2 because they were assumed to have entered the volitional phase and presumably underwent the dynamic process of behavior change. Accordingly, characteristic activity trajectories of people who attempted to initiate or further enhance their physical activity behavior were modeled across three steps over 1 year. This procedure resulted in eight groups (see Staging Algorithm for Classifying Participants).

Objective Fitness Status

Height and weight were measured following standardized procedures by trained research staff at all three study waves. Participants wore light indoor clothing and were asked to take off their shoes. Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm using a wall-mounted stadiometer. Weight was measured using a digital scale (Omron Body Composition Monitor, BF511) to the nearest 0.1 kg. BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared (kg/m²).

Physical fitness was assessed at all three study waves by Physical Working Capacity (PWC) using a bicycle ergometer with pulse monitoring. The PCW refers to the physical performance of a person measured in watts at a specific heart rate (here: 130, i.e., PWC 130) divided by body weight (W/kg). The higher the PWC, the better a person's physical fitness.

Outcome Expectancies (OE) and Fulfillment of OE

Eight items were used to capture OE, based on the assessment in the Berlin Risk Appraisal and Health Motivation Study (cf. Schwarzer and Renner, 2000). Four items measured proximal OE (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.87$), focusing on emotional outcomes very closely connected with the behavior, and another four measured distal OE (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.81$), focusing on long-term gains such as health and social recognition. The eight specific items used were "If I am active on a regular basis, then..." (1) I feel more balanced, (2) I feel better physically, (3) I feel more attractive, (4) I feel more powerful, (5) it is good for my health, (6) my family and friends like it, (7) others appreciate my willpower, (8) I am a good example for others. Items 1–4 are for proximal OE, items 5–8 are for distal OE. Answers were given on a four-point Likert scale ranging from 1, not at all to 4, absolutely true. Scale mean scores were calculated.

The following introduction preceded the assessment of OE fulfillment: "Please select from the following list the three most important positive consequences that you personally had expected from being physically active. Afterwards please assess whether your expectations concerning these selected consequences did fulfill." The item stem was "I had expected that if I am physically active, then..." followed by the same items as used in the OE measure. Participants selected the three expected outcomes that were most important to them by a tick box and rated the degree of fulfillment on a seven-point scale ranging from 1, 0%, 4, 50% to 7, 100% that appeared next to the statements. The mean of these three ratings was calculated to serve as the fulfillment score.

Action Self-efficacy

Five items were used to measure self-efficacy (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.84$). These were based on items developed by Schwarzer and Renner (2000) as well as Scholz et al. (2005). The general question "How certain are you that you could overcome the following barriers?" was followed by specific items (e.g., "I can manage to be active on a regular basis, even if I have to rethink my entire way of physical activity"). A four-point response format ranging from 1, very uncertain to 4, very certain was used.

Data Analysis

SPSS Version 21.0 statistics software was used for data analysis. Less than 1% of the values were missing, with less than 0.5% missing after scale computation. Two multivariate outliers were identified. Since results omitting those did not differ from the complete sample analysis, the results of the latter are reported below.

Discriminant function analysis was used to identify differences between groups with characteristic trajectories of physical activity. Linear combinations of discriminant coefficients for simultaneously analyzed dependent variables (DV) are estimated as discriminant functions maximizing group differentiation. The chi-square test based on Wilk's Lambda indicates whether a function significantly discriminates between groups. Also, classification percentage can be used to assess the quality of analysis. Press's Q-value (Chan, 2005) indicates whether the discriminant functions assign cases to groups better than chance. The influence of each DV on the differentiation of groups can in turn be assessed by the standardized discriminant coefficients that are interpreted similarly to standardized regression coefficients (β). Thus, the importance of DV can be estimated for each single discriminant function. The mean influence $(\overline{\beta})$ of one DV over all functions is calculated by weighing the DV's standardized discriminant coefficient in each function with the function's eigen-value and dividing it by the number of functions considered (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2001).

A sequential technique (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2001) to test alternative models of varying complexity was used. Given our assumption that fulfillment of OE was the most influential variable for the discrimination between groups with successful vs. unsuccessful activity development, OE fulfillment was included first. Consecutively, proximal OE, action self-efficacy, and distal OE were included—first, one by one, then in different combinations—to test (via Chi-square comparison of Press's Q-values) whether they further improved group differentiation.

RESULTS

Distinct Physical Activity Trajectories Over 1 Year

Staging Algorithm for Classifying Participants

By combining the answers to the two Wave 2 questions asking after participants' physical activity level, all participants that reported attempts to become more physically active were assigned to one of four basic characteristic activity trajectory groups: *persistent actors* (had been active at Wave 1 and had successfully increased their activity level at Wave 2), *insistent actors* (had been active at Wave 1 but did not succeed in further increasing their activity level at Wave 2), *progressive intenders* (had not been active at Wave 1 but succeeded in becoming more active at Wave 2), and *permanent intenders* (had not been active at Wave 1 and did not succeed in becoming more active at Wave 2).

These four groups could then be further differentiated according to their Wave 3 statement as either *successful*, having increased their activity level (again), or *unsuccessful*. This staging according to participants' reported trajectories of adoption and maintenance of physical activity finally resulted in eight distinct groups (**Table 1**).

Of the 341 (44% of total) participants that were classified at Wave 2, n = 215 participated at Wave 3; of whom n =138 attempted to become more physically active. Comparing drop-outs (n = 126) to returnees (n = 215) among the classified participants, there were no differences regarding the study variables (all F < 1.13, p > 0.05), BMI, $F_{(1,203)} = 1.56$, p = 0.77, or sociodemographics (gender, years of education; both F < 0.18, p > 0.05) except for age, analogous to the main sample. Also, there was no selective drop-out of the different stage trajectories: 34.9% of persistent actors, 34.3% of insistent actors, 38.2% of progressive intenders, and 43.1% of permanent intenders, $\chi^2_{(3)} = 1.71$, p = 0.63. With a mean (SD) age of 42.3 (16.8) compared to 47.6 (16.6), drop-outs were younger than the remaining sample, $F_{(1,338)} = 8.07$, p = 0.01, $\eta^2 = 0.02$. Being representative of the whole sample, the 138 (60.1% female) participants of the activity trajectory groups ranged from 20 to 87 years of age, mean (SD) age was 47.8 (16.7), mean (SD) BMI was 25.4 (4.3), and years of education were 15.8 (2.3). The activity trajectory groups did not differ in baseline BMI or PWC scores, ranging from 23.78 (2.24) to 26.71 (5.00) and 1.93 (0.38) to 1.71 (0.39), respectively. There were no differences regarding age distributions across trajectory groups.

TABLE 1 | Study variables by activity groups.

Activity groups	n	Fulfillme (Wave		Proxin (Way		Dista (Way			lf-efficacy ve 2)
		M (SD)	Range	M (SD)	Range	M (SD)	Range	M (SD)	Range
Successful persistent actors (111)*	18	5.77 (0.76)	4.00-7.00	3.56 (0.55)	2.50-4.00	3.10 (0.68)	1.75-4.00	2.78 (0.51)	2.00-4.00
Unsuccessful persistent actors (112)	18	5.14 (1.13)	3.33-7.00	3.71 (0.46)	2.75-4.00	2.94 (0.58)	1.75–3.75	2.69 (0.42)	2.00-3.60
Successful insistent actors (121)	15	5.42 (0.86)	4.00-7.00	3.50 (0.43)	3.00-4.00	2.80 (0.71)	2.00-4.00	2.69 (0.52)	1.40-3.40
Unsuccessful insistent actors (122)	31	4.74 (1.00)	2.67-7.00	3.36 (0.66)	1.25-4.00	2.66 (0.63)	1.00-4.00	2.38 (0.54)	1.00-3.80
Successful progressive intenders (211)	14	5.45 (0.89)	4.00-7.00	3.54 (0.52)	2.50-4.00	2.91 (0.66)	2.00-4.00	2.61 (0.49)	1.80-3.40
Unsuccessful progressive intenders (212)	11	5.07 (0.89)	3.33-6.00	3.34 (0.63)	2.25-4.00	2.85 (0.58)	1.75–3.75	2.40 (0.46)	1.60-3.00
Successful permanent intenders (221)	15	5.12 (0.67)	4.00-6.67	3.45 (0.44)	3.00-4.00	2.53 (0.65)	1.50-4.00	2.39 (0.51)	1.80-3.60
Unsuccessful permanent intenders (222)	16	4.76 (0.82)	2.67-5.67	3.20 (0.56)	2.00-4.00	2.83 (0.78)	1.50-4.00	2.10 (0.63)	1.00-2.80

OE, outcome expectancies; M, mean; SD, standard deviation.*For activity groups, numbers in parentheses reflect the options chosen for activity level at Waves 1, 2, and 3. The first number in parentheses reflects the option chosen for T1 with 1, had been active regularly before and 2, had tried to become active but did not finally succeed. The second and third number in parentheses reflect the option chosen at T2 and T3 with 1, became more physically active and 2, tried to become more physically active but did not succeed.

Objective Validation of Activity Trajectory Groups

To validate the staging of the participants into eight groups with different activity trajectories, the change of PWC scores between Waves 2 and 3 was used as the objective criterion for the actual increase in physical fitness. Neither absolute scores nor change scores were associated with the age of the participants. Analysis of variance revealed a significant main effect for the change in physical fitness, $F_{(7, 79)} = 2.58$, p = 0.02, $\eta^2 = 0.19$. Planned contrasts showed that the groups reporting a successful increase in physical activity at Wave 3 indeed had, unlike unsuccessful groups, improved in terms of objective fitness, $F_{(1, 79)} = 5.93$, p = 0.02, $\eta^2 = 0.07$. Specifically, those with a *successful* increase in physical activity (see **Table 1**) had a mean (*SD*) increase of PWC from 1.78 (0.48) to 1.82 W/kg (0.40), while unsuccessful groups showed a decreased mean (*SD*) PWC from 1.80 (0.44) to 1.74 W/kg (0.48) from Wave 2 to Wave 3, respectively.

The most critical groups are those of permanent intenders who intended to change their activity behavior from Wave 1 onwards, but were unsuccessful until Wave 2. Whereas one subgroup finally succeeded in implementing activity at Wave 3, the other's efforts failed again. Contrasting these two groups of successful versus unsuccessful permanent intenders also revealed a significant difference in PWC change scores, $F_{(1, 79)} = 5.94$, p = 0.02, $\eta^2 = 0.07$. Those who were eventually successful showed a mean (SD) PWC increase from 1.73 (0.37) to 1.79 W/kg (0.34), whereas those who were continually unsuccessful showed a decreased mean (SD) PWC from 1.71 (0.39) to 1.55 W/kg (0.46), at Waves 2 and 3, respectively. Overall, the objective assessment of physical fitness via PWC confirmed the staging of participants, since all people classified as successful increased in physical fitness measured by PWC on the group level and all people classified as unsuccessful decreased in physical fitness on the group level. For the subgroup of unsuccessful insistent actors only, tendencies were not in the predicted direction. This, however, might be due to the fact that this group of people was consistently active throughout the study period despite their (not implemented) attempts to further increase activity levels.

Discriminating Successful Behavior Changes by Fulfillment of OE

Fulfillment of OE (Wave 3) showed small to medium correlations with action self-efficacy (r = 0.36, p < 0.001), proximal OE (r = 0.13, p = 0.26), and distal OE (r = 0.30, p = 0.001), all Wave 2. Action self-efficacy correlated with neither proximal OE (r = 0.17, p = 0.06) nor distal OE (r = 0.05, p = 0.60), all Wave 2.

Overall, older participants (60+ years of age) and middle aged participants (35–60 years of age) were only slightly, and non-significantly, more likely to be unsuccessful (56 vs. 57%) in their attempts to increase physical activity than younger adults (45%), $\chi^2_{(2)} = 3.84, p = 0.147$. Higher age was associated with somewhat less OE, r = -0.15, p < 0.001, and correspondingly less OE fulfillment, r = -0.24, p < 0.001. Action self-efficacy did not correlate with age.

Proximal OE concerning emotional rewards represent 79% of the OE that participants selected as personally most important. Thus, four out of five OE concerned hedonic gains closely related to the physical activity behavior itself. In terms of fulfillment, the most successful expectancies were feeling more balanced, mean (SD) = 5.32 (1.06), and gaining a higher physical well-being, mean (SD) = 5.30 (1.13).

First, we ran discriminant analysis using half year trajectories data (from Wave 1 to Wave 2; n = 341). Fulfillment of OE clearly discriminated the four groups (centroids in parenthesis) as being either successful, that is, *persistent actors* (0.45) and *progressive intenders* (0.28) or unsuccessful, that is, *insistent actors* (-0.25) and *permanent intenders* (-0.52), $\lambda = 0.86$, $\chi^2_{(3)} = 45.43$, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.78$ (classification rate = 41.2%; Press's Q-value = 43.88, p < 0.001).

Second, for trajectories throughout 1 year (n = 138) degree of OE fulfillment (model 1 of the sequential discriminant function analyses, see **Table 2**) significantly differentiated the eight activity groups, p = 0.02. Including proximal OE (model 2a), action self-efficacy (model 2b), or distal OE (model 2c) did not improve group discrimination. However, simultaneously including OE fulfillment with proximal OE and action self-efficacy significantly

improved discrimination (model 3). This discriminant model, $\chi^{2}_{(1)} = 5.14, p < 0.05, \eta^2 = 0.86$, offered the best classification rate (31.9%), and with a Press's Q of 41.09, p < 0.001, qualified the classification as better than chance. The further addition of distal OE (model 4) did not improve classification, neither in contrast to model 1 (**Table 2**) nor in contrast to model 3, $\chi^2_{(1)} =$ 0.50 (n.s.). The three discriminant functions of the final model (model 3) were interpreted (Table 3).

Taken together, all three functions significantly differentiated groups, $\lambda = 0.70$, $\chi^2_{(21)} = 40.25$, p = 0.007, $R^2 = 0.20$, but functions two and three, $\lambda = 0.88$, $\chi^2_{(12)} = 14.62$, p = 0.26, $R^2 = 0.11$, or function three alone, $\lambda = 0.99$, $\chi^2_{(5)} = 0.89$, $p = 0.97, R^2 = 0.01$, did not. The second function explained 33% extra variance not explained by the first function, but the third function did not substantially contribute to discrimination.

OE fulfillment ($\beta = 0.60$) was the predominant predictor of group differentiation in function 1, being the most meaningful function that explained the most variance. The groups persistent actors (group centroids 0.69 and 0.37 for those successful and those unsuccessful at Wave 3, respectively), successful insistent actors (centroid = 0.45), and successful progressive intenders (centroid = 0.40) were discriminated from *unsuccessful insistent* actors (centroid = -0.47) and unsuccessful progressive intenders (centroid = -0.26) as well as both groups of *permanent intenders* (centroids -0.10 and -0.78 for those finally successful and those still unsuccessful at Wave 3, respectively). Thus, the first function separates those most successful from those vastly unsuccessful. The latter subsample also includes those permanent intenders finally successful in increasing their physical activity level. Despite their eventual success, this group has a negative centroid, but it is the least negative. Arguably, this can be seen as a result of very recent success after being unsuccessful for the majority of the study period. Their increase in physical activity was probably more tentative than that of the four groups that had proven to be successful in the long run.

In function 2, the most influential factor was proximal OE $(\beta = 0.89)$, discriminating unsuccessful persistent (centroid = (0.69) and *unsuccessful insistent actors* (centroid = (0.30)) from all other groups. These groups could be described as those with the most serious relapses since both had a trajectory of successful increases of physical activity at the beginning of the study that was disrupted at Wave 3. Figure 1 shows the differentiation of the eight activity groups by the two discriminant functions.

TABLE 2 | Sequential discriminant functions for activity groups.

Fulfillment of OE was the most important predictor ($\overline{\beta} = 0.60$) across both functions, followed by proximal OE ($\overline{\beta} = 0.45$) and action self-efficacy ($\overline{\beta} = 0.40$).

DISCUSSION

Using the longitudinal, real-life cohort sample from the Konstanz Life Study, this research indicates that the fulfillment of expectations about positive outcomes contributes significantly to successfully increasing physical activity. Groups with distinct activity trajectories were compiled using a staging algorithm based on self-reported activity levels and attempts to change behavior reported over 1 year. These groups were validated via objective fitness data. Participants who reported successful increases in physical activity indeed showed improved PWC, unlike those who did not succeed in implementing their good intentions. Activity group membership could be predicted by the reported degree of fulfillment for the three most important OE. These predominantly concerned hedonic rewards directly related to being physically active. Proximal, that is, emotional OE and self-efficacy further improved the discriminatory power to classify successful versus unsuccessful actors.

Fulfilled OE Mean Positive Feedback Loops

Whether people report on successful increases of their activity levels seems to depend on whether their positive expectations have been met. This fits with Fuchs' (2013) and Rothman's (2000) suggestions that positive experiences are important for long-term adherence to physical activity. Obviously, if people do not get what they expected, value of the behavior is

TABLE 3 Discriminant functions including fulfillment of OE, proximal OE,
and action self-efficacy to differentiate activity groups.

Function		lardized ca inant coeff		Variance explained %	Canonical R ²
	Fulfillment of OE	Proximal OE	Action self-efficacy		
1	0.60	0.24	0.56	65.0	0.20
2	-0.65	0.89	0.11	33.0	0.11
3	0.56	0.48	-0.88	2.0	0.01

OE, outcome expectancies.

Model	Predictors	Wilk's Lambda	Classification rate %	Improvement of prediction over model 1
1	Fulfillment of OE	0.85	26.1	_
2a	Fulfillment of OE, proximal OE	0.75	29.4	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 2.25$, n.s.
2b	Fulfillment of OE, action self-efficacy	0.77	28.6	$\chi^{(1)}_{(1)} = 1.33$, n.s.
2c	Fulfillment of OE, distal OE	0.79	27.7	$\chi^{(1)}_{(1)} = 0.05$, n.s.
3	Fulfillment of OE, proximal OE, action self-efficacy	0.70	31.9	$\chi^{(1)}_{(1)} = 5.14, \rho < 0.05$
4	Fulfillment of OE, proximal OE, action self-efficacy, distal OE	0.64	30.3	$\chi^{(2)}_{(1)} = 3.20$, n.s.

Improvement of prediction was assessed using Press's Q-values, tested with the Chi-square test. OE, outcome expectancies.



reduced and disengagement from behavior change becomes more likely. This regulation process seems by far the most logical given competing goals and limited resources, such as time investment and mental as well as physical effort. Fulfilled outcome expectancies, in contrast, reward efforts made and subsequently reinforce behavior value and thus behavior change. In a study on ceasing smoking, Baldwin and colleagues (2006) found that satisfaction with the outcomes of having quit predicted whether people maintained non-smoking status. These cycles could be visualized as positive feedback loops where hedonic rewards-since the most relevant expectations are those about proximal emotional outcomes-feed-back on good intentions that in turn reinforce activity behavior. Thus, coming from the outcomes in the volitional phase, calibration of expectancies is important for future motivational processes.

A Closer Look at the Dynamics of OE in Health Behavior Models

Our study has implications for behavior change models since the fulfillment of OE was shown to be a distinct predictor that only correlates with the established social-cognitive variables OE and self-efficacy to a medium extent. Thus, future models could include expectation fulfillment to maximize power when predicting behavior change. Also, more intense data acquisition, like ecological momentary or ambulatory assessment (see Renner et al., 2015), could further help to clarify the dynamic of individual expectations and their fulfillment. Including an objective measurement of activity behavior using accelerometry, for example, would allow for an "on-line", in-depth investigation of the interplay of OE fulfillment and actual behavior while behavior changes occur.

Our measure addressed classical domains of OE that provide the value of physical activity, being proximal affective incentives versus more distal social or health benefits (see Steinhardt and Dishman, 1989; Hallam and Petosa, 2004; Schwarzer, 2008a; Gellert et al., 2012). In analyzing the data on the three most important OE, it became evident that people had almost exclusively chosen proximal OE. This preference is advantageous given that these expectancies of positive emotional outcomes helped predict successful activity increase. Similarly, Conner and colleagues (2011) found that information on the affective outcomes of activity was more effective in increasing activity than health-related information. It seems logical that proximal OE optimally support behavior change since they are less prone to interference and are more likely to occur than distal ones. Emotional rewards directly supply hedonic needs and thus act as a driving force for behavior change maintenance. In contrast, distal outcomes like social recognition depend on the reaction of relevant others, over which the agent has little control, and whether health gains are reached is only resolved in the long run. Based on our findings, a more subtle segmenting of OE, which exceeds the dimensions of proximal and distal OE, and possibly also a detachment of expectancy (including expected likelihood of occurrence) and value could be addressed in future studies. Similarly, recent work in the physical activity domain suggested focusing on affective determinants of behavior (Rhodes et al., 2009; Jekauc et al., 2015) and systematizing different dimensions of OE (French et al., 2005; Conner et al., 2011; Gellert et al., 2012).

Focusing on OE Fulfillment in Interventions

Interventions to increase physical activity have well-established the concept of action planning and coping planning (Leventhal et al., 1965; Scholz et al., 2008; Schwarzer, 2008a). In parallel to these well-established approaches to help people overcome barriers, another independent social-cognitive pathway to health behavior via satisfaction was suggested (Fleig et al., 2011). Recently, Conner and colleagues (2015) claimed studies manipulating affective attitudes and anticipated affective reactions. Extending interventions to foster realistic OE might help overcome problems of low long-term increases in physical activity (Evers et al., 2012; Renner et al., 2012a). Before becoming active, people often underestimate enjoyment because they focus on the unpleasant and aversive beginning (Ruby et al., 2011). Consequently, expectancy adjustment might help people focus on accomplishable, preferably proximal, outcomes. Also, enabling people to perceive attained positive outcomes would provide additional benefit, thereby reinforcing behavior change and ensuring behavior change maintenance. A recent proof of principle study showed that instructing exercise trainers using strategies to promote positive emotions was effective in evoking positive affective states during exercise and increasing adherence (Jekauc, 2015). Similarly, affective short-term messages produced the highest levels of physical activity in a large student sample (Morris et al., 2015). If people focus on long-term health effects or social reputation instead, they are prone to disregard emotional benefits that seem a necessary incentive for successful increases in physical activity.

Limitations

The main limitation of our study concerns the small cell sizes that resulted from sorting people into groups with specific activity trajectories using the staging algorithm. However, the subgroups do represent the different age groups accurately and are comparable to the demographics and socio-economic status of the main sample, which was taken from a real-life cohort study. The theory-based, in-depth perspective of our data allows surveying tangible behavior change trajectories and is a major strength of our study which was undertaken in a naturalistic non-intervention setting. Still, the small number of people who are physically active or intending to become so is alarming. Like common staging procedures, we used a rating scale with verbal anchors (e.g., Sutton, 2005; Lippke et al., 2009). Although stages were validated by objective physical fitness, the subjective reasoning of behavior change is the decisive venue of socialcognitive dynamics. This is why we asked about general attempts to be "physically active regularly" without further confinement (e.g., objective recommendations for physical activity; see Haskell et al., 2007). Providing distinct goal criteria for the amount of physical activity would restrict the room for subjective goal setting. Our findings should be replicated in future studies, preferably also in health promotion programs and intervention studies that have a different respondent structure by design.

A further critique might include that the study focused on people who were already active (actors) or who had attempted to change their activity behavior ("attempters"). These numbers are comparable to similar longitudinal health screening studies (Prochaska et al., 1985; Lippke et al., 2004, 2005, 2009). As noted above, however, this also meant excluding roughly half of the participants (56%). Additional strategies are necessary to address individuals who have not thought about beginning physical activity and those who have thought about changing their behavior but not formed an intention, pre-intenders or (pre-)contemplators. To begin with the classical motivational parameters of risk information, notifying people about outcomes, and fostering self-efficacy might now, in the light of our findings, also include the promotion of outcomes with high chances of fulfillment, that is, affective rewards or emotional benefits.

Finally, we found that older participants were somewhat less successful in increasing physical activity despite actual attempts. Decreased OE and the subsequently lower OE fulfillment across age underscore that older adults are an especially critical group that needs special attention in future research and intervention design. Possibly, a maladapted profile of OE regarding physical activity in old age might contribute to the low physical activity rates in old age (Krug et al., 2013). Older people might also hold stronger negative OE and face increased physical barriers to activity than younger adults (Fuchs, 1994; Toscos et al., 2011). There is an ongoing debate on the role of negative OE (Williams et al., 2005; Schwarzer, 2008a; Conner et al., 2015). The present study focused on positive OE because spontaneous elicitation of OE resulted in more positive OE (Rhodes and Conner, 2010), and recent studies indicated that positive OE might be more important to fostering health behavior change (Aaltonen et al., 2012; Basen-Engquist et al., 2013). However, expected negative outcomes have also been found to be negatively related to health behavior changes (Williams et al., 2005; Hankonen et al., 2013; Gyurcsik et al., 2015) and might be investigated in future studies as a cause of sedentary behavior, especially in specific target groups. In line with the results on the importance of proximal, emotional OE fulfillment in our study here, we previously demonstrated that exercise in old age can indeed increase perceived emotional gains and mastery experiences derived from being physically active. This mechanism could even explain why exercise buffers aging dissatisfaction in older women (Klusmann et al., 2012). Addressing age-specificity in health behavior change dynamics seems an important issue for future studies. The development of new approaches for effective expectancy modification must cope with target-group specific dispositions.

Conclusions

It seems that the success of sustainable behavior change depends on whether people obtain what they expect. Ascertaining whether and in how far expectations about the consequences of physical activity have been met contributes to the accurate prediction of whether people are on the road to success or doomed to failure. That the fulfillment of emotional outcome expectancies emerges as a significant predictor in addition to traditional means, namely established motivational variables, has important implications for both health behavior change modeling and intervention design.

FUNDING

This research was part of the EATMOTIVE project which was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and

REFERENCES

- Aaltonen, S., Leskinen, T., Morris, T., Alen, M., Kaprio, J., Liukkonen, J., et al. (2012). Motives for and barriers to physical activity in twin pairs discordant for leisure time physical activity for 30 years. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 33, 157–163. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1287848
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of plannend behavior. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 50, 179-211. doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Ajzen, I. (1998). Models of human social behavior and their application to health psychology. Psychol. Health 13, 735–739. doi: 10.1080/08870449808407426
- Atkinson, J. W. (1957). Motivational determinants of risktaking behavior. Psychol. Rev. 64, 359-372. doi: 10.1037/h0043445
- Baldwin, A. S., Rothman, A. J., Hertel, A. W., Linde, J. A., Jeffery, R. W., Finch, E. A., et al. (2006). Specifying the determinants of the initiation and maintenance of behavior change: an examination of self-efficacy, satisfaction, and smoking cessation. *Health Psychol.* 25, 626–634. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.25.5.626
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: an agentic perspective. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 52, 1–26. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1
- Basen-Engquist, K., Carmack, C. L., Li, Y., Brown, J., Jhingran, A., Hughes, D. C., et al. (2013). Social-cognitive theory predictors of exercise behavior in endometrial cancer survivors. *Health Psychol.* 32, 1137–1148. doi: 10.1037/a0031712
- Chan, Y. H. (2005). Biostatistics 303. Discriminant analysis. *Singapore Med. J.* 46, 54–61. Available online at: http://www.sma.org.sg/smj/4602/4602bs1.pdf
- Conner, M., McEachan, R., Taylor, N., O'Hara, J., and Lawton, R. (2015). Role of affective attitudes and anticipated affective reactions in predicting health behaviors. *Health Psychol.* 34, 642–652. doi: 10.1037/hea0000143
- Conner, M., Rhodes, R. E., Morris, B., McEachan, R., and Lawton, R. (2011). Changing exercise through targeting affective or cognitive attitudes. *Psychol. Health* 26, 133–149. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.531570
- Evers, A., Klusmann, V., Ziegelmann, J. P., Schwarzer, R., and Heuser, I. (2012). Long-term adherence to a physical activity intervention: the role of telephoneassisted vs. self-administered coping plans and strategy use. *Psychol. Health* 27, 784–797. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.582114
- Fleig, L., Lippke, S., Pomp, S., and Schwarzer, R. (2011). Exercise maintenance after rehabilitation: how experience can make a difference. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 12, 293–299. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.01.003
- French, D. P., Sutton, S., Hennings, S. J., Mitchell, J., Wareham, N. J., Griffin, S., et al. (2005). The importance of affective beliefs and attitudes in the theory of planned behavior: predicting intention to increase physical activity. *J. Appl. Soc. Psychol.* 35, 1824–1848. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2005.tb02197.x

Research (BMBF grant 0315671), granted to BR and Harald Schupp. The funding sources had neither an involvement in study design; in the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data; in the writing the article, nor in the decision to submit for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Harald Schupp, Alexander Bürkle, María Moreno-Villanueva, Bettina Ott, Wolfgang Balig, Dennis Eichenbrenner and the Red Cross team, Simone Brunner-Zillikens and the Laboratory Brunner team, Ulrich Rüdiger, Julia Wandt and the press office of the University of Konstanz, Horst Frank, Ulrich Burchardt, Ralf Kleiner, and Sabrina Schlaich, and Brigitte Kemmer-Przibylla from the City of Konstanz, Kirsten Schlüter for the media cooperation with the Südkurier, Freda-Marie Hartung, Martina Gamp, Helge Giese, Filipa Goncalves, Rita Juhasz, Esther Gerdes, Susanne Heinzelmann, Verena Hoehne, Ursula Kirmse, Cathrine Löber, and Maximilian Mertel for their valuable support.

- Fuchs, R. (1994). Konsequenzerwartungen als Determinante des Sport- und Bewegungsverhaltens [Outcome expectancies as a determinant of physical exercise]. Z. Gesundheitspsychol. 2, 269–291. Available online at: https://portal. uni-freiburg.de/sport/institut/Arbeitsbereiche/psychologie/messinstrumente/ konsequenzerwartungen2.pdf
- Fuchs, R. (2013). Sportbezogene Konsequenzerfahrungen: Das Konstrukt und seine Messung [Exercise-related outcome experiences: the construct and ist operationalization]. Freiburg: Universität Freiburg. Retrieved from: http:// www.sport.uni-freiburg.de/institut/Arbeitsbereiche/psychologie/messinstrume nte/1sportbezogene-konsequenzerfahrungen.pdf/view
- Gellert, P., Ziegelmann, J. P., and Schwarzer, R. (2012). Affective and health-related outcome expectancies for physical activity in older adults. *Psychol. Health* 27, 816–828. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.607236
- Gyurcsik, N. C., Cary, M. A., Sessford, J. D., Flora, P. K., and Brawley, L. R. (2015). Pain, anxiety, and negative outcome expectations for activity: do negative psychological profiles differ between the inactive and active? *Arthritis Care Res.* 67, 58–64. doi: 10.1002/acr.22421
- Hallam, J. S., and Petosa, R. (2004). The long-term impact of a foursession work-site intervention on selected social cognitive theory variables linked to adult exercise adherence. *Health Educ. Behav.* 31, 88–100. doi: 10.1177/1090198103259164
- Hankonen, N., Absetz, P., Kinnunen, M., Haukkala, A., and Jallinoja, P. (2013). Toward identifying a broader range of social cognitive determinants of dietary intentions and behaviors. *Appl. Psychol.* 5, 118–135. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-0854.2012.01081.x
- Haskell, W. L., Lee, I., Pate, R. R., Powell, K. E., Blair, S. N., Franklin, B. A., et al. (2007). Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 39, 1423–1434. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616b27
- Heckhausen, H. (1977). Achievement motivation and its constructs: a cognitive model. *Motiv. Emot.* 1, 283–329. doi: 10.1007/BF00992538
- Jekauc, D. (2015). Enjoyment during exercise mediates the effects of an intervention on exercise adherence. *Psychology* 6, 48–54. doi: 10.4236/psych.2015.61005
- Jekauc, D., Völkle, M., Wagner, M. O., Mess, F., Reiner, M., and Renner, B. (2015). Prediction of attendance at fitness center: a comparison between the theory of planned behavior, the social cognitive theory, and the physical activity maintenance theory. *Front. Psychol.* 6:121. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00121
- Klusmann, V., Evers, A., Schwarzer, R., and Heuser, I. (2011). Activity experiences shape perceived fitness trajectories: results from a 6-month randomized

controlled trial in older women. Aging Neuropsychol. Cogn. 18, 328–339. doi: 10.1080/13825585.2011.553272

- Klusmann, V., Evers, A., Schwarzer, R., and Heuser, I. (2012). Views on aging and emotional benefits of physical activity: effects of an exercise intervention in older women. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 13, 236–242. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.11.001
- Krug, S., Jordan, S., Mensink, G. B. M., Müters, S., Finger, J. D., and Lampert, T. (2013). Physical activity: results of the German health interview and examination survey for adults (DEGS1). *Bundesgesundheitsblatt* 6, 765–771. doi: 10.1007/s00103-012-1661-6
- Leventhal, H., Singer, R., and Jones, S. (1965). Effects of fear and specificity of recommendation upon attitudes and behavior. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 2, 20–29. doi: 10.1037/h0022089
- Lippke, S., Ziegelmann, J. P., and Schwarzer, R. (2004). Initiation and maintenance of physical exercise: stage-specific effects of a planning intervention. *Res. Sports Med.* 12, 221–240. doi: 10.1080/15438620490497567
- Lippke, S., Ziegelmann, J. P., and Schwarzer, R. (2005). Stage-specific adoption and maintenance of physical activity: testing a three-stage model. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 6, 585–603. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2004.11.002
- Lippke, S., Ziegelmann, J. P., Schwarzer, R., and Velicer, W. F. (2009). Validity of stage assessment in the adoption and maintenance of physical activity and fruit and vegetable consumption. *Health Psychol.* 28, 183–193. doi: 10.1037/a0012983
- Loehr, V. G., Baldwin, A. S., Rosenfield, D., and Smits, J. A. (2014). Weekly variability in outcome expectations: examining associations with related physical activity experiences during physical activity initiation. *J. Health Psychol.* 19, 1309–1319. doi: 10.1177/1359105313488981
- Morris, B., Lawton, R., McEachan, R., Hurling, R., and Conner, M. (2015). Changing self-reported physical activity using different types of affectively and cognitively framed health messages, in a student population. *Psychol. Health Med.* 2015, 1–10. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2014.997762
- Parschau, L., Fleig, L., Koring, M., Lange, D., Knoll, N., Schwarzer, R., et al. (2013). Positive experience, self-efficacy, and action control predict physical activity changes: a moderated mediation analysis. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 18, 395–406. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8287.2012.02099.x
- Parschau, L., Fleig, L., Warner, L. M., Pomp, S., Barz, M., Knoll, N., et al. (2014). Positive exercise experience facilitates behavior change via self-efficacy. *Health Educ. Behav.* 41, 414–422. doi: 10.1177/1090198114529132
- Prochaska, J. O., DiClemente, C. C., and Norcross, J. C. (1992). In search how people change: applications to addictive behaviors. *Am. Psychol.* 47, 1101–1114. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.47.9.1102
- Prochaska, J. O., DiClemente, C. C., Velicer, W. F., Ginpil, S., and Norcross, J. C. (1985). Predicting change in smoking status for self-changers. *Addict. Behav.* 10, 395–406. doi: 10.1016/0306-4603(85)90036-X
- Renner, B., Hankonen, N., Ghisletta, P., and Absetz, P. (2012a). Dynamic psychological and behavioral changes in the adoption and maintenance of exercise. *Health Psychol.* 31, 306–315. doi: 10.1037/a0025302
- Renner, B., Klusmann, V., and Sproesser, G. (2015). "Assessment of health behaviors," in *The International Encyclopedia of the Social and Behavioral Sciences, 2nd Edn.*, ed J. D. Wright (Oxford: Elsevier), 588–593.
- Renner, B., and Schupp, H. (2011). "The perception of health risks," in *The Oxford Handbook of Health Psychology, Oxford Library of Psychology, Part 4*, ed H. Friedman (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 637–665.
- Renner, B., and Schwarzer, R. (2000). Gesundheit: Selbstschädigendes Handeln trotz Wissen [Health: self-harming behavior despite knowlegde]," in Die Kluft zwischen Wissen und Handeln: Empirische und Theoretische Lösungsansätze, Hgs H. Mandl and J. Gestenmaier (Göttingen: Hogrefe), S.25–S.47.
- Renner, B., Sproesser, G., Klusmann, V., and Schupp, H. (2012b). Die Konstanzer Life-Studie [The Konstanz Life Study]. *Adipositas* 6, 123–124. Available online at: http://kops.uni-konstanz.de/bitstream/handle/123456789/ 19643/Renner_Konstanzer%20Life-Studie.pdf?sequence=1
- Rhodes, R. E., and Conner, M. (2010). Comparison of behavioral belief structures in the physical activity domain. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 40, 2105–2120. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2010.00652.x
- Rhodes, R. E., Fiala, B., and Conner, M. (2009). A review and meta-analysis of affective judgments and physical activity in adult populations. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 180–204. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9147-y

- Rothman, A. J. (2000). Toward a theory-based analysis of behavioral maintenance. *Health Psychol.* 19, 64–69. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.19.Suppl1.64
- Ruby, M. B., Dunn, E. W., Perrino, A., Gillis, R., and Viel, S. (2011). The invisible benefits of exercise. *Health Psychol.* 30, 67–74. doi: 10.1037/a0021859
- Scholz, U., Schüz, B., Ziegelmann, J. P., Lippke, S., and Schwarzer, R. (2008). Beyond behavioral intentions: planning mediates between intentions and physical activity. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 13, 479–494. doi: 10.1348/135910707X216062
- Scholz, U., Sniehotta, F., and Schwarzer, R. (2005). Predicting physical exercise in cardiac rehabilitation: the role of phase-specific self-efficacy beliefs. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 27, 135–151. doi: 10.5167/uzh-102309
- Schwarzer, R. (1992). "Self-efficacy in the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors: theoretical approaches and a new model," in Self-efficacy:Thought Control of Action, ed R. Schwarzer (Washington, DC: Hemisphere), 217–243.
- Schwarzer, R. (2008a). Modeling health behavior change: how to predict and modify the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors. *Appl. Psychol.* 57, 1–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00325.x
- Schwarzer, R. (2008b). Some burning issues in research on health behavior change. *Appl. Psychol.* 57, 84–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00324.x
- Schwarzer, R., and Renner, B. (2000). Social-cognitive predictors of health behavior: action self-efficacy and coping self-efficacy. *Health Psychol.* 19, 487–495. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.19.5.487
- Sproesser, G., Klusmann, V., Schupp, H., and Renner, B. (2015). Comparative optimism about healthy eating. *Appetite* 20, 212–218. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2015.03.008
- Steinhardt, M. A., and Dishman, R. K. (1989). Reliability and validity of expected outcomes and barriers for habitual physical activity. J. Occup. Med. 31, 536–546. doi: 10.1097/00043764-198906000-00011
- Stretcher, V. J., Champion, V. L., and Rosenstock, I. M. (1997). "The health belief model and health behavior," in *Handbook of Health Behavior Research*, Vol. 1, ed D. S. Goschman (New York, NY: Plenum Press), 71–91.
- Sutton, S. (2005). "Stage theories of health behaviour," in *Predicting Health Behaviour, 2nd Edn.*, eds M. Conner and P. Norman (Buckingham: Open University Press), 223–275.
- Tabachnick, B. G., and Fidell, L. S. (2001). Using Multivariate Statistics, 4th Edn. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Toscos, T., Consolvo, S., and McDonald, D. W. (2011). Barriers to physical activity: a study of self-revelation in an online community. *J. Med. Syst.* 35, 1225–1242. doi: 10.1007/s10916-011-9721-2
- Weinstein, N. D., and Sandman, P. M. (1992). A model of the precaution adoption process: evidence from home radon testing. *Health Psychol.* 11, 170–180. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.11.3.170
- Williams, D. M. (2010). Outcome expectancy and self-efficacy: theoretical implications of an unresolved contradiction. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 14, 417–425. doi: 10.1177/1088868310368802
- Williams, D. M., Anderson, E. S., and Winett, R. A. (2005). A review of the outcome expectancy construct in physical activity research. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 29, 70–79. doi: 10.1207/s15324796abm2901_10
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2010). *Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health*. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/factsheet_recommendations/en/

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer [Ines Pfeffer] declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration with several of the authors [VK, LM, GS, BR] to the handling Editor, who ensured that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2016 Klusmann, Musculus, Sproesser and Renner. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Physical Activity Enjoyment and Self-Efficacy As Predictors of Cancer Patients' Physical Activity Level

Nadine Ungar^{1*}, Joachim Wiskemann² and Monika Sieverding¹

¹ Institute of Psychology, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany, ² Division of Medical Oncology, National Center for Turnor Diseases Heidelberg and University Clinic Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Background: Physical activity (PA) can support cancer patients during medical treatment by reducing side-effects and increasing quality of life. However, PA levels mostly decline after diagnosis. Which factors can explain if patients are able to remain or even increase their PA level? Self-efficacy is an important cognitive factor that has been linked to cancer patients' PA across many studies. In contrast, affective factors such as PA enjoyment have rarely been examined. We compare the influence of self-efficacy and PA enjoyment on cancer patients' PA levels after completion of an exercise or stress-management intervention.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Franziska Antoniewicz, University of Potsdam, Germany Christina Niermann, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Germany Ole Sprengeler, Leibniz Institute for Prevention Research and Epidemiology BIPS, Germany

*Correspondence:

Nadine Ungar nadine.ungar@ psychologie.uni-heidelberg.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 03 March 2016 **Accepted:** 31 May 2016 **Published:** 21 June 2016

Citation:

Ungar N, Wiskemann J and Sieverding M (2016) Physical Activity Enjoyment and Self-Efficacy As Predictors of Cancer Patients' Physical Activity Level. Front. Psychol. 7:898. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00898 **Methods:** Outpatient cancer patients [N = 72; 54% female; M = 56 years, SD = 12.34; most with breast or colon cancer (34%, 15%)] were enrolled in the MOTIVACTION study, a 4-week intervention (1 h counseling followed by weekly phone calls), with pre-test (T1), post-test (T2), and a 10-week follow-up (T3). Participants were randomized to either an exercise intervention (emphasizing self-regulatory strategies for behavior change) or to a stress management intervention (coping and relaxation techniques). Sixty-seven patients remained in the study and completed the SQUASH assessment of PA, a measure of maintenance self-efficacy (7 items, Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.88$) and PA enjoyment (2 items, Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.89$). Regression analyses were calculated with PA level (at T2 and T3) as dependent variable and relative weight analyses were conducted. The study was registered at clinicalTrials.gov (unique identifier:NCT01576107; URL: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01576107?term=motivaction&rank=1).

Results: Baseline self-efficacy and change in PA enjoyment significantly predicted cancer patients' PA level at T2 adjusting for baseline PA and type of intervention. Relative weight (RW) analysis revealed that PA enjoyment (baseline and change together) explained 34.3% of the dependent variable, self-efficacy (baseline and change) explained 38.4%. At follow-up, self-efficacy was still a significant predictor of PA (RW = 74.6%), whereas PA enjoyment was no longer a relevant factor (RW = 5.2%).

Conclusion: The affective factor PA enjoyment was equally important as self-efficacy for predicting cancer patient' PA level directly after completion of the intervention. Reasons for the reduced relevance at follow-up and a broader range of affective factors should be analyzed in future studies on cancer patients' PA level.

Keywords: physical activity enjoyment, self-efficacy, physical activity, cancer, affective factors, cognitive factors, intervention

INTRODUCTION

Regular physical activity (PA) has various beneficial effects for cancer patients both during and after medical treatment (Speck et al., 2010; Fong et al., 2012; Jones and Alfano, 2012). Current reviews and meta-analyses demonstrate, for example, positive effects on health-related quality of life (Mishra et al., 2012), cancer-related fatigue (Cramp and Byron-Daniel, 2012), depression (Craft et al., 2012), aerobic fitness (Jones et al., 2011), and muscle strength (Stene et al., 2013; Strasser et al., 2013). Cancer patients are recommended to engage in 150 min per week of at least moderate PA (Schmitz et al., 2010). However, it has been shown that only a minority of cancer patients meet these guidelines (Blanchard et al., 2008).

Various social cognitive theories-such as the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB; Ajzen, 1991), the Social Cognitive Theory (SCT; Bandura, 1977, 1986), the Transtheoretical Model (Prochaska and DiClemente, 1983) or the Health Action Process Approach (Schwarzer, 2008)-try to explain why people do (not) engage in a health behavior such as PA. The TPB and the SCT have most frequently been applied to explain the low PA level of cancer patients (see Pinto and Ciccolo, 2011 for an overview). Self-efficacy is a core component of many social cognitive theories. As cancer patients face not only general barriers regarding PA such as bad weather, but also treatment related barriers such as fatigue (Brawley et al., 2002; Midtgaard et al., 2009; Blaney et al., 2013), self-efficacy is especially necessary in the oncological context to overcome these specific barriers. Self-efficacy turned out to be the best predictor of behavioral intention in most TPB studies in the field of PA and cancer (e.g., Karvinen et al., 2007; Keats et al., 2007; Speed-Andrews et al., 2012; Trinh et al., 2012) and often has an independent effect on PA behavior besides intention (e.g., Karvinen et al., 2007; Keats et al., 2007; Trinh et al., 2012). For example, there were moderate associations (r = 0.69/r = 0.43) between perceived behavioral control (similar to self-efficacy) and PA level/ intention in a cross-sectional study of 600 colorectal cancer survivors (Speed-Andrews et al., 2012). Similarly, in studies applying the SCT, selfefficacy is consistently identified as a psychosocial determinant of PA among cancer patients (e.g., Phillips and McAuley, 2013; Rogers et al., 2004). A meta-analysis by Stacey et al. (2015) summarizes behavior change studies using the SCT. It included twelve studies applying PA interventions based on the SCT to oncological patients. The meta-analysis found a significant intervention effect for increased PA levels (standardized mean difference = 0.33). Improvements in self-efficacy were in some studies associated with a following increase in PA (Pinto et al., 2005; Demark-Wahnefried et al., 2007; von Gruenigen et al., 2008; Ligibel et al., 2012).

Common theories of health behavior such as the TPB focus on cognitive constructs and do not explicitly incorporate affective factors, which can lead to a limited predictive power of these theories (McEachan et al., 2011; Conner et al., 2015). Current research tries to reduce this gap by including affective factors (Williams and Evans, 2014). PA enjoyment is one prominent and frequently applied affective component (see reviews by Rhodes et al., 2010; Nasuti and Rhodes, 2013) capturing experience and expectation of pleasure toward PA (Williams and Evans, 2014; Lewis et al., 2016).

In the context of cancer research, affective factors are very important, as many patients often experience psychological and emotional distress as well as depressive symptoms (Knobf, 2007; Jayadevappa et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2015). To deal with the disease many patients use various self-management strategies, whereby PA is the most commonly used one (Shneerson et al., 2015). Thereby, feeling self-determined regarding PA can increase positive affect (Brunet et al., 2013) and being passionate about activities positively affects emotional well-being (Burke et al., 2012).

Up to now, only a few studies have included PA enjoyment to predict cancer patients' PA level (e.g., Rogers et al., 2008, 2011; Charlier et al., 2013). PA enjoyment was mostly assessed with a one item measure (e.g., 2015; Rogers et al., 2011). Within these mostly correlational studies, PA enjoyment was always one of the strongest determinants of PA (Rogers et al., 2008; Charlier et al., 2013). For example, in a correlational study among head and neck cancer patients, task self-efficacy (r = 0.33), perceived barriers (r = -0.27), and PA enjoyment (r = 0.41) were the strongest correlates of PA (Rogers et al., 2008). In another cross-sectional study among 464 breast cancer survivors, PA enjoyment significantly explained leisure time PA ($\beta = 0.2$), but did not influence other domains of PA such as household or transportation (Charlier et al., 2013).

As self-efficacy as well as PA enjoyment have shown to be associated with PA, an important issue is the relative importance of affective factors compared to cognitive factors in explaining and predicting PA. This was the focus of a recent longitudinal study with healthy adults (mainly women), which investigated the relative importance and interrelationships between selfefficacy and PA enjoyment in predicting the initiation and maintenance of PA (Lewis et al., 2016). It turned out that PA enjoyment was a more powerful predictor for PA at a 12-month follow-up than self-efficacy. To explain this result, the authors tested several mediation models and found that PA enjoyment exerted its effects on PA levels through selfefficacy. Among people with a chronic disease such as cancer, the relative importance of self-efficacy and PA enjoyment has—to our knowledge—not been investigated so far.

If self-efficacy and PA enjoyment can lead to an increased PA level, improvements in these variables are likely to result in continued PA adherence (Morielli et al., 2016). Thus, it would be favorable if these two factors could be increased through an intervention as well. With respect to self-efficacy, Bandura's theory postulates four sources: mastery experience, vicarious experience, verbal persuasion and emotional arousal (Bandura, 1977, 2000). In a successful PA promotion intervention, a participant should experience mastery through feeling able to perform more PA now. The other three sources could be addressed in an intervention as well (e.g., vicarious experience through contact with a role model). In contrast to self-efficacy which is a "classic" and often studied cognitive construct, the affective construct PA enjoyment was introduced more recently and-at least to our knowledge-no theoretical assumptions have been formulated yet which factors should lead to an

increase. However, first two pilot studies found improvements in PA enjoyment by a PA intervention (Rogers et al., 2011; Morielli et al., 2016). This leads to the question if PA enjoyment can be increased through a PA promotion intervention and which psychological, medical and sociodemograhpic variables are related to a change in PA enjoyment.

In the current study, we want to compare the influence of self-efficacy and PA enjoyment on cancer patients' PA level after completion of an exercise or stress-management intervention. The main objective is to investigate if the affective variable PA enjoyment predicts the PA level of cancer patients (at T2 and T3) over and above the cognitive variable self-efficacy (research question 1). Furthermore, we were interested to explore whether self-efficacy and PA enjoyment increased during the interventions (research question 2). Finally, additional analysis examine exploratively which factors are associated with changes in PA enjoyment.

METHODS

Design

The MOTIVACTION (MOTivational InterVention enhancing physical ACTivity In ONcology patients) study consisted of two interventions (exercise and stress management) and assessments at baseline (T1), 4 weeks after the intervention (T2), and 10 weeks after T2 (T3). Patients were randomized to one of the two groups by being stratified by sex, age (i.e., $< \text{ or } \ge 60$ years), metastases (i.e., yes/no), and current chemotherapy (i.e., yes/no). The study protocol was approved by the ethic committee of the medical faculty in Heidelberg, Germany. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was registered at clinicalTrials.gov/ (unique identifier: NCT01576107; URL: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT01576107?term=motivaction&rank=1).

Participants

Patients of any cancer entity meeting the following inclusion criteria were eligible to participate in the study: receiving outpatient therapy (acute or maintenance therapy) or finished this therapy not longer than 6 months ago, being ≥ 18 years, being below the current guidelines to be moderate active at least for 150 min per week, and being able to follow the study instructions. Exclusion criteria were: planned rehabilitation or inpatient treatment during the next 8 weeks, wound healing not completed, bone metastases, and serious comorbidities or comorbidity-related limitations.

Procedure

Participants were recruited at the National Center for Tumor Diseases in Heidelberg (Germany). In an initial (telephonic) meeting participants were screened if inclusion or exclusion criteria apply. Among others, patients were asked to rate their PA behavior in minutes during the last week. If the patients were less active than 150/min per week they were categorized as insufficiently active and could be enrolled in the study (if no other exclusion criteria occurred). After signing written informed consent participants were randomized either into the exercise or stress management group and received the baseline questionnaires. Both the exercise as well as the stress management intervention started immediately after returning baseline materials and consisted of an individual 1-h-counseling session, followed by three weekly telephone calls.

Interventions

The exercise intervention included counseling based on the Health Action Process Approach (Schwarzer, 2008). Patients received a booklet with behavior-change techniques (e.g., action planning, coping planning) and various exercises for home-based training, exercise materials (e.g., stretch band for resistance training) as well as a diary to record exercise sessions. The stress management intervention consisted of relaxation techniques such as abdominal breathing, progressive muscle relaxation and cognitive coping techniques (Jacobsen et al., 2013). Patients received a booklet with stress management techniques, a CD with relaxation techniques as well as a diary to record stress management sessions. The procedure and content of the two interventions are described in detail in Ungar et al. (2016).

Measures

PA enjoyment was assessed with two items based on Rogers et al. (2011, 2015). The two items were "I enjoy being regularly physically active" and "It is fun to engage in sport activities and regular PA". A response scale from 1 ("not at all") to 4 ("totally agree") was used and a mean was calculated from the two items. Cronbach's alpha was good ($\alpha = 0.89$).

Maintenance self-efficacy was assessed according to guidelines of the Health Action Process Approach (Schwarzer et al., 2003; Schwarzer, 2008). Seven items were used measuring the confidence with sticking to regular PA. An example item was "I am confident that I can permanently be regularly physically active even if I have side-effects (e.g., nausea) of the cancer-therapy" with a response format from 1 "not at all" to 4 "totally agree". The internal consisty was good (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.88$) and a mean was used to aggregate the seven items.

Physical activity was measured using the slightly modified Short QUestionnaire to ASsess Health-enhancing physical activity (SQUASH) having good psychometric properties (Wendel-Vos et al., 2003; Wagenmakers et al., 2008).

The slightly modified questionnaire contained questions about physical activities related to commuting, household, leisure-time, and work. Every activity referred to the last 7 days and included three questions: days per week, average time per day and intensity (light, moderate, or vigorous). As the intervention focused on exercise behavior and not PA in general, we generated the variable "intended physical activity level" (iPAL). We classified the activities according to Caspersen et al. (1985) as exercise is "physical activity that is planned, structured, repetitive, and purposive in the sense that improvement or maintenance of one or more components of physical fitness is an objective" (p.128). iPAL therefore included all items of the domain leisure-time activities except gardening and odd work if participants reported an at least moderate intensity. These six items were: brisk (Nordic-) walking, bicycling, gymnastic or resistance training and three open-ended items called "sport

activities." The open-ended responses were excluded from analysis if the indicated activity was below a metabolic equivalent of 4 according to the Ainsworth compendium (Ainsworth et al., 2011).

Data Analysis

Change scores of self-efficacy and PA enjoyment where calculated by subtracting the respective T2 scores from the T1 scores (T2 minus T1). Descriptive statistics and bivariate Pearson correlations were conducted. Drop-out analyses were calculated to compare completers versus non-completers of the intervention using t-tests for metric and Chi-squared tests for nominal variables. The first research question was analyzed using linear regression models and relative weight analysis. Relative weight analysis estimates the relative importance of correlated determinants in a regression equation by using a new set of uncorrelated determinants that are maximally related to the original set of correlated determinants (Tonidandel et al., 2009). A relative weight is the amount of variance explained by a single determinant; all relative weights add up to 100%. For the second research questions, analyses of variances (ANOVAs) for repeated measures [between subject factor: type of intervention (exercise/stress); within subject factor: time (T1/T2/T3)] were computed with self-efficacy and PA enjoyment as dependent variables. Additional analyses were calculated using regression analysis explaining the dependent variable Δ_{T1-T2} PA enjoyment.

Listwise deletion was used if necessary in all analyses, as there were only less than 2% of data missing. Analyses were carried out with IBM SPSS Statistics 22 IBM corp. NY, USA, and employed a significance level of p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Sample and Descriptives

The sample consisted of 72 cancer patients who were insufficiently active, that is not meeting guidelines of at least 150 min/week moderate PA at T1 (M = 47.22 min). They were randomized to the exercise intervention (n = 36) or to the stress management group (n = 36), with 67 completing the study (3 died, 2 drop-outs; details about the study flow can be found in Ungar et al., 2016). Participants were 52% female with a mean age of M = 55.45 years (SD = 12.62, range: 26–83 years). The majority had breast (33%), colorectal (12%), or prostate cancer (8%) with 33% having metastases and 37% having currently chemo-therapy (see **Table 1**).

Baseline Values in iPAL, Self-Efficacy and PA Enjoyment

Descriptive results and bivariate correlations are shown in **Tables 2, 3.** The correlation between PA enjoyment and self-efficacy was moderate (r = 0.372, p = 0.003) at baseline. Mean values of iPAL ($M_{\text{exercise}} = 52.14$, SD = 101.95; $M_{\text{stress-management}} = 41.84$, SD = 92.47), PA enjoyment ($M_{\text{exercise}} = 2.89$, SD = 0.74; $M_{\text{stress-management}} = 2.84$, SD = 0.81), and self-efficacy ($M_{\text{exercise}} = 2.61$, SD = 0.50; $M_{\text{stress-management}} = 2.59$, SD = 0.59) did not differ significantly

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of the sample (N = 67).

	М	(SD)	N	(%)
Age in years	55.45	12.62		
Female			35	52.2
Family-status				
Relationship			55	82.1
Single			6	9.0
Separated			6	9.0
Education level ^a				
Low			13	19.4
Middle			17	25.4
High			37	55.2
Occupation				
Full-time			13	19.4
Part-time			8	11.9
No occupation			46	68.7
Cancer entity				
Breast			22	32.8
Colorectal			8	11.9
Prostate			5	7.5
Others			27	43.5
Existance of metastases			22	32.8
Chemotherapy				
Currently			25	37.3
Completed			16	23.9
Radiotherapy				
Currently			10	14.9
Completed			14	20.9
Treatment at NCT			42	62.7

^alow: \leq 9 years; middle: 10 years; high: 12 years or more.

between the exercise intervention and the stress-management group before the start of the intervention (T1) (p > 0.05).

Research Question 1: Prediction of iPAL by PA Enjoyment and self-efficacy

As was described in Ungar et al. (2016), iPAL increased from T1 to T2 and T3 in both intervention groups (exercise group: $M_{T1} = 52.14$, $SD_{T1} = 101.95$; $M_{T2} = 150.43$, $SD_{T2} = 161.13; M_{T3} = 189.43, SD_{T3} = 243.14;$ stressmanagement group: $M_{T1} = 41.84$, $SD_{T1} = 92.47$; $M_{T2} = 69.06$, $SD_{T2} = 121.10; M_{T3} = 120.00, SD_{T3} = 193.38$). The first hierarchical regression analysis predicting iPAL at T2 could explain 22.8% of variance in the first step (including type of intervention, iPAL at T1, self-efficacy at T1 and Δ_{T1-T2} self-efficacy as independent variables) and further 5% in the second step (including additionally PA enjoyment at T1 and Δ_{T1-T2} PA enjoyment). Self-efficacy (at T1 and Δ_{T1-T2}) was a positive significant predictor, and Δ_{T1-T2} PA enjoyment could predict iPAL at T2 over and above this cognitive influence $(\beta = 0.32)$. Relative weight analysis revealed that self-efficacy and PA enjoyment were of about equal importance in predicting iPAL at T2 (see Table 4 for detailed statistics).

		Exe	rcise	Stress-m	anagement	Tot	al
		М	(SD)	М	(SD)	М	(SD)
Intended physical	iPAL T1	52.14	101.95	41.84	92.47	47.22	96.94
Activity level (iPAL) ^a	iPAL T2	150.43	161.13	69.06	121.10	111.57	148.12
	iPAL T3	189.43	243.14	120.00	193.38	156.27	221.90
PA enjoyment ^b	PA enjoyment T1	2.89	0.74	2.84	0.81	2.87	0.77
	PA enjoyment T2	3.23	0.73	3.22	0.66	3.22	0.69
	PA enjoyment T3	3.15	0.87	3.22	0.73	3.18	0.80
Self-efficacy ^b	Self-efficacy T1	2.61	0.50	2.59	0.59	2.60	0.54
	Self-efficacy T2	2.75	0.56	2.74	0.61	2.74	0.58
	Self-efficacy T3	2.73	0.60	2.79	0.58	2.76	0.59
Change-scores	∆iPAL T1-T2	98.29	201.14	27.22	118.60	64.35	169.49
	∆iPAL T1-T3	137.29	249.60	78.16	194.63	109.05	225.33
	∆iPAL T2-T3	39.00	228.11	50.94	203.97	44.70	215.36
	∆PA enjoyment T1-T2	0.34	0.79	0.38	0.43	0.35	0.64
	∆PA enjoyment T1-T3	0.26	0.97	0.36	0.82	0.31	0.90
	∆PA enjoyment T2-T3	-0.08	0.74	0.00	0.74	0.04	0.73
	∆self-ef icacy T1-T2	0.14	0.56	0.15	0.62	0.14	0.58
	∆self-ef icacy T1-T3	0.12	0.66	0.20	0.40	0.16	0.55
	∆self-ef icacy T2-T3	-0.02	0.57	0.05	0.58	0.02	0.57

TABLE 2 | Descriptive statistics of study variables for the two intervention groups and for the whole sample.

^aIn minutes per week (practiced during the last week);

^bOn a scale from 1 to 4.

The second hierarchical regression analysis predicting iPAL at T3 revealed a differing finding. In the first step (including type of intervention, iPAL at T1, self-efficacy at T1 and Δ_{T1-T2} self-efficacy as independent variables) 16.4% of variance could be explained and only self-efficacy at T1 had a significant effect ($\beta = 0.457$, t = 3.305, p = 0.002). In the second step, PA enjoyment (at T1 as well as Δ_{T1-T2}) did not add any variance and was no significant predictor (see **Table 4**).

Research Question 2: Changes in Self-Efficacy and PA Enjoyment

Two ANOVAS with repeated measures showed that both PA enjoyment $[F_{(2, 116)} = 7.317, p = 0.001]$ and also marginally self-efficacy $[F_{(2, 126)} = 2.690, p = 0.072]$ increased across the three measurement points (see Table 2). Looking at the effect sizes, the increase of PA enjoyment was almost three times larger than the increase in self-efficacy ($\mu_{PA\ enjoyment}^2\ =\ 0.112$ versus $\mu_{self\text{-}efficacy}^2=$ 0.041). The interaction time by type of intervention (exercise versus stress management) and the main factor type of intervention had no effect in both analyses [PA enjoyment: $F_{\text{condition}(1, 58)} = 0.029, p = 0.866, F_{\text{interaction}(2, 116)} = 0.040,$ p = 0.961; self-efficacy: $F_{\text{condition}(1, 63)} = 0.012$, p = 0.915, $F_{\text{interaction}(2, 126)} = 0.150, p = 0.860$]. Thus, the factor type of intervention was left out in an additional analysis yielding very similar results [PA enjoyment: $F_{(2, 118)} = 7.412$, p = 0.001, $\mu^2 =$ 0.112; self-efficacy: $F_{(2, 128)} = 2.708$, p = 0.71, $\mu^2 = 0.041$]. Post-hoc analyses revealed that the significant increase in PA enjoyment and marginally in self-efficacy only took place between T1 und T2 ($p_{PA enjoyment} < 0.001$; $p_{self-efficacy} = 0.091$),

thus during the intervention. The difference to baseline remained significant at T3 ($p_{PA enjoyment} = 0.006$; $p_{self-efficacy} = 0.025$).

Additional Analyses: Factors Related to Change in PA Enjoyment

To examine factors being associated with the significant increase in PA enjoyment (between T1 and T2) at first bivariate correlations were regarded (see **Table 3**). All variables from T1 and T2 which correlated at least marginally (p < 0.10) with Δ_{T1-T2} PA enjoyment [i.e., age, change (T1-T2) in iPAL, chemotherapy status, PA enjoyment at T1, change (T1-T2) in selfefficacy] were included in a regression analysis as independent variables (dependent variable = Δ_{T1-T2} PA enjoyment). The regression analysis could explain 37% of the variance in the change of PA enjoyment. Low PA enjoyment at T1 ($\beta = -0.472$, t = -4.437, p < 0.001), a high increase in iPAL between T1 and T2 ($\beta = 0.249$, t = 2.389, p = 0.020) and a younger age ($\beta = -0.215$, t = -2.096, p = 0.041) were significant predictors of an increase in PA enjoyment.

DISCUSSION

Increasing evidence hints to the important role of affective factors in the process of behavior change (see introduction). Positive affects might be especially important in an oncological setting, as a cancer diagnosis and oncological treatment is linked to emotional distress and negative emotions (Janz et al., 2013; Deimling et al., 2015). Research shows that being passionate about activities is important for enhancing well-being and lowers

)	t	5	-	0	0	2	:	2	2	<u>+</u>	0	91	21	0	0	R	ī	
	1. iPAL T1	67	0.09	0.18 0	0.18 0.25° 0.12	.12 0.14	0.16	0.05	0.08		-0.49***-0.25*	0.13	-0.13	-0.04	0.07	-0.09	-0.08	0.03	0.05	-0.14	0.16 -	0.16 -0.03 -0.22°
physical activity	2. iPAL T2	67	-	0.38** (0.38** 0.2 0.35**	.35** 0.32**	** 0.23°	0.42***	** 0.42**		0.82*** 0.33**	-0.30*	0.17	0.15	0.03	0.16	0.24°	0.00	0.28	0.28* 0.01	0.05	0.04 -0.18
level (iPAL) ^a	3. iPAL T3	67		J	0.09 0.15	.15 0.19	0.42**	** 0.34**	* 0.36**	* 0.23°	0.91***	* 0.77***	* 0.06	0.11	0.04	-0.09	00.00	0.02	0.16 -	-0.03		0.02 -0.05 -0.10
PA enjoyment ^b	4. PA enjoyment T1	62			0.0	0.62*** 0.36**	** 0.37**	** 0.19	0.36**	* 0.05	00.0	-0.03	-0.51***		-0.53***-0.23°	° -0.17	0.01	0.20	0.03	-0.16 -0.02		0.02 -0.19
	5. PA enjoyment T2	65				0.51***	*** 0.27*	* 0.30*	0.31*	0.27*	0.11	-0.09	0.35***	* -0.07		-0.40** 0.05	0.06	00.0	0.01		-0.23°	-0.24°-0.23° 0.12 -0.03
-	6. PA enjoyment T3	99					0.43***	*** 0.27*	0.53***	** 0.20	0.13	-0.02	0.17	0.60	** 0.59	0.60*** 0.59***-0.10	0.14	0.26*		-0.03	-0.18 -	-0.05 -0.03 -0.18 -0.05 -0.09
Self-efficacy ^b	7. Self-efficacy T1	99						0.45***	** 0.54***	** 0.11	0.34**	0.26*	-0.15	0.07	0.15	-0.48***	* -0.41**	* 0.10	-0.02	-0.08	- 0.05 -	-0.02 -0.08 -0.05 -0.05 -0.13
-	8. Self-efficacy T2	67							0.52***	** 0.34**	* 0.31**	0.06	0.15	0.10	-0.05	0.57***	* 0.14	-0.49***	** 0.01	0.02	0.02	0.03 -0.02
	 Self-efficacy T3 	99								0.32**	* 0.32**	0.08	-0.07	0.16	0.23°	。 0.04	0.55*	0.55*** 0.49***		-0.05	- 0.06 -	-0.05 -0.05 -0.06 -0.10 -0.28*
Change-scores	10. ΔіРАL T1-T2	67									0.43***	*0.33**	0.24°	0.17	0.00	0.19	0.26*	-0.02	0.21	0.21° 0.09 -0.05	-0.05	0.05 -0.04
	11. ДіРАL Т1-ТЗ	67										0.71***	* 0.11	0.12	0.02	-0.05	0.04	00.0	0.13		- 0.05 -	0.03 -0.05 -0.04 -0.01
	12. ΔiPAL T2-T3	67											-0.05	0.01	0.02	-0.19	-0.16	0.02	-0.03	-0.03 -0.04 -0.02 -0.08	-0.02	-0.08 0.02
	13. APA enjoyment T1-T2	61												0.59	0.59***-0.15	0.28*	0.07	-0.22°	-0.04	-0.03	-0.03 -0.22° 0.16	0.16 0.26*
	14. ΔPA enjoyment T1-T3	61													0.71	0.71*** 0.03	0.10	0.07	-0.04	0.12	-0.15 -0.05	-0.05 0.09
	15. APA enjoyment T2-T3	61														-0.15	0.09	0.28*	00.00	0.13	0.05	0.05 -0.18 -0.09
	16. Aself-efficacy T1-T2	99															0.52*	0.52** -0.55***	** -0.04	0.07	0.06	0.10 0.12
	17. Aself-efficacy T1-T3	99																0.44***	** -0.07	0.04	- 0.01	-0.01 -0.06 -0.19
	18. Aself-efficacy T2-T3	99																	-0.06	-0.07	-0.08	-0.13 -0.27
Other .	19. Type of intervention	67																		0.04	0.10	0.10 -0.07
	20. Sex	67																			- 70.0	-0.10 0.18
	21. Age	67																				0.26* 0.02
	22. Metastases	67																				0.32**
	23. Chemo-therapy	67																				

^{-III} minutes per week (practiced outing the last week): ^bOn a scale from 1 to 4; type of intervention: 0 = stress-management, 1 = exercise; sex: 0 = male, 1 = female; metastases: 0 = no, 1 = yes; chemo-therapy: 0 = currently not, 1 = currently chemo-therapy; $^{\circ}p < 0.10$, $^{\circ}p < 0.05$. ^{**}p < 0.01. ^{***}p < 0.001.

TABLE 3 | Intercorrelations between study variables.

Step	Predictor	^β step 1	β _{step} 2	RW%
AV = iPAL at T2				
1:	Type of intervention ^a	0.32**	0.33**	25.8
	iPAL T1	0.22°	0.20°	1.5
	Self-efficacy T1 ^b	0.35**	0.27*	22.1
	∆self-efficacy T1-T2	0.29*	0.20	16.3
2:	PA enjoyment T1 ^b		0.24°	16.8
	∆PA enjoyment T1-T2		0.32*	17.5
₹ ² for model		0.28	0.36	
Adjusted <i>R</i> ²		0.23	0.28	
ΔR^2 for last step		0.28**	0.08°	
AV = iPAL at T3				
1:	Type of intervention ^a	0.11	0.11	9.9
	iPAL T1	0.12	0.14	10.3
	Self-efficacy T1 ^b	0.46**	0.47**	69.1
	∆self-efficacy T1-T2	0.12	0.09	5.5
2:	PA enjoyment T1 ^b		-0.05	2.9
	∆PA enjoyment T1-T2		0.11	2.3
R ² for model		0.22	0.24	
Adjusted R ²		0.16	0.15	
ΔR^2 for last step		0.22**	0.02	

TABLE 4 | Hierarchical regression analysis predicting intended physical activity level (iPAL) at T2 and T3 (N = 61).

^aType of intervention: 0 = stress-management, 1 = exercise;

^bOn a scale from 1 to 4; $^{\circ}p < 0.10 * p < 0.05.** p < 0.01$.

cancer worry (Burke et al., 2012). Our analysis focused on the role of PA enjoyment. With regard to #PA of cancer patients, PA enjoyment was compared to the classical cognitive factor self-efficacy.

The main result of our study was that baseline PA enjoyment as well as change in PA enjoyment (T1-T2) predicted the iPAL of cancer patients directly after the intervention. A relative weight analysis showed that the effect of PA enjoyment was comparable in its size to the one of the well-established cognitive factor self-efficacy. This is in line with previous studies showing the prominent role of PA enjoyment in predicting PA behavior in healthy adults (e.g., Rhodes et al., 2010; Nasuti and Rhodes, 2013; Lewis et al., 2016). As many people react with distress and depressive symptoms when being confronted with a cancer diagnosis (Jayadevappa et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2015), affective factors might play an especially important role in the oncological setting. Being physically active is one of several self-management strategies cancer patients use to actively deal with the disease (Shneerson et al., 2015). Research has found that regular PA can reduce depressive symptoms and improve the affective mental state (Craft et al., 2012; Mishra et al., 2012). A few mostly correlational studies have already shown that PA enjoyment is an important predictor of PA behavior also in oncological settings (Rogers et al., 2008; Charlier et al., 2013). In these studies PA is compared to other social cognitive factors in explaining cancer patients' PA. PA enjoyment always showed significant mostly moderate associations with PA (e.g., r = 0.4 in the study by Rogers et al., 2008).

While we found a significant effect of PA enjoyment on iPAL directly after intervention (at T2), surprisingly, PA enjoyment did not have any influence on iPAL at the 10-week follow up (T3). This is in contrast to findings of Lewis et al. (2016), who compared the relative importance of PA enjoyment and self-efficacy in a longitudinal study with a 12 months follow up in healthy adults, and found that self-efficacy was no longer a significant predictor of PA level when PA enjoyment was controlled. One reason for the more relevant role of PA enjoyment in this study by Lewi et al. compared to ours might be that Lewi's study assessed PA enjoyment more detailed with the 18-item PACES scale (Kendzierski and DeCarlo, 1991). However, our result is comparable to-to our knowledge-the only previous PA promotion trial among oncological patients in which the role of PA enjoyment was examined among 41 breast cancer survivors (Rogers et al., 2011). They found an increase in PA enjoyment directly post intervention as well, but PA enjoyment did not mediate the intervention effect on PA at a 3 months follow-up (barrier self-efficacy on the other hand showed this mediating effect).

If results of our study and the one by Rogers et al. (2011) can be replicated, reasons have to be examined why PA enjoyment is a significant predictor of long term PA in the healthy population (Lewis et al., 2016) but not in an oncological setting. For patients living with a serious disease such as cancer, cognitive factors might be more relevant for maintaining their PA level than affective factors in the long run. For example, in an unpublished survey of our working group among 193 cancer patients of various entities we found that only 13% of patient engaged in physical activities they preferred to do. Thus, cancer patients often cannot carry out the activities they really enjoy (for example playing soccer), but have to choose a suitable type of PA according to the limitations of their illness and the treatment(s) (for example Nordic Walking). Moreover, treatment related barriers (such as side-effects, fatigue, etc.) might make it additionally difficult for oncological patients to maintain their PA level compared to healthy adults (Brawley et al., 2002; Midtgaard et al., 2009; Blaney et al., 2013), pointing out the prominent role of barrier self-efficacy for long term PA.

Results of our study furthermore showed an increase in PA enjoyment and also marginally in self-efficacy during a 4-week behavior change intervention (in an exercise intervention as well as in a stress management group). The increase in self-efficacy is in line with Banduras theory (Bandura, 1977, 2000), postulating that feeling mastery experience regarding PA during an intervention should yield an increase in self-efficacy. Compared to the baseline values the increase in PA enjoyment was nearly three times as much as the one of self-efficacy ($\mu_{PA enjoyment}^2 = 0.11$; $\mu_{self-efficacy}^2 = 0.04$). This is very interesting, as there is no theory explaining changes in PA enjoyment. To our knowledge, only one very recent pilot study among 18 rectal cancer patients has examined increases in PA enjoyment while participating in an exercise program (Morielli et al., 2016). Because of the lack in theoretical background as well as empirical evidence, we exploratively analyzed factors being

associated with the increase in PA enjoyment: Increases in PA enjoyment were highest in younger patients, in participants with low scores on PA enjoyment at baseline and in participants who were able to considerably increase their iPAL during the intervention. Looking at this last factor leads to the assumption that changes in PA enjoyment might be related to mastery experience as well. Other potential factors like social aspects of exercising together (including the sources of self-efficacy vicarious experience and personal persuasion) or physical arousal during exercising (similar to the last source of self-efficacy) might be relevant as well and should be examined in future research. Moreover, the characteristics being a younger patient and having low scores on PA enjoyment should be prescreened in future studies and in current counseling initiatives to define the most valuable group for PA behavior change (trials) in cancer patients. Furthermore, within these patient groups the value of affective exercise components like competition-orientated tasks should be integrated in future study designs.

Our study has several limitations. Firstly, PA enjoyment has been measured with two items only. Although it has a good internal consistency and is based on a measure used in other oncological studies (e.g., Rogers et al., 2011, 2015), a multi-item measure such as the PA enjoyment Scale (PACES; Kendzierski and DeCarlo, 1991) would be preferable and would allow more differentiated analysis. As PA enjoyment was compared to self-efficacy which was assessed much more in detail, our results might be affected by this unequal assessment methods. Secondly, analyses were based on self-report measure for iPAL only and were restricted on exercise-related physical activities instead of PA in general. Thirdly, the focus of this article was limited to self-efficacy and PA enjoyment. Other affective factors besides PA enjoyment (e.g. affective attitudes, affective outcome expectancies, fear of PA) have not been taken into account and might be more relevant for explaining long term PA behavior of cancer patients. Lastly, the intervention study did not include a usual care control group. Results showed an increase in PA enjoyment in both the exercise and the stress management group. Thus, it might be that PA enjoyment increased through the social contact with the intervention staff. However, people of the stress

REFERENCES

- Ainsworth, B. E., Haskell, W. L., Herrmann, S. D., Meckes, N., Bassett, D. R., Tudor-Locke, C., et al. (2011). 2011 compendium of physical activities: a second update of codes and MET values. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 1575–1581. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31821ece12
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process 50, 179–211. doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychol. Rev. 84, 191–215. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Bandura, A. (2000). Self-Efficacy Encyclopedia of Psychology. Vol. 7. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Blanchard, C. M., Courneya, K. S., and Stein, K. (2008). Cancer survivors' adherence to lifestyle behavior recommendations and associations with healthrelated quality of life: results from the American Cancer Society's SCS-II. J. Clin. Oncol. 26, 2198–2204. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.14.6217

management group also engaged more frequently in PA after the intervention. Thus, probably not the intervention itself but the increase in PA predicted if participants enjoyed PA more after the intervention (Liao et al., 2015).

Future research should bring the single constructs—selfefficacy and PA enjoyment—into a broader context. For example, a classical social cognitive theory including self-efficacy (e.g., TPB or SCT) could be compared to a theory focusing on affective factors. One of the rare affective theories called "affect and health behavior framework" was proposed by Williams and Evans (2014). This complex model suggests pathways—for example automatic and reflective affect processing or affectively charged motivation—through which affect related concepts interrelate and influence health behavior. It would be interesting to test this framework in the PA and cancer domain empirically.

In conclusion, our study was the first study examining the relative importance of PA enjoyment in comparison to the classical cognitive factor self-efficacy in a PA promotion intervention for cancer patients. At least in the short term affective factors such as PA enjoyment seem to play an important role for cancer patients to increase their PA level.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NU contributed substantially to the conception and design of the work, performed statistical analyses and drafted the manuscript. JW supervised and supported the conception, design and implementation of the study and revised the work critically. MS supervised and supported the conception and design of the study, interpreted the data of the work and revised the work critically. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Ernst Ludwig Ehrlich Scholarship Programme for supporting NU. We acknowledge the financial support of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg within the funding programme Open Access Publishing.

- Blaney, J. M., Lowe-Strong, A., Rankin-Watt, J., Campbell, A., and Gracey, J. H. (2013). Cancer survivors' exercise barriers, facilitators and preferences in the context of fatigue, quality of life and physical activity participation: a questionnaire–survey. *Psychooncology* 22, 186–194. doi: 10.1002/ pon.2072
- Brawley, L. R., Culos-Reed, S. N., Angove, J., and Hoffman-Goetz, L. (2002). Understanding the barriers to physical activity for cancer patients: review and recommendations. J. Psychosoc. Oncol. 20, 1–21. doi: 10.1300/J077v20n04_01
- Brunet, J., Burke, S. M., and Sabiston, C. M. (2013). The benefits of being selfdetermined in promoting physical activity and affective well-being among women recently treated for breast cancer. *Psychooncology* 22, 2245–2252. doi: 10.1002/pon.3287
- Burke, S. M., Sabiston, C. M., and Vallerand, R. J. (2012). Passion in breast cancer survivors: examining links to emotional well-being. *J. Health Psychol.* 17, 1161–1175. doi: 10.1177/1359105311429202
- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., and Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep.* 100, 126–131.

- Charlier, C., Van Hoof, E., Pauwels, E., Lechner, L., Spittaels, H., and De Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2013). The contribution of general and cancer-related variables in explaining physical activity in a breast cancer population 3 weeks to 6 months post-treatment. *Psychooncology* 22, 203–211. doi: 10.1002/pon.2079
- Conner, M., McEachan, R., Taylor, N., O'Hara, J., and Lawton, R. (2015). Role of affective attitudes and anticipated affective reactions in predicting health behaviors. *Health Psychol.* 34, 642–652. doi: 10.1037/hea0000143
- Craft, L. L., VanIterson, E. H., Helenowski, I. B., Rademaker, A. W., and Courneya, K. S. (2012). Exercise effects on depressive symptoms in cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 21, 3–19. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0634
- Cramp, F., and Byron-Daniel, J. (2012). Exercise for the management of cancerrelated fatigue in adults. *Cochrane Database Sys. Rev.* 11:CD006145. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006145.pub3
- Deimling, G. T., Brown, S. P., Albitz, C., Burant, C. J., and Mallick, N. (2015). The relative importance of cancer-related and general health worries and distress among older adult, long-term cancer survivors. *Psychooncology*. doi: 10.1002/pon.4015. [Epub ahead of print].
- Demark-Wahnefried, W., Clipp, E. C., Lipkus, I. M., Lobach, D., Snyder, D. C., Sloane, R., et al. (2007). Main outcomes of the fresh start trial: a sequentially tailored, diet and exercise mailed print intervention among breast and prostate cancer survivors. J. Clin. Oncol. 25, 2709–2718. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.10.7094
- Fong, D. Y. T., Ho, J. W. C., Hui, B. P. H., Lee, A. M., Macfarlane, D. J., Leung, S. S. K., et al. (2012). Physical activity for cancer survivors: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Br. Med. J.* 344:e70. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e70
- Jacobsen, P. B., Phillips, K. M., Jim, H. S., Small, B. J., Faul, L. A., Meade, C. D., et al. (2013). Effects of self-directed stress management training and home-based exercise on quality of life in cancer patients receiving chemotherapy: a randomized controlled trial. *Psychooncology* 22, 1229–1235. doi: 10.1002/pon.3122
- Janz, N. K., Friese, C. R., Li, Y., Graff, J. J., Hamilton, A. S., and Hawley, S. T. (2013). Emotional well-being years post-treatment for breast cancer: prospective, multi-ethnic, and population-based analysis. *J. Cancer Surviv.* 8, 131–142. doi: 10.1007/s11764-013-0309-3
- Jayadevappa, R., Malkowicz, S. B., Chhatre, S., Johnson, J. C., and Gallo, J. J. (2012). The burden of depression in prostate cancer. *Psychooncology* 21, 1338–1345. doi: 10.1002/pon.2032
- Jones, L. W., and Alfano, C. M. (2012). Exercise-oncology research: past, present, and future. *Acta Oncol.* 52, 195–215. doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2012.742564
- Jones, L. W., Liang, Y., Pituskin, E. N., Battaglini, C. L., Scott, J. M., Hornsby, W. E., et al. (2011). Effect of exercise training on peak oxygen consumption in patients with cancer: a meta-analysis. *Oncologist* 16, 112–120. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2010-0197
- Jones, S. M. W., LaCroix, A. Z., Li, W., Zaslavsky, O., Wassertheil-Smoller, S., Weitlauf, J., et al. (2015). Depression and quality of life before and after breast cancer diagnosis in older women from the Women's Health Initiative. J. Cancer Surviv. 9, 620–629. doi: 10.1007/s11764-015-0438-y
- Karvinen, K. H., Courneya, K. S., Campbell, K. L., Pearcey, R. G., Dundas, G., Capstick, V., et al. (2007). Correlates of exercise motivation and behavior in a population-based sample of endometrial cancer survivors: an application of the theory of planned behavior. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 4:21. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-4-21
- Keats, M. R., Culos-Reed, S. N., Courneya, K. S., and McBride, M. (2007). Understanding physical activity in adolescent cancer survivors: an application of the theory of planned behavior. *Psychooncology* 16, 448–457. doi: 10.1002/pon.1075
- Kendzierski, D., and DeCarlo, K. J. (1991). Physical activity enjoyment scale: two validation studies. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 13, 50–64.
- Knobf, M. T. (2007). Psychosocial responses in breast cancer survivors. Semin. Oncol. Nurs. 23, 71–83. doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2006.11.009
- Lewis, B. A., Williams, D. M., Frayeh, A., and Marcus, B. H. (2016). Self-efficacy versus perceived enjoyment as predictors of physical activity behaviour. *Psychol. Health* 31, 456–469. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2015.1111372
- Liao, Y., Shonkoff, E. T., and Dunton, G. F. (2015). The acute relationships between affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in daily life: a review of current evidence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1975. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01975
- Ligibel, J. A., Meyerhardt, J., Pierce, J. P., Najita, J., Shockro, L., Campbell, N., et al. (2012). Impact of a telephone-based physical activity intervention upon

exercise behaviors and fitness in cancer survivors enrolled in a cooperative group setting. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 132, 205–213. doi: 10.1007/s10549-011-1882-7

- McEachan, R. R. C., Conner, M., Taylor, N. J., and Lawton, R. J. (2011). Prospective prediction of health-related behaviours with the heory of planned behaviour: a meta-analysis. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 5, 97–144. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2010.521684
- Midtgaard, J., Baadsgaard, M. T., Møller, T., Rasmussen, B., Quist, M., Andersen, C., et al. (2009). Self-reported physical activity behaviour; exercise motivation and information among Danish adult cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. *Eur. J. Oncol. Nurs.* 13, 116–121. doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2009.01.006
- Mishra, S. I., Scherer, R. W., Snyder, C., Geigle, P. M., Berlanstein, D. R., and Topaloglu, O. (2012). Exercise interventions on health-related quality of life for people with cancer during active treatment. *Cochrane Lib.* CD008465. doi: 10.1111/coa.12015
- Morielli, A. R., Usmani, N., Boulé, N. G., Severin, D., Tankel, K., Nijjar, T., et al. (2016). Exercise motivation in rectal cancer patients during and after neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy. *Support. Care Cancer* 24, 2919–2926. doi: 10.1007/s00520-016-3110-9
- Nasuti, G., and Rhodes, R. E. (2013). Affective judgment and physical activity in youth: review and meta-analyses. Ann. Behav. Med. 45, 357–376. doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9462-6
- Phillips, S. M., and McAuley, E. (2013). Social cognitive influences on physical activity participation in long-term breast cancer survivors. *Psychooncology* 22, 783–791. doi: 10.1002/pon.3074
- Pinto, B. M., and Ciccolo, J. T. (2011). "Physical activity motivation and cancer survivorship," in *Physical Activity and Cancer*, eds K. Courneya and C. M. Friedenreich (Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer), 367–387.
- Pinto, B. M., Frierson, G. M., Rabin, C., Trunzo, J. J., and Marcus, B. H. (2005). Home-based physical activity intervention for breast cancer patients. J. Clin. Oncol. 23, 3577–3587. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.03.080
- Prochaska, J. O., and DiClemente, C. C. (1983). Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: toward an integrative model of change. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 51, 390–395. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.51.3.390
- Rhodes, R. E., Fiala, B., and Conner, M. (2010). A review and meta-analysis of affective judgments and physical activity in adult populations. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 180–204. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9147-y
- Rogers, L. Q., Courneya, K. S., Robbins, K. T., Malone, J., Seiz, A., Koch, L., et al. (2008). Physical activity correlates and barriers in head and neck cancer patients. *Support. Care Cancer* 16, 19–27. doi: 10.1007/s00520-007-0293-0
- Rogers, L. Q., Fogleman, A., Verhulst, S., Bhugra, M., Rao, K., Malone, J., et al. (2015). Refining measurement of social cognitive theory factors associated with exercise adherence in head and neck cancer patients. *J. Psychosoc. Oncol.* 33, 467–487. doi: 10.1080/07347332.2015.1067277
- Rogers, L. Q., Markwell, S., Hopkins-Price, P., Vicari, S., Courneya, K. S., Hoelzer, K., et al. (2011). Reduced barriers mediated physical activity maintenance among breast cancer survivors. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 33, 235–254.
- Rogers, L. Q., Matevey, C., Hopkins-Price, P., Shah, P., Dunnington, G., and Courneya, K. S. (2004). Exploring social cognitive theory constructs for promoting exercise among breast cancer patients. *Cancer Nurs.* 27, 462–473. doi: 10.1097/00002820-200411000-00006
- Schmitz, K. H., Courneya, K. S., Matthews, C., Demark-Wahnefried, W., Galvao, D. A., Pinto, B. M., et al. (2010). American college of sports medicine roundtable on exercise guidelines for cancer survivors. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 42, 1409–1426. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181e0c112
- Schwarzer, R. (2008). Modeling health behavior change: how to predict and modify the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors. *Appl. Psychol.* 57, 1–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00325.x
- Schwarzer, R., Sniehotta, F. F., Lippke, S., Luszczynska, A., Scholz, U., Schüz, B., et al. (2003). On the Assessment and Analysis of Variables in the Health Action Process Approach: Conducting an Investigation. Berlin: Freie Universitaet Berlin.
- Shneerson, C., Taskila, T., Holder, R., Greenfield, S., Tolosa, I., Damery, S., et al. (2015). Patterns of self-management practices undertaken by cancer survivors: variations in demographic factors. *Eur. J. Cancer Care* 24, 683–694. doi: 10.1111/ecc.12252
- Speck, R. M., Courneya, K. S., Måsse, L. C., Duval, S., and Schmitz, K. H. (2010). An update of controlled physical activity trials in cancer survivors: a systematic

review and meta-analysis. J. Cancer Surviv. 4, 87–100. doi: 10.1007/s11764-009-0110-5

- Speed-Andrews, A. E., Rhodes, R. E., Blanchard, C. M., Culos-Reed, S. N., Friedenreich, C. M., Belanger, L. J., et al. (2012). Medical, demographic and social cognitive correlates of physical activity in a population-based sample of colorectal cancer survivors. *Eur. J. Cancer Care* 21, 187–196. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2011.01290.x
- Stacey, F. G., James, E. L., Chapman, K., Courneya, K. S., and Lubans, D. R. (2015). A systematic review and meta-analysis of social cognitive theory-based physical activity and/or nutrition behavior change interventions for cancer survivors. J. Cancer Surviv. 9, 305–338. doi: 10.1007/s11764-014-0413-z
- Stene, G. B., Helbostad, J. L., Balstad, T. R., Riphagen, I. I., Kaasa, S., and Oldervoll, L. M. (2013). Effect of physical exercise on muscle mass and strength in cancer patients during treatment—a systematic review. *Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol.* 88, 573–593. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2013.07.001
- Strasser, B., Steindorf, K., Wiskemann, J., and Ulrich, C. M. (2013). Impact of resistance training in cancer survivors: a meta-analysis. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 45, 2080–2090. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182 9a3b63
- Tonidandel, S., LeBreton, J. M., and Johnson, J. W. (2009). Determining the statistical significance of relative weights. *Psychol. Methods* 14, 387–399. doi: 10.1037/a0017735
- Trinh, L., Plotnikoff, R. C., Rhodes, R. E., North, S., and Courneya, K. S. (2012). Correlates of physical activity in a population-based sample of kidney cancer survivors: an application of the theory of planned behavior. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 9, 96–107. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-96
- Ungar, N., Sieverding, M., Weidner, G., Ulrich, C. M., and Wiskemann, J. (2016). A self-regulation-based intervention to increase physical activity in cancer

patients. Psychol. Health Med. 21, 163-175. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2015.1 081255

- von Gruenigen, V. E., Courneya, K. S., Gibbons, H. E., Kavanagh, M. B., Waggoner, S. E., and Lerner, E. (2008). Feasibility and effectiveness of a lifestyle intervention program in obese endometrial cancer patients: a randomized trial. *Gynecol. Oncol.* 109, 19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.12.026
- Wagenmakers, R., van den Akker-Scheek, I., Groothoff, J. W., Zijlstra, W., Bulstra, S. K., Kootstra, J. W. J., et al. (2008). Reliability and validity of the short questionnaire to assess health-enhancing physical activity (SQUASH) in patients after total hip arthroplasty. *BMC Musculoskelet. Disord.* 9:141. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-9-141
- Wendel-Vos, G. C. W., Schuit, A. J., Saris, W. H. M., and Kromhout, D. (2003). Reproducibility and relative validity of the short questionnaire to assess health-enhancing physical activity. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 56, 1163–1169. doi: 10.1016/S0895-4356(03)00220-8
- Williams, D. M., and Evans, D. R. (2014). Current emotion research in health behavior science. *Emotion Rev.* 6, 277–287. doi: 10.1177/1754073914523052

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Ungar, Wiskemann and Sieverding. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Relationships between Psychophysiological Responses to Cycling Exercise and Post-Exercise Self-Efficacy

Eriko Matsuo^{1,2}, Shigeru Matsubara¹, Seigo Shiga² and Kentaro Yamanaka^{2,3*}

¹ School of Pharmacy, Nihon University, Funabashi, Japan, ² Graduate School of Life Sciences, Showa Women's University, Tokyo, Japan, ³ Institute of Women's Health Sciences, Showa Women's University, Tokyo, Japan

Although self-efficacy (SE) is an important determinant of regular exercise, it is unclear how subjective and physiological states before, during, and after the exercise session affects post-exercise SE. The aim of this study was to clarify subjective and physiological factors affecting post-exercise SE assessed after a single exercise session at a physiologically equivalent level. Forty-three healthy volunteers (28 women, 15 men) completed an 82-min experimental session, comprising a 22-min pre-exercise rest, a 30-min steady-state cycling exercise at moderate intensity [40% of heart rate (HR) reserve], and a 30-min post-exercise rest. We measured physiological (HR) and subjective [Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE), Feeling Scale (FS)] states during the experimental session. Autonomic states were assessed by power spectral analysis of heart rate variability (HRV) during pre- and post-exercise rest. Post-exercise SE, which was the participants' confidence in their ability to perform the 30-min exercise that they had just performed, was assessed at 30-min post-exercise. A stepwise multiple regression analysis, with post-exercise SE as the dependent variable and physiological and subjective measures of the exercise as candidate explanatory variables, showed that post-exercise SE was negatively correlated with RPE and positively correlated with FS at the end of the 30-min exercise. In addition, post-exercise SE was negatively correlated with high-frequency power of the post-exercise HRV, an index of parasympathetic function. These results indicate that post-exercise SE is related not only to subjective responses to the exercise but also to autonomic response after the exercise.

Keywords: post-exercise self-efficacy, perceived exertion, heart rate variability, autonomic response, multiple regression analysis

INTRODUCTION

The beneficial effects of exercise and physical activity on the development and maintenance of cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in most adults have been widely demonstrated (World Health Organization, 2010; Garber et al., 2011). Therefore, exercise quality and quantity recommendations have been included in the guidelines of the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) and the American Heart Association for healthy adults

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germanv

Reviewed by:

Douglas L. Delahanty, Kent State University, USA Paul Freeman, University of Essex, UK Thomas M. Brinthaupt, Middle Tennessee State University, USA

> *Correspondence: Kentaro Yamanaka kentaro@swu.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 22 August 2015 Accepted: 05 November 2015 Published: 23 November 2015

Citation:

Matsuo E, Matsubara S, Shiga S and Yamanaka K (2015) Relationships between Psychophysiological Responses to Cycling Exercise and Post-Exercise Self-Efficacy. Front. Psychol. 6:1775. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01775 (Haskell et al., 2007). Nonetheless, physical inactivity remains a major public health problem in many industrialized countries (Kohl et al., 2012). Although regular exercise can clearly prevent many health problems, many find it difficult to adopt and adhere to prescribed exercise programs. This could be because, even when exercise intensity is defined at physiologically or self-selected equivalent levels, there are considerable inter-individual differences in physiological and subjective responses to exercise (Ekkekakis and Lind, 2006; Rose and Parfitt, 2007, 2010, 2012; Ekkekakis et al., 2009; DaSilva et al., 2011).

According to previous studies, exercise self-efficacy (SE) is an important determinant in the adoption and maintenance of a regular exercise regimen (McAuley and Blissmer, 2000). SE refers to the belief in one's capability to successfully execute the actions necessary to satisfy specific situational demands (Bandura, 1997). McAuley et al. (2003) demonstrated that individuals with high exercise SE following a 6-months exercise program reported high activity levels at the 6- and 18-months follow-ups. Moreover, McAuley et al. (2007) demonstrated that many active individuals with high exercise SE at the 2-years follow-up reported still being active at the 5-years follow-up. Thus, high exercise SE was still associated with high physical activity levels for a considerable period afterward. Therefore, factors affecting exercise SE must be revealed to enable the promotion of prescribed exercise programs.

Bandura (1997) identifies four factors affecting SE: mastery experience, vicarious experience, social persuasion, and interpretations of physiological response. Previous studies suggest that exercise SE varies according to experiential and social factors: current exercise behavior or physical activity level (McAuley et al., 2003; Magnan et al., 2013), environmental support (McAuley et al., 2000, 2003), or pre-exercise SE (Pender et al., 2002). These results suggest that individuals who had a successful experience of and a better environment for exercise program performance strengthened their pre-exercise SE, which then promoted adherence to the exercise program easily. On the other hand, pre-exercise SE in individuals without successful exercise experience remains consistently low.

Previous studies demonstrated that affective responses to the exercise, which reflects interpretations of physiological response, also influenced exercise SE (Pender et al., 2002; McAuley et al., 2003; Focht et al., 2007; Kwan and Bryan, 2010; Magnan et al., 2013). For example, SE levels after the exercise increased (Katula et al., 1999; Pender et al., 2002) or decreased (Katula et al., 1999; Focht et al., 2007; Welch et al., 2010) compared with those before the exercise. This divergence was partly due to exercise intensity (Katula et al., 1999; Welch et al., 2010). These results indicated that exercise SE can be modified depending on individual subjective states during exercise, such as Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE; Borg, 1982) and Feeling Scale (FS; Hardy and Rejeski, 1989), and the exercise experience can result in a successful experience with high exercise SE or an unsuccessful experience with low exercise SE. That is, an affective response to the exercise and the underlying physiological response might be one of the key factors in changing individual exercise SE.

It is well-known that the RPE provides a relatively good estimate of actual heart rate (HR) during exercise. In addition, it is generally believed that affective state correlates with autonomic nervous system activity (Ekman et al., 1983; Christie and Friedman, 2004; Kreibig, 2010). Spectral analysis of heart rate variability (HRV) is an established non-invasive tool that can be used to study the autonomic control of HR at rest (TaskForce, 1996; Perini and Veicsteinas, 2003; Sandercock and Brodie, 2006). For example, using the HRV indices, Sakuragi and Sugiyama (2006) indicated that regular walking exercise improved mood states and shifted autonomic balance to parasympathetic predominance. Weinstein et al. (2007) reported that reduced parasympathetic activity in the baseline period correlated with the increases in negative mood symptoms in the exercise-withdrawal group. From these results, we considered that autonomic activity might be related to subjective responses to exercise and post-exercise SE. However, it is unclear how physiological measures before, during, and after the exercise session relate to post-exercise SE, directly or indirectly. Therefore, as the first step for examining the detailed relationship between interpretations of physiological response to exercise and postexercise SE, it is important to focus the subjective (RPE and FS) and/or physiological measures (HRV indices) against a steadystate exercise session at a physiologically equivalent intensity level.

The aim of the present study was to clarify the subjective and/or physiological (especially autonomic) factors affecting post-exercise SE assessed after a single exercise session at a physiologically equivalent level. We hypothesized that postexercise SE is related to not only subjective but also physiological (especially autonomic) measures. For this purpose, we measured subjective and physiological responses to a 30-min steadystate cycling exercise performed at moderate intensities and recorded post-exercise SE 30 min after the exercise. In order to focus the effect of the subjective and/or physiological (especially autonomic) responses to the exercise on post-exercise SE, we asked no question about experiential and social factors beforehand. Furthermore, only post-exercise SE was assessed with the intention of minimizing the aftereffect of self-reported pre-exercise SE. Next, we attempted to identify significant factors affecting post-exercise SE among the measured subjective and physiological variables. However, it is unclear what physiological variables relate to post-exercise SE and how subjective variables interact with them. Therefore, we used a stepwise multiple regression analysis as an exploratory method. In this analysis, post-exercise SE was the dependent variable and physical characteristics and subjective and physiological responses to the exercise were candidate explanatory variables.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Forty-three healthy volunteers (28 women, 15 men, age range: 18–24 years-old) not taking any medication or undergoing treatment were sampled. They were recruited from undergraduate student populations at Showa Women's

University and Nihon University. All participants signed an informed consent document before participating in an experimental session and measured their body weight and height (InBody J10; Biospace, Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea) to calculate their body mass index (BMI). Participants were asked to have a caffeine-free meal at least 2 h before visit to our laboratory. We confirmed by interview that they did not engage in regular exercise, competitive sports, or manual labor, and did not use bicycle ergometer frequently. After completing all experimental procedures, they received a monetary reward. This study was approved by the ethics committee of Showa Women's University and School of Pharmacy, Nihon University.

Post-exercise Self-efficacy

Our post-exercise SE scale was modified from McAuley's Exercise Self-Efficacy Scale (McAuley et al., 1993), and comprised three items on participants' confidence in their ability to perform the 30-min exercise that they had just performed. The items included (1) "I can perform the 30-min exercise three to five times per week at a 10% increased level of intensity from the level I just maintained," (2) "I can perform the 30-min exercise three to five times per week at the same level of intensity as the level I just maintained," and (3) "I can perform the 30-min exercise three to five times per week at a 10% reduced level of intensity from the level I just maintained." Participants answered each item on an 11-point scale ranging from 0% (not at all confident) to 100% (highly confident). Before the experimental session, one of the authors (EM) explained to participants the method for assessing post-exercise SE. Participants were instructed to rate the SE scales based on their confidence about their execution of the exercise that they had just performed. The average of the responses to the three-item questionnaire was used in the data analysis. McAuley's Exercise Self-Efficacy Scale demonstrated good internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.92$; McAuley et al., 1993). Our measures also demonstrated good internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.92$).

Subjective Measures

Participants' subjective states were assessed using the RPE (Borg, 1982) and the FS (Hardy and Rejeski, 1989). One of the authors (EM) orientated each participant regarding completion of the RPE and FS just before an experimental session. The 15-point RPE scale, ranging from 6 (*no exertion at all*) to 20 (*maximal exertion*), was used to estimate perceived whole-body exertion. The 11-point FS, which ranges from -5 (*very bad*) to +5 (*very good*), measured basic or core affective valence (pleasant – unpleasant).

Experimental Session

Each participant conducted a single experimental session individually, and the experiment was performed under the control of two or more researchers. An experimental session lasted 82 min, comprising a 22-min pre-exercise rest (Pre), a 30-min exercise (Ex), and a 30-min post-exercise rest (Post; **Figure 1**). Participants breathed freely, and their HRs were continuously monitored throughout the session. Participants exercised on an electrically braked bicycle ergometer (Aerobike 900U-ex, Konami Sports & Life, Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). Exercise intensity was set at 40% of HR reserve (HRR). Thus, the target HR during exercise for each participant was calculated as follows: target HR = resting HR + $0.4 \times$ (maximal HR – resting HR). Maximal HR was calculated as 220 – age. Resting HR was the mean HR value during a 15-min Pre period.

The experimental session began after participants' 10-min rest on a chair to familiarize themselves with the experimental setting. During the Pre period, participants sat in a chair next to a bicycle ergometer. Twenty minutes after the start of the Pre period (Pre-20), participants recorded their FS, then moved from the chair to the bicycle ergometer. At Pre-22, participants started a bicycle exercise. One of the authors (EM) gradually increased the bicycle's workload during the first 5 min of the Ex period and adjusted it so the participants could exercise at their target HR levels. Afterward, while participants' HR were monitored, the workload was adjusted every 5 min during the Ex period. This enabled the participants to perform steady-state exercise at their target HR levels (maximal adjustment range was $\pm 10W$ in a single session). Thirty minutes after the start of the Ex period (Ex-30), participants completed the bicycle exercise and immediately recorded their RPE and FS on the ergometer. After that, they moved from the ergometer to the chair, sitting in the chair in a relaxed state during the Post period. Thirty minutes after the start of the Post period (Post-30), participants recorded their FS and experiential post-exercise SE. We recorded RPE and FS only at the end of each component of the session (only at Ex-30 for RPE, and at Pre-20, Ex-30, and Post-30 for FS) because it was easy to focus self-report measurements for the participants.

Physiological Data Recording and Analysis

Throughout the experimental session, participants' HRs were continuously monitored using a three-lead electrocardiogram (ECG; BSM-2401 ECG monitor, Nihon Kohden, Tokyo, Japan). The output signal from the ECG monitor, a train of rectangular impulses corresponding to the QRS spikes, was stored sequentially by a bio-amplifier recording device (Polymate II AP216, TEAC, Japan) and used for the subsequent off-line analysis (sampling rate = 1,000 Hz). The period between consecutive heartbeats (R-R intervals: RRI) was calculated using all of the output signal data collected during an 82-min experimental session. Next, a trained researcher (one of the authors, KY) searched the RRI data for outliers, which would likely have been caused by bodily movements during the exercise, and corrected these by either omitting (for extra beats) or inserting beats (for doubled or tripled beats). The mean percentage of abnormal beats during an 82-min experimental session was 0.23%; most of these were observed during the transition between the chair and the bicycle ergometer. From the corrected RRI data, steady-state RRI data (5-20 min in the Pre period, 10-25 min in the Ex period, and 10-25 min in the Post period) were extracted and converted to HR data (beats/min), and the average HR was calculated for each steady-state 15-min period (HR_{mean}). Actual %HRR values in the Ex period were then calculated.



TABLE 1 | Participant characteristics and exercise parameters.

	Female (<i>n</i> = 28)	Male (<i>n</i> = 15)
Age (year)	21.0 ± 1.2	20.7 ± 1.7
Height (cm)	158.9 ± 4.7	$169.4 \pm 4.4^{*}$
Weight (kg)	53.2 ± 5.5	$62.3 \pm 8.7^{*}$
BMI (kg/m ²)	21.1 ± 2.0	21.7 ± 2.6
Workload (W)	70.4 ± 11.3	$99.3 \pm 23.3^{*}$
%HRR	40.3 ± 2.0	39.3 ± 3.1

Data presented as mean \pm SD. BMI, body mass index. *p < 0.05; Unpaired t-tests show significant differences between male and female participants.

Next, the steady-state RRIs were interpolated and re-sampled at 10 Hz using a cubic spline function to obtain equally spaced samples. Then, power spectral analysis of the HRV data was performed using a fast Fourier transform algorithm. The data were categorized into high-frequency (HF; 0.15–0.40 Hz) and low-frequency (LF; 0.04–0.15 Hz) bands and calculated as integrals under the respective power spectral density functions (ms²). HF power in normalized units [HFn.u. = HF/(LF + HF) × 100] was calculated as an index of parasympathetic function, and the LF/HF ratio was calculated as an index of sympathovagal balance (TaskForce, 1996). These data analyses were performed using Matlab R2012b (MathWorks, Natick, MA, USA).

Statistical Analysis

As a prerequisite for examining the relation between postexercise SE and subjective and physiological measures, we needed to confirm whether the experiment was carried out as planned (participant characteristics and experimental settings) and how participants responded to the exercise subjectively and physiologically. Therefore, we first conducted two-sample *t*-tests on the participant characteristics and exercise parameters for women and men. Next, we examined temporal changes of LF/HF) as follows. On FS and HR_{mean}, a repeated measures ANOVA was conducted with three time points (Pre-20, Ex-30, and Post-30) or periods (Pre, Ex, and Post) as the within-subjects factor. For the repeated measures ANOVA, we used Mauchly's test to evaluate the sphericity assumption, and, when necessary, a Greenhouse-Geisser procedure was used to correct the degrees of freedom. If necessary, post hoc multiple comparisons were conducted by using paired *t*-tests with Bonferroni correction. On the HRV indices in Pre- and Post-exercise resting periods (HFn.u. and LF/HF during Pre and Post), paired t-tests were conducted. Finally, in order to identify some of the factors contributing to post-exercise SE, we conducted a stepwise multiple regression analysis. We chose post-exercise SE as the dependent variable and participants' physical characteristics (BMI), physiological and subjective states during pre-exercise rest (HRmean, HFn.u., and LF/HF in Pre and FS at Pre-20), exercise (HRmean in Ex and RPE and FS at Ex-30), and post-exercise rest (HR_{mean}, HF_{n.u.}, and LF/HF in Post and FS at Post-30) as candidate explanatory variables. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics 19.0 (IBM SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). The data were presented as mean \pm SD.

subjective (FS) and physiological measures (HR_{mean}, HF_{n.u.}, and

RESULTS

Participant Characteristics and Exercise Settings

In **Table 1**, participant characteristics (age, height, weight, and BMI) and exercise settings (workloads of bicycle ergometer and %HRR) are shown for women (n = 28) and men (n = 15). Although there were significant sex differences in height (t[41] = 7.17, p < 0.01, d = 2.32) and weight (t[41] = 4.21, p < 0.01, d = 1.25), no significant differences were observed regarding BMI (t[41] = 0.84, p = 0.41, d = 0.26). Four participants were categorized as "underweight" (from 16.0 to

18.5) and five were "overweight" (from 25 to 30), while 34 participants were categorized as "healthy weight" (from 18.5 to 25). No participants were "severely underweight" (BMI < 16.0) or "obese" (BMI \geq 30). Next, there was a significant sex difference in workloads of bicycle ergometer (t[41] = 5.50, p < 0.01, d = 1.58), while there was no significant difference in %HRR (t[41] = 0.85, p = 0.40, d = 0.40). These results provide strong evidence that most participants had normal physical characteristics, and both female and male participants exercised at relatively equivalent intensity as planned. Since there was no significant sex difference on age, BMI, and %HRR, we pooled all participants' (women and men) data in the following analyses.

Subjective and Autonomic Responses to Steady-state Cycling Exercise

Subjective and physiological responses to exercise are shown in **Table 2**. A repeated measures ANOVA on FS scores revealed no significant effect of time points (F[2,42] = 2.02, p = 0.13, $\eta_p^2 = 0.05$). This indicates that FS scores had relatively large individual differences and did not change in a uniform way for all participants. A repeated measures ANOVA on HR_{mean} revealed a significant effect of time periods (F[2,42] = 2960.5, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.98$), and *post hoc* multiple comparison revealed that there were significant differences in the HR_{mean} between Pre and Ex (t[42] = -63.3, p < 0.01, d = 10.33), Ex and Post (t[42] = -6.29, p < 0.01, d = 0.58). This indicates that HR changed similarly for all participants according to exercise session, and the HR_{mean} in Post did not completely return to the baseline level (the

HR_{mean} in Pre). A paired *t*-test revealed that HF_{n.u.} (index of parasympathetic function) was significantly larger in Post than in Pre (t[42] = 2.93, p < 0.01, d = 0.26), and the LF/HF ratio (index of sympathovagal balance) was significantly smaller in Post than in Pre (t[42] = -2.58, p < 0.05, d = 0.35). These results indicate that autonomic states were different before and after the exercise. The post-exercise SE values at Post-30 were around 70 with a substantial inter-individual difference (range: 20–100).

Stepwise Multiple Regression Analysis

Table 3 shows the results of a stepwise multiple regression analysis for post-exercise SE at Post-30. In the final model, the post-exercise SE at Post-30 was negatively correlated with RPE at Ex-30, positively correlated with FS at Ex-30, and negatively correlated with $HF_{n,u}$ in Post. Figure 2A shows the relationships between post-exercise SE at Post-30 and RPE at Ex-30; participants with high RPE scores at Ex-30 assessed their post-exercise SE at Post-30 as low. Figure 2B shows the relationships between post-exercise SE at Post-30 and FS at Ex-30; participants with high FS scores at Ex-30 assessed their post-exercise SE at Post-30 as high. Figure 2C shows the relationships between post-exercise SE at Post-30 and HF_{n.u.} in Post; participants with high HF_{n.u.} (index of parasympathetic activity) in Post assessed their post-exercise SE at Post-30 as low. These results indicate that, when participants reported low RPE and high FS at the end of the exercise and revealed low parasympathetic activity during post-exercise resting period, they assessed post-exercise SE at Post-30 as high.

		Pre-exercise rest	Exercise	Post-exercise rest
Subjective responses	RPE		13.0 ± 2.1	
	FS	1.28 ± 1.56	1.88 ± 1.53	1.49 ± 1.74
Physiological responses	HR _{mean} (bpm)	69.6 ± 6.5	121.4 ± 2.9	$73.3 \pm 6.5^{\#}$
	HF _{n.u.}	0.40 ± 0.17		$0.36 \pm 0.16^{*}$
	LF/HF	1.91 ± 1.11		$2.43 \pm 1.78^{*}$
Post-exercise SE (%)				69.4 ± 23.4

SE, Self-efficacy; RPE, Rating of Perceived Exertion; FS, Feeling Scale; HF_{n.u.}, high-frequency power of heart-rate variability in normalized unit; LF, low-frequency power of heart-rate variability. Data are mean \pm SD. #p < 0.05; Two-way factorial ANOVA shows a significant main effect of time period. *p < 0.05; Paired t-tests show significant differences between pre- and post-exercise rest.

Step	Adjusted R ²	F	Explanatory variable	В	SE	β	t
Dependent	variable: post-exerci	se SE at Post-	30				
Step 1	0.146	8.192	RPE at Ex-30	-4.569	1.596	-0.408	-2.861
Step 2	0.542	8.308	RPE at Ex-30	-4.602	1.488	-0.411	-3.093
			FS at Ex-30	5.440	2.029	0.356	2.681
Step 3	0.347	8.445	RPE at Ex-30	-3.846	1.427	-0.343	-2.694
			FS at Ex-30	5.626	1.905	0.369	2.954
			HFn.u. in Post	-48.697	19.170	-0.324	-2.540

SE, Self-efficacy; adjusted R², coefficient of determination adjusted for degrees of freedom; B, partial regression coefficient; SE, standard error; β, standardized partial regression coefficient; RPE, Rating of Perceived Exertion; FS, Feeling Scale; HF_{n.u.}, high-frequency power in normalized units; Ex, exercise; Post, post-exercise rest.



FIGURE 2 | Relationship between post-exercise self-efficacy and subjective or physiological measures. (A) Relationship between post-exercise SE and RPE at Ex-30 (r = 0.167, p < 0.05). (B) Relationship between post-exercise SE and FS at Ex-30 (r = 0.125, p < 0.05). (C) Relationship between post-exercise SE and HF_{n.u.} in Post (r = 0.145, p < 0.05). SE, Self-Efficacy; RPE, Rating of Perceived Exertion; FS, Feeling Scale; HF_{n.u.}, high-frequency power of heart-rate variability in normalized unit.

DISCUSSION

The aims of the present study were to clarify subjective and/or physiological factors affecting post-exercise SE. To achieve this purpose, we recorded subjective (RPE and FS) and physiological (HR_{mean} and HRV indices) responses to a 30-min steady-state cycling exercise at moderate intensity (40% of HRR) and post-exercise SE at 30 min post-exercise. Stepwise multiple regression results suggest that post-exercise SE at the end of the 30 min post-exercise period was mainly dependent on RPE and FS at the end of the exercise and on HF_{n.u.} during post-exercise resting period. To our knowledge, this is the first study revealing the relationship between post-exercise SE and not only subjective but also autonomic measures.

We first conducted a careful check to ensure all participants exercised at the planned intensity levels (40% of HRR) and obtained strong evidence that all participants exercised as planned. Therefore, other variables examined in this study (RPE, FS, and HRV indices) were considered representative of participants' subjective and physiological responses to a 30-min steady-state cycling exercise at the target moderate intensity. Despite such a strict setting of physiologically equivalent exercise intensity, FS scores at Ex-30 had a large inter-individual variability, which is similar to previous results (Rose and Parfitt, 2007, 2010; Haile et al., 2013). On the other hand, Ekkekakis and Lind (2006) and Ekkekakis et al. (2009) showed that the pattern of change in the affective responses differed among normalweight, overweight, and obese individuals. In our study, however, only five participants were categorized as "overweight," and no participants were "obese." Therefore, it is not likely that BMI was a main factor in the inter-individual FS variability observed in this study. Moreover, post-exercise SE had a substantial interindividual difference (range: 20-100). This also lends strong support to our hypothesis that post-exercise SE can be altered by many subjective and physiological factors.

This study's "moderate" level was relatively low (range: 40– 59% of HRR) in ACSM's exercise intensity classification (Garber et al., 2011). Since we did not recruit participants based on their physical fitness levels, it is highly probable that inactive individuals were included. Previous study demonstrated that, when controlling for physiological values (oxygen uptake or HR) during exercise, individuals with high fitness levels perceived themselves to be under less exertion than did those with low fitness levels (Travlos and Marisi, 1996). Another study reported that, when controlling for subjective value (RPE), individuals with low fitness levels exhibited greater physiological indices during exercise than did those with high fitness levels (Kaufman et al., 2006). That is, we assumed that relatively low exercise intensity might be suitable for an investigation of subjective and/or physiological factors affecting experiential post-exercise SE among our participants with wide range of physical fitness levels. In fact, our participants' RPE scores were relatively high in the above-mentioned ACSM classification (RPE 12-13).

With respect to the physiological measures used during pre- and post-exercise resting periods, HR_{mean} was significantly higher in the Post than in the Pre period. In addition, $HF_{n.u.}$ (index of parasympathetic function) was significantly larger in Post than in Pre and the LF/HF ratio (index of sympathovagal balance) were significantly smaller in Post than in Pre. These results indicate that, probably due to physiological aftereffects of the exercise, participants were sympathetic dominant during post-exercise resting periods after a 30-min steady-state cycling exercise at moderate intensity. This diversity in subjective (RPE and FS) and physiological (HR_{mean} and HRV indices) responses to the exercise might be one of the factors of a substantial inter-individual difference in post-exercise SE. Therefore, it is important to reveal factors affecting post-exercise SE using exploratory stepwise multiple regression analyses.

Stepwise multiple regression analysis showed that postexercise SE at Post-30 was negatively correlated with RPE and positively correlated with FS, at Ex-30. This result indicates that participants with strong perceptions of exertion and bad feelings during exercise typically assessed their confidence in their ability to perform the 30-min exercise that they had just performed as low. This relationship between post-exercise SE and RPE at Ex-30 is similar to a previous finding that RPE scores during exercise partly explained the variance in post-exercise SE (Pender et al., 2002). The interesting aspect of this result is that an extracted affecting factor of post-exercise SE was not HR_{mean} during exercise, which directly reflects exercise intensity, but RPE and FS at the end of the exercise, which indirectly reflects relative exercise intensity through participants' subjective states. That is, participants' post-exercise SE is more strongly influenced by subjective states of physical stress, effort, and fatigue than by physiological cardiovascular states during exercise. Furthermore, post-exercise SE at Post-30 was negatively correlated with HF_{n.u.} in Post. This significant relationship between post-exercise SE and HRV indices was critically interesting. When we consider that the HF_{n.u.} is an index of parasympathetic function, this suggests that participants with high vagal activity (and low sympathetic activity) during the post-exercise resting period tended to assess their post-exercise SE as low. This result suggests that post-exercise SE might be related to the balance of autonomic HR control in the post-exercise resting period.

In this study, we focused one of Bandura's four factors affecting SE: interpretations of physiological response. Therefore, we hypothesized that post-exercise SE is related to physiological and subjective measures to the exercise and focused on the relationships between interpretations of physiological response to the exercise and post-exercise SE. As a result, we demonstrated that post-exercise SE is related not only to subjective responses to exercise but also to autonomic response after the exercise. On the other hand, previous studies reported that other social and experiential factors affect post-exercise SE (McAuley et al., 2000, 2003; Magnan et al., 2013). In addition, preexercise SE affected subjective responses to the following exercise (Katula et al., 1999; Jerome et al., 2002; Focht et al., 2007; Magnan et al., 2013). Moreover, it is not clear whether the level of post-exercise SE remains stable over time, especially by the time of the next exercise participation. That is, it is important to examine how post-exercise SE, which is modified according to the exercise participation influences many factors affecting exercise SE afterward. As a next step, therefore, we will try to reveal interactive relationships between pre- and post-exercise SE and many other factors.

Several methodological limitations of this study should be discussed. First, our sample size was small. For multiple regression analysis of our experimental setting (effect size f^2 [large] = 0.35, α = 0.05, power = 0.8, number of predictors [explanatory variables] = 12), sample size was *a priori* estimated

REFERENCES

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control. New York, NY: Freeman. Borg, G. A. (1982). Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 14, 377–381. doi: 10.1249/00005768-198205000-00012

Christie, I. C., and Friedman, B. H. (2004). Autonomic specificity of discrete emotion and dimensions of affective space: a multivariate approach. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 51, 143–153. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2003.0 8.002 to 61. On the other hand, statistical power from post hoc computing using our data (effect size $f^2 = 0.39$) was 0.61. Based on the small sample size and its statistical power, we have to be careful in interpreting our regression analysis. In addition, the age range of our sample was narrow (18-24 yearsold), and none of the participants were of an extreme physical size (BMI: 17.1-26.3). Moreover, we did not collect data on their daily physical activity levels. Further research should be conducted with a larger and more diverse sample, and participant characteristics should be examined closely. Second, the exercise intensity (%HRR) used in this study was based not on a ventilatory threshold but on HR. Since affective (Rose and Parfitt, 2007) and autonomic (Yamamoto et al., 1992) responses during exercise differ above and below one's ventilatory threshold, participants' post-exercise SE may have been affected by whether they surpassed their ventilatory threshold. Third, since applying traditional HRV analysis to exercise HR data remains controversial (Perini and Veicsteinas, 2003; Sandercock and Brodie, 2006), we assessed HRV indices only during pre- and post-exercise resting periods and did not address HRV indices during exercise. Some improved methods for HRV analysis during exercise have been proposed, such as coarse-graining spectral analysis (Yamamoto and Hughson, 1991), Poincaré plot (Tulppo et al., 1999), and time-frequency analysis using shorttime Fourier transforms (Cottin et al., 2004; Pichon et al., 2004). Applying these analyses will provide us with information on autonomic HR control during exercise.

In summary, we demonstrated that SE regarding an exercise that participants had just performed is related to exercise-induced subjective and autonomic responses. In particular, one of the contributor to post-exercise SE was $HF_{n.u.}$ in the Post-resting period, which is considered an index of autonomic HR control. This is the first study to examine the relationship between postexercise SE and HRV indices (which probably reflect autonomic control) after the exercise. Although further research is needed to confirm the methodological validity and reproducibility of these results, the present findings contribute to our understanding of the interactive relationship between post-exercise SE and physiological and subjective states before and during exercise.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Mizuki Nohara, Yukiko Hoshino, Maho Unami, and Ikue Okada for their experimental assistance. This study was supported in part by a grant from Showa Women's University to KY.

- Cottin, F., Médigue, C., Leprêtre, P. M., Papelier, Y., Koralsztein, J. P., and Billat, V. (2004). Heart rate variability during exercise performed below and above ventilatory threshold. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 36, 594–600. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000121982.14718.2A
- DaSilva, S. G., Guidetti, L., Buzzachera, C. F., Elsangedy, H. M., Krinski, K., De Campos, W., et al. (2011). Psychophysiological responses to self-paced treadmill and overground exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 1114–1124. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e31820 5874c
- Ekkekakis, P., and Lind, E. (2006). Exercise does not feel the same when you are overweight: the impact of self-selected and imposed intensity on affect and exertion. *Int. J. Obes.* 30, 652–660. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803052
- Ekkekakis, P., Lind, E., and Vazou, S. (2009). Affective responses to increasing levels of exercise intensity in normal-weight, overweight, and obese middle-aged women. *Obesity* 18, 79–85. doi: 10.1038/oby.2009.204
- Ekman, P., Levenson, R. W., and Friesen, W. V. (1983). Autonomic nervous system activity distinguishes among emotions. *Science* 221, 1208–1210. doi: 10.1126/science.6612338
- Focht, B. C., Knapp, D. J., Gavin, T. P., Raedeke, T. D., and Hickner, R. C. (2007). Affective and self-efficacy responses to acute aerobic exercise in sedentary older and younger adults. J. Aging Phys. Act. 15, 123–138.
- Garber, C. E., Blissmer, B., Deschenes, M. R., Franklin, B. A., Lamonte, M. J., Lee, I. M., et al. (2011). American College of Sports Medicine position stand: quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 1334–1359. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213fefb
- Haile, L., Goss, F. L., Robertson, R. J., Andreacci, J. L., Gallagher, M. Jr., and Nagle, E. F. (2013). Session perceived exertion and affective responses to self-selected and imposed cycle exercise of the same intensity in young men. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 113, 1755–1765. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2604-0
- Hardy, C. J., and Rejeski, W. J. (1989). Not what, but how one feels: the measurement of affect during exercise. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 11, 304–317.
- Haskell, W. L., Lee, I. M., Pate, R. R., Powell, K. E., Blair, S. N., Franklin, B. A., et al. (2007). Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 39, 1423–1434. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616b27
- Jerome, G. J., Marquez, D. X., McAuley, E., Canaklisova, S., Snook, E., and Vickers, M. (2002). Self-efficacy effects on feeling states in women. *Int. J. Behav. Med.* 9, 139–154. doi: 10.1207/S15327558IJBM0902_05
- Katula, J. A., Blissmer, B. J., and McAuley, E. (1999). Exercise intensity and selfefficacy effects on anxiety reduction in healthy, older adults. J. Behav. Med. 22, 233–247. doi: 10.1023/A:1018768423349
- Kaufman, C., Berg, K., Noble, J., and Thomas, J. (2006). Ratings of perceived exertion of ACSM exercise guidelines in individuals varying in aerobic fitness. *Res. Q. Exerc. Sport* 77, 122–130. doi: 10.1080/02701367.2006.10599338
- Kohl, H. W. I. I. I., Craig, C. L., Lambert, E. V., Inoue, S., Alkandari, J. R., Leetongin, G., et al. (2012). The pandemic of physical inactivity: global action for public health. *Lancet* 380, 294–305. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60898-8
- Kreibig, S. D. (2010). Autonomic nervous system activity in emotion: a review. *Biol. Psychol.* 84, 394–421. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.03.010
- Kwan, B. M., and Bryan, A. D. (2010). Affective response to exercise as a component of exercise motivation: attitudes, norms, self-efficacy, and temporal stability of intentions. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 11, 71–79. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2009.05.010
- Magnan, R. E., Kwan, B. M., and Bryan, A. D. (2013). Effects of current physical activity on affective response to exercise: physical and social-cognitive mechanisms. *Psychol. Health* 28, 418–433. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2012.7 33704
- McAuley, E., and Blissmer, B. (2000). Self-efficacy determinants and consequences of physical activity. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 28, 85–88.
- McAuley, E., Blissmer, B., Katula, J., and Duncan, T. E. (2000). Exercise environment, self-efficacy, and affective responses to acute exercise in older adults. *Psychol. Health* 15, 341–355. doi: 10.1080/088704400084 01997
- McAuley, E., Jerome, G. J., Elavsky, S., Marquez, D. X., and Ramsey, S. N. (2003). Predicting long-term maintenance of physical activity in older adults. *Prev. Med.* 37, 110–118. doi: 10.1016/S0091-7435(03)00089-6
- McAuley, E., Lox, C., and Duncan, T. E. (1993). Long-term maintenance of exercise, self-efficacy, and physiological change in older adults. J. Gerontol. 48, 218–224. doi: 10.1093/geronj/48.4.P218

- McAuley, E., Morris, K. S., Motl, R. W., Hu, L., Konopack, J. F., and Elavsky, S. (2007). Long-term follow-up of physical activity behavior in older adults. *Health Psychol.* 26, 375–380. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.26.3.375
- Pender, N. J., Bar-Or, O., Wilk, B., and Mitchell, S. (2002). Self-efficacy and perceived exertion of girls during exercise. *Nurs. Res.* 51, 86–91. doi: 10.1097/00006199-200203000-00004
- Perini, R., and Veicsteinas, A. (2003). Heart rate variability and autonomic activity at rest and during exercise in various physiological conditions. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 90, 317–325. doi: 10.1007/s00421-003-0953-9
- Pichon, A. P., de Bisschop, C., Roulaud, M., Denjean, A., and Papelier, Y. (2004). Spectral analysis of heart rate variability during exercise in trained subjects. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 36, 1702–1708. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000142403.93205.35
- Rose, E. A., and Parfitt, G. A. (2007). A quantitative analysis and qualitative explanation of the individual differences in affective responses to prescribed and self-selected exercise intensities. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 29, 281–309.
- Rose, E. A., and Parfitt, G. A. (2010). Pleasant for some and unpleasant for others: a protocol analysis of the cognitive factors that influence affective responses to exercise. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 7, 15. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-7-15
- Rose, E. A., and Parfitt, G. A. (2012). Exercise experience influences affective and motivational outcomes of prescribed and self-selected intensity exercise. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 22, 265–277. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01161.x
- Sakuragi, S., and Sugiyama, Y. (2006). Effects of daily walking on subjective symptoms, mood and autonomic nervous function. J. Physiol. Anthropol. 25, 281–289. doi: 10.2114/jpa2.25.281
- Sandercock, G. R. H., and Brodie, D. A. (2006). The use of heart rate variability measures to assess autonomic control during exercise. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 16, 302–313. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2006.00556.x
- TaskForce (1996). Heart rate variability: standards of measurement, physiological interpretation and clinical use. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. *Circulation* 93, 1043–1065. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.93.5.1043
- Travlos, A. K., and Marisi, D. Q. (1996). Perceived exertion during physical exercise among individuals high and low in fitness. *Percept. Mot. Skills* 82, 419–424. doi: 10.2466/pms.1996.82.2.419
- Tulppo, M. P., Makikallio, T. H., Laukkanen, R. T., and Huikuri, H. V. (1999). Differences in autonomic modulation of heart rate during arm and leg exercise. *Clin. Physiol.* 19, 294–299. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2281.1999.00180.x
- Weinstein, A. A., Deuster, P. A., and Kop, W. J. (2007). Heart rate variability as a predictor of negative mood symptoms induced by exercise withdrawal. *Med. Sci. Sport Exerc.* 39, 735–741. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31802f590c
- Welch, A. S., Hulley, A., and Beauchamp, M. (2010). Affect and self-efficacy responses during moderate-intensity exercise among low-active women: the effect of cognitive appraisal. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 32, 154–175.
- World Health Organization (2010). Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health. Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2010/9789241599979_eng.pdf
- Yamamoto, Y., and Hughson, R. L. (1991). Coarse-graining spectral analysis: new method for studying heart rate variability. J. Appl. Physiol. 71, 1143–1150.
- Yamamoto, Y., Hughson, R. L., and Nakamura, Y. (1992). Autonomic nervous system responses to exercise in relation to ventilatory threshold. *Chest* 101(5 Suppl.), 206S-210S. doi: 10.1378/chest.101.5_Supplement.206S

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Matsuo, Matsubara, Shiga and Yamanaka. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Exercise–Affect–Adherence Pathway: An Evolutionary Perspective

Harold H. Lee*, Jessica A. Emerson and David M. Williams

Department of Behavioral and Social Sciences, Brown University School of Public Health, Providence, RI, USA

The low rates of regular exercise and overall physical activity (PA) in the general population represent a significant public health challenge. Previous research suggests that, for many people, exercise leads to a negative affective response and, in turn, reduced likelihood of future exercise. The purpose of this paper is to examine this exercise-affect-adherence relationship from an evolutionary perspective. Specifically, we argue that low rates of physical exercise in the general population are a function of the evolved human tendency to avoid unnecessary physical exertion. This innate tendency evolved because it allowed our evolutionary ancestors to conserve energy for physical activities that had immediate adaptive utility such as pursuing prey, escaping predators, and engaging in social and reproductive behaviors. The commonly observed negative affective response to exercise is an evolved proximate psychological mechanism through which humans avoid unnecessary energy expenditure. The fact that the human tendencies toward negative affective response to and avoidance of unnecessary physical activities are innate does not mean that they are unchangeable. Indeed, it is only because of human-engineered changes in our environmental conditions (i.e., it is no longer necessary for us to work for our food) that our predisposition to avoid unnecessary physical exertion has become a liability. Thus, it is well within our capabilities to reengineer our environments to once again make PA necessary or, at least, to serve an immediate functional purpose. We propose a two-pronged approach to PA promotion based on this evolutionary functional perspective: first, to promote exercise and other physical activities that are perceived to have an immediate purpose, and second, to instill greater perceived purpose for a wider range of physical activities. We posit that these strategies are more likely to result in more positive (or less negative) affective responses to exercise, better adherence to exercise programs, and higher rates of overall PA.

Keywords: exercise adherence, affect, evolution, perceived utility, hedonic valence, ultimate causes

INTRODUCTION

Regular physical activity (PA) improves physical health (Haskell et al., 2007; Donnelly et al., 2009) and mental health (Schuch et al., 2011), and prolongs life span (Reimers et al., 2012). However, only 51.6% of US adults meet the national guideline of 1000 kcal/week of PA (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2013) and approximately 5.3 million people die globally each year

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Ben Jackson, University of Western Australia, Australia Gert-Jan Pepping, Australian Catholic University, Australia

> *Correspondence: Harold H. Lee harold_lee@brown.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 1 May 2016 Accepted: 11 August 2016 Published: 25 August 2016

Citation:

Lee HH, Emerson JA and Williams DM (2016) The Exercise–Affect–Adherence Pathway: An Evolutionary Perspective. Front. Psychol. 7:1285. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01285 due to lack of PA (Lee et al., 2012). Given its well-known benefits, increasing rates of regular PA remains an important public health challenge.

Until recently, research on PA promotion has tended to emphasize cognitive determinants of PA adherence, such as expected health outcomes, self-efficacy, behavioral intentions, and social norms (Marcus et al., 2006; Williams and Marcus, 2012). However, in the past 10–20 years there has been greater attention to affective processes among PA promotion researchers (Ekkekakis, 2003; Ekkekakis et al., 2005; Kiviniemi et al., 2007; Rhodes et al., 2007, 2009; Williams et al., 2008, 2012; Schneider et al., 2009; Kwan and Bryan, 2010a,b; Conner et al., 2011; Rose and Parfitt, 2012; Baldwin et al., 2013). Much of this research has focused on the way people feel in response to intentional exercise—a form of PA performed for the purposes of health and fitness.

Despite the ubiquitous media message that "exercise feels good," it is now clear that the relationship between exercise and affect is not so simple (Emerson and Williams, 2015). While most people tend to *feel good after exercise*, many people—including a large proportion of inactive and unfit individuals who are the targets of PA promotion efforts—*feel bad during exercise* (Ekkekakis et al., 2011). Thus, it is more accurate to say that while almost everyone likes to be finished with exercise, many people actually dislike exercising.

In addition to these scientific findings, evidence that many people dislike physical exertion can be seen by the high rate of escalator or elevator use in lieu of the stairs, the use of human conveyor belts at airports, and the tendency for people to circle around parking lots trying to find a close place to park. Other evidence comes from the wide use of effort-saving devices such as remote controls, electric garage door openers, and electric can openers. It is hard to argue that these automated products are simply used to save time, or that they are only used to assist those who would otherwise be physically incapable of manually performing the relevant tasks.

Perhaps not surprisingly, research has also shown that, consistent with ancient and contemporary theories of human behavior (Hobbes, 1651/2008; Bentham, 1789/2007; Mill, 1861/2012; Usener, 1887/2010; Young, 1952; Cabanac, 1971; Kahneman et al., 1997), those who experience a more negative affective response to exercise are less likely to repeat it in the future, and thus more likely to drop out of exercise promotion programs (Rhodes and Kates, 2015). Thus, from a public health perspective, it is critically important to understand why many people have a negative affective response to a behavior—physical exercise—that is good for their health. That is, why do many people dislike exercising?

The aim of this paper is to attempt to answer this question by taking an evolutionary perspective. We will argue that the negative affective response to exercise is a manifestation of an evolved tendency to avoid energy expenditure that served no immediate adaptive function. In modern environments, this evolved psychological mechanism has led to difficulty with exercise adherence and overall low rates of PA.

In making the above arguments we first highlight the distinction between proximate and ultimate (i.e., evolutionary)

causes of behavior. We then apply this distinction in an attempt to understand the evolutionary basis for the low rates of compliance with exercise programs and corresponding low rates of PA. Specifically, we posit that negative affective response to exercise is the proximate psychological mechanism through which the ultimate cause of preventing unnecessary energy expenditure influences poor compliance with exercise programs. We then consider the characteristics of exercise-its intensity and lack of perceived utility-that contribute to a negative affective response to exercise among many individuals. In this context we discuss the concept of perceived utility of PA as a cognitive mechanism that evolved to signal when PA had an immediate adaptive payoff, such as when chasing prey, fleeing from predators, or engaging in social play. Finally, we discuss the implications of this model for designing exercise promotion interventions.

PROXIMATE VERSUS ULTIMATE CAUSES OF BEHAVIOR

The biologist Ernst Mayr distinguished between proximate and ultimate causes of behavior (Mayr, 1963; for a similar formulation, see Tinbergen, 1963; for a recent discussion of Mayr's distinction in the context of psychological science, see Scott-Phillips et al., 2011). When trying to understand the causes of behavior, behavioral scientists are often concerned with proximate causes: How does the behavior occur? Proximate causes of behavior refer to the biological or psychological mechanisms that control the behavior in the here and now. The vast majority of behavioral science research addresses questions of proximate causation, which involve elucidation of physiological, psychological, or social phenomena that explain the target behavior. For example, elucidating the causal mechanisms of unhealthy eating may involve research on individual variability in metabolic processes, food preferences and cravings, ubiquity of environmental food cues, and social norms related to eating (e.g., Roth et al., 2001; Blundell et al., 2005; Davis et al., 2007).

However, according to Mayer, to gain a full understanding of the causes of behavior, it is also necessary to consider ultimate causes: *Why* does the behavior occur? Ultimate causes of behavior refer to the *functional significance* of the behavior from an evolutionary perspective. Questions of ultimate causation assume that biological evolution is largely driven by the process of natural selection whereby genetically based traits that increase the odds of survival and reproduction are more likely to be perpetuated in future generations. Such questions are the subject matter for the fields of sociobiology (Wilson, 2000), behavioral ecology (Cronk, 1991), and evolutionary psychology (Cosmides and Tooby, 1987; Plotkin, 1997).

Importantly, in exploring questions of ultimate causation, one should distinguish between the functional significance of the behavior in the here-and-now versus its functional significance at the time that the pattern of behavior evolved. This point is easily illustrated when considering the caloric overconsumption that is largely responsible for the recent (on an evolutionary timescale) obesity epidemic. Human tendency to consume high fat and sugary foods when available (e.g., Power and Schulkin, 2013; Speakman, 2016) increased the odds of survival and reproduction among human evolutionary ancestors, because such foods were scarce and in those ancestral environments provided a dense energy source (e.g., Keskitalo et al., 2007). However, the same tendencies are maladaptive in modern environments where such foods are abundant (though only "maladaptive" in an evolutionary sense to the extent that such patterns of eating reduce fecundity).

The answers to questions about proximate and ultimate causes of behavior can be integrated. Proximate causes of behavior are the biological and psychological mechanisms through which the ultimate causes of behavior have their influence on the behavior. That is, for an adaptive pattern of behavior to evolve there must be a biological and/or psychological trait(s) that provides the mechanism through which the organism executes the adaptive behavior. The biological/psychological mechanism(s) answers the proximate *how* question. To continue with the example from above, the fact that energy-dense (i.e., sweet and fatty) foods taste good to most humans and thus motivate us to consume such foods is the proximate biological/psychological mechanism through which the evolutionarily adaptive (at the time that it evolved) tendency to eat high fat and sugary foods operates.

PROXIMATE CAUSES OF LOW RATES OF EXERCISE ADHERENCE

To date, most research investigating the behavior of physical exercise has examined questions of proximal causation: How does exercise behavior occur, or not occur? That is, what causes people to engage in exercise, or not, in the here and now?

As noted in the introduction, much of this research has focused on cognitive factors, such as expected outcomes of exercise, self-efficacy, social norms, and behavioral intentions. These cognitive factors help to explain how people successfully set goals, formulate intentions, make plans, and overcome barriers to exercise. But why is it so difficult to exercise to begin with? People do not need to set goals, formulate intentions, make plans, and work hard to overcome obstacles to watch television on a regular basis. Most of us regularly end up in front of the television on most days without any of this cognitive effort (Ekkekakis et al., 2016). So why is it so easy to watch television but so hard to exercise?

The answer, as we have argued above, is that many people generally dislike exercising. That is, we humans tend to have a negative affective response during many types of intentional physical exercise. And the fact that many people dislike exercising is a main reason for the low rates of exercise participation and overall PA. Thus, the human tendency to have a negative affective response to most types of exercise is a proximate cause of the low rates of exercise and PA in the general population.

ULTIMATE CAUSES OF LOW RATES OF EXERCISE ADHERENCE

The tendency for people to engage in, or avoid, physical exercise can also be examined from an evolutionary perspective by addressing the question of ultimate causation: Why does exercise behavior occur, or not occur? That is, what is the functional significance of avoiding exercise behavior?

Certainly, it is not functionally adaptive to avoid exercise in today's modern environment. In fact, exactly the opposite is true. Regular exercise has numerous health benefits that prolong life and increase fertility. However, to address the question of functional significance, it is necessary to conceptualize "function" with respect to the prevailing conditions under which the target behavior evolved. Our evolutionary ancestors—whether protohumans or earlier ancestors—had to perform vast amounts of PA just to obtain food and avoid predators. Thus, if anything, our ancestors, along with other animal species, had the opposite energy balance problem from the one faced by modern humans: taking in enough energy to maintain energy balance given the energy expenditure necessary for survival and reproduction.

Expending energy through extraneous PA that had no purpose other than to expend energy (i.e., exercise) would have decreased the survival and reproductive fitness of human evolutionary ancestors. As a result, selection pressures would have favored the genetic predisposition to conserve energy by avoiding PA that did not serve a direct adaptive function, such as obtaining food, fleeing from predators, or engaging in important social interactions.

In sum, the functional significance of the human tendency to avoid intentional physical exercise is that it allowed us to conserve energy, thus leading to decreased risk of potential energy deficits, and increased likelihood of survival and reproduction among our evolutionary ancestors (for a more detailed argument along these lines, see Lieberman, 2015).

NEGATIVE AFFECTIVE RESPONSE TO EXERCISE AS AN ADAPTIVE PSYCHOLOGICAL MECHANISM

We have thus far argued that the ultimate cause of the low rates of physical exercise is the human tendency to conserve energy; and the proximate cause of the low rates of physical exercise is the human tendency to respond to physical exercise with negative affect. An integration of these causes suggests that the human tendency to respond to physical exercise with negative affect is the proximate psychological mechanism through which the ultimate cause of conserving energy has its effects on the behavior of avoiding physical exercise.

This genetically endowed *exercise-affect-adherence pathway* (Williams, 2008) can be broken down into two dyadic relationships (**Figure 1**): the exercise-affect relationship (path A) and the affect-adherence relationship (path B). In the following sections, we will first more precisely define affective response to



exercise. Then, we will discuss, in turn, the affect-adherence and exercise-affect relationships.

DEFINING AFFECTIVE RESPONSE TO EXERCISE

According to the circumplex model, core affect can be characterized along two dimensions: valence (i.e., good versus bad) and arousal (i.e., high versus low; Russell, 1980; for a discussion of the "positive affect" and "negative affect" dimensions of the "rotated circumplex model" and the confusion caused by these labels, see Ekkekakis, 2013). Distinct affective states, such as specific moods (e.g., peaceful, depressed, irritable, energized) and emotions (e.g., anxious, joyful, angry, sad) represent some combination of core affective valence and arousal that can be arranged in four quadrants. For example, anxiety represents "bad" valence and "high" arousal, whereas joy represents "good" valence and "high" arousal. In addition to core affect, moods and emotions may also involve a triggering environmental stimulus, cognitive appraisals of such stimuli, specific patterns of physiological responses, and facial expressions.

When considering affective response to exercise as a potential determinant of future exercise behavior, rather than as an outcome in its own right (e.g., effects of exercise training on depressive symptoms), it is useful to focus on core affective valence (i.e., feeling good versus bad). The reason affective valence is useful for this purpose is because according to numerous ancient and contemporary theories of psychological hedonism (Hobbes, 1651/2008; Bentham, 1789/2007; Mill, 1861/2012; Usener, 1887/2010; Young, 1952; Cabanac, 1971; Kahneman et al., 1997; see also Affective Response to Exercise as a Determinant of Exercise Adherence) people are more likely to repeat behaviors that make them feel good and avoid behaviors that make them feel bad. Thus, when examining how people respond to exercise, the critical issue is whether they feel good or bad rather than whether they feel, for example, anxious versus embarrassed or joyful versus excited. Accordingly, when discussing affective response to exercise we will focus on core affective valence.

Another important aspect of our conceptualization of affective response to exercise has to do with timing. Studies assessing the way people feel before and after exercise generally support the conclusion that acute bouts of exercise improve affective states (Yeung, 1996). These findings appear to create a paradox as such positive affective responses to exercise should lead to high rates of exercise participation and adherence (Wininger, 2007). Yet, as we have discussed above, rates of regular exercise and overall PA are dismal (Tucker et al., 2011).

Hall et al. (2002) have pointed out that this apparent paradox can be explained by the fact that assessments of affect are often administered prior to and following, but not during the exercise task (for a review, see Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 1999). According to learning theory, immediate consequences of behavior are more predictive of future behavior than delayed consequences (Neef et al., 1994). The subjective affective response experienced during exercise is more immediate than feelings experienced after the exercise has been completed, which may also include the affective response to completing exercise (Hall et al., 2002). Thus, when discussing affective response to exercise we will focus on core affective valence experienced *during* exercise rather than after exercise.

Finally, when considering affective *response* to exercise, it is critical to consider not just how people feel during exercise, but how their affect *changes* from *before* exercise to *during* exercise.

Following from the above arguments, we conceptualize affective response to exercise as *the shift in core affective valence from pre-exercise to during-exercise*.

AFFECTIVE RESPONSE TO EXERCISE AS A DETERMINANT OF EXERCISE ADHERENCE

The affect-adherence aspect of the posited exercise-affectadherence pathway (**Figure 1**, path B) is consistent with psychological hedonism (aka the hedonic principle): people tend to pursue behaviors that lead to pleasure and avoid behaviors that lead to displeasure or pain. This basic principle of human behavior has been observed since the ancient Greeks (Usener, 1887/2010) and has been restated in the writings of Hobbes (1651/2008), Bentham (1789/2007), and Mill (1861/2012) and more recently in work by Young (1952), Cabanac (1992), and Kahneman et al. (1997) among others.

There is empirical evidence supporting the principle of psychological hedonism in the context of the exercise domain i.e., the affect–adherence link. Recent studies have shown that affective responses recorded *during* individual exercise sessions at baseline and 6 months of an exercise promotion program were predictive of adherence to the exercise program 6 and 12 months later, even when controlling for ratings of perceived exertion (Williams et al., 2008, 2012). A recent review of studies showed similar findings, also highlighting that affective response *during* rather than immediately following exercise was predictive of future exercise behavior (Rhodes and Kates, 2015).

In addition to the handful of studies supporting the affect-adherence link in the context of exercise behavior, there is considerable evidence for the broader principle of psychological hedonism in research on other health-related behaviors, particularly addiction and eating behavior (Williams and Evans, 2014). Thus, the affect-adherence link (**Figure 1**, path B) in the posited exercise-affect-adherence pathway is not specific to the behavioral domain of exercise (i.e.,

domain-specific), but is instead consistent with the general principle of psychological hedonism that operates across behavioral domains. That is, the principle of psychological hedonism is *domain-general*.

As a domain-general principle, psychological hedonism—i.e., the tendency to pursue behaviors that lead to pleasure and avoid behaviors that lead to pain—has its own set of proximate and ultimate causes that go beyond the domain of exercise and thus beyond the scope of this paper. Numerous previous authors have written about the evolutionary underpinnings of psychological hedonism, as well as its proximate psychological and neurobiological mechanisms (e.g., Broom, 2001; Lemos, 2004; Panksepp, 2010). For an integration of proximate and ultimate causes of psychological hedonism in the context of health-related behavior, see Williams and Ruse (forthcoming).

AFFECTIVE RESPONSE TO EXERCISE: THE IMPORTANCE OF INTENSITY AND PERCEIVED UTILITY

We have thus far characterized affective response to exercise as "often negative" and claimed that many people dislike most types of exercise. Of course, the exercise–affect association is more nuanced than that. It is certainly true that many people dislike most types of physical exercise. But, *most* of us like at least *some* types of exercise. So what are the factors that cause someone to have a positive, negative, or indifferent affective response to exercise? And what is the potential functional significance of such affective responses? The answers to these questions are critical given the principle of psychological hedonism discussed above, the low rates of physical exercise in the general population, and the health consequences of an inactive lifestyle.

Just as an evolutionary approach was used to address the broader question of why many people avoid physical exercise, such an approach can be used to understand affective response to different types of exercise. To take this evolutionary approach it is necessary to consider what might be the functional significance of positive versus negative affective responses to different types of exercise, as well as the characteristics of different physical activities that would have made them adaptive to engage in during human evolutionary development.

Taking such an evolutionary perspective, we argue that the two factors that are most relevant to affective response to exercise are the intensity of the exercise and its perceived utility (**Figure 2**). This follows from our arguments that the evolved tendency to



avoid physical exercise has to do with the functional significance of reducing *unnecessary* energy expenditure. Energy expenditure is, of course, a function of the intensity and duration of PA. And, the *necessity* of exercise, we will argue, is a function of its perceived immediate utility. Thus, we consider the negative affective response to *exercise* to be a manifestation of the more general tendency toward a negative affective response to *PA that is perceived to be unnecessary or of low utility*.

Affective Response to Exercise of Different Intensities

From a functional perspective, intensity of exercise is critical because it determines energy expenditure over a fixed duration. In most classification systems, intensity of exercise refers to workload or energy expenditure per unit time, or physiological stress, such as percent of maximal heart rate or maximal oxygen consumption. However, Ekkekakis and colleagues (Ekkekakis, 2003; Ekkekakis et al., 2011) have argued that when examining affective response to exercise the most useful way to characterize exercise intensity is with respect to the ventilatory threshold (VT). The VT is the point at which the body transitions from anaerobic to aerobic metabolism and can be, albeit crudely, ascertained via the talk test: if you cannot carry on a conversation while exercising then you have exceeded the VT. More sophisticated assessment of the VT involves examination of expired air to determine the ratio of ventilation to oxygen consumption, which will begin to increase exponentially at the VT (Posner et al., 1987). Alternatively, blood lactate levels can be obtained to determine the lactate threshold, which generally coincides with the VT.

The reason that percentage of VT is a useful indicator of intensity when studying affective response to exercise is because the VT represents a transition point beyond which exercise cannot be maintained without disruption of homeostasis and severe bodily harm. That is, humans cannot engage in an all-out sprint for more than 100–200 m.

Using percent of VT as the indicator for exercise intensity, a pattern of findings is emerging in which:

- (a) Exercise below the VT (e.g., slow walking) tends to result in a positive affective response,
- (b) Exercise approaching but not exceeding the VT (e.g., brisk walking or, for some people, jogging) results in an affective response that varies from person to person and from one situation to the next, and
- (c) Exercise exceeding the VT (e.g., jogging or, for some people, fast running or sprinting) that is continued for more than 10-20 s results in a nearly universal negative affective response (Ekkekakis et al., 2011).

According to the dual-mode model, there are two distinct psychobiological pathways—interoceptive and cognitive—that influence affective response to exercise (Ekkekakis, 2003; Ekkekakis and Acevedo, 2006). At exercise intensities above the VT, affective response is dependent on interoceptive cues that accompany the transition from aerobic to anaerobic metabolism. This includes feelings of fatigue and discomfort from accumulation of lactate and hydrogen ions as they dissociate from lactic acid, accelerated breakdown of creatine phosphate (McCann et al., 1995), the inhibition of glycolysis and glycogenolysis (Spriet et al., 1989), and the interference with the calcium triggering of muscle contractions (Favero et al., 1995). Because the physiological consequences of prolonged exercise exceeding the VT are universal among humans, the accompanying feelings of pain and displeasure in response to exercise of an intensity that exceeds the VT are also nearly universal (with the possible exception of individuals with congenital insensitivity to pain). This may be considered a specific case of the domain-general human tendency to experience pain resulting from tissue damage.

Thus, the functional significance of affective response to exercise exceeding the VT is relatively straight-forward and is explicitly stated in the context of the dual-mode model (Ekkekakis, 2009a,b). The negative affective response serves the function of providing a signal to decrease intensity or discontinue the exercise before serious bodily damage occurs (for a review, see Noakes, 2012).

But what can account for the variability in affective response to exercise approaching the VT? According to the dual-mode model, interoceptive factors play a lesser role in determining affective response to exercise that does not exceed the VT. Instead, when exercise intensity is approaching or below the VT then cognitive factors, such as perceived consequences of exercise, social norms, etc., play a larger role in determining affective response—i.e., the second "mode" in the dual mode model. Because there is greater variability among humans in these cognitive factors, the affective response to exercise that approaches but does not exceed the VT shows greater variability from person to person and in different situations.

The scant available research on cognitive determinants of affective response to exercise has thus far shown that social environment and self-efficacy are predictive of affective response to exercise of intensities approaching or below the VT (McAuley et al., 2000). These cognitive factors are important to understanding why some people may have a negative affective response to moderate intensity exercise, with implications for exercise promotion interventions. However, we propose that greater understanding of the variability in affective response to exercise that does not exceed the VT can be achieved by taking an evolutionary perspective. Specifically, we posit perceived utility as an important cognitive mechanism that determines affective response to exercise (**Figure 2**).

Perceived Utility as a Determinant of Affective Response to Exercise

What determines affective response to exercise that is below or approaching the VT? This question has immense public health implications. If we can understand when and why people have a negative affective response to exercise, then we can develop interventions to promote more positive affective responses to exercise and thus make exercise adherence more likely.

One of the problems with intentional exercise as a form of PA is that it often has no immediate purpose other than to

expend energy. Although energy expenditure, for its own sake, has positive long-term health consequences in most modern environments, it was not adaptive throughout the vast majority of evolutionary history stretching back to human hunter/gatherers, protohumans, and beyond (Gluckman and Hanson, 2008). Although some types of exercise, such as sports, may serve an additional purpose, many types of exercise, such as running on a treadmill or walking around a track, exemplify PA that would have been unnecessary and thus maladaptive in ancestral times (Lieberman, 2015). Moreover, the health benefits of PA in modern environments are indirect and temporally distal.

The perception that physical exertion serves some *immediate* purpose may be a key factor in determining affective response to exercise. Indeed, earlier we argued that energy expenditure was maladaptive *except when it was necessary to obtain food, avoid predators, engage in reproductive behavior, or engage in other important social activities.* Thus, an important cognitive factor that may influence affective response to physical exertion is the *perceived immediate utility of PA*.

Perceived utility may operate through both reflective and automatic pathways consistent with dual-processing models (Evans, 2008; Williams and Evans, 2014). The reflective sense of perceived utility comes from conscious consideration of the immediate outcome or goal of the PA. Thus, physical activities that have a clear and immediate purpose or goal, such as walking or biking for transportation, may result in a more positive affective response than walking or biking for no immediate purpose (**Figure 2**).

The automatic sense of purpose may result in performance of physical activities that mimic behaviors that would have served an immediate adaptive purpose among our evolutionary ancestors, even if such behaviors have no functional purpose in the here-and-now. For example, many leisure sports (e.g., rugby, soccer, basketball) and play behaviors (e.g., tag) involve chasing a ball or chasing or fleeing from an opponent, which mimic the chasing and fleeing behaviors necessary for survival in ancestral environments. Such physical activities may be more likely to result in positive affective responses than physical activities that lack these qualities (Jackson and Csikszentmihalyi, 1999; Chen et al., 2001). This automatic sense of purpose and its effects on action is consistent with the affordance-competition model in which action-selection is integrated with, rather than preceded by, conscious decision-making (Cisek, 2007; Cisek and Kalaska, 2010; Smits et al., 2014).

Perceived Utility, Exercise Intensity, and Affective Response to Exercise

Perceived utility may have a dimensional quality that interacts with exercise intensity to influence affective response to exercise (**Figure 2**).

We hypothesize that when perceived utility is at the extreme low end, affective response to exercise will be negative regardless of exercise intensity. The available evidence suggests that humans tend to have a positive affective response to exercise that is below the VT. However, from an evolutionary perspective, prolonged exercise—even if well below the VT—still results in energy expenditure and thus may still have been maladaptive among human evolutionary ancestors particularly if it had no adaptive function and was continued for a significant duration. It follows that a negative affective response even to light intensity physical exertion may still occur when the exertion serves no other purpose. For example, to get up and change the channel on the television, take the stairs, or park far away when there is no reason not to simply use a remote control, take the elevator, or find a close parking spot. That is, people may universally respond positively to light intensity exercise as long as they perceive that it has some immediate utility.

When perceived utility is at the extreme high end, affective response may be positive—at least for brief periods—even when exercise intensity exceeds the VT. For example, while maximal exertion typically results in a negative affective response, such negative responses may be blunted if someone is sprinting to get on a bus that is about to leave. Likewise, affective response to maximal exertion is likely to be more positive in the context of team sports or running competitions.

In the middle range of the dimension, perceived utility may be enough to result in a positive affective response depending on the intensity of the exercise. Thus, at very low intensities even a meager perception of utility may lead to a positive affective response. For example, it is possible that complying with a researcher's request provides enough of a purpose for engaging in light intensity exercise to turn what might otherwise be a negative affective response to a light intensity exercise into a positive affective response. However, affective response to exercise at higher intensities is likely to be negative if perceived utility is modest.

This conceptualization of the interaction between perceived utility and PA intensity is consistent with the dual-mode model in that perceived utility is a cognitive factor that plays a larger role when exercise intensity does not exceed the VT.

IMPLICATIONS

One of the main points of the present paper is that the human tendency to have a negative affective response to PA that has no immediate utility—including many types of intentional exercise—is an innate tendency that is likely universal among humans. Likewise, the tendency to avoid PA that results in a negative affective response is consistent with the domain-general innate human tendency to pursue behaviors that lead to pleasure and avoid behaviors that lead to pain or discomfort.

The fact that these tendencies—which together represent the exercise–affect–adherence pathway—are innate does not mean that they are unchangeable. Indeed, humans can make conscious decisions about their behavior and thus are capable of overcoming even the strongest innate behavioral tendencies. Nonetheless, strong innate behavioral tendencies are *difficult* to overcome. Thus, it may be difficult to attempt to change the human tendency to dislike PA that has no immediate utility or the human tendency to avoid PA that has previously resulted in a negative affective response. Instead, we propose an approach based on an evolutionary functional perspective: to (a) promote exercise and other physical activities that are perceived to have an immediate purpose, or (b) attempt to instill greater perceived purpose for a wider range of physical activities. We posit that these strategies are more likely to result in more positive (or at least less negative) affective responses to exercise, better adherence to exercise programs, and higher rates of overall PA.

One general strategy for improving adherence to exercise programs is to promote physical activities that are already perceived to have an immediate purpose, as these activities are more likely to result in a positive affective response and thus improved adherence. This may include increasing activities such as walking or cycling for transportation, or relying on gardening for producing fresh fruits and vegetables. Other examples may include promoting activities that mimic the once necessary activities of hunting (chasing) prey and escaping (fleeing) predators. For example, many leisure sports (e.g., rugby, soccer, basketball) and play behaviors (e.g., tag) involve chasing and/or fleeing and chasing and fleeing leisure activities are observed in both Eastern and Western history as well as in the present-day (Mechikoff and Estes, 2006). Other examples include interactive video games like Wi, Pokemon Go, etc. We hypothesize that these activities will result in a more positive affective response than activities of the same intensity that do not have the fleeing, chasing, or social bonding characteristics.

A second general strategy is to modify activities so that they have an immediate purpose. Perhaps the most relevant application of this idea is the use of financial incentives to increase exercise behavior. Consistent with behavioral economics theory (Kahneman, 2003), use of financial incentives provides an immediate purpose for physical exercise when there is no other functional purpose and given that the health benefits of exercise are uncertain and distal. Theoretically based concerns that financial incentives may undermine intrinsic motivation (Deci et al., 1999; Frey and Jegen, 2001) have largely been dispelled by consistent data showing that in most situations financial incentives complement rather than undermine intrinsic motivation (Cerasoli et al., 2014; Shaw and Gupta, 2015). Moreover, the undermining of intrinsic motivation is irrelevant for most health-related behaviors, including exercise, for which there is low baseline intrinsic motivation (Promberger and Marteau, 2013). Indeed, a recent systematic review shows preliminary support for the use of monetary incentives to increase exercise behavior (Strohacker et al., 2014).

LIMITATIONS

Is This a "Just-so Story"?

Although an evolutionary perspective may open up new avenues to thinking about the exercise–affect–adherence relationship, an inherent weakness is that hypotheses regarding functional significance are difficult to test empirically. It is impossible to recreate the ancestral environments in which the exercise–affect–adherence relationship evolved. While it *is* possible to generate hypotheses that are logically *consistent with*

what we currently know about the exercise-affect-adherence relationship, as well as educated guesses about the nature of ancestral environments, a *post hoc* explanation that fits the existing data falls well short of an *a priori* hypothesis in terms of scientific viability.

It is for this reason that *post hoc* hypotheses about the evolution of modern traits are often referred to by skeptics as "just-so stories" (Gould and Lewontin, 1979; Kipling, 2013). For example, we may conjecture *post hoc* that the giraffe has a long neck because those giraffes born with long necks were more likely to reach the top-most leaves on trees and thus more likely to survive in times of drought and pass the long-neck genetic predisposition to their offspring. However, other explanations also fit the data and thus are just as viable. Perhaps giraffes evolved long necks because it allowed them to spot predators from far away, or long necks could have evolved as a weapon in intraspecies sparring matches, or as a sexual selection characteristic. The sparse available evidence points to the first of these alternative explanations (Cameron and du Toit, 2007), but is hardly conclusive.

Similarly, we may generate alternative explanations for the evolution of the exercise-affect-adherence relationship. For example, a viable alternative explanation for the negative affective response to exercise that approaches the VT-instead of positing an energy conserving function-is that such a response is due to the effects of evaluative conditioning. That is, exercise that approaches the VT often immediately precedes exercise that exceeds the VT, which, for reasons discussed above, automatically results in a negative affective response, presumably because of the immediate dangers of acute overexertion. Thus, exercise that approaches the VT (the conditioned stimulus) may come to elicit a negative affective response (the conditioned response) because it has become associated with exercise that exceeds the VT (the unconditioned stimulus), which reliably leads to a negative affective response (the unconditioned response). Though speculative, our point here is simply to illustrate how one can easily generate *post hoc* alternative hypotheses.

Given this, how can we produce evidence in support of our evolutionarily informed hypothesis regarding the functional significance of the negative affective response to moderate intensity exercise? Multiple authors have devised schemes for overcoming this problem (Cosmides and Tooby, 1987; Laland and Brown, 2011). Most important is that a posteriori evolutionary hypotheses (or theories) must be useful for generating *a priori* hypotheses and, when relevant, guiding practical interventions.

Our a posteriori hypothesis about the functional significance of a negative affective response to exercise and the role of perceived utility, like all scientific hypotheses, cannot be proven beyond all doubt. However, the evolutionary perspective we have outlined herein is useful for formulating *a priori* hypotheses about what sort of physical activities will result in more positive affective responses as well as what intervention strategies are likely to lead to improved adherence to exercise promotion programs. To the extent that these hypotheses are supported the overarching a posteriori evolutionary hypothesis also gains support.

Dangers of a Misunderstood Evolutionary Approach

Applications of Darwinian evolutionary ideas can lead to defiance and outrage if misinterpreted. Thus, let us be clear. We are *not* suggesting that because most (if not all) humans have a genetic predisposition toward negative affective response to unnecessary PA that we are *predestined* to be physically inactive. Human (and all other animal) behavior is a function of the *interaction* between genetic predispositions *and* environmental conditions. Indeed, this is a main point of our thesis: it is only because of human-engineered changes in our environmental conditions (i.e., it is no longer necessary for us to work for our food) that our predisposition to avoid unnecessary physical exertion has become a liability. Thus, it is well within our capabilities to reengineer our environments to once again make PA necessary or, at least, to serve an immediate functional purpose.

Likewise, we are *not* suggesting that the tendency toward negative affective response to exercise is the *only* reason for the low rates of PA in the general population. There are other reasons why some people do not engage in regular exercise. For example, lack of access to safe and affordable places to exercise is a common barrier (Walsh et al., 1999), and some people anticipate feeling embarrassed or lack the social support to engage in physical activities (Anderson et al., 2006; Grieser et al., 2006). These alternative reasons for the low rates of exercise complement rather than compete with our evolutionary hypothesis.

CONCLUSION

Despite our unique ability among animal species to significantly modify our environment, we humans are still members of the animal kingdom. We share with all animal species the genetically engrained tendency to be efficient when it comes to expending energy.

We hypothesized herein that negative affective response to exercise, particularly exercise that approaches or exceeds the VT, is an adaptive psychological mechanism that evolved because in combination with the domain general tendency to avoid displeasure and pain—it minimized unnecessary PA among our evolutionary ancestors. Nonetheless, our ancestors needed to act when there was an immediate and compelling purpose, such as when obtaining food, fleeing from predators, or engaging in social bonding and reproduction. Thus, we further hypothesized that affective response to exercise, and other forms of PA, will be more positive when the perceived immediate utility of the PA is high.

In today's environment, the human tendency to have a negative affective response to unnecessary physical exertion is directly responsible for the difficulty adhering to exercise programs and the corresponding low rates of PA in the general population. Although we no longer live in conditions that require us to expend energy to achieve basic survival needs, we can create conditions under which physical exertion is perceived to have an immediate purpose. This can be accomplished either by promoting activities that have an inherent utility (e.g., walking for transportation) or that mimic activities that served a purpose in ancestral environments (e.g., sports and games that involve chasing and fleeing), or by artificially providing an immediate utility for exercise (e.g., via monetary incentives).

REFERENCES

- Anderson, E. S., Wojcik, J. R., Winett, R. A., and Williams, D. M. (2006). Socialcognitive determinants of physical activity: the influence of social support, self-efficacy, outcome expectations, and self-regulation among participants in a church-based health promotion study. *Health Psychol.* 25, 510–520. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.25.4.510
- Baldwin, A. S., Baldwin, S. A., Loehr, V. G., Kangas, J. L., and Frierson, G. M. (2013). Elucidating satisfaction with physical activity: an examination of the day-to-day associations between experiences with physical activity and satisfaction during physical activity initiation. *Psychol. Health* 28, 1424–1441. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2013.822078
- Bentham, J. (1789/2007). An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation. New York, NY: Dover Publication.
- Blundell, J. E., Stubbs, R., Golding, C., Croden, F., Alam, R., Whybrow, S., et al. (2005). Resistance and susceptibility to weight gain: individual variability in response to a high-fat diet. *Physiol. Behav.* 86, 614–622. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.08.052
- Broom, D. (2001). Evolution of pain. Vlaams Diergeneeskd. Tijdschr. 70, 17–21. doi: 10.1007/s10072-011-0539-y
- Cabanac, M. (1971). Physiological role of pleasure. Science 173, 1103–1107. doi: 10.1126/science.173.4002.1103
- Cabanac, M. (1992). Pleasure: the common currency. J. Theor. Biol. 155, 173–200. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5193(05)80594-6
- Cameron, E. Z., and du Toit, J. T. (2007). Winning by a neck: tall giraffes avoid competing with shorter browsers. *Am. Nat.* 169, 130–135. doi: 10.1086/5 09940
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC] (2013). Adult participation in aerobic and muscle-strengthening physical activities–United States, 2011. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 62, 326–330.
- Cerasoli, C. P., Nicklin, J. M., and Ford, M. T. (2014). Intrinsic motivation and extrinsic incentives jointly predict performance: a 40-year meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 140, 980–1008. doi: 10.1037/a0035661
- Chen, A., Darst, P. W., and Pangrazi, R. P. (2001). An examination of situational interest and its sources. *Br. J. Educ. Psychol.* 71, 383–400.
- Cisek, P. (2007). Cortical mechanisms of action selection: the affordance competition hypothesis. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 362, 1585–1599. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2054
- Cisek, P., and Kalaska, J. F. (2010). Neural mechanisms for interacting with a world full of action choices. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 33, 269–298. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.051508.135409
- Conner, M., Rhodes, R. E., Morris, B., McEachan, R., and Lawton, R. (2011). Changing exercise through targeting affective or cognitive attitudes. *Psychol. Health* 26, 133–149. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.531570
- Cosmides, L., and Tooby, J. (1987). "From evolution to behavior: evolutionary psychology as the missing link," in *The Latest on the Best: Essays on Evolution and Optimality*, ed. J. Dupre (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press).
- Cronk, L. (1991). Human behavioral ecology. Annu. Rev. Anthropol. 20, 25–53. doi: 10.1146/annurev.an.20.100191.000325
- Davis, C., Patte, K., Levitan, R., Reid, C., Tweed, S., and Curtis, C. (2007). From motivation to behaviour: a model of reward sensitivity, overeating, and food preferences in the risk profile for obesity. *Appetite* 48, 12–19. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2006.05.016
- Deci, E. L., Koestner, R., and Ryan, R. M. (1999). A meta-analytic review of experiments examining the effects of extrinsic rewards on intrinsic motivation. *Psychol. Bull.* 125, 627–668. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.125.6.627
- Donnelly, J. E., Blair, S. N., Jakicic, J. M., Manore, M. M., Rankin, J. W., and Smith, B. K. (2009). American college of sports medicine position stand. appropriate physical activity intervention strategies for weight loss and

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HL conceived of the hypothesis with input from DW and JE. HL and JE wrote an early draft of the manuscript. DW revised and completed the writing of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

prevention of weight regain for adults. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 41, 459–471. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181949333

- Ekkekakis, P. (2003). Pleasure and displeasure from the body: perspectives from exercise. Cogn. Emot. 17, 213–239. doi: 10.1080/02699930302292
- Ekkekakis, P. (2009a). The dual-mode theory of affective responses to exercise in metatheoretical context: I. Initial impetus, basic postulates, and philosophical framework. *Int. Rev. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 2, 73–94. doi: 10.1080/17509840802705920
- Ekkekakis, P. (2009b). The dual-mode theory of affective responses to exercise in metatheoretical context: II. Bodiless heads, ethereal cognitive schemata, and other improbable dualistic creatures, exercising. *Int. Rev. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 2, 139–160.
- Ekkekakis, P. (2013). The Measurement of Affect, Mood, and Emotion: A Guide for Health-Behavioral Research. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ekkekakis, P., and Acevedo, E. (2006). "Affective responses to acute exercise: toward a psychobiological dose-response model," in *Psychobiology of Physical Activity*, eds E. O. Acevedo and P. Ekkekakis (Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics), 91–109.
- Ekkekakis, P., Hall, E. E., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2005). Variation and homogeneity in affective responses to physical activity of varying intensities: an alternative perspective on dose-response based on evolutionary considerations. J. Sports Sci. 23, 477–500. doi: 10.1080/02640410400021492
- Ekkekakis, P., Parfitt, G., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2011). The pleasure and displeasure people feel when they exercise at different intensities: decennial update and progress towards a tripartite rationale for exercise intensity prescription. *Sports Med.* 41, 641–671. doi: 10.2165/11590680
- Ekkekakis, P., and Petruzzello, S. J. (1999). Acute aerobic exercise and affect: current status, problems and prospects regarding doseresponse. *Sports Med.* 28, 337–374. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199928050-00005
- Ekkekakis, P., Vazou, S., Bixby, W., and Georgiadis, E. (2016). The mysterious case of the public health guideline that is (almost) entirely ignored: call for a research agenda on the causes of the extreme avoidance of physical activity in obesity. *Obes. Rev.* 17, 313–329. doi: 10.1111/obr.12369
- Emerson, J. A., and Williams, D. M. (2015). The multifaceted relationship between physical activity and affect. Soc. Pers. Psychol. Compass 9, 419–433. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133781
- Evans, J. S. B. (2008). Dual-processing accounts of reasoning, judgment, and social cognition. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 59, 255–278. doi: 10.1146/annurev. psych.59.103006.093629
- Favero, T. G., Zable, A. C., Bowman, M. B., Thompson, A., and Abramson, J. J. (1995). Metabolic end products inhibit sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ release and [3H] ryanodine binding. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 78, 1665–1672.
- Frey, B. S., and Jegen, R. (2001). Motivation crowding theory. J. Econ. Surv. 15, 589–611. doi: 10.1111/1467-6419.00150
- Gluckman, P., and Hanson, M. (2008). *Mismatch: The Lifestyle Diseases Timebomb*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Gould, S. J., and Lewontin, R. C. (1979). The spandrels of San Marco and the Panglossian paradigm: a critique of the adaptationist programme. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 205, 581–598. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1979.0086
- Grieser, M., Vu, M. B., Bedimo-Rung, A. L., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Moody, J., Young, D. R., et al. (2006). Physical activity attitudes, preferences, and practices in African American, Hispanic, and Caucasian girls. *Health Educ. Behav.* 33, 40–51. doi: 10.1177/1090198105282416
- Hall, E. E., Ekkekakis, P., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2002). The affective beneficence of vigorous exercise revisited. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 7, 47–66. doi: 10.1348/135910702169358
- Haskell, W. L., Lee, I. M., Pate, R. R., Powell, K. E., Blair, S. N., Franklin, B. A., et al. (2007). Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation

for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39, 1423-1434. doi: 10 1249/mss 0b013e3180616b27

Hobbes, T. (1651/2008). Leviathan. New York, NA: Simon & Schuster Inc.

- Jackson, S. A., and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1999). Flow in Sports. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Kahneman, D. (2003). Maps of bounded rationality: psychology for behavioral economics. Am. Econ. Rev. 93, 1449-1475. doi: 10.1257/000282803322655392
- Kahneman, D., Wakker, P. P., and Sarin, R. (1997). Back to Bentham? Explorations of experienced utility. Q. J. Econ. 112, 375-405. doi: 10.1162/003355397 555235
- Keskitalo, K., Knaapila, A., Kallela, M., Palotie, A., Wessman, M., Sammalisto, S., et al. (2007). Sweet taste preferences are partly genetically determined: identification of a trait locus on chromosome 16. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 86, 55-63. Kipling, R. (2013). Just so Stories. New York, NY: Penguin Group.

- Kiviniemi, M. T., Voss-Humke, A. M., and Seifert, A. L. (2007). How do I feel about the behavior? The interplay of affective associations with behaviors and cognitive beliefs as influences on physical activity behavior. Health Psychol. 26, 152 - 158.
- Kwan, B. M., and Bryan, A. (2010a). In-task and post-task affective response to exercise: translating exercise intentions into behaviour. Br. J. Health Psychol. 15, 115-131. doi: 10.1348/135910709X433267
- Kwan, B. M., and Bryan, A. D. (2010b). Affective response to exercise as a component of exercise motivation: attitudes, norms, self-efficacy, and temporal stability of intentions. Psychol. Sport Exerc. 11, 71-79. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2009.05.010
- Laland, K. N., and Brown, G. R. (2011). Sense and Nonsense: Evolutionary Perspectives on Human Behaviour. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Lee, I.-M., Shiroma, E. J., Lobelo, F., Puska, P., Blair, S. N., Katzmarzyk, P. T., et al. (2012). Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. Lancet 380, 219-229. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9
- Lemos, J. (2004). Psychological hedonism, evolutionary biology, and the experience machine. Philos. Soc. Sci. 34, 506-526. doi: 10.1177/0048393104269597
- Lieberman, D. E. (2015). Is exercise really medicine? An evolutionary perspective. Curr. Sports Med. Rep. 14, 313-319. doi: 10.1249/JSR.00000000000168
- Marcus, B. H., Williams, D. M., Dubbert, P. M., Sallis, J. F., King, A. C., Yancey, A. K., et al. (2006). Physical activity intervention studies: what we know and what we need to know: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism (subcommittee on physical activity); council on cardiovascular disease in the young; and the interdisciplinary working group on quality of care and outcomes research. Circulation 114, 2739-2752. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.106.179683
- Mayr, E. (1963). Animal Species and Evolution. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- McAuley, E., Blissmer, B., Katula, J., and Duncan, T. E. (2000). Exercise environment, self-efficacy, and affective responses to acute exercise in older adults. Psychol. Health 15, 341-355. doi: 10.1080/0887044000 8401997
- McCann, D. J., Mole, P. A., and Caton, J. R. (1995). Phosphocreatine kinetics in humans during exercise and recovery. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 27, 378-389.
- Mechikoff, R. A., and Estes, S. (2006). A History and Philosophy of Sport and Physical Education: From Ancient Civilizations to the Modern World. Boston, MA: McGraw-Hill.

Mill, J. S. (1861/2012). Utilitarianism. Lexington, KY: Renaissance Classics.

- Neef, N. A., Shade, D., and Miller, M. S. (1994). Assessing influential dimensions of reinforcers on choice in students with serious emotional disturbance. J. Appl. Behav, Anal. 27, 575-583, doi: 10.1901/jaba.1994.27-575
- Noakes, T. D. (2012). Fatigue is a brain-derived emotion that regulates the exercise behavior to ensure the protection of whole body homeostasis. Front. Physiol. 3:82. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2012.00082
- Panksepp, J. (2010). "Evolutionary substrates of addiction: the neurochemistries of pleasure seeking and social bonding in the mammalian brain," in Substance Abuse and Emotion, ed. J. D. Kassel (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 137-167.
- Plotkin, H. (1997). Evolution in Mind: An Introduction to Evolutionary Psychology. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Posner, J. D., Gorman, K. M., Klein, H. S., and Cline, C. J. (1987). Ventilatory threshold: measurement and variation with age. J. Appl. Physiol. 63, 1519-1525.
- Power, M. L., and Schulkin, J. (2013). The Evolution of Obesity. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Promberger, M., and Marteau, T. M. (2013). When do financial incentives reduce intrinsic motivation? comparing behaviors studied in psychological and economic literatures. Health Psychol. 32, 950-957. doi: 10.1037/a0032727
- Reimers, C., Knapp, G., and Reimers, A. (2012). Does physical activity increase life expectancy? A review of the literature. J. Aging Res. 2012:243958. doi: 10.1155/2012/243958
- Rhodes, R. E., Courneya, K. S., Blanchard, C. M., and Plotnikoff, R. C. (2007). Prediction of leisure-time walking: an integration of social cognitive, perceived environmental, and personality factors. Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 4:51. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-4-1
- Rhodes, R. E., Fiala, B., and Conner, M. (2009). A review and meta-analysis of affective judgments and physical activity in adult populations. Ann. Behav. Med. 38, 180-204. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9147-v
- Rhodes, R. E., and Kates, A. (2015). Can the affective response to exercise predict future motives and physical activity behavior? A systematic review of published evidence. Ann. Behav. Med. 49, 715-731. doi: 10.1007/s12160-015-9704-5
- Rose, E., and Parfitt, G. (2012). Exercise experience influences affective and motivational outcomes of prescribed and self-selected intensity exercise. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports 22, 265-277. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01161.x
- Roth, D. A., Herman, C. P., Polivy, J., and Pliner, P. (2001). Self-presentational conflict in social eating situations: a normative perspective. Appetite 36, 165-171. doi: 10.1006/appe.2000.0388
- Russell, J. A. (1980). A circumplex model of affect. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 39, 1161-1178. doi: 10.1037/h0077714
- Schneider, M., Dunn, A., and Cooper, D. (2009). Affect, exercise, and physical activity among healthy adolescents. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 31, 706-723. doi: 10.1123/isep.31.6.706
- Schuch, F. B., Vasconcelos-Moreno, M. P., and Fleck, M. P. (2011). The impact of exercise on Quality of Life within exercise and depression trials: a systematic review. Ment. Health Phys. Act. 4, 43-48. doi: 10.1016/j.mhpa.2011.06.002
- Scott-Phillips, T. C., Dickins, T. E., and West, S. A. (2011). Evolutionary theory and the ultimate-proximate distinction in the human behavioral sciences. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 6, 38-47. doi: 10.1177/1745691610393528
- Shaw, J. D., and Gupta, N. (2015). Let the evidence speak again! Financial incentives are more effective than we thought. Hum. Resour. Manage. J. 25, 281-293. doi: 10.1111/1748-8583.12080
- Smits, B. L., Pepping, G.-J., and Hettinga, F. J. (2014). Pacing and decision making in sport and exercise: the roles of perception and action in the regulation of exercise intensity. Sports Med. 44, 763-775. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0163-0
- Speakman, J. R. (2016). "Evolution of Obesity," in Metabolic Syndrome: A Comprehensive Textbook, ed. R. S. Ahima (Cham: Springer International Publishing), 103-122.
- Spriet, L., Lindinger, M., McKelvie, R., Heigenhauser, G., and Jones, N. (1989). Muscle glycogenolysis and H+ concentration during maximal intermittent cycling. J. Appl. Physiol. 66, 8-13.
- Strohacker, K., Galarraga, O., and Williams, D. M. (2014). The impact of incentives on exercise behavior: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Ann. Behav. Med. 48, 92-99. doi: 10.1007/s12160-013-9577-4
- Tinbergen, N. (1963). On aims and methods of ethology. Z. Tierpsychol. 20, 410-433. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0310.1963.tb01161.x
- Tucker, J. M., Welk, G. J., and Beyler, N. K. (2011). Physical activity in US adults: compliance with the physical activity guidelines for Americans. Am. J. Prev. Med. 40, 454-461. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2010.12.016
- Usener, H. (1887/2010). Epicurea. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Walsh, J. M., Swangard, D. M., Davis, T., and McPhee, S. J. (1999). Exercise counseling by primary care physicians in the era of managed care. Am. J. Prev. Med. 16, 307-313. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(99)00021-5
- Williams, D. M. (2008). Exercise, affect, and adherence: an integrated model and a case for self-paced exercise. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 30, 471-496. doi: 10.1123/jsep.30.5.471
- Williams, D. M., Dunsiger, S., Ciccolo, J. T., Lewis, B. A., Albrecht, A. E., and Marcus, B. H. (2008). Acute affective response to a moderate-intensity exercise stimulus predicts physical activity participation 6 and 12 months later. Psychol. Sport Exerc. 9, 231-245. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2007.04.002

- Williams, D. M., Dunsiger, S., Jennings, E. G., and Marcus, B. H. (2012). Does affective valence during and immediately following a 10-min walk predict concurrent and future physical activity? *Ann. Behav. Med.* 44, 43–51. doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9362-9
- Williams, D. M., and Evans, D. R. (2014). Current emotion research in health behavior science. *Emot. Rev.* 6, 277–287. doi: 10.1177/1754073914523052
- Williams, D. M., and Marcus, B. H. (2012). "Theorecital approaces to exercise promotion," in *The Oxford Handbook of Exercise Psychology*, ed. O. A. Edmund (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 241.
- Williams, D. M., and Ruse, M. (forthcoming). Darwinian Hedonism and the Epidemic of Unhealthy Behavior. Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.
- Wilson, E. O. (2000). Sociobiology: The New Synthesis, 25th Anniversary Edition. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wininger, S. R. (2007). Improvement of affect following exercise: methodological artifact or real finding? Anxiety Stress Coping 20, 93–102. doi: 10.1080/ 10615800601170540

- Yeung, R. R. (1996). The acute effects of exercise on mood state. J. Psychosom. Res. 40, 123–141. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(95)00554-4
- Young, P. T. (1952). The role of hedonic processes in the organization of behavior. *Psychol. Rev.* 59, 249–262. doi: 10.1037/h0057176

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Lee, Emerson and Williams. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Exercising for the Pleasure and for the Pain of It: The Implications of Different Forms of Hedonistic Thinking in Theories of Physical Activity Behavior

Stephen L. Murphy^{1,2*} and Daniel L. Eaves¹

¹ Sport and Exercise Science Section, Teesside University, Middlesbrough, UK, ² School of Sport, Exercise and Health Sciences, Loughborough University, Loughborough, UK

Keywords: hedonism, hedonic theory, pleasure-pain principle, emotion regulation, affect, exercise behavior, persuasion, emotional reasons for action

"They [pleasure and pain] govern us in all we do, in all we say, in all we think" (Bentham, 1780, p.1)

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Martin S. Hagger, Curtin University, Australia Ryan E. Rhodes, University of Victoria, Canada

> *Correspondence: Stephen L. Murphy

stephenmurphy1234@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 25 February 2016 Accepted: 20 May 2016 Published: 10 June 2016

Citation:

Murphy SL and Eaves DL (2016) Exercising for the Pleasure and for the Pain of It: The Implications of Different Forms of Hedonistic Thinking in Theories of Physical Activity Behavior. Front. Psychol. 7:843. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00843 Physical inactivity is one of the most widely reported risk-factors associated with many noncommunicable diseases, including cardiovascular disease, diabetes mellitus, cancer, obesity, hypertension, stroke, osteoporosis, and depression (Warburton et al., 2006; Bravata et al., 2007), as well as overall global mortality (World Health Organization, 2010). Interventions that increase physical activity can reliably reduce the impact of these undesired outcomes. However, the key question facing research and theory is how best to conceptualize the associated psychological factors, which ultimately determine adherence to behavioral change. Social-Cognitive models of behavior, including the Theory of Planned Behavior, Transtheoretical Model, and Social-Cognitive Theory, represent popular explanatory frameworks, which can help practitioners understand how best to improve physical activity behavior.

In recent years, however, the usefulness of these models has been questioned. Research shows social-cognitive models typically only account for approximately 25% of the variation in exercise and physical activity behavior, which limits the effectiveness of related interventions (Ekkekakis and Dafermos, 2012). Instead, exercise behavior may be better understood by looking beyond the purely cognitive and social components. Recent research demonstrates affective components can predict physical activity behavior. For example, Williams et al. (2008) found affective responses to acute moderate-intensity exercise predicted subsequent physical activity levels in sedentary adults between 6 and 12 months later. These findings, which have been replicated (e.g., Kwan and Bryan, 2010), suggest interventions that manipulate the affective response to physical activity could improve long-term physical activity behavior.

A growing body of literature now promotes affective models, and their synthesis with socialcognitive theories (Kiviniemi et al., 2007; Calitri et al., 2009; Lawton et al., 2009). Within some of these accounts (Williams et al., 2008; Nasuti and Rhodes, 2013), the term "hedonism," which refers to a theory of human motivation in which individuals are motivated to experience pleasure and avoid pain, is being increasingly used to explain the predictive utility of these affective components (Ekkekakis and Dafermos, 2012). For instance, Williams et al. (2008) argues for "hedonic theory to [focus] on affective responses to behavior" (p. 232), while Cabanac (2006) asks whether the "...hedonic dimension of perception is what motivates and optimizes behavior..." (p. 111). Indeed, Ekkekakis and Dafermos (2012) declare "the foundation has now been laid for the development of a hedonic theory of exercise behavior" (p. 325). Despite this trend, there is a general failure in both the physical activity and psychology literature (in the round), to define what is *actually* meant when referencing to hedonism *per se*. Thus, the aim of this article is to first discuss the definitional problems associated with hedonism, and then briefly explore how the lack of clarity therein has hindered the development of modern affective accounts of adherence to physical activity. We hope this discourse will ultimately aid theorists and practitioners alike who seek to understand adherence better, in terms of the related affective states.

In psychology hedonism typically refers to the assumption that an individual will normally "...approach pleasure and avoid pain..." (Higgins, 1997, p. 1280), or when "...pleasure seeking is the main motivator of human behavior" (emphasis added, Veenhoven, 2003, p. 437). At first glance, these definitions indicate that while both the pursuit of pain and avoidance of pleasure are important drivers of behavior, other motivators can legitimately contribute their "votes" toward biasing subsequent actions. Upon closer inspection, however, a more extreme version of hedonism also exists in the literature. For instance, Sober and Wilson (1999) argue that in psychological hedonism "avoiding pain and attaining pleasure are the only ultimate motives that people have; everything else that we want, we want solely as a means to achieving those twin ends" (p. 2). Similarly, Vroom (1964) suggested hedonism's central assumption is that: "In every situation people select from alternative possibilities the course of action which they think will maximize their pleasure and minimize their pain" (p. 9). Finally, Mees and Schmitt (2008) argued that the principle postulate of classical hedonistic motivational theory is that "actions are ultimately carried out to maximize the level of one's own pleasure and to minimize one's own pain" (p. 157).

Hedonism can thus be defined in a most extreme sense, in which no other motivational drivers exist beyond the pursuit of pleasure and avoidance of pain [hereon referred to as Ultimate Psychological Hedonism (UPH); (Mees and Schmitt, 2008)]. Therefore, when developing modern theories of motivation for physical activity it is crucial to delineate between UPH and its less extreme counterpart [Partial Psychological Hedonism (PPH)], which can accommodate alternative motivational drivers. Indeed, such confusion is evident in Weiner's (1992) work, where hedonism is defined as "a utilitarian doctrine [which] asserts that pleasure and happiness are the chief goals in life" (p. 29). Since this statement invites the possibility of other motivational drivers, which sub-serve this "chief" goal, it is unclear if this definition invokes either UPH or PPH. In contrast, Weiner (1992) later states that "the single principle on which most theories of motivation agree is that persons seek to maximize pleasure and to minimize pain, with motivation derived from this fundamental law" (emphasis added, p. 353). Following his brief critique of hedonism's validity as a theory of human motivation, Weiner (1992) also states "If humans do not always act as hedonic maximizers, then other motivational principles are needed" (p. 357). Moreover, when Higgins (1997) states: hedonism refers to the idea that individuals "approach pleasure and avoid pain" (p. 1280), and that hedonism "...is the basic motivational assumption across all areas of psychology ... " (p. 1280), it appears easy to conflate these two forms of hedonism.

Thus, with the rapid growth in popularity of hedonisticreferenced affective accounts, we strongly recommend that future models in physical activity behavior account for these

different hedonistic perspectives, and clearly define the version they refer to. While these inaccuracies may seem trivial, there may be important unintended consequences of misrepresenting hedonism in motivational theory. Primarily, we argue the main problem is that unclear definitions prevent academics from effectively challenging theoretical components. If authors argue that UPH underpins a particular theory, then key aspects of the UPH component can be contested. For instance, UPH is widely considered as unfalsifiable, which is empirically problematic for a theoretical model (Vroom, 1964; Locke, 1975; Steers et al., 2004). Moreover, serious logical corollaries may also be unnecessarily invoked. For instance, inadvertently adopting UPH rather than PPH implies an acknowledgment that human nature is purely deterministic, wherein humans have no free will to behave outside of their affective confines. Thus, the individual who passionately "gives themselves to the cause," or behaves "out of principle," would only be deemed to be altruistic or morally virtuous in terms of their effort to obtain the underlying pleasure or pain avoidance for them self alone. This approach would radically transform how many lay people view human nature, toward a self-centered or self-serving perspective (Nahmias et al., 2005; Baumeister, 2008; Sarkissian et al., 2010).

As Locke (1975) states, determinism "wipes out the possibility of ethics" (p. 462), leading UPH to be controversial at best, and morally repulsive at worst (Timmermann, 2005). On top of this, a deterministic view of human nature may also unnecessarily conflict with distal aspects of motivational theory, which are incompatible with determinism. For example, Self-Determination Theory (SDT) is inherently humanistic in its focus, with its emphasis on the growth of human potentials (Ryan et al., 2008). Yet, if SDT's hedonistic components are vague in definition, or if this theory overlooks different hedonistic perspectives, as is the case in one such article (Ryan et al., 2008), viewing SDT through a deterministic lens, in which individuals are inherently selfish, causes inherent conflict.

Mistakenly implicating UPH rather than PPH is likely to negatively impact the coherence of a theory or framework. Articles detailing Approach-Avoidance Motivation (AAM), for instance, often present hedonism as the intellectual basis of their framework (Elliot, 2006). However, Elliot (2006) also states: "Self-conceptions, implicit theories, attachment schemas, environmental affordance, cultural values and norms" (p. 114) can underpin goal-directed behavior. However he does this without explicitly delineating if such determinants, which would presumably be lower down in the hierarchy of needs, are simply a further means to obtain pleasure or reduce pain. Moreover, Higgins (1997) states hedonism to be "the basic motivational assumption of theories across all areas of psychology, including theories of emotion in psychobiology, conditioning in animal learning, decision making in cognitive and organizational psychology, consistency in social psychology, and achievement motivation in personality" (p. 1280). Yet Higgins (1997) appears to refer to PPH and not UPH, despite the fact Vroom (1964) and others (Locke, 1975; Steers et al., 2004) argue UPH is unfalsifiable and therefore empirically redundant.

Confronting this definitional issue is essential, and can be achieved within the physical activity literature by taking a few important steps. Firstly, making oneself aware of the different forms of hedonism that exist, and the consequential logical corollaries that may be implicated, is an essential precaution when operating in a field with inherent definitional challenges (Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 2000). This increased awareness will promote the sensitivity in which hedonistic terms are used, and ensure the definitional problems that have occurred in other domains are prevented from developing. Secondly, if there is any chance of miss-representation of hedonistic terms, we advise authors to make explicit what they mean, rather than opting for brevity. Indeed, clearly discounting UPH in a text is preferable if there is potential for it to be implicated without intention.

To conclude, the future is promising for physical activity research. The field is moving away from models that exclusively account for social or cognitive components, and toward models that additionally account for affective components. However,

REFERENCES

- Baumeister, R. F. (2008). Free will in scientific psychology. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 3, 14–19. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2008.00057.x
- Bentham, J. (1780). An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation. London: T. Payne and Son.
- Bravata, D. M., Smith-Spangler, C., Sundaram, V., Gienger, A. L., Lin, N., Lewis, R., et al. (2007). Using pedometers to increase physical activity and improve health: a systematic review. JAMA 298, 2296–2304. doi: 10.1001/jama.298.19.2296
- Cabanac, M. (2006). Sensory pleasure optimizes muscular work. *Clin. Invest. Med.* 29, 110–116.
- Calitri, R., Lowe, R., Eves, F. F., and Bennett, P. (2009). Associations between visual attention, implicit and explicit attitude and behaviour for physical activity. *Psychol. Health* 24, 1105–1123. doi: 10.1080/08870440802245306
- Ekkekakis, P., and Dafermos, M. (2012). "Exercise is a many-splendored thing, but for some it does not feel so splendid: staging a resurgence of hedonistic ideas in the quest to understand exercise behavior," in *The Oxford Handbook* of Exercise Psychology, eds P. E. Nathan and E. O. Acevedo (New York, NY: Oxford), 295–333. doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195394313.013.0016
- Ekkekakis, P., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2000). Analysis of the affect measurement conundrum in exercise psychology: I. Fundamental issues. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 1, 71–88. doi: 10.1016/S1469-0292(00)00010-8
- Elliot, A. J. (2006). The hierarchical model of approach-avoidance motivation. *Motiv. Emot.* 30, 111–116. doi: 10.1007/s11031-006-9028-7
- Higgins, E. T. (1997). Beyond pleasure and pain. Am. Psychol. 52, 1280–1300. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.52.12.1280
- Kiviniemi, M. T., Voss-Humke, A. M., and Seifert, A. L. (2007). How do I feel about the behavior? The interplay of affective associations with behaviors and cognitive beliefs as influences on physical activity behavior. *Health Psychol.* 26, 152–158. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.26.2.152
- Kwan, B. M., and Bryan, A. (2010). In-task and post-task affective response to exercise: translating exercise intentions into behaviour. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 15, 115–131. doi: 10.1348/135910709X433267
- Lawton, R., Conner, M., and McEachan, R. (2009). Desire or reason: predicting health behaviors from affective and cognitive attitudes. *Health Psychol.* 28, 56–65. doi: 10.1037/a0013424
- Locke, E. A. (1975). Personnel attitudes and motivation. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 26, 457–480. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.26.020175.002325
- Mees, U., and Schmitt, A. (2008). Goals of action and emotional reasons for action. A modern version of the theory of ultimate psychological hedonism. J. Theory Soc. Behav. 38, 157–178. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-5914.2008.00364.x
- Nahmias, E., Morris, S., Nadelhoffer, T., and Turner 1, J. (2005). Surveying freedom: folk intuitions about free will and moral responsibility. *Philos. Psychol.* 18, 561–584. doi: 10.1080/09515080500264180

the indiscriminant use of hedonistic terms in different areas of psychology and philosophy has hindered the ability to accurately determine which version of hedonism is actually intended. The aim of this article is to bring attention to the indiscriminate use of hedonistic terms, and highlight the consequential effects of such actions. It is hoped the physical activity literature will benefit from being better equipped, so as to use hedonistic terms more appropriately for the development of more refined theoretical models of behavior.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SM conceived of the main argument and rationale for the paper during his Masters degree, under the supervision of DE. SM and DE developed and wrote the paper together and both authors approved revisions for journal submission.

- Nasuti, G., and Rhodes, R. E. (2013). Affective judgment and physical activity in youth: review and meta-analyses. Ann. Behav. Med. 45, 357–376. doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9462-6
- Ryan, R. M., Huta, V., and Deci, E. L. (2008). Living well: a self-determination theory perspective on eudaimonia. J. Happiness Stud. 9, 139–170. doi: 10.1007/s10902-006-9023-4
- Sarkissian, H., Chatterjee, A., De Brigard, F., Knobe, J., Nichols, S., and Sirker, S. (2010). Is belief in free will a cultural universal? *Mind Lang.* 25, 346–358. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0017.2010.01393.x
- Sober, E., and Wilson, D. S. (1999). Unto Others: The Evolution and Psychology of Unselfish Behavior. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. No. 218.
- Steers, R. M., Mowday, R. T., and Shapiro, D. L. (2004). Introduction to special topic forum: the future of work motivation theory. Acad. Manage. Rev. 29, 379–387. doi: 10.2307/20159049
- Timmermann, J. (2005). Too much of a good thing? Another paradox of hedonism. *Analysis* 65, 144–146. doi: 10.1093/analys/65.2.144
- Veenhoven, R. (2003). Hedonism and happiness. J. Happiness Stud. 4, 437–457. doi: 10.1023/B:JOHS.0000005719.56211.fd
- Vroom, V. (1964). Work and Motivation. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Warburton, D. E., Nicol, C. W., and Bredin, S. S. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *Can. Med. Assoc. J.* 174, 801–809. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.051351
- Weiner, B. (1992). Human Motivation: Metaphors, Theories, and Research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Williams, D. M., Dunsiger, S., Ciccolo, J. T., Lewis, B. A., Albrecht, A. E., and Marcus, B. H. (2008). Acute affective response to a moderate-intensity exercise stimulus predicts physical activity participation 6 and 12 months later. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 9, 231–245. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2007. 04.002
- World Health Organization (2010). *Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health*. Geneva: World Health Organization, 1–57.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Murphy and Eaves. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Qualitative Analysis of Emotional Facilitators in Exercise

Benjamin Wienke¹* and Darko Jekauc^{1,2}

¹ Department of Sport and Exercise Psychology, Humboldt University of Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² Department for Sport Science, University of Konstanz, Konstanz, Germany

Although previous research has shown that emotions are consistently associated with sport and exercise behavior, the working mechanisms are not understood to the extent of creating an intervention. The aim of this study is to identify situations and aspects of recreational sport and exercise, which lead to positive emotional reactions in people taking part in regular and long-term exercise. In this study, 24 adults (12 female, 12 male) distributed over three age groups (young, middle, and late adulthood), took part in recreational sports (individual or team sport) for at least 5 years. Semistructured in depth interviews with questions about sport and exercise habits, long term participation and emotional response in a sporting environment were conducted in order to ascertain those situations and aspects of the exercise program triggering positive emotions. Interviews were transcribed verbatim and followed Grounded Theory principles. Emerging concepts were grouped and merged into different categories representing the key aspects of sport and exercise. Four factors were identified which are associated with the emergence of positive emotions in recreational sport and exercise. Firstly, perceived competence is one of the major factors influencing emotions during exercise and can represent individual and collective success and progress, competition and challenge. Secondly, perceived social interaction is another factor comprising of all sorts of peer-related aspects such as communication with others, being part of a group and creating close relationships or friendships. Thirdly, novelty experience in contrast to other none-sporting activities such as work, family or other leisure activities was another factor. The last factor found was the perceived physical exertion comprising of the degree of exhaustion, a possibly delayed turnaround in the emotional response and the aspect of sport being a physical compensation for everyday sedentary life. The results of this study provide the starting point for the development of interventions to enhance positive emotions in sports in order to increase maintenance and adherence to recreational sport and exercise.

Keywords: emotions, grounded theory, exercise maintenance, perceived competence, belongingness, novelty experience, exercise intensity

INTRODUCTION

Evidence shows a wide range of health benefits from exercise and physical activity (Paffenbarger et al., 1993; Mensink, 2003; Rütten et al., 2005; Krug et al., 2013; Reiner et al., 2013), but also poor compliance and adherence to exercise programs (Mensink, 2003; Ekkekakis and Lind, 2006; World Health Organization [WHO], 2010; Krug et al., 2013; Eurobarometer, 2014). These health

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Duarte Araújo, University of Lisbon, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Jonathon Headrick, Queensland University of Technology, Australia Rui Sofia, University of Minho, Portugal

> ***Correspondence:** Benjamin Wienke bw@yourpersonaltrainer.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 April 2016 Accepted: 12 August 2016 Published: 29 August 2016

Citation:

Wienke B and Jekauc D (2016) A Qualitative Analysis of Emotional Facilitators in Exercise. Front. Psychol. 7:1296. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01296 improvements only persist due to regular participation in physical activity and exercise whereas a significant decline or drop out causes a decrease or complete loss of initially gained benefits (Mujika and Padilla, 2000a,b). Regardless of people knowing this necessity to continue exercising, the majority of the population remains physically inactive even those who are younger (Jekauc et al., 2012). Furthermore, empirical evidence has identified high dropout rates of up to 50% in exercise programs, within the first 6 months (Dishman and Buckworth, 1996; Annesi, 2003) and a common relapse to lower or no levels of activity after the exercise program has finished (Amireault et al., 2013). Effort has been made to encourage behavior change (Biddle et al., 2012) with marginal success (Rhodes and Pfaeffli, 2010). Even though insights about the motivational process of initiation of physical activity and exercise is advanced, there is a paucity of research which investigates the maintenance of such activities (McAuley et al., 2007; van Stralen et al., 2009; Kwasnicka et al., 2016) as well as a lack of effective practice (Amireault et al., 2013). Previous research indicates that the initiation of physical activity and exercise has different influences (e.g., strategic planning and recovery self-efficacy; Schwarzer et al., 2007) in comparison to the maintenance (habit, environmental, and social influences; Kwasnicka et al., 2016) of it (see also Biddle and Mutrie, 2008). Therefore there is a high interest in identifying key factors which affect physical activity and exercise maintenance such as specific facilitators (Amireault et al., 2013). Although recent findings support the notion of facilitators which foster behavior maintenance (previous physical activity habits, positive attitude, expectations; Amireault et al., 2013; perception of competence, social affiliation, environmental conditions, sense of autonomy, specific physical activity; Rhodes and Kates, 2015), the capability of established theoretical frameworks is fairly limited (Rhodes and Pfaeffli, 2010; Amireault et al., 2013). Indeed, most factors are based on cognition, but established cognitive theories and models can only explain parts of people's behavior (Jekauc et al., 2015; Kwasnicka et al., 2016) revealing a lack of theoretical foundation. Perhaps diverting attention to other domains such as facilitators of emotions in the context of sport and exercise is more promising (Williams, 2008; Rhodes and Kates, 2015) and may lead to a better understanding, which despite years of research is still limited (Rhodes et al., 2009).

To succeed using this approach a clear definition is crucial to distinguish between different terms and constructs used (Tuson and Sinyor, 1993). According to Caspersen et al. (1985) "physical activity is defined as any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure" [...] which "can be categorized into occupational, sports, conditioning, household, or other activities" (p. 126). Instead, sport and exercise are subcategories of physical activity, which are often planned, structured, and repetitive with the purpose of improving or maintaining physical capability (Caspersen et al., 1985). Since sport and exercise are subsets of physical activity, evidence drawn from sport or exercise might be valid for each other and broadly for physical activity but not the other way round. Following the approach from Buckworth et al. (2013), this article is mostly focused on exercise because the majority of researchers used methods that fit the definition of exercise mentioned above, to

measure physical activity. Since classic competitive sports are expected to have a specific emotional pattern (e.g., influenced by a higher goal orientation or different expectations such as external rewards), a look at recreational sports might result in a broader insight.

The same procedure is required for the differentiation of affects and emotions. According to Russell and Feldman Barrett (2009) the core affect (because it is considered to be basic or irreducible; Ekkekakis, 2003) is characterized as a "neurophysiological state consciously accessible as a simple primitive non-reflective feeling most evident in [...] emotion but always available to consciousness" (p. 104) such as pleasure and displeasure, tension and relaxation, or energy and tiredness (Ekkekakis, 2012). Core affect can occur on its own or as a part of emotion, e.g., like pride which is feeling good about oneself whereas 'feeling good' represents the core affect and 'about oneself' the other, cognitive, component (Russell, 2003). Thus emotions are a kind of affective state, but they do not apply vice versa. Making reference to Russell and Barrett (1999) and Ekkekakis (2012) simplifies the definition of emotions that are elicited by and are a reaction to and about a certain stimulus, with its cognitive appraisal involved as an elemental characteristic and reveals a more complex phenomenon in comparison to basic affect (Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 2000). The previously mentioned example of 'pride' represents an emotion which includes all these criteria mentioned before and demonstrates the close relation between the two concepts of affect and emotion. In this article, the focus is primarily on emotions and not affects not only due to the qualitative design of the study.

The aim of the present study is to identify facilitators which affect the emotional response to recreational sport and exercise and thus the maintenance of both. Research about the role of emotions in relation to sport and exercise or facilitators is sparse (Rhodes and Kates, 2015) and the few models that exist focus on leisure time activities that seek pleasure, enjoyment, and fun (Rhodes et al., 2009). Positive affects are one of the fundamental basics in order to understand the nature of enjoyment (Scanlan and Simons, 1992) which in turn reinforce behavior (Rhodes and Kates, 2015; Kwasnicka et al., 2016) and enhance participation and maintenance in sport and exercise (Stenseng et al., 2015). Thus facilitators for positive emotion during exercise must be identified to prompt the development of interventions charged with stimuli which affect one or more facilitators to ensure that each individual experiences positive emotion (for details see the results section below; Scanlan and Simons, 1992).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A qualitative study was conducted to identify facilitators that affect the emotional response to recreational sport and exercise.

Participants

In order to ensure heterogeneity of the sample the participants were evenly recruited across three factors: age, sex, and type of exercise. Age was divided in three age categories: 18–34 years (AG1), 35–59 years (AG2) and older than 60 years (AG3). Sex (male vs. female) and type of exercise (group vs. individual) consisted of two categories. Combining these three factors $(3 \times 2 \times 2)$ 12 cells emerged. For each cell, two participants were recruited. Thus, the sample consisted of 24 participants. All participants took voluntarily part in this study and were recruited in Berlin as native German speakers. Ethical approval for the study was provided by the Humboldt University and all participants signed an informed consent form at the beginning of the study.

Participants were involved in formal recreational sports such as soccer, volleyball, or swimming and informal recreational sports like climbing, martial arts, or paddling; organized in sport clubs, training groups, or exercising on their own. None of the participants were a high-level-competitive or professional athlete or worked in a job that involved sport. All participants described their actual level of engagement in popular sports as more or less ambitious. The average training frequency was three times a week (mean: 2,98; SD = 1,84) and the duration was around 90 min (mean: 94,04; SD = 34,42). Compared to their age, participants reported an involvement in recreational sports of around 70% of their lifespan (e.g., age of 28 and 22 years of sport participation results in 78, 57% of engagement; mean: 69,89; SD = 22,77) with a minimum of 6 years engagement. Of the 24 participants, there were even 12 that took part in competitions (e.g., league game or small tournament), five participated in competitions previously and seven had never participated in any competitions.

Data Collection

Students of Sport Science of the Humboldt University of Berlin through acquaintances or friends recruited suitable participants without any deeper relationship to the interviewer. At the start of each interview, relevant information about the study, the procedure and the data usage were given to the participants which had agreed to be interviewed and recorded. Data collection was made via voluntary, non-directive, face to face interviews, which where standardized using a semistructure interview manual according to Tong et al. (2007) which refers to a gradual three level approach (three types of questions from the general to the specific) in a quiet environment. Participants were asked open-ended-questions about their experiences, habits, and emotions in the context of sport and exercise. Firstly, questions remained general in order to be able to get to know the participant, e.g., "How did you get into sport and exercise?" "What is your first memory in the context of sport and exercise?" "Which of these kind of sports/or what kind of exercise do you do regularly?" The second step was to ask about their habits and how they emerged. "What significance does regular exercise have in your everyday life?" "How much do you have to think about deciding whether to exercise?" "If you decide not to exercise, could you describe the inner monolog with yourself any further?" "Would you miss something after quitting your sport/exercise?" The final part of the interview contained questions especially about emotions within exercise and sport: "What kind of feelings

do you experience whilst you exercise?" "In which kind of situation do you experience the most enjoyment?" "How significant is the experience of pleasure to you, to be able to keep on exercising?"

In addition to the participant and the interviewer, a third person attended to write minutes of the interview, which lasted approximately 20–40 min. Referring to GAT ("Conversation Analytic Transcription System"; Selting et al., 2009) the interviews where transcribed verbatim.

Data Analysis

Verbatim transcripts of the audio recordings were used in content analysis related to the Grounded Theory (Strauss and Corbin, 1996). The first step was the open encoding of the full text of the whole 24 interviews. Therefore the interviews were read completely by three different independent researchers and thoughts were written down in memorandum. Relevant information was grouped into different concepts. This working phase was done independently by two researchers, who met for a weekly meeting to compare and to discuss their findings and stayed as close as possible to the script in order to avoid bias. All concepts were grouped within categories (e.g., performance, process, achievement, competition, and challenge in the context of positive emotions were summarized in the categoryperceived competence (PC; Figure 1) and were checked for connections between each other in the axial encoding process. In that second step categories that seemed synonymous were merged into one so that only the varying categories remained [e.g., categories such as closeness to nature and curiosity and otherness were merged into novelty experience (NE)]. The last working step was selective coding to ensure the integrity of the four categories by searching for appropriate concepts and by analyzing the context in which they were mentioned. The final data was organized accordingly into categories and subcategories in order to be able to formulate the theory that is the focus of this study.

RESULTS

The majority of participants (22 out of 24) with their long lasting engagement in recreational sports and exercise referred to positive emotions related to this activity. For a better understanding, it is crucial to discover facilitators for these positive emotions to increase sport and exercise involvement and its maintenance. Four different factors with a high to moderate impact on the emotional experience could be revealed (Figure 2). The strongest and the most frequently mentioned concepts refer to the category PC which was mentioned in 22 out of 24 interviews. The second conceptual group was related to perceived social interaction (PSI), which was mentioned in 19 out of 24 interviews. The third group was related to NE and was mentioned in 18 out of 24 interviews. Lastly, the physical dimension perceived physical exertion (PPE) was found in 14 out of 24 interviews. Whereas three of these facilitators are psychological, one is also affected by interoceptive signals. According to the three independent factors (sex, age, and





sport type) some differences have occurred as discussed below (Table 1).

Perceived Competence

Firstly, PC was found to be the most influential factor in the emotional experience in recreational sport and exercise, feeling competent and capable was often combined with positive emotions. PC represents the own individual sense of how well one is performing in a particular situation in relation to exercise, in the present, retrospectively or in the future. Whilst performing well during a task, being successful or winning a game, mastering a challenge, achieving a goal or making progress created positive emotions in all participants such as pleasure and enjoyment; there was also often excitement or pride:

"When I think back to how we won the championship I remember being happy for weeks"; "It is simply awesome when you are allowed to shoot the free kick and are able to fool the wall–I always really look forward to doing that"; "If something really cool worked out, then you are very happy about it. Sometimes you are also proud when you are making progress. After our tournament I was proud of my good results." Perceived competence is not only binding on the individual performance; collective accomplishments were also perceived and evaluated:

"If you manage to score or prevent a good move being successful or if you see a good move which you saw 30 years ago done by somebody and he replicates that and you comment "hey you didn't forget that." These sorts of things makes you happy or happy for the others"; "I am also happy for my teammates when they are doing well and sometimes even when the opponents do something great."

Only two participants did not refer to any concepts concerning PC as a facilitator for enjoyment and pleasure in recreational sport and exercise. Furthermore there were no cues among the interviews for a negative emotional response to PC or a positive response to a lack of PC. Also sex did not have an impact on PC among the interviews. Men and women mentioned PC in the context of positive emotions equally (both 11 out of 12 interviews). The same result was shown in the individual and team-sport participants (both 11 out of 12). Only the age factor showed a very small variation. In AG1 everybody mentioned concepts related to PC. In both other groups (AG2 and AG3) only seven out of eight mentioned PC as a factor related to pleasure and enjoyment.

Perceived Social Interaction

Secondly, PSI is another important factor that influences emotional experience in a sport and exercise-related environment and was mentioned in 19 out of 24 interviews. Many participants appreciate the company of others in the context of recreational sport or during exercise. To have social bonds with others or exercise with them triggers positive emotions, whereas being on your own does not (in category 3, NE, being alone triggered

Groups (sample size)	Concepts (24)	Male (12)	Female (12)	Individuals (12)	Team sports (12)	AG1 18–34y (8)	AG2 35–59y (8)	AG3 +60y (8)
Perceived competence	22	11	11	11	11	8	7	7
Perceived social interaction	19	9	10	9	10	7	6	6
Novelty experience	18	8	10	9	9	5	6	7
Perceived physical exertion	14	10	4	6	8	7	5	2

TABLE 1 | Occurrence of concepts related to positive emotions corresponding to one of the four categories.

positive emotions due to cognitive rest or relaxation). The PSI category comprises of all sorts of peer-related aspects like communication with others, to be part of a group and to create close and warm relationships with others such as companionship or friendship. Meeting friends and teammates, spending time together or exercising together, communicating, and socializing made participants experience positive emotions. In other words, accompanied participants described themselves and especially their emotional state more positively and enthusiastically than in situations where they exercised alone without friends or peers:

"Because it is so incredibly fun and (despite finding that every now and then I think about quitting) I realize that it is so much fun and such a pleasurable experience and I experience amazing things with my teammates and that's the thing that keeps me goingnot so much the success. It is the community, great experiences, and good feelings." "Swimming was enjoyable, but if you are part of a team, it is a lot more fun" "Climbing in a group is like basketball-I really look forward to these amazing days, its similar to snowboarding with several friends a few days-I really enjoy that" "The fun and pleasure is enormous and we all stayed together because we functioned very well as a group" "What one wants to have regularly is to meet the people who are also there and with whom you have fun with and love to train with and everything that goes with it."

Perceived social interaction as a facilitator of enjoyment and pleasure has reasonable homogeneity among the cells sex, age, or sport-type. Almost the same frequency was found in both sporttypes (individual or team): 9 out of 12 individuals compared to 10 out of 12 team sports interviews mentioned PSI related concepts. However, one difference must be considered: the dissimilar description pattern of PSI from the different types of recreational sport. Both, individual and team-sport groups described PSI in a sports-related environment, e.g., meeting people before or after exercise as well as for other non-sporting purposes:

"The aim is to have fun with the other girls, and they organize a lot of things to do outside of handball. For them, it is like a replacement for family." "Well I have to say that the camaraderie and the team spirit is quite strong. You travel together to tournaments or drink a beer or go to eat together after training. Some of them also came to my birthday. We also sometimes met at our trainers place to watch a game on his television. That's pretty cool." However, participants from team sports also described PSI during exercise or at least directly related to it:

"A smile on your face and cheering on your teammates, having fun together and a good time"; "It's really the team spirit which entices me, this kind of sport is fascinating to me."

On account of this, PSI triggers positive emotions directly through the involvement with others such as teammates or indirectly through the company of others. However, it was the environmental concepts that were the most commonly described. In five interviews participants did not mention any concepts concerning PSI as a facilitator for enjoyment and pleasure in sport and exercise. However, the majority of the participants described positive emotions in situations, when they were in the company of significant others. None of the participants stated negative emotions whilst they were exercising with others (the only exception was at the start of a marathon among hundreds of other people which hindered the performance). The difference between male and female participants was very weak (male 9 out of 12 and female 10 out of 12 participants); this also applied to the three age groups (AG1: seven out of eight, AG2 and AG3: six out of eight). Only two elderly participants explicitly mentioned being fine to exercise on their own, but didn't exclude company per se.

"Well I also like to go (exercise) alone and enjoy the time I have for myself."

This is a reference to the third category that describes relief and relaxation when people are able to 'switch off their heads' and let their thoughts go.

Novelty Experience

Thirdly, NE in contrast to the daily life routine was another factor influencing some of the emotional experiences in recreational sport and exercise mentioned in 18 out of 24 interviews. Whilst typically most kinds of exercise are dissimilar to most work-, family-, or other none-sporting commitments and activities, the divergent character of NE lies in the nature of sport and exercise itself. The difference is not limited to activities *per se* and can be found in many dimensions, e.g., the diversity of surroundings, the character of certain people involved in sports or the alternating demand of exercise–sometimes playful or challenging. Concepts such as enjoying the landscape and countryside, to be outside and do outdoor activities- in contrast to most indoor activities, to relax on a cognitive level, to gain new experiences, or to do something nonproductive just for fun; curiosity or variety were all grouped into NE.

"And when it was lightly raining and you were completely alone out on the water and you are paddling slowly and there is hardly any noise... you really hear the rain on the water, like singing. It's wonderful-at least that's what I think." "On the one hand I find the snow and the mountains amazing, as well as the landscape which is thrilling and the sun-which is enormous," "the otherness of the game compared to daily life, most emotions are triggered by that." "It is when you are on high up in the mountains on a slope and you get this feeling of free movement whilst descending, the swinging to the left and right, and then moving to adapt to the course of the landscape. It is then I get the feeling of pleasure and satisfaction."

Another part of NE is the cognitive relaxation component. To switch off the brain and let thoughts go, triggers positive emotions in and concentrates the mind on something other than stress and is a contrast to the focus on daily life. Amongst the interviews exercise was often mentioned as an important tool to compensate other influences. NE is only one element of this method, representing the cognitive aspect and must be distinguished from PPE (fourth category), which is related to a physical dimension:

[When exercising] "Then I'm not able to think about my job anymore. When I was on the water at the weekend and returned to study on Monday, my head was totally free. I only realized that much later. The mental concentration required while you are sailing- you have to focus on the route, the rules, the environment, and adapting to the elements-had a tremendous recuperative effect on me and I was filled with inner satisfaction and peace." "That moment of diving into the water I find really off-putting but afterward it is pure relaxation. Nothing to think about, nothing else to do. Because of that, I often miscount. Only when I leave the water and have to dry myself, does it turn back to being bad"; "it's more like turning off from your job. That's my goal, switching off from the office job and daily routine and to have a bit of fun doing something you want to do." "You can turn off your head on the track and run because you don't have to do anything in particular and you can simply let your thoughts go."

In comparison to the male participants (8 out of 12), female participants referred slightly more to concepts related to NE (10 out of 12). However, there were no differences between the individuals and team-sport groups (individuals- 9 out of 12; team sport- 9 out of 12). Among the three age groups a slight increase in the amount of statements about the concepts was found (AG1: five out of eight; AG2: six out of eight; AG3: seven out of eight).

Perceived Physical Exertion

The last factor found was PPE. Concepts related to this category were found in 14 out of 24 interviews. In addition to its psychological component, this category exclusively contains a physical dimension of the body, while the other three are on a pure psychological level. PPE is the phenomenon that sport and exercise *per se* but also fatigue and exhaustion caused by such activities generates a specific and desired emotional response. This effect was described whilst exercising and especially when pushing oneself to the limit but was mentioned more after exercising.

Similarly to NE, this category is also a contrast to the daily life routine with its typical lack of movement and physical demand. Therefore PPE represents an inner drive for movement, the pleasure after exercise or the physical balance desired after long periods of sitting or leading sedentary lifestyle *per se*. Participants referred to positive emotions like pleasure and enjoyment in situations where they could satisfy this drive for movement or do other things that were different to the daily routine such as sport. Even the perception of exhaustion due to strenuous exercise, the opportunity to burn off energy or the growing muscle soreness triggered positive emotions:

"The feeling of pleasure during sport is when you are exercising and push yourself, you get feelings of happiness. For me, when I know that I can work out and when I am finished, I pushed myself and afterward I am actually more satisfied and happy." "Well running sometimes feels a bit like torture but nevertheless I feel happy during the run and afterward too." "And if something went wrong you are able to really push yourself to the limit when doing sport and mostly you always feel better afterward. Because of that it is a really good way to balance out my job."

Another component of PPE is the inner need for movement. People described an impulse to exercise but not necessarily for a certain purpose or a specific goal. They responded with positive emotions whilst fulfilling the desire to exercise:

"It has an enormous impact and if I'm not exercising one day I notice that I don't feel as well as I normally do. I need that very much at least once a day, if not more often." "When I arrive at home I feel well balanced, if I wouldn't exercise I would sit at home with the same incomplete work and be frustrated and nervous and in a bad mood. I would then start to concentrate more on the smaller things that aren't so important." "Well the regularity is very important for me, I'm angry if my training is canceled and then I realize that I miss it because I'm not balanced." "I'm used to it. If I was completely without exercise . . . well there are some periods in between where you are forced to interrupt exercise but then I miss it quite a lot."

To underline this point a common theme about missing exercise was very strong among the interviewees. All participants mentioned, that they would miss their familiar sports (24 out of 24).

One crucial part of PPE is the follow-up or rebound effect. In these interviews all participants stated positive emotions after exercising (but only if those emotions were related to a physical response or effect such as exhaustion and not due to evaluation, for example due to a lost match):

"When I'm not exercising, I recognize after a while that I'm not feeling physically well. I certainly need to push myself physically and afterward the endorphins are released. You always feel better after having exercised." "I am simply more relaxed and less tense when I'm physically exhausted and you have a total different feeling about life. You sleep very well because you have pushed yourself

Emotional Facilitators in Exercise

physically and because it cleared your head from thinking about your job you have a better feeling about life. " "Well emotionally balanced and after exercise a happy exhaustion. Therefore, satisfied, happy, and physically exhausted." "It is like a happy exhaustion after a training session. Frequently, I recognized then that I am finished with the training session due to these feelings. It's a kind of very physical happiness." "When you are finished you think about what you have done and that you managed to overcome your doubts and do it, which is probably like a reward system in itself. Well after exercising you have, 99% of the time, positive feelings afterward."

There was a strong difference between male and female participants. 10 out of 12 men reported situations or concepts related to PPE while only 4 out of 12 women did. The need to move, push oneself to their limits, be physically exhausted, or to get the positive emotions afterward was substantially stronger among male participants. The factor sport type, only slightly differed. Individual-participants mentioned 6 out of 12 times concepts related to PPE whilst in 8 out of 12 interviews team participants mentioned it. According to the age factor a strong decline occurred from AG1 (seven out of eight) via AG2 (five out of eight) to AG3 (two out of eight).

DISCUSSION

To change sport and exercise experiences and thus behavior, it is crucial to identify the major influential factors. As described above there is no doubt that positive emotions are major reasons to adopt and maintain corresponding activities (Jekauc, 2015; Rhodes and Kates, 2015; Stenseng et al., 2015), while a lack of positive emotions leads to dropping out (Scanlan and Simons, 1992). Furthermore perceived enjoyment is a key factor for commitment to sport (Scanlan and Lewthwaite, 1986; Scanlan et al., 1993) and reflects a positive emotional response like general feelings (e.g., pleasure) to the sporting experience (Scanlan and Simons, 1992). This study also provides strong evidence for the assumption, that positive emotions such as fun and enjoyment encourage maintenance of recreational sport and exercise in the long term. Participants even referred to positive emotions in a sporting context occasionally without being directly asked (aside from the specific questions). To enhance participation in recreational sport and exercise, commitment and adherence, a better understanding of factors which makes this experience more enjoyable is crucial, starting with the general to the specific (Scanlan and Simons, 1992; Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 1999).

According to Weiss and Raedeke (2004) the factors *PC*, *enjoyment*, and the *social environment* impact adherence and maintenance of physical activity among young people. Similarities were described by Scanlan and Simons (1992) with *PC and challenge, social interactions, elements of activity itself,* and *extrinsic rewards* as mediators which often arise in research. In this article, categories similar to the factors *competence, elements of activity and social environment* and, respectively, *social interactions* were found. *Challenge* is included in the first category: PC. Concepts concerning *extrinsic rewards* were not found during the interviews. Similarly to the factors mentioned above, the four categories found in these interviews with an impact on emotional experience are *PC*, *PSI*, *NE*, and *PPE*. Concepts referring to these facilitators occurred frequently among all twenty four interviews suggesting also a dynamic interplay.

Perceived Competence

Perceived competence is one category which is deeply anchored in the character of sport and exercise not only because of the Olympic motto, "Citius-Altius-Fortius" but because in despite of progression, many appropriate activities require special skills to perform them. Positive emotions like fun enhance habits or channel positive behavior change (Rhodes and Kates, 2015; Kwasnicka et al., 2016) while negative emotions strengthen actions to avoid something. PC therefore is a facilitator to evolve toward a certain skill level (Deci and Ryan, 2000; Ekkekakis et al., 2005; Cohn and Fredrickson, 2006) as well as helping to sustain this ability as a result of the fun and enjoyment experienced during sport and exercise. The importance of PC as a facilitator for positive emotions is underlined due to it commonness and robustness among all interviews regardless of the independent factors. Furthermore it might reinforce itself since the perception of competence result in positive emotions which in turn support optimal performance (if perceived as convenient; McCarthy, 2011).

White (1959) was the first, who described the interaction between competence and enjoyment. He proposed an intrinsic drive of an individual to deal effectively with the surrounding environment and the positive emotions after doing so (Harter, 1978). In his opinion *effectance motivation* just aims for the feeling of efficacy, not for any consequences (White, 1959). As described in his basic model, this type of motivation leads to mastery attempts in a certain domain. After a successful attempt and PC, a feeling of efficacy arises, accompanied by pleasure, which in turn increases or at least maintains *effectance motivation* (White, 1959; Harter, 1978).

Based on White's (1959) concept of effectance motivation, Harter (1978) developed the competence motivation theory which describes the intrinsic striving of a child to develop competence in certain domains and to achieve mastery level. Related to the amount of competence motivation the child will search for correspondence between challenge and expected success. If the person succeeds in those mastery attempts with an optimal amount of challenge, they will experience PC and control as well as a positive affect response. Significant others may also enhance these perceptions giving social support in different ways and indirectly influence the emotional response. In sum these processes increase the desire "to continue being effective" (Weiss and Raedeke, 2004; S.227). It is reasonable to assume that this process applies for the most part equally in older individuals-with its usual characteristic structure but with different intensities of influential behavior and habits.

In summary, in a recreational sport or exercise -related environment, PC is undoubtedly a major facilitator on emotions with a robust effect on the emotional response and furthermore essential for any type of motivation (Deci and Ryan, 2000). Connections to PSI, NE and PPE were found (e.g., collective success, flow, and push to the limit).

Perceived Social Interaction

Humans do have a natural need to establish and sustain close and warm relationships (Maslow, 1968). Forming these bonds as well as amplifying them is ensued by positive emotions such as pleasure and happiness. To trigger these emotions people need frequent social interactions with others, ideally experienced as pleasant and enjoyable. However, more importantly is the perception of belonging and the social tie itself rather than mere social contact (Baumeister and Leary, 1995). Furthermore, a consistent and long-term interaction with familiar people is experienced as more satisfactory than changing partners or strangers. This effect increases due to mutuality, which is supportive but not necessarily essential (Clark, 1984; Baumeister and Leary, 1995). The facilitator PSI may promote positive emotions during sport and exercise and afterward. Most kind of sports provide an appropriate environment for social interactions because many people tend to exercise with others. According to Coon (1946), affiliating in groups is inherently instinctive rather than practical (e.g., cost-effective, same time, interests, etc.). In addition, it seems that behavior change from individuals within a group is more promising than changing them alone (Lewin, 1951; Kwasnicka et al., 2016). Perhaps positive motivation from others who enjoy the physical activity might enhance the attitude toward it and the effect is cumulative. Although this collective reinforcement might also apply to negative emotions, it is reasonable, that the majority of emotions whilst exercising are positive. As the participants stated, -'otherwise people won't continue with an unpleasant activity.' However, PSI as mentioned by the majority of the participants enhances their emotional experience in the context of sport and exercise. This indicates that the need for attachment and belonging is affected which can be considered to be fundamental (Baumeister and Leary, 1995; Lavigne et al., 2011). People experience pleasure and enjoyment when creating new relationships such as entering a new sport, team, or club, but this was even more so when reinforcing or sustaining existing ties (Baumeister and Leary, 1995). On the other hand, it seems that positive emotions also influence belongingness (Stenseng et al., 2015) and due to their reciprocal relationship are self-energizing. Many participants reported, that either their parents or their friends were the initial cause of starting their engagement in sports and exercise-both figures in which the participants have a bond and attachment. PSI might convert recreational sport and exercise into something more attractive. Participants also underlined positive emotions while exercising together with friends or being accompanied by them in an exercise context. These emotions might arise due to the exercise itself, due to the satisfaction of the need to belong or due to a combination of both. Although participants thought that their sporting-activities were enjoyable, they explained that the intensity of positive emotions was weaker when exercising alone. Similarly lower levels of enjoyment were reported from participants who spent time together without

recreational sport and exercise. The highest degree of positive emotions occurred when exercising along with others or directly together. Recent findings suggest, that a basic function of emotion is to encourage the formation and sustenance of relationships (Baumeister and Leary, 1995). Because people are happy and also resist the dissolution of relationships, they participate more often and are more likely to continue with recreational sport and exercise much longer than they normally would without these social ties. Along with recent evidence this study confirms the connection between belongingness and positive emotions in recreational sport and exercise (Stenseng et al., 2015). Furthermore relationships with NE and PPE were found (interaction with teammates, reduced negativity of high intensity).

Novelty Experience

According to the Latin proverb, 'variatio delectat,' variation can be seen as a source of positive emotions. Furthermore, the distraction hypothesis may provide an explanation for the 'feel better' effect normally associated with exercise. It assumes, that distraction from stressful stimuli rather than the physical exercise itself enhances positive emotions (Morgan, 1985). Participants often reported, that they enjoyed situations in which they could 'turn off their head' and let their thoughts go. However, research could not verify a stronger impact of exercise in terms of distraction in comparison to equivalent activities such as rest or relaxation on emotional states (Yeung, 1996). It seems that the distraction hypothesis is not able to explain why participants choose exercise rather than rest or relaxation. Other distractions and influences due to cognitive factors such as non-associative thoughts about external surroundings, etc. might affect mood states during exercise (Goode and Roth, 1993), however, the intensity of this cognitive task must still match (Fillingim et al., 1989). Yeung (1996), concludes that the effect of exercise on negative emotions is not superior compared to equivalent activities for distraction but in fact is superior when it comes to improving positive mood. If the attitude toward exercise is positive, distraction might reinforce that. Cognitive processes might attenuate negative signals from the body and as a result the overall sensation is primarily positive (this mechanism is discussed further in category 4, PPE).

Another approach might be the theory of sensation seeking, a concept which describes the need for various, novel and complex sensations and the acceptance of accompanied risks (Zuckerman, 1979). Although the four scales (*thrill and adventure seeking, experience seeking, disinhibition, and boredom susceptibility*) suit NE on first impression, the differences found among the three independent factors did not match with recent evidence. While sensation seeking is stronger amongst younger people and men (Zuckerman et al., 1978; Steinberg et al., 2008; Cross et al., 2013), the participants reported the opposite in terms of age, sex, and readiness to assume risk.

Since sensory deprivation reinforces inter alia the urge to move and extrinsic sensory stimuli (Solomon et al., 1957), people might desire similar needs without such need for extremes.

The seeming paradox of this category is that new experiences and impressions, curiosity and excitement are completely opposite to relaxation and cognitive balance or rest which are also comprised in NE. However, both dimensions share in common a positive valence and the contrast to the daily life routine even though they are opposites. The first form of NE describes the positive state of 'feelings' in such a situationhigh arousal and activation of a person. Seeking sensation, adventure, challenge, or just the desire not only to move but also to gain other experiences in comparison to everyday life might be one explanation for such an emotional response and resulting behavior. The second appearance of NE describes the lower but fair arousal and activation of a person seeking some relaxation and rest. In this particular situation people also described positive emotions in contrast to a stressful daily routine, which meant switching off and letting their thoughts go. In both forms of NE the outcome is nearly the same: positive emotions, enjoyment, and satisfaction. However, the trigger is a different one. Therefore none of the participants described a relaxation effect following a state of excitement or curiosity accompanied by rest.

Positive emotions were intended to promote curiosity and novelty to explore the surroundings for resources (Ekkekakis et al., 2005; Cohn and Fredrickson, 2006) rather than responding to a stimulus demonstrating a strong affinity between NE and positive emotions. Phenomena such as the 'runners high' underline the interplay between NE and PPE.

Perceived Physical Exertion

In relation to exercise-intensity, the emotional response of individuals differs in terms of magnitude, direction, or accountable sources (Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 1999; Ekkekakis et al., 2000, 2005; van Landuyt et al., 2000; Hall et al., 2002; Ekkekakis, 2003). It is reasonable to assume, that individuals always seek the best emotional outcome and choose the appropriate intensity accordingly, whereas a deviation might lead to less pleasure and enjoyment (Ekkekakis, 2003; Ekkekakis et al., 2005; Ekkekakis and Lind, 2006; Vazou-Ekkekakis and Ekkekakis, 2009). However, some people experience positive emotions at lower levels of intensity and duration of exercise (Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 1999; Ekkekakis et al., 2000; Reed and Ones, 2006), while some feel comfortable with moderate to high exercise intensity, others will not (Yeung, 1996; van Landuyt et al., 2000; Ekkekakis, 2003). As intensity approaches functional limits, divergent sensations vanished as well as positive valence (Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 1999; Hall et al., 2002; Ekkekakis, 2003, 2009; Ekkekakis et al., 2005, 2011). Despite these negative emotions some participants (especially those with a higher fitness level) chose demanding intensities and pushed themselves to their limits possibly to generate a higher physical contrast to that of the daily life demand on the body via exhaustion or pain ["hurt so good" (Ekkekakis, 2003)]. Perhaps other influences attenuate the unpleasant sensations associated with strenuous exercise and generate the desire to exercise. Although the main impact on emotions in this domain is physical and increases proportionally with exercise intensity whilst cognitive effects diminish (Ekkekakis,

2003, 2009). However, it still has a cognitive component (e.g., conscience, pride, guilt, etc.; connection to the first category PC).

Another explanation, why people choose intensities that have minimal positive emotions might be due to a followup or rebound effect after the physical activity is finished. In general, exercise is consistently ensued by positive emotions (Tuson and Sinyor, 1993; Yeung, 1996; Ekkekakis, 2003), even if it is at a demanding intensity (Hall et al., 2002). This is despite recent emotional bias during exercise (Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 1999) which might exceed pre-exercise states independently of intensity (Ekkekakis et al., 2008). This affective contrast (Solomon, 1980, 1991) might be due to an interference of two affective dynamic processes with different patterns in terms of effect direction, emergence, and duration. In contrast to each other, the a-process has a negative valence, which is stimulated beyond a certain threshold, then matches the intensity and disappears along with it. Whereas the b-process has a positive valence, is triggered by the first, has a completely opposite bias and appears to be more consistent with slower emergence and decline (Solomon, 1980, 1991). The sensation during exercise is the result of subtraction of both whereas in the recovery-phase the b-process solely determines the emotional outcome. This leads to the conclusion that during high intensity exercise individuals might experience negative emotions, due to a high salient influence of the a-process, but afterward the emotional response is always positive because only the b-process remains. The concept of flow (Csikszentmihalyi, 1975) or phenomena such as the 'runners high' might be reflected through the b-process during exercise and mark the threshold where positive emotions occur. However, the a-process might include interoceptive signals which rise as the intensity increases whereas the b-process is charged with cognitive signals which diminish with growing intensity in favor of the first process, which is similar to the dual mode concept (Ekkekakis, 2003, 2009). Another explanation for positive emotions due to the influence of the b-process might be a feeling of relief and alleviation accompanied by biochemical processes inducing regeneration (Hatfield and Landers, 1986). Due to this relationship, positive emotions vanish whilst exercise intensity increases and will return immediately upon exercise cessation explaining the 'feel-better-effect' commonly mentioned by participants and people in general (Morgan, 1985). In other words, some individuals may not initially enjoy the activity itself but seek the positive emotions afterward. Statements among those interviewed supported these notions. However, in their review, Rhodes and Kates (2015) did not find any evidence, that post-exercise emotional experience influenced future exercise behavior. Either a lack of sensitivity and power of the method, different mechanics between emotional experience during and after exercise, aforementioned relationships with other facilitators or habitual issues such as the overall exercise experience which might attenuate current emotional influences cause this contrariness which must be clarified through future research.

Relating to the strong difference in terms of sex, references to a higher intensity and especially to exceeding physical limits and pushing oneself hard were noticeably common amongst men. According to the opponent-process model (Solomon, 1980, 1991), men might have a higher resistance to the a-process or potent factors like PC (category 1) boosting the b-process, whilst women do not. Reinforced by a weaker fitness level, they perceive exercise as more strenuous and less pleasant and may avoid higher intensity exercise (Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 1999; Ekkekakis and Lind, 2006).

The difference in terms of sport type is small. While participants in individual recreational sports could decide autonomously, those people in a team or group must adapt to the collective intensity expected-this normally results in a decrease of positive valence (Dishman et al., 1994; Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 1999; Vazou-Ekkekakis and Ekkekakis, 2009) as well as it being due to supra-threshold intensities (Ekkekakis et al., 2011). However, the slightly higher frequency in positive emotion-related statements of team-sports participants suggests that team-dynamics as well as providing a distraction attenuate the interoceptive signals that improve the resistance to the a-process, raise the threshold and reinforce the b-process during exercise and later on as well.

The age groups show a strong decline in positive emotions related to exercise intensity. A transition from interoceptive dominance at a younger age to cognitive dominance can be expected. According to the opponent-process model (R. L. Solomon, 1980, 1991), a higher resistance to the a-process or a higher sensitivity to the b-process and lower self-awareness at a younger age might reflect the urge to move and the need for vigorous exercise. An inverted relationship at an older age with higher maturity induces avoidance to strenuous exercise not only because of health issues, restrictions, and ailments but actually increased rationalizing results in the motivation to do exercise for other reasons. As one ages the threshold for desired high intensity exercise seems to weaken which is reinforced by a decreasing fitness level influencing the overall exercise experience (Ekkekakis et al., 2005).

Self Determination Theory

According to the self determination theory (Deci and Ryan, 2010) humans have three psychological needs which are essential for intrinsic motivation to adopt and adhere behavior (Kwasnicka et al., 2016) or an activity in particular: the need for competence, relatedness, and autonomy. Although the theory is focused on intrinsic and extrinsic motivation and this study is focused on facilitators of positive emotions, the similarities are striking. The perception of competence and affiliation plays an important role to elicit positive emotions through satisfaction of these basic needs. This leads to the assumption, that positive emotions and intrinsic motivation are related constructs. Furthermore it is not surprising that the need for autonomy was not as strong as the other two among the interviews since all participants were voluntary involved in recreational sports in their leisure time and autonomy was naturally present. Nevertheless there are some characteristics of autonomy in common with NE, such as self-control or the ability to choose, e.g., skiing or sailing a self-chosen course or running at one's own desired pace. Additionally NE is described as contrast to the repetition

of daily routine which contains commitments and limited autonomy. However, when this is restricted due to a forced interruption (e.g., such as injuries or appointments) this negate any positive emotions. The selective coding process revealed that even a high level of perception of competence or relatedness seemed to both facilitate positive emotions even more if this perception was further increased, e.g., one is performing well and later on is victorious or teammates become close friends. In contrast references to autonomy were more common when it was threatened which indicates, that in this case it is a much stronger facilitator for negative emotions. However, as an avenue for future work the different function of negative emotions (e.g., survival, avoid harm) and positive emotions (e.g., adaptation, extend resources) require separate attention since negative emotions influence behavior in a different way (Cohn and Fredrickson, 2006).

Implications

This study is a novel and perhaps promising approach to illuminate facilitators of positive emotions to explain exercise maintenance. Firstly, these findings encourage continuation of practical application studies to advance the knowledge about potential facilitators of emotional responses to exercise. Secondly, based on these results, interventions could be developed which enhance the emotional response during exercise by manipulating these four facilitators (e.g., due to a corresponding design or instructor behavior). Thirdly, recommendations for the design and evaluation of exercise programs can be made in so far as to reduce the drop-out rate and to increase commitment and adherence to sport. In an experimental study, Jekauc (2015) could show that emotions could be manipulated to increase adherence in exercise. However, further quantitative studies are needed to explicitly test the relevance of the factors discovered here.

Strength and Limitations

This study has some strengths and limitations. For the best approach to the emotional dimension, Dishman (1994) and Rhodes et al. (2009) proposed a qualitative and therefore inductive design because qualitative methods meant having a higher capability to illuminate the different sources of enjoyment by including a broad spectrum of influences as expected in the sporting environment (Scanlan and Simons, 1992). Also the value of information is much higher if participants are able to express their feelings with their own words. They might reveal factors which might otherwise be missed. The semi structure interview guide guaranteed a uniform approach. For a qualitative study, it has quite a large sample of 24 participants which is heterogeneous as sex, age, and type of sport are systematically varied. Furthermore the analysis via Grounded Theory ensured systematical categorization.

However, the sample is not large enough to be a representative sample. Despite a progressive but sometimes deficient differentiation of constructs and convergence of several theories, terms in the literature are still used inconsistently which hinders the ability to compare. Presented findings were drawn from recreational sport and exercise and might not count for specific aspects such as competitive sport or for a broader remit such as physical activity.

CONCLUSION

In this study, four facilitators of positive emotions during exercise and recreational sport were identified: *PC*, *PSI*, *NE*, and *PPE*. These results could provide the starting point for the development of interventions aiming at the promotion of positive emotional states in sport in order to increase maintenance and adherence to sport and exercise. Future steps will be to design

REFERENCES

- Amireault, S., Godin, G., and Vézina-Im, L.-A. (2013). Determinants of physical activity maintenance: a systematic review and meta-analyses. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 7, 55–91. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2012.701060
- Annesi, J. (2003). Effects of a cognitive behavioral treatment package on exercise attendance and drop out in fitness centers. *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 3, 1–16. doi: 10.1080/17461390300073206
- Baumeister, R. F., and Leary, M. R. (1995). The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychol. Bull.* 117, 497–529. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497
- Biddle, S. J., Brehm, W., Verheijden, M., and Hopman-Rock, M. (2012). Population physical activity behaviour change: a review for the European College of Sport Science. *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 12, 367–383. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2011. 635700
- Biddle, S. J., and Mutrie, N. (2008). Psychology of Physical Activity: Determinants, Well-Being and Interventions. Oxon: Routledge.
- Buckworth, J., Dishman, R. K., O'Connor, P. J., and Tomporowski, P. D. (2013). *Exercise Psychology*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., and Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep.* 100, 126–131.
- Clark, M. S. (1984). Record keeping in two types of relationships. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 47, 549–557. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.47.3.549
- Cohn, M. A., and Fredrickson, B. L. (2006). Beyond the moment, beyond the self: shared ground between selective investment theory and the broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *Psychol. Inq.* 17, 39–44.
- Coon, C. S. (1946). The universality of natural groupings in human societies. *J. Educ. Sociol.* 20, 163–168. doi: 10.2307/2263780
- Cross, C. P., Cyrenne, D.-L. M., and Brown, G. R. (2013). Sex differences in sensation-seeking: a meta-analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 3:2486. doi: 10.1038/srep 02486
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1975). Beyond Boredom and Anxiety. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychol. Ing.* 11, 227–268. doi: 10.1207/S15327965PLI1104_01
- Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2010). *Self-Determination*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Online Library.
- Dishman, R. K. (1994). Advances in Exercise Adherence. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Dishman, R. K., and Buckworth, J. (1996). Increasing physical activity: a quantitative synthesis. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 28, 706–719. doi: 10.1097/ 00005768-199606000-00010
- Dishman, R. K., Farquhar, R. P., and Cureton, K. J. (1994). Responses to preferred intensities of exertion in men differing in activity levels. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 26, 783–790. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199406000-0 0019
- Ekkekakis, P. (2003). Pleasure and displeasure from the body: perspectives from exercise. *Cogn. Emot.* 17, 213–239. doi: 10.1080/026999303 02292

intervention studies according to the findings of this study and to test their effectiveness in experimental studies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BW is the main author of the submitted article and responsible for the overall conception and design of this manuscript. He is also responsible for the data collection, analysis, and interpretation. DJ is the second author and contributed to the design of the study, he was involved in the interpretation and provided edits to the paper. Both authors read and approved the final manuscript.

- Ekkekakis, P. (2009). The dual-mode theory of affective responses to exercise in metatheoretical context: I. Initial impetus, basic postulates, and philosophical framework. *Int. Rev. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 2, 73–94. doi: 10.1080/ 17509840802705920
- Ekkekakis, P. (2012). "The measurement of affect, mood, and emotion in exercise psychology," in *Measurement in Sport and Exercise Psychology*, eds G. Tenenbaum, R. C. Eklund, and A. Kamata (Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics), 321–332.
- Ekkekakis, P., Hall, E. E., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2005). Variation and homogeneity in affective responses to physical activity of varying intensities: an alternative perspective on dose-response based on evolutionary considerations. *J. Sports Sci.* 23, 477–500. doi: 10.1080/02640410400021492
- Ekkekakis, P., Hall, E. E., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2008). The relationship between exercise intensity and affective responses demystified: to crack the 40-year-old nut, replace the 40-year-old nutcracker! Ann. Behav. Med. 35, 136–149. doi: 10.1007/s12160-008-9025-z
- Ekkekakis, P., Hall, E. E., VanLanduyt, L. M., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2000). Walking in (affective) circles: can short walks enhance affect? J. Behav. Med. 23, 245–275. doi: 10.1023/A:1005558025163
- Ekkekakis, P., and Lind, E. (2006). Exercise does not feel the same when you are overweight: the impact of self-selected and imposed intensity on affect and exertion. *Int. J. Obes. (Lond.)* 30, 652–660. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.08 03052
- Ekkekakis, P., Parfitt, G., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2011). The pleasure and displeasure people feel when they exercise at different intensities. *Sports Med.* 41, 641–671. doi: 10.2165/11590680-00000000-00000
- Ekkekakis, P., and Petruzzello, S. J. (1999). Acute aerobic exercise and affect. Sports Med. 28, 337–347. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199928050-0 0005
- Ekkekakis, P., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2000). Analysis of the affect measurement conundrum in exercise psychology: I. Fundamental issues. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 1, 71–88. doi: 10.1016/S1469-0292(00)00010-8
- Eurobarometer, S. (2014). Sport and Physical Activity. Brussels: TNS Opinion & Social.
- Fillingim, R. B., Roth, D. L., and Haley, W. E. (1989). The effects of distraction on the perception of exercise-induced symptoms. J. Psychosom. Res. 33, 241–248. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(89)90052-4
- Goode, K. T., and Roth, D. L. (1993). Factor analysis of cognitions during running: association with mood change. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 15, 375–389. doi: 10.1123/jsep.15.4.375
- Hall, E. E., Ekkekakis, P., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2002). The affective beneficence of vigorous exercise revisited. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 7, 47–66. doi: 10.1348/135910702169358
- Harter, S. (1978). Effectance motivation reconsidered. Toward a developmental model. *Hum. Dev.* 21, 34–64. doi: 10.1159/000271574
- Hatfield, B., and Landers, D. (1986). Psychophysiology in exercise and sport research: an overview. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 15, 351–387. doi: 10.1249/ 00003677-198700150-00014
- Jekauc, D. (2015). Enjoyment during exercise mediates the effects of an intervention on exercise adherence. *Psychology* 6, 48–54. doi: 10.4236/ psych.2015.61005

- Jekauc, D., Reimers, A. K., Wagner, M. O., and Woll, A. (2012). Prevalence and socio-demographic correlates of the compliance with the physical activity guidelines in children and adolescents in Germany. *BMC Public Health* 12:714. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-714
- Jekauc, D., Völkle, M., Wagner, M. O., Mess, F., Reiner, M., and Renner, B. (2015). Prediction of attendance at fitness center: a comparison between the theory of planned behavior, the social cognitive theory, and the physical activity maintenance theory. *Front. Psychol.* 6:121. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015. 00121
- Krug, S., Jordan, S., Mensink, G., Müters, S., Finger, J., and Lampert, T. (2013). Körperliche Aktivität. Bundesgesundheitsblatt-Gesundheitsforschung-Gesundheitsschutz 56, 765–771. doi: 10.1007/s00103-012-1 661-6
- Kwasnicka, D., Dombrowski, S. U., White, M., and Sniehotta, F. (2016). Theoretical explanations for maintenance of behaviour change: a systematic review of behaviour theories. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 10, 277–296. doi: 10.1080/ 17437199.2016.1151372
- Lavigne, G. L., Vallerand, R. J., and Crevier-Braud, L. (2011). The fundamental need to belong: on the distinction between growth and deficit-reduction orientations. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 37, 1185–1201. doi: 10.1177/01461672114 05995
- Lewin, K. (1951). Field Theory in Social Science. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Maslow, A. (1968). Toward a Psychology of Being. New York, NY: John.
- McAuley, E., Morris, K. S., Motl, R. W., Hu, L., Konopack, J. F., and Elavsky, S. (2007). Long-term follow-up of physical activity behavior in older adults. *Health Psychol.* 26, 375–380. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.26.3.375
- McCarthy, P. J. (2011). Positive emotion in sport performance: current status and future directions. Int. Rev. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 4, 50–69. doi: 10.1080/1750984X.2011.560955
- Mensink, G. (2003). Bundes-Gesundheitssurvey: Körperliche Aktivität. Berlin: Robert Koch-Institut.
- Morgan, W. P. (1985). Affective beneficence of vigorous physical activity. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 17, 94–100. doi: 10.1249/00005768-19850200 0-00015
- Mujika, I., and Padilla, S. (2000a). Detraining: loss of training-induced physiological and performance adaptations. Part I. Sports Med. 30, 79–87. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200030020-00002
- Mujika, I., and Padilla, S. (2000b). Detraining: loss of training-induced physiological and performance adaptations. Part II. Sports Med. 30, 145–154. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200030030-00001
- Paffenbarger, R. S. Jr., Hyde, R. T., Wing, A. L., Lee, I.-M., Jung, D. L., and Kampert, J. B. (1993). The association of changes in physical-activity level and other lifestyle characteristics with mortality among men. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 328, 538–545. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199302253280804
- Reed, J., and Ones, D. S. (2006). The effect of acute aerobic exercise on positive activated affect: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 7, 477–514. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2005.11.003
- Reiner, M., Niermann, C., Jekauc, D., and Woll, A. (2013). Long-term health benefits of physical activity–a systematic review of longitudinal studies. *BMC Public Health* 13:813. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-813
- Rhodes, R. E., Fiala, B., and Conner, M. (2009). A review and meta-analysis of affective judgments and physical activity in adult populations. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 180–204. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9147-y
- Rhodes, R. E., and Kates, A. (2015). Can the affective response to exercise predict future motives and physical activity behavior? A systematic review of published evidence. Ann. Behav. Med. 49, 715–731. doi: 10.1007/s12160-015-9 704-5
- Rhodes, R. E., and Pfaeffli, L. A. (2010). Mediators review mediators of physical activity behaviour change among adult non-clinical populations: a review update. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 7:37. doi: 10.1186/1479-586 8-7-37
- Russell, J. A. (2003). Core affect and the psychological construction of emotion. *Psychol. Rev.* 110, 145–172. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.110. 1.145
- Russell, J. A., and Barrett, L. F. (1999). Core affect, prototypical emotional episodes, and other things called emotion: dissecting the elephant. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 76, 805–819. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.76.5.805

- Russell, J. A., and Feldman Barrett, L. (2009). "Core affect," in *The Oxford Companion to Emotion and the Affective Sciences*, eds D. Sanders and K. Scherer (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 104.
- Rütten, A., Abu-Omar, L. T., and Ziese, T. (2005). Gesundheitsberichterstattung des Bundes – Körperliche Aktivität, Vol. 26. Berlin: Robert-Koch-Institut (RKI).
- Scanlan, T. K., Carpenter, P. J., Schmidt, G. W., Simons, J. P., and Keeler, B. (1993). An introduction to the sport commitment model. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 15, 1–15. doi: 10.1123/jsep.15.1.1
- Scanlan, T. K., and Lewthwaite, R. (1986). Social psychological aspects of competition for male youth sport participants: IV. Predictors of enjoyment. J. Sport Psychol. 8, 25–35. doi: 10.1123/jsp.8.1.25
- Scanlan, T. K., and Simons, J. (1992). "The construct of sport enjoyment," in Motivation in Sport and Exercise, ed. G. C. Roberts (Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics), 199–215.
- Schwarzer, R., Schüz, B., Ziegelmann, J. P., Lippke, S., Luszczynska, A., and Scholz, U. (2007). Adoption and maintenance of four health behaviors: theoryguided longitudinal studies on dental flossing, seat belt use, dietary behavior, and physical activity. Ann. Behav. Med. 33, 156–166. doi: 10.1007/BF028 79897
- Selting, M., Auer, P., Barth-Weingarten, D., Bergmann, J. R., Bergmann, P., Birkner, K., et al. (2009). Gesprächsanalytisches transkriptionssystem 2 (GAT 2). Gesprächsforschung 10, 353–402.
- Solomon, P., Leiderman, P. H., Mendelson, J., and Wexler, D. (1957). Sensory deprivation: a review. Am. J. Psychiatry 114, 357–363. doi: 10.1176/ajp.114. 4.357
- Solomon, R. L. (1980). The opponent-process theory of acquired motivation: the costs of pleasure and the benefits of pain. Am. Psychol. 35, 691–712. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.35.8.691
- Solomon, R. L. (1991). "Acquired motivation and affective opponent-processes," in *Neurobiology of Learning, Emotion, and Affect*, ed. J. Madden (New York, NY: Raven), 307–347.
- Steinberg, L., Albert, D., Cauffman, E., Banich, M., Graham, S., and Woolard, J. (2008). Age differences in sensation seeking and impulsivity as indexed by behavior and self-report: evidence for a dual systems model. *Dev. Psychol.* 44, 1764–1778. doi: 10.1037/a0012955
- Stenseng, F., Forest, J., and Curran, T. (2015). Positive emotions in recreational sport activities: the role of passion and belongingness. J. Happiness Stud. 16, 1117–1129. doi: 10.1007/s10902-014-9547-y
- Strauss, A., and Corbin, J. (1996). Grundlagen Qualitativer Sozialforschung. Weinheim: Psychologie Verlagsunion.
- Tong, A., Sainsbury, P., and Craig, J. (2007). Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *Int. J. Qual. Health Care* 19, 349–357. doi: 10.1093/intqhc/ mzm042
- Tuson, K. M., and Sinyor, D. (1993). "On the affective benefits of acute aerobic exercise: taking stock after twenty years of research," in *Exercise Psychology: The Influence of Physical Exercise on Psychological Processes*, ed. P. Seraganian (New York, NY: Wiley), 80–121.
- van Landuyt, L., Ekkekakis, P., Hall, E., and Petruzzello, S. (2000). Throwing the mountains into the lakes: on the perils of nomothetic conceptions of the exercise-affect relationship. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 22, 208–234. doi: 10.1123/jsep.22.3.208
- van Stralen, M. M., De Vries, H., Mudde, A. N., Bolman, C., and Lechner, L. (2009). Determinants of initiation and maintenance of physical activity among older adults: a literature review. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 3, 147–207. doi: 10.1080/17437190903229462
- Vazou-Ekkekakis, S., and Ekkekakis, P. (2009). Affective consequences of imposing the intensity of physical activity: does the loss of perceived autonomy matter. *Hell J. Psychol.* 6, 125–144.
- Weiss, M. R., and Raedeke, T. D. (2004). Developmental Sport and Exercise Psychology: Research Status on Youth and Directions Toward a Lifespan Perspective. Morgantown, WV: Fitness Information Technology.
- White, R. W. (1959). Motivation reconsidered: the concept of competence. *Psychol. Rev.* 66, 297–333. doi: 10.1037/h0040934
- Williams, D. M. (2008). Exercise, affect, and adherence: an integrated model and a case for self-paced exercise. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 30, 471–496. doi: 10.1123/jsep.30.5.471

- World Health Organization [WHO] (2010). *Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Yeung, R. R. (1996). The acute effects of exercise on mood state. J. Psychosom. Res. 40, 123–141. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(95)00554-4
- Zuckerman, M. (1979). Sensation Seeking: Beyond the Optimal Level of Arousal. Ultimo, NSW: Halsted Press.
- Zuckerman, M., Eysenck, S. B., and Eysenck, H. J. (1978). Sensation seeking in England and America: cross-cultural, age, and sex comparisons. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 46, 139–149. doi: 10.1037/0022-006x.46. 1.139

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Wienke and Jekauc. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Exercise Experiences and Changes in Affective Attitude: Direct and Indirect Effects of *In Situ* Measurements of Experiences

Gorden Sudeck¹*, Julia Schmid² and Achim Conzelmann²

¹ Institute of Sport Science, University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, ² Institute of Sport Science, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

Objectives: The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between exercise experiences (perceptions of competence, perceived exertion, acute affective responses to exercise) and affective attitudes toward exercise. This relationship was analyzed in a non-laboratory setting during a 13-weeks exercise program.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Pamela Rackow, University of Zurich, Switzerland Nadine Ungar, Heidelberg University, Germany Steffen Schmidt, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie, Germany

*Correspondence: Gorden Sudeck gorden.sudeck@uni-tuebingen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 16 September 2015 Accepted: 31 May 2016 Published: 16 June 2016

Citation:

Sudeck G, Schmid J and Conzelmann A (2016) Exercise Experiences and Changes in Affective Attitude: Direct and Indirect Effects of In Situ Measurements of Experiences. Front. Psychol. 7:900. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00900 **Materials and Methods:** 56 women and 49 men (aged 35–65 years; $M_{age} = 50.0$ years; SD = 8.2 years) took part in the longitudinal study. Affective responses to exercise (affective valence, positive activation, calmness) as well as perceptions of competence and perceived exertion were measured at the beginning, during, and end of three exercise sessions within the 13-weeks exercise program. Affective attitude toward exercise were measured before and at the end of the exercise program. A two-level path analysis was conducted. The direct and indirect effects of exercise experiences on changes in affective attitude were analyzed on the between-person level: firstly, it was tested whether perceptions of competence and perceived exertion indirectly relate to changes in affective attitude. Secondly, it was assessed whether perceptions of competence and perceived exertion indirectly relate to changes in affective response during exercise.

Results and Conclusion: At the between-person level, a direct effect on changes in affective attitude was found for perceptions of competence ($\beta = 0.24$, p < 0.05). The model revealed one significant indirect pathway between perceived exertion and changes in affective attitude via positive activation: on average, the less strenuous people perceive physical exercise to be, the more awake they will feel during exercise ($\beta = -0.57$, p < 0.05). Those people with higher average levels of positive activation during exercise exhibit more improvements in affective attitudes toward exercise from the beginning to the end of the 13-weeks exercise program ($\beta = 0.24$, p < 0.05).

Main study results have revealed that *in situ* experiences predicted changes in affective attitude during multi-week exercise programs. These relevant *in situ* experiences encompass cognitive factors, the sensation of interoceptive cues, and affective responses to exercise. Considering the predictive role of affective attitudes for exercise behavior, these findings suggest that exercise interventions should put greater emphasis on specific exercise experiences.

Keywords: physical exercise, affective response, perceptions of competence, perceived exertion, affective attitudes toward exercise

INTRODUCTION

The positive effect of physical exercise on health has already been demonstrated (Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report, 2008). Nevertheless, surveys among the general population show that the majority of adults in Western industrialized countries do not exercise enough (European Commission, 2014). Encouraging participation in exercise is therefore an important assignment for society and policymakers.

In order to create effective interventions, it is crucial to identify factors and mechanisms associated with the initiation and maintenance of physical exercise behavior (e.g., Michie and Abraham, 2004; Biddle and Fuchs, 2009). Several psychological theories have been developed that feature prominently in explaining health behavior [e.g., social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1997); theory of planned behavior (Ajzen, 1988); health action process approach (Schwarzer, 2008)]. In recent years, these theories have been advanced in the domain of physical exercise.

Particularly, research has placed a stronger focus on the role of affective processes in initiating and maintaining regular physical exercise. For example, existing studies based on the theory of planned behavior have for the most part predicted exercise behavior via instrumental attitudes (e.g., cognitive convictions about the benefits of physical exercise, Lawton et al., 2009). More recent work, however, has shown that affective attitudes toward exercise (i.e., whether thinking about doing physical exercise makes one feel comfortable or uncomfortable) is at least as successful at explaining exercise behavior (e.g., Lowe et al., 2002; Brand, 2006; Kiviniemi et al., 2007). Further evidence for the particular relevance of affective associations to exercise could be drawn from recent studies that differentiate between distal and proximal outcome expectancies. Outcome expectancies are closely related to affective attitudes toward exercise when they are proximal to the behavior itself and refer to affective states (e.g., "When I exercise, then I will feel better"). These proximal outcome expectancies predict exercise intention and behavior to a greater degree than distal outcome expectancies like future health benefits (Gellert et al., 2012). Furthermore, the fulfillment of proximal outcome expectancies (e.g., in terms of emotional reward) provides a crucial mechanism for long-term exercise change as it supports volitional effort in goal-directed behavior (Klusmann et al., 2016).

Moreover, recent research indicates that exercise experiences need to be better integrated with advancements in exercise behavior theories. Psychological and physical experiences appear to be especially relevant for the longer-term maintenance of exercise behavior (Rothman, 2000). There is some initial empirical support that positive exercise experiences influence subsequent affective outcome expectancies (Loehr et al., 2014) or satisfaction with the exercise behavior (Fleig et al., 2011; Baldwin et al., 2013).

One of the few models that integrate both exercise experiences and (affective) attitudes is the transdisciplinary framework model put forward by Bryan et al. (2011). They assume that exercise experiences, such as perceived exertion or changes in affect, influence attitudes, which in turn predict exercise behavior. However, the model is heuristic in nature. Experiences, for instance, are aggregated into a single category, and possible relationships between different experiences are not put into concrete terms. Furthermore, it is unclear *which* exercise experiences alter affective attitudes. This represents the starting point for this paper, which aims to investigate the mechanisms operating between exercise experiences and changes in affective attitude.

Changes in Affective Attitude: Potential Mechanisms

Existing intervention studies on changes in affective attitude toward physical exercise support the assumption that affective attitudes are influenced by one's personal experiences with exercise (Rhodes et al., 2009). Thus, Williams (2008) assumed that specific exercise experiences influence affective responses to physical exercise, and these in turn alter affective attitudes and favor longer-term exercise adherence (see Figure 1, indirect effect). On the one hand, Williams (2008) draws on dual mode theory (e.g., Ekkekakis and Acevedo, 2006), which explains different affective responses to exercise activities, firstly in terms of cognitive aspects. One cognitive factor often examined in this context are perceptions of competence (e.g., Rose and Parfitt, 2007). Positive perceptions of competence arise when a (motoric) task can be performed using one's own skills and abilities. A positive connection between this and affective responses has been repeatedly demonstrated (e.g., Rose and Parfitt, 2012). Secondly, dual mode theory explains different affective responses to exercise activities in terms of interoceptive cues. Interoceptive cues, which may be triggered by physical exercise, include such sensations as having difficulty breathing or increased body temperature. A global indicator for experiencing interoceptive cues is perceived exertion. This again is defined as "a configuration of sensations: strain, aches and fatigue involving the muscles and the cardiovascular and pulmonary systems during exercise" (Groslambert and Mahon, 2006, p. 912). There is empirical evidence which confirms that perceived exertion is negatively connected to affective responses to physical exercise (e.g., Williams et al., 2008; Barnett, 2013). On the other hand, Williams also drew on hedonistic theories, which state that human beings are programed by evolution to seek pleasure and avoid pain (Kahnemann, 1999). Experiencing pleasure while exercising forges the corresponding affective associations, which in turn reinforce the repetition of exercise behavior.

Aside from an indirect link between exercise experiences and changes in affective attitude, a direct connection is also feasible. For example, Vlachopoulos and Michailidou (2006) were able to show that perceived competence is linked to affective attitudes (see **Figure 1**, direct effect). This indicates a direct relationship between the cognitive appraisal of one's own abilities and affective attitudes toward exercise. However, we did not find studies on the connection between perceived exertion and changes in affective attitude during exercise activities.



Affective Responses to Exercise in the Behavior Change Research

Affective responses to exercise are connected to motivation and exercise behavior (e.g., Kwan and Bryan, 2010; Williams et al., 2012). When studying these relationships, three conceptual and methodological issues need to be considered:

- (1) The dimensional approach of basic affect: the conceptualization and measurement of affective responses to exercise are either based on a categorical or a dimensional approach. According to a categorical approach affective states are organized into distinct categories. Researchers often use several distinct categories, such as depression, tension, confusion, anger, fatigue, vigor, or anxiety. According to a dimensional approach affective states are systematically interrelated. Therefore, they can be described using only a few basic affect dimensions. There is some empirical support for the three dimensions affective valence (e.g., discontent – content), positive activation (e.g., tired – awake) and calmness (e.g., tense - relaxed; Schimmack and Grob, 2000). In the present study affective response is examined from a dimensional approach. Since it is unclear, which specific affective state is the most important for physical exercise motivation, a broad perspective is more likely "to capture the essence of exercise-induced affect" (Gauvin and Brawley, 1993, p. 152). An additional advantage of the dimensional approach is that affective states can be measured more efficiently. The measurement of a few basic dimensions using only a few reliable items per dimension is particularly suitable for study designs with frequently repeated measurements (Ekkekakis, 2008).
- (2) Time of affect measurement: affective responses vary depending on the time at which affect is measured (Ekkekakis et al., 2011). Affective responses during physical exercise display a greater inter-individual variability than those occurring afterward. If affective states are only determined before and after exercise, there is the danger that one will actually measure the response to finishing the activity, which is usually positive (Hall et al., 2002; Backhouse et al., 2007).

Possibly, it is this high inter-individual variability during exercise which is particularly significant for explaining the various motivations for exercising (Kwan and Bryan, 2010).

(3) Intra-individual differences in affective responses to exercise: in the behavior change research, the majority of studies measure affective responses to exercising during a single exercise session (Kwan and Bryan, 2010; Williams et al., 2012). Thus, intra-individual consistency in affective responses is rarely taken into account. A recent study with overweight and obese women demonstrated that pre-topost-exercise changes in affect within an individual varied across three identical, moderate-intensity treadmill exercise sessions (ICCs = 0.02-0.60, Unick et al., 2015). In contrast, affective responses during exercise were more consistent (ICC = 0.72), especially when controlling for pre-exercise scores (ICC = 0.83).

In sum, current research indicates that it is important to assess affective responses especially *during* exercise. To obtain reliable information about affective responses to exercise, they should be measured more than once. Additionally, existing studies often examined physical exercises in controlled laboratory conditions. Thus, whether affective responses to exercise in a laboratory setting are representative of a participant's real-world affective response remain unclear (Liao et al., 2015).

Aims and Rationale of the Present Study

The aim of the present study is to examine the relationship between exercise experiences and changes in affective attitude (see **Figure 1**). In the category of experiences, perceptions of competence and perceived exertion are examined, as well as affective responses to physical exercise. Following the example of Williams (2008), we assume that the perceptions of competence (positively) and perceived exertion (negatively) impact affective attitudes as partially mediated via affective responses to exercise. This indirect path of operation is compared with a direct path of operation, in which it is evaluated whether perceptions of competence and perceived exertion directly predict changes in affective attitude. Compared to the current state of the research, the present study stands out due to the following extensions:

- (1) Exercise experiences are measured *in situ* during exercising. In previous studies, exercise experiences were measured retrospectively—for example, concerning the period of the last few weeks (Fleig et al., 2011; Parschau et al., 2013). Moreover, in some diary studies exercise experiences were recorded on a weekly basis (Loehr et al., 2014) or on a daily basis (Baldwin et al., 2013). The latter studies revealed that it is especially worthwhile to assess exercise experiences as close as possible to the actual activities in order to gain insights into their specific qualities.
- (2) Exercise experiences are measured in a non-laboratory setting. In doing so, variables can be measured closer to usual, naturalistic conditions than it is done in other current studies with controlled laboratory conditions.
- (3) The three basic affective dimensions—affective valence, positive activation, and calmness—are simultaneously integrated into our analysis. Thereby, our study helps clarify which affective dimensions have an effect on affective attitudes toward exercise.
- (4) As affective responses to exercise within an individual vary across different exercise sessions (Unick et al., 2015), observations of exercise experiences in multiple exercise sessions provide a reliable assessment of exercise experiences in the present study. In order to consider personal characteristics of the participants, we included physical fitness as control variable for affective responses during exercising (Ekkekakis et al., 2011).
- (5) Affective attitudes are measured twice, 13 weeks apart, and are modeled as a latent change (LC) variable in the analyses (Reuter et al., 2010). This allows us to adequately model the dynamics of this connection: exercise experiences should be associated with *medium-term change* in affective attitude.

As previously stated, we test the assumptions made by Williams (2008) and, therefore, compare indirect and direct associations between inter-individual differences in exercise experiences and changes in affective attitude. However, repeated measurements of exercise experiences make it possible to consider both inter-individual (between-person) variations and intra-individual (within-person) variations in the features under study. Therefore, we chose a multi-level approach and applied a two-level path analysis. The multi-level approach is of particular relevance for the first part of the indirect effects under study (see Figure 1). The links between exercise experiences and affective responses to exercise can have different meanings depending on whether between-person variations or within-person variations are being analyzed (e.g., Hamaker, 2012). Considering, for example, a negative relationship between perceived exertion and affective responses to exercise on the between-person level would mean that persons who experience on average a higher level of perceived exertion when exercising would have less positive affective responses. In contrast, the same negative relationship on the within-person level would mean that a given individual in different exercise sessions would exhibit a more

negative affective response if the activity were perceived as being more strenuous. If the decomposition of between-person effects and within-person effects were ignored and only betweenperson effects were considered, an improper generalization of between-person effects could occur. The between-person relationship would be inappropriately generalized to intraindividual relationships between perceived exertion and affective valence. Against this background, it is important to note that the primary focus of the present study is on inter-individual differences in exercise experiences and changes in affective attitude (between-person effects). However, considering both within-person effects and between-person effects minimize the risk of possible misinterpretations of the results for the first part of the indirect pathway on the between-person level, which is of primary interest for the confirmatory hypotheses of the present study.

Aside from this confirmatory test of the hypotheses, this study also includes explorative parts. For instance, no *a priori* assumptions were made as to *which* of the three affective dimensions is connected to perceptions of competence and perceived exertion. Moreover, no assumptions were made about within-person associations between exercise experiences and affective responses to exercise due to the lack of previous studies that have examined within-person variations of exercise experiences during exercise. Finally, no assumptions were made about *which* of the three affective dimensions, has a direct effect on changes in affective attitude.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The present study is based on data from the research project "Which sport for whom?" This project was a quasi-experimental intervention study investigating the effectiveness of five newly created exercise programs as regards promoting subjective wellbeing and exercise behavior.

Participants

The sample consisted of academic and non-academic staff from a university in the German-speaking part of Switzerland. It comprised of 80 women and 53 men. Their average age was 49.5 years (SD = 8.3). Most were married (61%), and their highest level of education was a degree from a university or a university of applied science (65%). A survey based on a 7-days recall procedure (Mäder et al., 2006) revealed that, at the beginning of the study, 23% engaged in no exercise at all and 6% exercised for less than 1 h per week; 21% exercised for 1–2 h per week; 23% exercised for 2–4 h per week and 26% for more than 4 h. The objectively measured body mass index showed that 67% had normal body weight, whereas, 24% were overweight and 9% obese (see **Table 1**).

Instruments

Affective Attitudes toward Exercise

To measure affective attitudes toward exercise, we applied a questionnaire by Crites et al. (1994), whose Germanlanguage version was validated by Brand (2006). This instrument

TABLE 1 | Sample characteristics.

		Total sample (<i>n</i> = 133)		Reduced sample (<i>n</i> = 105)	
		n	%	n	%
Sex	Male	53	39.8	49	46.7
	Female	80	60.2	56	53.3
Marital status	Married	73	61.3	59	62.8
	Unmarried	27	22.7	20	21.2
	Divorced/separate	19	16.0	15	16.0
	Not available	14	_	11	_
Highest education	Professional honor	19	16.2	13	14.3
	College of professional Education and training	18	14.5	13	13.3
	University or university of applied science	80	64.5	66	67.3
	Other	6	4.8	5	5.1
	Not available	9	_	7	-
Exercise behavior	No exercise	30	23.4	24	23.8
	<1 h/week	8	6.3	7	6.9
	1–2 h/week	27	21.1	21	20.8
	2–4 h/week	30	23.4	23	22.8
	>4 h/week	33	25.8	26	25.7
	Not available	5	_	4	-
Body weight	Normal	73	67.0	57	67.1
	Overweight	26	23.9	22	25.9
	Obese	10	9.1	6	7.0
	Not available	24	_	20	_
Exercise programs	Active and recreated	20	15.2	16	15.4
	Reload and relax	26	19.7	18	17.3
	Together fit	13	9.8	13	12.5
	SPORT Varia	32	24.2	26	25.0
	Body and (e)motion	42	31.1	32	29.8
Age			= 49.5 = 8.3		= 50.0 = 8.2

comprises four items based on the phrase: "When I think about exercising, I feel..." Answers follow a semantic differential of values from 1 to 9. The answers to the four items are: "not relaxed" – "extremely relaxed" (AFF1); "not satisfied" – "extremely satisfied" (AFF2); "not happy" – "extremely happy" (AFF3); "not uncomfortable" – "extremely uncomfortable" (AFF4). This last item proved to have a comparatively low discriminatory power due to the double negative (pre-test: $r_{it} = 0.50$; posttest: $r_{it} = 0.50$) and was therefore removed from the scale. The internal consistency of the remaining three items was good in the existing sample (pre-test: $\alpha = 0.82$; post-test: $\alpha = 0.92$).

Affective Response to Exercise

Affective states were measured using Wilhelm and Schoebi's (2007) short, German-language scale for assessing the three basic dimensions affective valence, positive activation, and calmness (Schimmack and Grob, 2000). Validating studies have shown that these three bipolar dimensions can be reliably established by means of the corresponding two items (Wilhelm and Schoebi, 2007). Bipolar pairs of adjectives served as indicators to register affective valence (*"discontented"* –

"contented," "unwell" – "well"), calmness ("tense" – "relaxed," "agitated" – "calm") and positive activation ("tired" – "awake," "full of energy" – "without energy"). For each pair of adjectives, participants had to answer the question "At this moment, I am feeling..." on a seven-point scale ranging from 0 to 6. In our own sample, the inter-item correlations within the three dimensions were satisfactory to good (affective valence: $0.58 \le r \le 0.74$; calmness: $0.61 \le r \le 0.68$; positive activation: $0.59 \le r \le 0.76$).

Perceived Exertion

Ratings of perceived exertion were established with reference to a validated, German-language scale by Buskies and Boeckh-Behrens (2000). This instrument is a simplified version of Borg's (1982) scale for rating perceived exertion. The participants answered the question: "How exerting did you find the activity?" on a seven-point scale, with answers expressed in words [(1) "very light," (2) "light," (3) "rather light," (4) "moderate," (5) "somewhat hard," (6) "hard," (7) "very hard"]. Buskies and Boeckh-Behrens recommend this procedure with less experienced exercisers when preparatory exercises for answering a differentiated Borg-scale are not possible.

Perceptions of Competence

We introduced a single item to establish perceptions of competence. This item was phrased with reference to the sub dimension "challenge-skill balance" from the flow state scale (Jackson and Marsh, 1996). The question: "When you think about today's exercise session: what experience have you gained?" was to be answered using the statement: "The feeling of being competent enough to fulfill the demands of the exercise session" on a six-point rating scale (0 "not at all true" up to 5 "completely true").

Perceived Physical Fitness

The level of physical fitness was measured by subjective ratings. We applied a modified version of the subscale "physical fitness" from the adjective list for assessing the perceived physical state (PEPS; Kleinert, 2006; Schneider et al., 2010). Participants were asked to spontaneously judge to what extent they feel "strong," "fit," and "enduring." They had to answer on a six-point rating scale (0 "not at all" up to 5 "totally"). The internal consistency for this modified subscale was good ($0.82 \le \alpha \le 0.88$; see also Sudeck and Conzelmann, 2014). The mean score of the three items was used in the further analyses.

Procedures

In order to recruit the participants, letters were sent to all university employees by post or by e-mail. They were informed that the university sports department was going to offer its employees between the ages of 35–65 years five different new exercise programs.

In brief, the titles and contents of the exercise programs were:

- (a) Active and recreated: a combination of endurance and strength training without equipment; short sequence of active relaxation exercises at the end of a session (5–10 min).
- (b) Reload and relax: various fitness activities; separate relaxation period at the end of each session (15–20 min).
- (c) Together fit: health-oriented aerobic endurance and strength training combined with little games; sociable, playful setting.
- (d) SPORT Varia: a combination of sports games and endurance activities; sociable formats.
- (e) Body and (e)motion: dancing and rhythmic activities, musicoriented fitness training.

If an employee was interested, they filled in a written application to attend one of the exercise programs and agreed to participate in the study, after being informed about its goals and procedure in line with the Declaration of Helsinki. The ethics commission of the Faculty of Humanities of the University of Bern evaluated the study design and procedures as ethically unproblematic.

Affective attitudes toward exercise was assessed at the beginning (pre-test at month 1; see **Figure 2**) and at the end of the intervention period (post-test in month 4). To do this, we set up online questionnaires and sent the participants links by e-mail. A personal registration number enabled us to collate an individual's data pseudo-anonymously.

Program sessions were held once a week during a 13-weeks intervention period. Each session lasted 60 min. The first 40-50 min of the sessions were relatively similar in all programs. Physical exercises with a predominantly moderate to strenuous intensity were carried out and the exercises were guided and carried out in groups. For this reason, it is only the affective responses during these first 40-50 min that are of interest for the primary research question.¹ Affective states, perceived exertion, perceptions of competence, and the perceived fitness level were assessed in three out of the 13 exercise sessions. For these three sessions, all trainers were asked to realize typical sessions. Affective states were measured immediately before the exercise session and twice during the session (approximately between minutes 10 and 15, as well as between minutes 40 and 50). The perceived fitness level was assessed before the session. The perceived exertion was assessed twice during each exercise session. Since the regular course sessions ought to be only minimally interrupted out of respect for the course instructors and participants, we dispensed with collecting further survey content during the session. For this reason, perceptions of competence was measured only once at the end of the exercise session. These assessments were carried out using the software IzyBuilder 2.0 on a handheld computer (HP iPAQ114). In all three sessions, a trained student was present. He gave a hand signal to the participants when it was time to fill out the surveys and provided assistance in case of any problems with the handheld computers.

The study was carried out in two waves. Of the 133 subjects in total, 103 took part in one of the five exercise programs for the first time in wave one, and 30 in wave two. In order not to burden participants with immediate data collection, the handheld computer surveys took place at intervals of 2–4 weeks. For organizational reasons, it was not possible to carry out the three handheld computer surveys in wave one and two in the same course weeks (see **Figure 2**).

The following analyses are based on a reduced sample of 105 individuals (see **Table 1**). Twenty-three people were excluded from the calculations because no handheld survey data was available. Five more individuals were excluded as no online survey data was available. Comparing those participants who were included with those who were excluded from the data analyses revealed no relevant differences in terms of age, education level, BMI, past exercise behavior, or baseline scores on affective attitudes toward exercise (ps > 0.10). More women than men were excluded from the study (p < 0.05).

Data Analyses Preparatory Data Reduction

As described in Section "Procedures," two measurements for the affective responses during an exercise session were applied. The

¹It is important to note that the different types of exercises in the exercise programs are not a consideration in this work. With regard to the affective responses, we focused on physical exercises taking place in a natural, non-laboratory testing environment. Affective responses to techniques of relaxation are not taken into consideration. As such techniques of relaxation were systematically carried out at the end of the sessions in two out of the five programs, the affective states at the end of the sessions were not included in the analyses.



first approximately between minutes 10 and 15 and the second between minutes 40 and 50. At both measurement points during an exercise session, participants answered questions in respect of two items per affective dimensions. The retest-reliabilities of the two measurements of all affective dimensions within the same exercise session were satisfactory to good (affective valence: $0.62 \le r \le 0.75$; calmness: $0.60 \le r \le 0.69$; positive activation: $0.57 \le r \le 0.59$). For further analyses, we merged the four answers on items per affective dimension during the same exercise session.

We also had two measurements per exercise session for the perceived exertion. These two data items were then combined as well to provide the mean exertion per exercise session. The two perceived exertion scores' correlation during the exercises was satisfactorily strong (0.46 < r < 0.49).

Latent Change Scores

The change score for affective attitudes toward exercise (post-test-pre-test) was defined directly as latent variable (Geiser, 2010; Geiser et al., 2010).² LC models can be used to compute LC variables that represent the inter-individual differences in intra-individual changes. The advantage of LC models is that the assessment of change in a latent construct can be controlled for measurement errors (Steyer et al., 1997).

The change variable was checked for strong factorial invariance. Factorial invariance is considered to be strong, when not only the (unstandardized) factor loadings of the manifest indicators remain constant across the different measurement times, but also the intercepts of the manifest indicators (Widamann and Reise, 1997). Furthermore, the model was checked for indicator-specific effects. Indicator specificity is seen as a common variance of the measurement error of an indicator across the different measurements (Eid et al., 1999). If indicator-specific effects are not taken into account, models might be misspecified and parameter estimates biased (Reuter et al., 2010).

The LC model was calculated using Mplus 5.21 (Muthén and Muthén, 1998–2010) and applying a maximum likelihood estimator. Missing values for the indicators of affective attitudes (59 missing values, 9.3%) were estimated by means of the full information maximum likelihood (FIML) procedure (Little and Rubin, 2012), as implemented in Mplus. The factor scores for affective attitudes at pre-test as well as for the LC score (posttest–pre-test) were appended to the analysis data set. Thereby, the factor scores can be considered as observed variables in the main analyses.

Two-Level Path Analysis

A two-level path analysis was carried out using Mplus 5.21 and applying a robust maximum likelihood estimator. With this analytic procedure, the hierarchical structure in the data can be taken into consideration. In this way it is possible to split up the total variance into one test person's variance across the three sessions (within-person level) and the inter-individual variance (between-person level). On both model levels, all three affective dimensions were simultaneously taken into account. As the affect dimensions are known to be systematically interrelated (Schimmack and Grob, 2000; Wilhelm and Schoebi, 2007), correlations among these variables are included on both model levels at every given measurement point (pre-session, during session).

²A full presentation of the LC model can be found in the Supplementary material.

On the within-person level (level 1), we examined whether perceptions of competence and perceived exertion predict the intra-individual variance of affective responses across various exercise sessions. We controlled these effects for the pre-session values of the respective affective dimensions (autoregressive model), as well as for the situationally perceived fitness.

On the between-person level (level 2), we examined whether perceptions of competence and perceived exertion predict the inter-individual variation of affective responses during physical exercises. The focus was on general, cross-situational effects. The effects were then again controlled for the affective state prior to exercising, as well as for the perceived fitness. Based on already existing results (Sudeck and Conzelmann, 2014), we only tested if perceived fitness predict positive activation and affective valence during physical exercises. However, we did not examine whether perceived fitness predict calmness. All exogenous predictor variables were grand-mean centered.

We analyzed *the direct and indirect effects of exercise experiences on the changes in affective attitude* on the betweenperson level: firstly, it was tested whether perceptions of competence and the perceived exertion are directly related to changes in affective attitude. Secondly, we tested whether perceptions of competence and the perceived exertion are indirectly related to changes in affective attitude, i.e., imparted via the affective response during exercise. The critical significance level for path coefficients was set conventionally at $\alpha_{crit} = 0.05$ (two-tailed). In order to test mediator effects on the betweenperson level, we performed bias-corrected bootstrap analyses (MacKinnon et al., 2004). Using this method, confidence intervals were estimated for indirect effects. If a 95% confidence interval does not contain zero, the indirect effect is significant at the 0.05 level.

Prior to carrying-out of the multi-level analysis, it was checked whether the level-specific proportions of the variance favor the application of a multi-level analysis. Intra-class coefficients (ICCs) were calculated for those variables which had been collected several times before, during, or after the exercise sessions. The ICC describes the relation of between-person variance to total variance. The ICC may take a value between 0 and 1. High values indicate a substantial between-person variance and provide an argument in favor of a two-level path analysis (Muthén, 1989).

Figure 2 shows that due to absence some individuals were not able to participate in all handheld surveys in the exercise sessions. In total, the 105 participants of the reduced sample carried out 210 handheld surveys (80 in survey A, 68 in survey B, and 62 in survey C). These handheld surveys were filled out almost completely (see **Table 2**). Missing handheld survey data within the longitudinal data set were estimated again by means of the FIML procedure. In particular, data was imputed on those individuals not able to participate in all handheld surveys in the exercise sessions for reasons of absence. These missing observations were only replaced, however, where we had complete sets for both affective attitude data collections (pretest and post-test) for the individual concerned. Under these conditions, 61 handheld computer surveys were replaced based on the model (22.5% of 271 observations; 16.1% of the data points of the two-level path model). By imputing the missing observations, and raising the number of observations up to 271, it was possible to strengthen the power of the longitudinal analysis.³

The goodness of model fit was assessed through χ^2 tests, comparative fit indices (CFI) and root-mean-square errors of approximation (RMSEA). A good model fit is characterized by a low χ^2 value in relation to the degrees of freedom ($\chi^2/df \le 2$), as well as a high CFI ≥ 0.97 and a low RMSEA ≤ 0.05 . A model fit is considered to be still acceptable when it has a χ^2/df -ratio ≤ 3 , as well as a CFI ≥ 0.95 and an RMSEA ≤ 0.08 (Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003).

RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses Descriptive Results

Table 2 shows the descriptive values of the exercise experiences (without missing value imputation; 210 observations). All three affective dimensions showed an increase in their mean values from the pre-session measurements to the measurements during the session. The skewness and kurtosis for the affective state measurements ranged from -1 to +1 respectively, with a slight exception for positive activation during exercising. Consequently, the majority of indicators did not diverge from the normal distribution.

The perceived exertion came in with a mean value of M = 3.80 (SD = 1.09; *Minimum* = 1; *Maximum* = 6.5), indicating a moderate degree of exertion. The clear majority of 85% of the ratings were 'rather light' to 'somewhat hard' ($2.5 \leq \text{Perceived Exertion}_{\text{during}} \leq 5.5$). The mean values for perceptions of competence were rather high (M = 3.96; SD = 0.88; *Minimum* = 1; *Maximum* = 5). Neither the perceived exertion nor perceptions of competence displayed any problematical deviations from the normal distribution (see **Table 2**). The same applied to the perceived fitness.

Preparatory Analyses for the Two-Level Path Analysis The measuring properties of the LC score for affective attitudes toward exercise were good $[\chi^2(10) = 12.85;$ $p = 0.23; \chi^2/df = 1.29$, CFI = 0.993; RMSEA = 0.052]. The estimated intercept of the pre-test score was M = 6.10(SE = 0.19). The estimated mean value (M = 1.06, SE = 0.21) and variance (Var = 3.53, SE = 0.61) of the LC score deviated significantly from zero (p < 0.05). It is, therefore, justified to assume inter-individual differences in the LC score. Correlated measuring errors had to be considered for two indicators (AFF1: r = 0.52, p < 0.05; AFF3: r = 0.29, p < 0.05). Overall, these results justify the use of the factor scores for affective attitudes at pre-test, as well as for the LC scores as observed variables in the main analysis.

³For comparison, we calculated a two-level path analysis exclusively using those cases for which the handheld computer surveys from the exercise sessions were obtained (210 observations). The results were not substantially different.
	Number of observations	м	SD	Minimum	Maximum	Skewness	Kurtosis	ICC
		IVI	30	IVIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	WIAAIITUIT	Skewness	Kuitosis	100
Valence pre session	207	4.03	1.14	0	6.0	-0.41	0.02	0.351
Valence during session	210	4.62	0.86	2.0	6.0	-0.63	0.29	0.427
Pos. Activation pre session	207	3.48	1.12	0.5	6.0	-0.03	-0.66	0.308
Pos. Activation during	210	4.18	0.96	0.5	6.0	-0.71	1.31	0.406
Calmness pre session	207	3.56	1.28	0	6.0	-0.28	-0.25	0.531
Calmness during session	210	4.18	0.86	1.5	6.0	-0.13	-0.16	0.423
Perceived exertion	205	3.81	1.08	1.0	6.5	-0.14	-0.21	0.513
Perceptions of competence	210	3.96	0.88	1.0	5.0	-0.80	0.57	0.422
Perceived fitness	208	2.63	0.93	0	5.0	-0.16	0.09	0.701

TABLE 2 | Descriptives and intra-class coefficients of the measures of the handheld computer surveys in the exercise sessions (without missing value imputation, maximum: 210 observations).

The ICCs of the used variables are listed in **Table 2**. The ICCs of the affective state values ranged from 0.30 to 0.47. The height of their values suggests that a multi-level analysis is appropriate. The ICC values for affective valence and positive activation during the session were higher than those prior to the session (12–15% higher variance between persons). The ICC values for calmness prior to and during the sessions were considerably closer to each other. Taken together, this intra-individual data indicate that the affective states during exercising were moderately consistent.

Perceptions of competence and the perceived exertion showed similar ICC values to the affective responses during the physical exercises. While for the perceived fitness, we could observe a higher intra-individual consistency.

Two-Level Path Analysis: Indirect and Direct Link between Exercise Experiences and Changes in Affective Attitude toward Exercise

The global model fit of the initial two-level path analysis was acceptable to good [$\chi^2(40) = 78.17$; p = 0.0003; $\chi^2/df = 1.95$, CFI = 0.945; RMSEA = 0.059]. However, local model parameter estimates indicated suppression effects for the predictors of changes in affective attitude.⁴ Therefore, an alternative model specification appeared necessary in order to achieve a more parsimonious and interpretable model. As the interrelations of the three affect dimensions are theoretically reasonable, it was decided to eliminate critical components of the model as recommended by Maassen and Bakker (2001). For this purpose,

non-significant path coefficients were stepwise eliminated from the initial model, which is a common procedure in exploratory path analyses (Pedhazur, 1982; Mertler and Vannatta, 2002). By doing so, three non-significant path coefficients have not been included in the final model (see dotted lines in **Figure 3**).

Figure 3 shows the results of the two-level path analysis for the final model. The global fit of this reduced model was again acceptable to good [$\chi^2(43) = 77.13$; p = 0.0011; $\chi^2/df = 1.79$, CFI = 0.951; RMSEA = 0.054].

The relationship between perceived exertion, perceptions of competence and affective responses revealed different results patterns when comparing the two levels of the model: at the within-person level, only perceptions of competence was positively related to the affective response to exercising. In particular, perceptions of competence were associated with within-person variations of positive activation and affective valence across different exercise sessions. At the betweenperson level, both perceptions of competence and perceived exertion were related to a mean affective response to exercising. The perceived exertion was negatively related to all the affective dimensions. Perceptions of competence were positively associated to calmness during the exercise sessions. In addition, the perceived fitness level predicted within-person variations, as well as between-person variations of positive activation during the exercise sessions.

At the between-person level, direct effects on changes in affective attitude were found for positive activation during the exercise sessions ($\beta = 0.24$), as well as for perceptions of competence ($\beta = 0.24$). The final model on the between-person level revealed one indirect pathway between perceived exertion and changes in affective attitude via positive activation. This indirect path reached statistical significance (-0.14 [CI 95%: -0.26; -0.01]). The other indirect pathway between perceptions of competence and changes in affective attitude via positive activation did not reach statistical significance (-0.04 [CI 95%: -0.12; 0.05]). In total, the model could explain 64.1% of the variance of the LC scores of affective attitudes toward exercise.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, the relationship between exercise experiences and changes in affective attitude was investigated

⁴The following typical pattern of results indicating a suppression effect (Maassen and Bakker, 2001) was observed: firstly, a high negative standardized path coefficient occurred for calmness during the session ($\beta = -0.62$; SE = 1.08, p = 0.57). Secondly, positive activation during the session had a rather high positive path coefficient ($\beta = 0.40$; SE = 0.33, p = 0.25) that was higher than the bivariate correlation between positive activation during the session and the change score for affective attitudes (see between-person correlation matrix in the Supplementary material). Thirdly, the residual correlations among the three affective dimensions during the exercise session were very high (0.83 < r < 0.96), which correlates with high values in the between-person correlation matrix. Additionally, all standard errors were rather high when compared to the other parts of the two-level path analysis. In detail, the further standardized path coefficients for the prediction of change scores in affective attitudes were as follows: valence during session: $\beta = 0.27$; SE = 0.67, p = 0.68; perceived exertion: $\beta = -0.11$; SE = 0.24, p = 0.65; perceptions of competence: $\beta = 0.43$; SE = 0.37, p = 0.25.



TYPE = TWOLEVEL. At the within-person level, variances of the six exogenous variables as well as the residual variances of the three endogenous variables were estimated. At the between-person level, means and variances for the seven endogenous variables were estimated. Intercepts and residual variances were estimated for the four endogenous variables.

over a period of 13 weeks. The results provide important clues for a more detailed formulation of the transdisciplinary framework model on changing exercise behavior put forward by Bryan et al. (2011).

Our results partially support the assumption of an indirect effect made by Williams (2008), who assumed that cognitive and interoceptive factors predict affective responses during exercising, and that these in turn predict affective attitudes (see **Figure 1**). The results in fact confirm the existence of a chain of effects stretching from perceived exertion via positive

activation during exercising to changes in affective attitude. On average, the less strenuous people perceive physical exercise to be, the more awake they will feel during exercise. Those who on average reported more positive activation also showed more improvement in affective attitudes from the beginning to the end of the exercise program. Contrary to this, no indirect relationship between perceptions of competence and changes in affective attitude could be found. In fact, the average level of perceived competence is directly linked to changes in affective attitude without having to be fully reproduced in the affective response to exercise. This direct effect of perceptions of competence illustrates the importance of cognitive factors with respect to changes in affective attitudes toward exercise. Our study thus provides empirical evidence on how affective attitudes to exercising changes depending on interoceptive, affective, and cognitive factors. *In situ* exercise experiences especially may be identified as an important source of changes in affective attitude.

While exercise experiences in existing studies were recorded retrospectively, the data for this study were obtained *in situ* and across several sessions. These procedures made it possible to specify the relationship between individual facets of exercise experiences. Furthermore, they allowed us to substantiate the relationship between exercise experiences and affective attitudes:

- (1) It became evident that inter-individual differences in the perceived exertion has a strong negative relationship with affective responses to physical exercise. This is particularly true for the psycho-physiologically determined affective dimension of positive activation as well as for calmness. This result is especially interesting as the intensity of physical strain predominantly ranged from moderate to somewhat hard. According to the dual mode theory, however, interindividual differences in affective responses should primarily appear with higher intensities (i.e., with strenuous physical exercises, Ekkekakis and Acevedo, 2006).
- (2) Moreover, the negative indirect relationship between average levels of perceived exertion on affective attitudes via positive activation during exercise is in line with previous findings on the role of negative physical experiences on affective behavioral predictors. In their diary study, Loehr et al. (2014) identified that body soreness and the perception of exercise as being a chore were negatively associated with positive affective outcome expectancies. The indirect effect in our study indicates that those negative physical experiences which are linked to interoceptive factors during exercise are associated with lower positive activation while exercising. Therefore, the connection between negative physical experiences and affective behavioral predictors may be partly mediated by affective responses to physical exercise.
- (3) By means of the two-level analysis, it became evident that the connections between individual exercise experiences are level-specific. While perceived exertion was not connected with intra-individual variations in affective responses, negative relations to the inter-individual variance in affective responses resulted. One possible explanation for interindividual differences in the affective responses to exercise could be seen in the varying preferences and tolerances for exercise intensities (Ekkekakis et al., 2005). According to this concept, dispositional inter-individual differences exist with respect to self-chosen intensities (preferences) and as to what extent higher strains could be tolerated (tolerance). Such dispositional differences would provide support for a connection between perceived exertion and inter-individual variation in affective responses in the examined range of

intensity. Relationships between physical exertion and intraindividual variations, on the other hand, would be expected to a lesser extent.

(4) This study confirms that perceptions of competence are particularly significant for affective responses to exercising (e.g., Rose and Parfitt, 2012). Perceptions of competence not only predicted intra-individual but also inter-individual differences in affective responses when exercising. However, to which affective dimension the responses were attached depends on the level of analysis. Intra-individual variations in both positive activation and valence seem to be positively affected by situational competence experiences; in contrast to that, inter-individual differences in calmness during physical exercises seem more strongly positively associated with the average level of competence experiences. This explorative analysis of specific links between competence experiences and affective dimension would have to be tested and theoretically elaborated in future studies.

Overall, our study supports the assumption that a closer view of exercise experiences contributes to theory development on changes of exercise behavior with a special focus on affective predictors of behavior. For example, the relationships found between average levels of exercise experiences and changes in affective attitude toward physical exercise may, as explained above, be the result of a direct effect. In this way, the robust direct and positive effect of the average level of perceptions of competence on affective attitudes toward exercise demonstrates the importance of the cognitive appraisal of exercise experiences for future affective attitudes toward exercise. However, alternative cognitive mechanisms are also conceivable, such as those regarding the sources of self-efficacy (Samson and Solmon, 2011). It is possible that perceptions of competence, as a kind of mastery experience, have an impact on affective attitudes via self-efficacy (Gellert et al., 2012). Further, it may be assumed that perceptions of competence, as well as low perceived exertion, lead to positive implicit associations with physical exercise. These subconscious associations could in turn be the underlying reason for explicit, affective attitudes (Bluemke et al., 2010). To review alternative effect mechanisms, it is necessary to include further motivational constructs in future examinations [e.g., self-efficacy (Kwan and Bryan, 2010; Schneider and Kwan, 2013); affective outcome expectancies and satisfaction (Baldwin et al., 2013; Loehr et al., 2014)]. In doing so, one could further elaborate on the potential of affective predictors of the adoption and maintenance of physical exercises in comparison to other motivational and volitional predictors of behavior, which were already established in other studies [e.g., outcome expectancies, self-efficacy, intention (Gellert et al., 2012); intention (Mohiyeddini et al., 2009); outcome expectancies, fulfillment of outcome expectancies, action selfefficacy, (Klusmann et al., 2016)].

Limitations

The present study includes some methodical limitations which must be recognized:

- (1) In the main analysis, a problem with suppression effects appeared in connection with the prediction of changes in affective attitude. This was probably due to the fact that the model covered three affect dimensions that are systematically interrelated (Schimmack and Grob, 2000). The model's specification had to be slightly modified so that the final model test was no longer, in the strict sense, confirmatory. The results of the final model revealed that average levels of positive activation had the strongest relationship to changes in affective attitude when compared to the other affect dimensions. This pattern of results is in line with the bivariate correlation matrix (see Supplementary material). However, the particular role of positive activation during exercise for the prediction of medium-term changes in affective attitude needs further reinforcement by purely confirmatory analyses in the future.
- (2) In our study, exercise experiences were repeatedly obtained in situ in natural surroundings, and these were linked to medium-term changes of affective attitude toward exercise. The study thus has a high ecological validity. Nonetheless, it should be noted that the scope of application of the results is limited to *combined* exercise programs in the recreational and health sector. Such exercise programs, in which endurance, strength training, and playful activities are combined in a single session, are very widespread in German-speaking countries (Brehm et al., 2005).
- (3) We could not examine whether the study's results varied for the different exercise programs. The sub-samples were too small for a differentiated analysis of the programs' contents and exercise types. For this reason, the findings may, for the time being, only be generalizable to exercises which require physical exertion ranging from moderate to rather strenuous and are carried out in a group and under guidance.
- (4) The examined sample included some specific characteristics. We recruited university employees for whom we developed the specific programs. This again limits the generalizability of the findings. Furthermore, the sample was already comparatively active: 50% of the subjects did at least 2 h of physical exercise a week. It would be interesting if future studies could focus more on inactive people or people with increased health risks. Additionally, in the present study more men than women could be considered in the longitudinal analysis. Whether gender represents a moderator for the effect mechanisms remains to be tested.
- (5) In our study, it was shown that exercise experiences were moderately consistent at the intra-individual level. Obviously, this degree of consistency was sufficient to make predictions about changes in affective attitude over a 3-months period. What is striking is the fact that the observed intra-individual consistencies in exercise experiences were lower than those reported by Unick et al. (2015). Two reasons for this can be provided: firstly, the physical exercises in the present study were distinctly less standardized. Indeed, the course instructors were instructed to conduct typical sessions. Nevertheless, distinctly larger differences, as far as content and social conditions are concerned were possible between these sessions than in the case of treadmill exercises.

Secondly, in the present study, handheld computer surveys were conducted during different weeks in the course of the exercise program. Differences between participation in the first sessions and later sessions of the exercise program may have had an effect on intra-individual differences in the experience of (the same) physical exercises.

(6) Finally, there are some drawbacks in the way the constructs of interest were measured. The questionnaires used to measure perceptions of competence and physical exertion only contained a single item. However, the connections found between the variables suggest that the construct validity of the procedures was satisfactory.

CONCLUSION

Which research desiderata can be deduced from our study? In future studies, the point in time over the course of an exercise program should be systematically considered and examined. Particularly for new participants in exercise programs, an analysis of temporal patterns would be valuable for understanding their experience of physical exercise over the course of the sessions, as such temporal patterns might exhibit a connection to their future exercise behavior. A point in favor of this assumption is the positive relationship between physical fitness and positive activation during exercising (cf. Ekkekakis et al., 2011). Obviously, previous exercise experiences and the connected physical fitness are associated with affective and motivational processes. Thus, future studies should apply systematic recruitment strategies that consider previous exercise behavior in order to be able to analyze the moderating role of previous exercise behavior with sufficient sample sizes of subgroups.

Furthermore, it would be efficacious to use more intensive data acquisition strategies that better reflect the in-depth dynamics of the interplay between different exercise experiences, affective predictors of behavior, and exercise behavior.

Finally, the present study only examined one link of the postulated chain of effects, in the form of exercise experiences and affective attitudes (see **Figure 1**). Future studies should expand this perspective. It would be particularly interesting to take behavior into account as well. Thus, the question might be asked here too, whether affective responses influence exercise behavior indirectly, via motivation – as suggested by Bryan et al.'s (2011) transdisciplinary framework model or whether they have a direct impact on behavior (Williams et al., 2012).

Overall, this study makes clear that perceptions of competence, perceived exertion and affective responses during physical exercise play an important role in affective processes of behavior change. It appears that the average levels of these experiences predict changes in affective attitude during multi-week exercise programs. However, it is recommended that future studies with a higher sample size replicate the main findings obtained for these between-person relationships. For now, our study supports the idea that interventions which aim to change exercise behavior should put more emphasis on exercise experiences in order to address affective behavioral predictors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GS and AC contributed to the study design. Data collection and data analysis was performed by GS and JS. All authors contributed to the interpretation of the data analysis. GS and JS drafted the manuscript, and AC provided critical revisions. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript for submission. All authors agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

AC and GS acknowledge funding by the "Eidgenössische Sportkommission" (an agency of the Swiss Federal Office

REFERENCES

- Ajzen, I. (1988). Attitudes, Personality and Behavior. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Backhouse, S., Ekkekakis, P., Biddle, S., Foskett, A., and Williams, C. (2007). Exercise makes people feel better but people are inactive: paradox or artifact? *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 29, 498–517.
- Baldwin, A. S., Baldwin, S. A., Loehr, V. G., Kangas, J. L., and Frieson, G. M. (2013). Elucidating satisfaction with physical activity: an examination of the day-to-day associations between experiences with physical activity and satisfaction during physical activity initiation. *Psychol. Health* 28, 1424–1441. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2013.822078
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control.* New York, NY: W. H. Freeman.
- Barnett, F. (2013). The effect of exercise on affective and self-efficacy responses in older and younger women. J. Phys. Act. Health 10, 97–105.
- Biddle, S. J. H., and Fuchs, R. (2009). Exercise psychology: a view from Europe. Psychol. Sport Exerc. 10, 410–419. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2009. 02.011
- Bluemke, M., Brand, R., Schweizer, G., and Kahlert, D. (2010). Exercise might be good for me, but I don't feel good about it: do automatic associations predict exercise behavior? J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 32, 137–153.
- Borg, G. (1982). Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 14, 377–381. doi: 10.1249/00005768-198205000-00012
- Brand, R. (2006). Die affektive Einstellungskomponente und ihr Beitrag zur Erklärung von Sportpartizipation [The role of the affective attitudinal component in explaining physical exercise participation]. Zeitschrift für Sportpsychologie 13, 147–155. doi: 10.1026/1612-5010. 13.4.147
- Brehm, W., Wagner, P., Sygusch, R., Schonung, A., and Hahn, U. (2005). Health promotion by means of health sport - a framework and a controlled intervention study with sedentary adults. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 15, 13–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2003.00369.x
- Bryan, A. D., Nilsson, R., Tompkins, S. A., Magnan, R. E., Marcus, B. H., and Hutchinson, K. E. (2011). The big picture of individual differences in physical activity behavior change: a transdisciplinary approach. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 12, 20–26. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2010.05.002
- Buskies, W., and Boeckh-Behrens, W.-U. (2000). Gesundheitsorientiertes Fitnesstraining: Ausdauertraining, Ernährung und Entspannung [Healthoriented fitness training: aerobic exercise, nutrition and relaxation]. Lüneburg: Wehdemeiner & Pusch.
- Crites, S. L., Fabrigar, L. R., and Petty, R. E. (1994). Measuring the affective and cognitive properties of attitudes: conceptual and methodological issues. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 20, 619–634. doi: 10.1177/0146167294206001
- Eid, M., Schneider, C., and Schwenkmezger, P. (1999). Do you feel better or worse? The validity of perceived deviations of mood states from

of Sport). We thank the University of Bern for the funding of the exercise programs as well as the University Sports Bern for their support in the realization of the exercise programs. Further, we would like to acknowledge Katrin Lehnert for her substantial contributions to the study design, data collection and data preparation. We acknowledge support by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Open Access Publishing Fund of University of Tübingen.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2016.00900

mood traits. Eur. J. Personal. 13, 283-306. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-0984(199907/08)13:4 < 283::AID-PER341 > 3.0.CO;2-0

- Ekkekakis, P. (2008). Affect circumplex redux: the discussion on its utility as a measurement framework in exercise psychology continues. *Int. Rev. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 1, 139–159. doi: 10.1080/17509840802287200
- Ekkekakis, P., and Acevedo, E. O. (2006). "Affective responses to acute exercise: toward a psychobiological dose-response model," in *Psychobiology of Physical Activity*, eds E. O. Acevedo and P. Ekkekakis (Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics), 91–109.
- Ekkekakis, P., Hall, E. E., and Petruzello, S. J. (2005). Some like it vigorous: measuring individual differences in the preference for and tolerance of exercise intensity. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 27, 350–374.
- Ekkekakis, P., Parfitt, G., and Petruzzello, S. (2011). The pleasure and displeasure people feel when they exercise at different intensities. *Sports Med.* 41, 641–671. doi: 10.2165/11590680-00000000-00000
- European Commission (2014). Special Europarometer 412. "Sport and Physical Activity" // Sport and physical activity: Report Vol. 412. Brussels: European Commission.
- Fleig, L., Lippke, S., Pomp, S., and Schwarzer, R. (2011). Exercise maintenance after rehabilitation. How experience can make a difference. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 12, 293–299. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.01.003
- Gauvin, L., and Brawley, L. R. (1993). "Alternative psychological models and methodologies for the study of exercise and affect," in *Exercise Psychology: The Influence of Physical Exercise on Psychological Processes*, ed. P. Seraganian (New York, NY: Wiley), 146–171.
- Geiser, C. (2010). Datenanalyse mit Mplus. [Data analysis with Mplus]. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag.
- Geiser, C., Eid, M., Nussbeck, F. W., Courvoisier, D. S., and Cole, D. A. (2010). Analyzing true change in longitudinal multitrait-multimethod studies: application of a multimethod change model to depression and anxiety in children. *Dev. Psychol.* 46, 29–45. doi: 10.1037/a0017888
- Gellert, P., Ziegelmann, J. P., and Schwarzer, R. (2012). Affective and health-related outcome expectancies for physical activity in older adults. *Psychol. Health* 27, 816–828. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.607236
- Groslambert, A., and Mahon, A. D. (2006). Perceived exertion. Influence of age and cognitive development. *Sports Med.* 36, 911–928.
- Hall, E. S., Ekkekakis, P., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2002). The affective beneficence of vigorous exercise revisited. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 7, 47–66. doi: 10.1348/135910702169358
- Hamaker, E. L. (2012). "Why researchers should think "within-Preson." A paradigmatic rationale," in *Handbook of Research Methods for Studying Daily Life*, eds M. R. Mehl and T. S. Conner (New York, NY: Guilford Publications), 43–61.
- Jackson, S. A., and Marsh, H. (1996). Development and validation of a scale to measure optimal experience: the flow state scale. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 18, 17–35.

- Kahnemann, D. (1999). "Objective happiness," in Well-Being: Foundations of Hedonic Psychology, eds D. Kahnemann, E. Diener, and N. Schwarz (New York, NY: Russell-Sage), 3–25.
- Kiviniemi, M. T., Voss-Humke, A. M., and Seifert, A. L. (2007). How do I feel about the behavior? The interplay of affective associations with behaviors and cognitive beliefs as influences on physical activity behavior. *Health Psychol.* 26, 152–158. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.26.2.152
- Kleinert, J. (2006). Adjektivliste zur Erfassung der Wahrgenommenen Körperlichen Verfassung (WKV): Skalenkonstruktion und erste psychometrische Befunde [Adjective list for assessing Perceived Physical State (PEPS). Scale construction and psychometric results]. Zeitschrift für Sportpsychologie 13, 156–164. doi: 10.1026/1612-5010.13.4.156
- Klusmann, V., Musculus, L., Sproesser, G., and Renner, B. (2016). Fulfilled emotional outcome expectancies enable successful adoption and maintenance of physical activity. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1990. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01990
- Kwan, B. M., and Bryan, A. D. (2010). Affective response to exercise as a component of exercise motivation: attitudes, norms, self-efficacy, and temporal stability of intentions. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 11, 71–79. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2009.05.010
- Lawton, R., Conner, M., and McEachan, R. (2009). Desire or reason: predicting health behaviors from affective and cognitive attitudes. *Health Psychol.* 28, 56–65. doi: 10.1037/a0013424
- Liao, Y., Shonkoff, E. T., and Dunton, G. F. (2015). The acute relationships between affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in daily life: a review of current evidence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1975. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01975
- Little, R. J. A., and Rubin, D. B. (2012). *Statistical Analysis with Missing Data*, 3rd Edn. Chichester: Wiley.
- Loehr, V. G., Baldwin, A. S., Rosenfiled, D., and Smits, J. A. J. (2014). Weekly variability in outcome expectations: examining associations with related physical activity experiences during physical activity initiation. *J. Health Psychol.* 19, 1309–1319. doi: 10.1177/1359105313488981
- Lowe, R., Eves, F., and Carroll, D. (2002). The influence of affective and instrumental beliefs on exercise intentions and behavior: a longitudinal analysis. *J. Appl. Soc. Psychol.* 32, 1241–1252. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb01434.x
- Maassen, G. H., and Bakker, A. B. (2001). Suppressor variables in path models. Sociol. Methods Res. 30, 241–270. doi: 10.1177/0049124101030002004
- MacKinnon, D. P., Lockwood, C. M., and Williams, J. (2004). Confidence limits for the indirect effects: distribution of the product and resampling methods. *Multivar. Behav. Res.* 39, 99–128. doi: 10.1207/s15327906mbr3901_4
- Mäder, U. R., Martin, B., Schutz, Y., and Marti, U. (2006). Validity of four short physical activity questionnaires in middle-aged persons. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 38, 1255–1266. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000227310.18902.28
- Mertler, C. A., and Vannatta, R. A. (2002). *Advanced and Multivariate Statistical Methods*, 2nd Edn. Los Angeles, CA: Pyrczak Publishing.
- Michie, S., and Abraham, C. (2004). Interventions to change health behaviours: evidence-based or evidence-inspired? *Psychol. Health* 19, 24–49. doi: 10.1080/0887044031000141199
- Mohiyeddini, C., Pauli, R., and Bauer, S. (2009). The role of emotion in bridging the intention-behavior gap: the case of sports participation. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 10, 226–234. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2008.08.005
- Muthén, B. O. (1989). Latent variable modeling in heterogeneous populations. *Psychometrika* 54, 557–585. doi: 10.1007/BF02296397
- Muthén, L. K., and Muthén, B. O. (1998-2010). *Mplus User's Guide*. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Parschau, L., Fleig, L., Koring, M., Lange, D., Knoll, N., Schwarzer, R., et al. (2013). Positive experience, self-efficacy, and action control predict physical activity changes: a moderated mediation analysis. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 18, 395–406. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8287.2012.02099.x
- Pedhazur, E. J. (1982). Multiple Regression in Behavioral Research: Explanation and Prediction. New York, NY: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report (2008). *Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report, 2008.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Reuter, T., Ziegelmann, J. P., Wiedemann, A. U., Geiser, C., Lippke, S., Schüz, B., et al. (2010). Changes in intentions, planning, and self-efficacy predict changes in behaviors: an application of latent true change modeling. *J. Health Psychol.* 15, 935–947. doi: 10.1177/1359105309360071

- Rhodes, R. E., Fiala, B., and Conner, M. (2009). A review and meta-analysis of affective judgments and physical activity in adult populations. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 180–204. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9147-y
- Rose, E. A., and Parfitt, G. (2007). A quantitative analysis and qualitative explanation of the individual differences in affective responses to prescribed and self-selected exercise intensities. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 29, 281–309.
- Rose, E. A., and Parfitt, G. (2012). Exercise experience influences affective and motivational outcomes of prescribed and self-selected intensity exercise. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 22, 265–277. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010. 01161.x
- Rothman, A. J. (2000). Toward a theory-based analysis of behavioral maintenance. *Health Psychol.* 19, 64–69. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.19.Suppl1.64
- Samson, A., and Solmon, M. (2011). Examining the sources of self-efficacy for physical activity within the sport and exercise domains. *Int. Rev. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 4, 70–89. doi: 10.1080/1750984X.2011.564643
- Schermelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H., and Müller, H. (2003). Evaluating the fit of structural equation models: tests of significance and descriptive goodness-offit measures. *Methods Psychol. Res. Online* 8, 23–74.
- Schimmack, U., and Grob, A. (2000). Dimensional models of core affect: a quantitative comparison by means of structural equation modeling. *Eur. J. Personal.* 14, 325–345. doi: 10.1002/1099-0984(200007/08)14:4<325::AID-PER380>3.0.CO;2-I
- Schneider, M. L., and Kwan, B. M. (2013). Psychological need satisfaction, intrinsic motivation and affective response to exercise in adolescents. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 14, 776–785. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2013.04.005
- Schneider, S., Brümmer, V., Carnahan, H., Kleinert, J., Piacentini, M. F., Meeusen, R., et al. (2010). Exercise as a countermeasure to psycho-physiological deconditioning during long-term confinement. *Behav. Brain Res.* 211, 208–214. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.03.034
- Schwarzer, R. (2008). Modeling health behavior change: how to predict and modify the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors. *Appl. Psychol.* 57, 1–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00325.x
- Steyer, R., Eid, M., and Schwenkmezger, P. (1997). Modeling true intraindividual change: true change as a latent variable. *Methods Psychol. Res. Online* 2, 21–33.
- Sudeck, G., and Conzelmann, A. (2014). Zur interindividuellen Variablität affektiver Reaktionen im Verlauf von Freizeit- und Gesundheitssportprogrammen [Inter-individual variability of acute affective responses in the course of leisure time and health-oriented exercise programs]. Zeitschrift für Gesundheitspsychologie 22, 89–103. doi: 10.1026/0943-8149/a000118
- Unick, J. L., Strohacker, K., Papandonateos, G. D., Williams, D., O'Leary, K. C., Dofman, L., et al. (2015). Examination of the consistency in affective response to acute exercise in overweight and obese women. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 37, 534–546. doi: 10.1123/jsep.2015-0104
- Vlachopoulos, S. P., and Michailidou, S. (2006). Development and initial validation of a measure of autonomy, competence, and relatedness in exercise: the basic psychological needs in exercise scale. *Meas. Phys. Educ. Exerc. Sci.* 10, 179–201. doi: 10.1207/s15327841mpee1003_4
- Widamann, K. F., and Reise, S. P. (1997). "Exploring the measurement invariance of psychological instruments: applications in the substance use domain," in *The Science of Prevention: Methodological Advances from Alcohol and Substance Abuse Research*, 1st Edn, eds K. J. Bryant, M. T. Windle, and S. G. West (Washington: American Psychological Association), 281–324.
- Wilhelm, P., and Schoebi, D. (2007). Assessing mood in daily life: structural validity, sensitivity to change, and reliability of a short-scale to measure three basic dimensions of mood. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 23, 258–267. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759.23.4.258
- Williams, D. M. (2008). Exercise, affect, and adherence: an integrated model and a case for self-paced exercise. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 30, 471–496.
- Williams, D. M., Dunsiger, S., Ciccolo, J. T., Lewis, B. A., Albrecht, A. E., and Marcus, B. H. (2008). Acute affective response to a moderateintensity exercise stimulus predicts physical activity participation 6 and 12 months later. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 9, 231–245. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2007. 04.002
- Williams, D. M., Dunsiger, S., Jennings, E. G., and Marcus,B. H. (2012). Does affective valence during and immediately following a 10-min walk predict concurrent and future physical

activity? Ann. Behav. Med. 44, 43–51. doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9362-9

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Sudeck, Schmid and Conzelmann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Task Performance and Meta-Cognitive Outcomes When Using Activity Workstations and Traditional Desks

June J. Pilcher* and Victoria C. Baker

Department of Psychology, Clemson University, Clemson, SC, USA

The purpose of the current study is to compare the effects of light physical activity to sedentary behavior on cognitive task performance and meta-cognitive responses. Thirty-eight undergraduate students participated in the study. The participants used a stationary bicycle with a desk top and a traditional desk while completing two complex cognitive tasks and measures of affect, motivation, morale, and engagement. The participants pedaled the stationary bicycle at a slow pace (similar in exertion to a normal walking pace) while working. The results indicated that cognitive task performance did not change between the two workstations. However, positive affect, motivation, and morale improved when using the stationary bicycle. These results suggest that activity workstations could be implemented in the work place and in educational settings to help decrease sedentary behavior without negatively affecting performance. Furthermore, individuals could experience a positive emotional response when working on activity workstations which in turn could help encourage individuals to choose to be more physical active during daily activities.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ralf Brand, University Potsdam, Germany

Reviewed by:

Roland Seiler, University of Bern, Switzerland Bettina Wollesen, University of Hamburg, Germany

*Correspondence:

June J. Pilcher jpilche@clemson.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 01 March 2016 Accepted: 09 June 2016 Published: 21 June 2016

Citation:

Pilcher JJ and Baker VC (2016) Task Performance and Meta-Cognitive Outcomes When Using Activity Workstations and Traditional Desks. Front. Psychol. 7:957. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00957 Keywords: : sedentary lifestyle, physical activity, cognitive performance, affect, morale

INTRODUCTION

It is well known that regular physical activity has positive health benefits such as improved cardiovascular functioning, decreased body weight, and a more positive outlook (Warburton et al., 2006). Regular moderate to vigorous physical activity alone; however, does not seem to be the answer to long-term good health. Even in people exercising regularly, the amount of sedentary behavior is related to chronic disease (Owen et al., 2009) and physical frailty (Song et al., 2015). As such, it is important to consider factors that may contribute to rates of physical activity (Hagströmer et al., 2014).

Most adults are generally inactive (Sisson and Katzmarzyk, 2008) with the amount of physical activity decreasing with age and with lack of understanding of the health benefits of exercising (Mullineaux et al., 2001). There is also increasing evidence that to better understand the effects of activity levels we must consider how activity is incorporated throughout the day (Tudor-Locke and Schuna, 2012). One example is in sedentary occupations where physical activity is typically infrequent (Smith et al., 2014). It is possible that many adults working in a sedentary occupation could have difficulty finding time to exercise each day. Because the work day takes up approximately half of all waking hours, working a full-time job can leave many people with little

time to engage in physical activity during leisure time on a daily basis. Consequently, the amount of physical activity when working becomes an important component of health-related behaviors.

Sedentary adults report that they are not more active due to a variety of reasons such as exercise being too risky, exercise being too much effort, and exercise being inconvenient (Vanden Auweele et al., 1997). Owen et al. (2011) suggest that the influence of the place or environment must also be considered to understand sedentary behavior. Furthermore, an Ecological Momentary Assessment of physical activity and sedentary behavior could provide a means to better measure activity across the day (Dunton et al., 2012). Although there is considerable evidence suggesting the need for better examining levels of physical activity across the day, few studies have examined how the design characteristics of work desks may impact daily functioning.

Studies suggest that individuals who hold desk-based or computer-based jobs have higher levels of sedentary behavior (Hill and Peters, 1998; Hill et al., 2003). Work place programs have been initiated to counter this trend. Most of these work place programs are designed to increase physical activity through encouraging the worker to walk around or use stairs more during the work day. Although many work place programs may decrease sedentary behavior to some extent, they often require the worker to purposely leave the workstation, something that many workers could find difficult to do. Furthermore, work place interventions requiring that workers be active away from their workstations are fundamentally limited since they are focused on available time during the work day when employees can choose to be away from their normal sedentary workstation.

One method to reduce sedentary time is to integrate activity workstations in the work place allowing individuals to work on a desk top or a computer while being physically active. Activity workstations allow individuals to complete desk-based or computer-based tasks while moving at a low level of physical exertion usually through walking at a normal pace or by pedaling relatively slowly. Although activity workstations are a relatively new idea, they offer some useful benefits over more traditional work place interventions of encouraging employees to simply move more since the employees are not required to choose between working and being physically active. Furthermore, studies suggest that using activity workstations can increase the level of energy expenditure in the individual (Tudor-Locke et al., 2014) and may also have health benefits (Carson et al., 2014). Activity workstations may also have a positive benefit on stress and affect (Sliter and Yuan, 2015). These effects on meta-cognitive measures, such as stress and affect, are of particular interest when considering implementing workstations into settings that are normally sedentary in nature. Using workstations to provide a positive meta-cognitive effect of being physically active could encourage engaging in physical activity and, as such, increase physical activity across the lifespan.

Relatively little research has investigated the effects of using activity workstations on performance or on psychological variables (Rhodes et al., 2012). Some evidence suggests that activity workstations can result in performance decrements on tasks such as typing speed and motor skills (Straker et al., 2009; Ohlinger et al., 2011) while other studies have concluded that working on an activity workstation did not negatively affect performance (Carr et al., 2014). Furthermore, little research has examined the effect of activity workstations on metacognitive factors. Two studies have concluded that using activity workstations resulted in decreases in reported stress (Edelson and Danoffz, 1989; Sliter and Yuan, 2015) and beneficial effects on affect (Sliter and Yuan, 2015). Sliter and Yuan (2015) also suggested that the type of workstation (walking versus cycling) could affect psychological benefits of using the workstations.

The purpose of the current study is to examine how individuals perform while riding on a stationary bike with a desk top (FitDesk) and while seated at a normal desk (traditional desk) as well as their perceptions of working on the tasks at the two types of desks. We hypothesize that the participants will perform equally well on the FitDesk and on the traditional desk when completing complex cognitive tasks. We also hypothesize that the participants will report improved affect, motivation, morale, and engagement, when working on the FitDesk than the traditional desk.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The participants were 38 university students [average age: 19.64 (SD = 1.05), 11 males, 27 females] who were in good physical and mental health and did not report tobacco use. The experimental protocol was approved by the university Institutional Review Board and all participants signed an informed consent form before the experimental study. All participants were compensated \$25 for completing the study as well as credit for completion of a research component of an introductory psychology class.

Procedures

This study compares performance when using a FitDesk (Revo Innovations LLC, Antioch, TN, USA) to performance when sitting at a traditional desk. The FitDesk is a silent, stationary bike with a desk top which allows the user to work on a laptop or tablet while pedaling the bike. Participants were required to ride at a comfortable slow pace similar in exertion to a normal walking pace when using the FitDesk. In the current study, participants completed the tasks once while engaging in light physical activity at the FitDesk and once when seated at a traditional desk.

Prior to the onset of the experimental sessions, participants were required to complete an adaptation period using the FitDesks in the university library for two one-hour periods, while completing tasks of their choice. The participants signed in and out using a QR code and recorded the odometer reading on the FitDesk before and after their session using a provided form. After the adaptation period, the participants completed two experimental sessions at least 24 h apart and within one week of the adaptation period. Each testing session lasted approximately 45 min and took place between 8:00 AM and 7:00 PM. The participants could choose which time of the day to attend the testing sessions. Most participants (82%) chose the same time of the day for both testing sessions to fit the sessions into their course schedule.

The participants completed two cognitive tasks at their assigned desk (FitDesk or traditional desk) followed by a set of subjective surveys during each testing session. The conditions (FitDesk or traditional desk) and the two cognitive tasks were counterbalanced across the testing dates.

Cognitive Measures

The Law School Admission Test (LSAT) includes a standardized test of verbal logical reasoning. The questions are based on information provided in a short passage. The reader is required to determine the correct answers based on the presented material. The questions evaluate the ability of the individual to analyze and critically evaluate information and arguments as well as offer insight into their ability to apply concepts or rules in a variety of situations (Law School Admission Council). The logical reasoning section of the LSAT exam has been reported to have 86% reliability (Wainer and Thissen, 1996). For the current study, participants were asked to complete as many questions as possible from a maximum of 19 questions within a 25-min period. The task was verbally described to participants at the start and participants were provided an opportunity to ask questions. Two versions of the logical reasoning test were used.

Raven's Standard Progressive Matrices (SPM) test is often used as a test of nonverbal reasoning (Lynn et al., 2004). The SPM is a measure of an individual's ability to extract patterns from several pictures of geometric designs and generate new ideas about complex situations (Raven, 2000). High levels of both internal consistency and test-retest reliability have been reported on the SPM (Raven et al., 2000). The current study used two sets of SPM figures each containing 18 items. The SPM test was verbally described to participants before beginning the task and participants were provided an opportunity to ask questions. The participants were asked to correctly complete as many items as possible in 10 min.

Subjective Measures

After the cognitive tasks, the participants filled out a short set of subjective surveys. They first completed Borg's Rating of Perceived Exertion Scale (RPE; Borg, 1982, 1990). The RPE provided a subjective measure of exercise intensity. A metaanalysis found that the RPE is related to physiological measures of physical exertion with validity coefficients ranging from 0.57 to 0.72 (Chen et al., 2002). The participants rated their level of physical exertion on a scale from 0 (nothing at all) to 10 (very, very strong).

Next the participants completed the positive and negative affect schedule (PANAS). The PANAS contains 20 affective-related words and uses a 5-point Likert scale from not at all to extremely. Watson et al. (1988) report that the PANAS has high internal reliability for the positive (Chronbach's α of 0.86–0.90) and negative (Chronbach's α of 0.84–0.87) scales.

The participants then filled out a single item question on motivation followed by the five-item Morale Scale evaluating energy, drive, enthusiasm, eagerness, and morale while completing the testing session (Britt et al., 2013).

The questions were assessed on a 5-point Likert scale from very low to very high. The Morale Scale has been shown to have a Cronbach's α of 0.93 (Britt et al., 2013).

Last, participants completed the Engagement Scale using a 5-point Likert scale from strongly disagree to strongly agree (Britt et al., 2010). Participants responded to six items assessing subjective performance, absorption, and attention. The Engagement Scale has been shown to be a predictor of performance in academic settings (Britt et al., 2010).

Statistical Analysis

Individual responses that were greater than three standard deviations away from the mean for the item were removed from data analysis. This occurred only with the RPE where three subjects' were removed from the analysis. The LSAT and SPM were scored as percent correct. The PANAS was scored based on established metrics to create a positive and negative score (Watson et al., 1988). The responses on the Morale and Engagement Scales were averaged for each scale (Britt et al., 2010, 2013).

SPSS 22 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for all data analyses. A repeated-measures MANOVA was used to determine if there were differences between the FitDesk and traditional desk conditions.

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics: means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence intervals.

Variable	М	SD	95% Cl lower	95% Cl upper
LSAT				
FitDesk	51.52	17.91		
Traditional Desk	49.03	18.88	-2.67	7.66
Raven's SPM				
FitDesk	79.53	15.72		
Traditional Desk	84.65	11.07	-10.64	0.41
Rating of perceived exertion				
FitDesk	2.01	1.08		
Traditional desk	0.48**	0.99	1.18	1.88
Positive PANAS				
FitDesk	28.26	5.84		
Traditional desk	23.47**	5.81	2.69	6.89
Negative PANAS				
FitDesk	11.71	1.58		
Traditional desk	12.18	3.17	-1.53	0.58
Motivation				
FitDesk	3.26	0.64		
Traditional desk	2.87*	0.81	0.12	0.67
Morale				
FitDesk	3.16	0.62		
Traditional desk	2.65**	0.68	0.25	0.78
Engagement				
FitDesk	3.75	0.53		
Traditional desk	3.61	0.58	-0.06	0.33

 $*\rho = 0.005; **\rho < 0.001.$

RESULTS

The descriptive results for each variable (means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence intervals) are shown in **Table 1**. There were no significant differences in performance on the LSAT or the SPM when comparing performance on the FitDesk to performance at the traditional desk.

Participants reported greater physical exertion when using the FitDesk [F(1, 34) = 78.386, p < 0.001, and $\eta_p^2 = 0.697$]. Participants reported significantly greater positive affect on the PANAS [F(1,34) = 19.542, p < 0.001, and $\eta_p^2 = 0.365$] when using the FitDesk but did not report a difference on the negative affect. Participants also reported higher levels of motivation [F(1,34) = 5.79, p = 0.009, and $\eta_p^2 = 0.187$] and higher levels of morale [F(1,34) = 12.010, p = 0.001, and $\eta_p^2 = 0.261$] when working on the FitDesk. In contrast, there was no difference in engagement between the conditions.

DISCUSSION

The current results suggest that the use of the FitDesk positively affects subjective states while not decreasing complex cognitive performance as measured by the LSAT logical reasoning and the SPM. More specifically, using the FitDesk resulted in increased levels of positive affect, motivation, and morale. In addition, when using the FitDesks, participants reported greater physical exertion than when using the traditional desk. However, the average subjective exertion level for both workstations remained quite low (FitDesk = weak; traditional desk = very, very weak).

The current results supported our first hypothesis that working on the FitDesk would not negatively affect complex cognitive performance. The lack of significant effects on logical reasoning and fluid intelligence tasks are consistent with previous findings that activity workstations do not impact cognitive functioning (Ohlinger et al., 2011). This suggests that activity workstations could be used in the work place and educational settings without fear of negatively affecting complex cognitive performance. This finding could have a profound effect in work places and other environment settings where people are required to sit for long periods of time (e.g., waiting rooms, airports). As suggested by Proper et al. (2011), interventions to reduce sedentary behavior are needed in many environments in modern society. Furthermore, attempting to separate work from other aspects of life may not be a meaningful way to evaluate health-related behaviors or long-term health risks (Panelli and Gallagher, 2003). Instead it is important to consider physical activity throughout the day and provide recommendations that can be implemented in modern societies that are increasingly requiring sedentary work. Because sedentary behavior has become common practice in many work places, implementing activity workstations could decrease sedentary activity while allowing workers to complete their responsibilities.

The current results partially supported our second hypothesis that working while on the FitDesk would improve affect, motivation, morale, and engagement. We found a significant improvement in positive affect, motivation, and morale but not in engagement as measured by Britt et al. (2010) engagement scale. Improvements in positive mood states and morale are seen following exercise (Tate and Petruzzello, 1995; Reed and Ones, 2006; Liao et al., 2015) suggesting that light activity when using workstations may have similar effects as moderate to vigorous exercise. The current results indicate that light physical activity on a cycling workstation while completing cognitive tasks can improve positive affect and morale. These findings contrast with a study concluding that cycling workstations resulted in reduced satisfaction (Sliter and Yuan, 2015). However, the cycling workstations used in the Sliter and Yuan study were not FitDesks and instead were separate cycle units set up near a desk top which seemed to bring about participant discomfort. In contrast, FitDesks are ergonomically designed to counter this possible effect with the desk top located at a comfortable distance from an adjustable height seat.

It is important to note that the use of the FitDesks in the current study had a positive impact on the emotions and feelings of the participants. The participants were more positive, had greater motivation, and better morale when completing required complex cognitive tasks while being active and working on the FitDesk than while being inactive and working at a traditional desk. This suggests that individuals could enjoy using activity workstations, such as the FitDesk, at work or in educational settings where environments currently encourage sedentary activity. This positive feeling from individuals could help increase the amount of physical activity that individuals choose to participate in daily. In addition, because the light physical activity can be completed while doing tasks, this makes more time available for physical activity during the day when many individuals say that they do not have time for a stand-alone exercise period. Additional research is required using activity workstations to better document how well activity workstations can be integrated into different sedentary environments. More research is also needed on additional meta-cognitive factors such as acceptance of using activity workstations and the impact of completing tasks on activity workstations as well as potential mediating variables.

The improvement in positive affect seen in the current study could have important work place implications. Positive affect is associated with improved problem solving and decision making which can lead to flexible and creative cognitive processing (Isen, 2001) and can help facilitate coping mechanisms and healthy behaviors in individuals (Aspinwall, 1997). Improved positive affect and motivation are also related to responsible work behavior (Isen and Reeve, 2005) while increased motivation is related to persistence (Glastra et al., 2004). The results from the current study suggest that light physical activity could produce positive mental states while completing necessary tasks which in turn could improve over-all morale in a variety of work settings.

It is interesting to note there was no significant change in negative affect on the PANAS while there was an improvement in positive PANAS when using the FitDesk. Previous studies have shown that negative affect is not impacted by age (Mroczek and Kolarz, 1998) or by sleep deprivation (Pilcher et al., 2015). Furthermore, research suggests that negative affect does not change in persons focused on goal-driven behaviors (Mogg and Bradley, 1998). Previous research also indicates that steady, lower levels of negative affect are related to an increase in life satisfaction (Pilcher, 1998). These results suggest that negative affect may be a more stable phenomenon than positive affect. As such, it seems unlikely that negative affect would be easily altered by light physical activity.

The current study has some limitations. Participants were not screened for physical fitness levels prior to the start of the study. However, the participants were healthy and young and they reported a low level of physical exertion ranging from weak to very, very weak. Because of the low level of activity, the physical fitness level is less of a concern in the present study. Future studies can be designed to include a measure of physical fitness in research examining light physical activity to address this issue. In addition, the current study used college students as participants which could make it difficult to generalize the findings to older adults. However, student and nonstudent samples tend to agree about 80% of the time (Highhouse and Gillespie, 2008) suggesting that the negative effects of student sampling is limited.

CONCLUSIONS

The present study is among the first research studies examining performance and meta-cognitive outcomes when using an activity workstation versus a traditional desk. The results indicate that light physical activity on a stationary bicycle had no detrimental effect on performance on complex cognitive tasks but did result in an improvement in meta-cognitions related to daily functioning, affect, and decision making. Furthermore the improvement in affect, motivation, and morale, suggests that light activity when working on an activity workstation may help encourage light physical activity when completing necessary tasks as well as desired activities (e.g., TV and video

REFERENCES

- Aspinwall, L. G. (1997). "Future-oriented aspects of social comparisons: a framework for studying health-related comparison activity," in *Health, Coping,* and Well-being: Perspectives from Social Comparison Theory, eds B. P. Buunk and F. X. Gibbons, (Mahway, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.), 125–165.
- Borg, G. (1990). Psychophysical scaling with applications in physical work and the perception of exertion. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 16, 55–58. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.1815
- Borg, G. A. V. (1982). Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 14, 377–381. doi: 10.1249/00005768-198205000-00012
- Britt, T. W., Adler, A. B., Bliese, P. D., and Moore, D. (2013). Morale as a moderator of the combat exposure – PTSD symptom relationship. J. Trauma. Stress 26, 1–8. doi: 10.1002/jts.21775
- Britt, T. W., McKibben, E. S., Greene-Shortridge, T. M., Beeco, A., Bodin, A., Calcaterra, J., et al. (2010). Self-engagement as a predictor of performance and emotional reactions to performance outcomes. *Br. J. Soc. Psychol.* 49, 237–257. doi: 10.1348/014466609X438090
- Carr, L. J., Maeda, H., Luther, B., Rider, P., Tucker, S. J., and Leonhard, C. (2014). Acceptability and effects of a seated active workstation during sedentary work: a proof of concept study. *Int. J. Workplace Health Manag.* 7, 2–15. doi: 10.1108/IJWHM-03-2013-0008
- Carson, V., Wong, S. L., Winkler, E., Healy, G. N., Colley, R. C., and Tremblay, M. S. (2014). Patterns of sedentary time and cardiometabolic risk among Canadian adults. *Prev. Med.* 65, 23–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.04.005

games). It is also possible that a positive feeling associated with physical activity could encourage individuals to be more physically active, thus increasing physical activity across the lifespan. Together these findings support the potential of implementing activity workstations in the workplace and in educational settings. Additional research is needed examining the effects of activity workstations in different settings and with different populations. However, the current results suggest that making activity workstations more available could help decrease the amount of sedentary behavior experienced by many adults with little disruption to their daily work. Implementing activity workstations in settings where individuals are expected to sit (e.g., the workplace, educational settings, waiting rooms, and airports) could decrease sedentary activity without negatively affecting performance and could have positive effects on affect, motivation, and morale.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JP conceived of the study with input from VB. JP provided oversight for VB in developing the methods for the study. VB carried out the data collection and initial data analysis under direction by JP. VB wrote an early draft of the manuscript. JP revised and completed the writing of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Vanessa K. Macpherson for assistance with data gathering and Drew M. Morris for assistance with data analyses.

- Chen, M. J., Fan, X., and Moe, S. T. (2002). Criterion-related validity of the Borg ratings of perceived exertion scale in healthy individuals: a meta-analysis. *J. Sports Sci.* 20, 873–899. doi: 10.1080/026404102320761787
- Dunton, G. F., Liao, Y., Kawabata, K., and Intille, S. (2012). Momentary assessment of adults' physical activity and sedentary behavior: feasibility and validity. *Front. Psychol.* 3, 260. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00260
- Edelson, N., and Danoffz, J. (1989). Walking on an electric treadmill while performing VDT office work. ACM SIGCHI Bull. 21, 72–77. doi: 10.1145/67880.67890
- Glastra, F. J., Hake, B. J., and Schedler, P. E. (2004). Lifelong learning as transitional learning. Adult Educ. Q. 54, 291–307. doi: 10.1177/0741713604266143
- Hagströmer, M., Rizzo, N. S., and Sjöström, M. (2014). Associations of seasons and regions on objectively assessed physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *J. Sports Sci.* 32, 629–634. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2013.844349
- Highhouse, S., and Gillespie, J. Z. (2008). "Do samples really matter that much?" in Statistical and Methodological Myths and Urban Legends: Doctrine, Verity, and Fable in the Organizational and Social Sciences, eds C. E. Lance and R. J. Vandenberg (Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum Associates, Inc), 249–267.
- Hill, J. O., and Peters, J. C. (1998). Environmental contributions to the obesity epidemic. *Science* 280, 1371–1374. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5368.1371
- Hill, J. O., Wyatt, H. R., Reed, G. W., and Peters, J. C. (2003). Obesity and the environment: where do we go from here? *Science* 299, 853–855. doi: 10.1126/science.1079857
- Isen, A. M. (2001). An influence of positive affect on decision making in complex situations: theoretical issues with practical implications. *J. Consum. Psychol.* 11, 75–85. doi: 10.1207/S15327663JCP1102_01

- Isen, A. M., and Reeve, J. (2005). The influence of positive affect on intrinsic and extrinsic motivation: facilitating enjoyment of play, responsible work behavior, and self-control. *Motiv. Emot.* 29, 297–325. doi: 10.1007/s11031-006-9019-8
- Liao, Y., Shonkoff, E. T., and Dunton, G. F. (2015). The acute relationships between affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in daily life: a review of current evidence. *Front. Ps.* 6:1975. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01975
- Lynn, R., Allik, J., and Irwing, P. (2004). Sex differences on three factors identified in Raven's Standard Progressive Matrices. *Intelligence* 32, 411–424. doi: 10.1016/j.intell.2004.06.007
- Mogg, K., and Bradley, B. P. (1998). A cognitive-motivational analysis of anxiety. Behav. Res. Ther. 36, 809–848. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7967(98)00063-1
- Mroczek, D. K., and Kolarz, C. M. (1998). The effect of age on positive and negative affect: a developmental perspective on happiness. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 75, 1333–1349. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.75.5.1333
- Mullineaux, D. R., Barnes, C. A., and Barnes, E. F. (2001). Factors affecting the likelihood to engage in adequate physical activity to promote health. J. Sports Sci. 19, 279–288. doi: 10.1080/026404101750158376
- Ohlinger, C. M., Horn, T. S., Berg, W. P., and Cox, R. H. (2011). The effect of active workstation use on measures of cognition, attention, and motor skill. *J. Phys. Act. Health* 8, 119–125.
- Owen, N., Bauman, A., and Brown, W. (2009). Too much sitting: a novel and important predictor of chronic disease risk? *Br. J. Sports Med.* 43, 81–83. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2008.055269
- Owen, N., Sugiyama, T., Eakin, E. E., Gardiner, P. A., Tremblay, M. S., and Sallis, J. F. (2011). Adults' sedentary behavior: determinants and interventions. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* 41, 189–196. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2011.05.013
- Panelli, R., and Gallagher, L. M. (2003). "It's your whole way of life really": negotiating work, health and gender. *Health Place* 9, 95–105. doi: 10.1016/S1353-8292(02)00020-5
- Pilcher, J. J. (1998). Affective and daily event predictors of life satisfaction in college students. Soc. Indic. Res. 43, 291–306. doi: 10.1023/A:1006883231707
- Pilcher, J. J., Callan, C., and Posey, J. L. (2015). Sleep deprivation affects reactivity to positive but not negative stimuli. *J. Psychosom. Res.* 79, 657–662. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015.05.003
- Proper, K. I., Singh, A. S., van Mechelen, W., and Chinapaw, M. J. M. (2011). Sedentary behaviors and health outcomes among adults: a systematic review of prospective studies. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* 40, 174–182. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2010.10.015
- Raven, J. (2000). The Raven's progressive matrices: change and stability over culture and time. *Cogn. Psychol.* 41, 1–48. doi: 10.1006/cogp.1999.0735
- Raven, J., Raven, J. C., and Court, J. H. (2000). *Standard Progressive Matrices*. San Antonio, TX: Pearson.
- Reed, J., and Ones, D. S. (2006). The effect of acute aerobic exercise on positive activated affect: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 7, 477–514. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2005.11.003
- Rhodes, R. E., Mark, R. S., and Temmel, C. P. (2012). Adult sedentary behavior: a systematic review. Am. J. Prev. Med. 42, e3–e28. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2011.10.020

- Sisson, S. B., and Katzmarzyk, P. T. (2008). International prevalence of physical activity in youth and adults. Obes. Rev. 9, 606–614. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2008.00506.x
- Sliter, M., and Yuan, Z. (2015). Workout at work: laboratory tests of psychological and performance outcomes of active workstations. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 20, 259–271. doi: 10.1037/a0038175
- Smith, L. P., Ng, S. W., and Popkin, B. M. (2014). No time for the gym? housework and other non-labor market time use patterns are associated with meeting physical activity recommendations among adults in full-time, sedentary jobs. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 120, 126–134. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.09.010
- Song, J., Lindquist, L. A., Chang, R. W., Semanik, P. A., Ehrlich-Jones, L. S., Lee, J., et al. (2015). Sedentary behavior as a risk factor for physical frailty independent of moderate activity: results from the osteoarthritis initiative. Am. J. Public Health 105, 1439–1445. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014. 302540
- Straker, L., Levine, J., and Campbell, A. (2009). The effects of walking and cycling computer workstations on keyboard and mouse performance. *Hum. Factors* 51, 831–844. doi: 10.1177/0018720810362079
- Tate, A. K., and Petruzzello, S. J. (1995). Varying the intensity of acute exercise: implications for changes in affect. J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness 35, 295–302.
- Tudor-Locke, C., and Schuna, J. M. (2012). Steps to preventing Type 2 diabetes: exercise, walk more, or sit less? *Front. Endocrinol.* 3, 142. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2012.00142
- Tudor-Locke, C., Schuna, J. M., Frensham, L. J., and Proenca, M. (2014). Changing the way we work: elevating energy expenditure with work-station alternatives. *Int. J. Obes.* 38, 755–765. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2013.223
- Vanden Auweele, Y., Rzewnicki, R., and Van Mele, V. (1997). Reasons for not exercising and exercise intentions: study of middle-aged sedentary adults. *J. Sports Sci.* 15, 151–165. doi: 10.1080/026404197367425
- Wainer, H., and Thissen, D. (1996). How is reliability related to the quality of test scores? What is the effect of local dependence on reliability? *Educ. Meas. Issues Pract.* 15, 22–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-3992.1996.tb00803.x
- Warburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W., and Bredin, S. S. D. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. CMAJ 174, 801–809. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.051351
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., and Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 54, 1063–1070. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Pilcher and Baker. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Understanding the Reasons behind Anticipated Regret for Missing Regular Physical Activity

Ryan E. Rhodes * and Chetan D. Mistry

Behavioural Medicine Laboratory, Faculty of Education, University of Victoria, Victoria, BC, Canada

Anticipated affective reactions to missing physical activity (PA), often labeled anticipated regret, has reliable evidence as a predictor of PA intention and behavior independent of other standard social cognitive constructs. Despite this evidence, the sources of regret are understudied and may come from many different reasons. The purpose of this study was to theme the reasons for why people responded to anticipated regret over missing regular PA for 2 weeks. Participants were a random sample of 120 university students who were primed on the public health definition of PA, completed measures of regret, and were asked to list their reasons for regret. Ninety-five percent of participants expressed that they would regret not being active and gave a total of 357 reasons. The dominant theme (n = 247; 69%) was a missed opportunity to obtain the benefits of PA, followed by shame/guilt for not being able to follow-through with one's goals or self-categorized role (n = 99; 28%) with a final theme of perceived pressure from others (n = 11; 3%). From a practical perspective, the diversity of these reasons suggest that more clarity on the source of regret should be present in assessment, while building from both attitude and identity theories may help understand how regret motivates PA in future intervention.

Keywords: anticipated affective reactions, theory of planned behavior, exercise, affective judgments, thought listing

INTRODUCTION

The health benefits of regular physical activity (PA) are extensive and include reducing the risks of acquiring over 25 chronic conditions (Warburton et al., 2007). Despite this irrefutable evidence, few people engage in enough PA to reap even minimal health protective gain (Troiano et al., 2008; Colley et al., 2011). Clearly, PA promotion is of paramount concern to public health.

The use of sound theoretical approaches to understanding PA has been advocated in order to provide organized frameworks for targeted intervention (Rhodes and Nigg, 2011). Much of this theoretical research has applied social cognitive approaches that emphasize the considerable rational benefits of performing PA and enhancing control over performance (Fishbein et al., 2001). One aspect that has been under-developed in past social cognitive approaches within the PA domain is the potential role of affective processes (Rhodes et al., 2009b; Ekkekakis et al., 2013; Williams and Evans, 2014; Rhodes and Kates, 2015).

Affective expectations of enjoyment are reliable correlates of PA that add additional variance to our understanding of the behavior (Rhodes et al., 2009b; Teixeira et al., 2012). Among these sets of expectations, however, there is also evidence that anticipated affective experience from

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Martin S. Hagger, Curtin University, Australia Malgorzata Maria Slawinska, Northumbria University, UK

*Correspondence:

Ryan E. Rhodes rhodes@uvic.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 25 February 2016 Accepted: 26 April 2016 Published: 10 May 2016

Citation:

Rhodes RE and Mistry CD (2016) Understanding the Reasons behind Anticipated Regret for Missing Regular Physical Activity. Front. Psychol. 7:700. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00700 performing the behavior, may be different from the anticipated affective reaction to not performing the behavior (Conner et al., 2015). These anticipated affective reactions to abstention are typically labeled anticipated regret (Abraham and Sheeran, 2003). Our literature review of anticipated regret and PA identified seven studies that have applied the construct (Conner and Abraham, 2001; Abraham and Sheeran, 2003, 2004; Jackson et al., 2003; Sheeran and Abraham, 2003; Sandberg and Conner, 2011; Wang, 2011). Of the two experimental studies (Abraham and Sheeran, 2004; Sandberg and Conner, 2011), both showed that modifications to anticipated regret increased PA, albeit modestly. Furthermore, four of the five studies to evaluate the predictive capability of anticipated regret, showed it had a contribution to explaining intention independent of social cognitive factors in the theory of planned behavior (Conner and Abraham, 2001; Abraham and Sheeran, 2004; Sandberg and Conner, 2011; Wang, 2011). Thus, the construct has fairly reliable evidence in the PA domain as a predictor of PA.

Conner et al. (2015) propose the theoretical process for how anticipated regret affects PA is via self-conscious emotions (e.g., guilt; Giner-Sorolla, 2001). These negative emotions are anticipated pre-emptively and serve as motivation to avoid the outcome (Simonson, 1992). Interestingly, this also reflects the self-regulating processes for behavioral performance in identity theory (Stryker and Burke, 2000). Identities are considered components of a self-concept, organized by standards on how one views themselves in a given role (Burke, 2006). These standards act as comparators to actual behavior, and are activated in relevant situations where identities are either aligned or mismatched with one's behavior. Discrepancies challenge an identity and provide negative affect that serves to motivate identity consistent behavioral actions (Stets and Burke, 2000; Price Tangney, 2003), a premise with support in the PA domain (Flora et al., 2012). Thus, prompting anticipated regret for missing PA may serve as activation of ones identity for health and well-being, or goal-driven achievement. Currently, no research has examined the reasons behind responses to PA anticipated regret, so the mechanisms remain unexamined.

While the suggested mechanisms for anticipated regret by Conner et al. (2015) seem sensible, there may also be other reasons less tied to self-conscious emotions or personal standards. For example, regret may be from mere expectations of missed opportunities. If one values the outcome of a particular behavior, failure to perform the behavior may be regretted even if there is no personal shame or guilt involved. In this case, anticipated regret may be a better measure of anticipated value of the behavior and add conceptually to the outcome expectation or attitude concept (Fishbein et al., 2001). Another possibility for regret may align more with feelings of external guilt associated with not performing the PA. This notion is commensurate with introjected regulation in selfdetermination theory (Deci and Ryan, 2000), where one feels a sense of obligatory duty to perform the behavior to appease others but also seems aligned with subjective norm and the perceived pressure one may feel from outside social forces (Ajzen, 1991). Given these are all plausible alternatives to the reasons for experiencing anticipated regret, a formal examination

would be helpful to better articulate the construct and its antecedents.

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to theme reasons for why people respond to moderate and vigorous intensity PA anticipated regret using thought listing procedures. We also sought to explore whether participants who were regularly active had different responses from those who were active. Based on the rationale and theorizing from Conner et al. (2015), we hypothesized that most people would anticipate regretting PA due to self-conscious reasons or personal standards. Nevertheless, we hypothesized that some people may regret PA as a missed opportunity to improve health and well-being or from external pressures.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedures

Participants were students enrolled in the 2014 winter term at the University of Victoria, Canada. A list of all 100- and 200-level classes at the university were collected (k = 667). Classes were stratified by year and 10 different Faculties and assigned a random number between 0 and 1. The list was sorted by the random number in descending order. Within each year and Faculty, two classes with random numbers closest to 1 were selected to be contacted. Nineteen 100- and 200-level classes were randomly selected to be contacted through the university email system. The content of the email asked potential participants to complete a short survey on beliefs and motives for PA. The link for the survey was provided at the end of the email.

After informed consent, participants were asked to complete a measure of PA. On the next page of the survey, we then defined PA to create a context for subsequent questions. PA was defined as aerobic activities at least 150 min per week during free time that was in the moderate intensity (brisk pace) or higher range. Regular brisk walking was provided as an example of how one could achieve this level of PA. We also included resistance training, defined as any work with weights (squats, deadlift, bench press, curls, etc.) and other strength exercises (push-ups, pull-ups, and sit-ups) done during free time (i.e., not occupation, school, or housework). Participation in resistance training was defined as at least two bouts per week to align with Canadian public health guidelines (Tremblay et al., 2011). Following this definition of PA participants completed the anticipated regret question and thought listing procedure.

Measures

Anticipated Regret

To elicit the reasons behind anticipated regret, participants were asked to consider the definition of PA noted above and then asked if they would feel regret if they did not engage in this amount of activity over the next 2 weeks. The participants were then directed to a forced dichotomy answer of a yes or no response. The phrase used in this question was identical to prior items used to asses anticipated regret in the PA domain (Abraham and Sheeran, 2003, 2004; Sheeran and Abraham, 2003), yet the forced dichotomization was created in this study to help elicit reasons for participant choices.

<u>The thought listing</u> measure included the statement "considering your answer on the last question, please list the main reasons why you generally think you will regret, or not regret engaging in regular PA." Five short open lines followed this statement, so that participants could express their views. This follows similar guidelines to general thought listing methodology (e.g., Petty and Cacioppo, 1986).

Behavior

Participants reported the frequency and duration of participation in mild, moderate, and vigorous intensity PA using the Godin Leisure Time Exercise Questionnaire (GLTEQ; Godin and Shephard, 1985; Godin et al., 1986). The GLTEQ was modified to correspond with current public health guidelines for moderate and vigorous intensity activity. The GLTEQ is a valid and reliable measure of PA and is one of the most commonly applied selfreport measures of PA (Jacobs et al., 1993).

Analysis Plan

Following sample descriptives, the main hypotheses were evaluated using thematic coding to categorize reasons for anticipated regret. These data were coded as total counts per theme (Petty and Cacioppo, 1986), similar to prior research (Rhodes and Blanchard, 2007). Specifically, a judge was trained to code the thoughts, identify the valence of each thought (positive negative) and to identify themes. A theme was created if at least 3% (n = 10) of the sample made reference to it as a reason for their reports of regret, however, we anticipated possible themes of missed opportunity (outcome values), self-conscious guilt, and external pressures. After primary coding, a second coder independently categorized reasons as well as identified the valence of each reason. The inter-rater reliability for the categories ($\alpha = 0.89$) and valence ($\alpha = 1.00$) were acceptable. Finally, responses were sub-coded by whether participants reported meeting Canadian PA guidelines (Tremblay et al., 2011) in order to describe the proportions of respondents by theme. To provide some falsification to this examination, we considered failure to align with a theme as outright rejection of a hypothesis, while <50% endorsement of a theme as only moderate evidence for the hypothesis. We subsequently considered differences between active and inactive participants higher than 10% as minimally meaningful (Cohen, 1992) for the exploratory analyses.

RESULTS

Sample Descriptives

Participants were 120 university students ($M_{age} = 20.64 \pm 2.88$; 55% female) with 2.35 \pm 1.80 years of university education. Fifty-seven percent of participants were accumulating enough moderate to vigorous PA to meet the Canadian PA guidelines. Nearly the entire sample (n = 114; 95%) of participants said they would feel regret if they were not physically active over the next 2 weeks. Overall, participants provided a mixed range of one

(n = 13; 11%), two (n = 28; 25%), three (n = 28; 25%), four (n = 14; 12%), or five (n = 31; 27%) reasons for regret.

Reasons for Feeling Regret

Thematic analysis of the reasons why respondents would feel regret are provided in **Table 1**. In total, participants cited 378 reasons. Of these, 357 reasons fit into themes; the remaining 21 reasons were not classified because they were too diverse to theme (<10 reasons with similar content). Five themes emerged from the thought listing procedure, although these were also grouped as three dominant over-arching themes.

Missed Opportunity

The most frequent over-arching theme was an expression of the missed opportunities to achieve the benefits of regular PA (n = 255; 69%). In this theme, participants did not express

TABLE 1 | Reasons for anticipated regret of physical activity (PA; N = 357; Active = 202, Inactive = 155).

Themes	n	%	Examples
Missed opportunity	247	69	
Positive expectations	138	39	"I feel better after training" "I know it will improve my mood after" "I want to be fit"
Active	88	25	"Because I want to look good" "I enjoy walking and running"
Inactive	50	14	"It is good for my health"
Negative expectations	109	31	"Gaining weight" "I would lose my gains; Lose strength" "I feel unhealthy physically"
Active	56	16	"I would have a harder time falling asleep" "I would feel bored"
Inactive	53	15	"Missed opportunity to improve my health"
Personal shame	99	28	
Evaluative	89	24	"I would be disappointed in myself" "I would feel lazy"
Active	44	12	"I would feel guilty" "I feel like I am failing myself"
Inactive	45	13	"I would feel like I let myself down" "Disappointing I can't even stick to my goals"
Descriptive	10	3	"I'm an athlete" "I am an active person"
Active	9	2	"I am a runner"
Inactive	1	0	
External pressures	11	3	
Others	11	3	"My trainer will not be happy" "My tennis partner would kill me"
Active	9	2	"My team depends on my athletic capabilities" "I have a responsibility to exercise partner"
Inactive	2	1	"Will let down my team"

Inactive participants defined as <150 weekly minutes of moderate + strenuous intensity PA.

a sense of personal regret or self-conscious shame, but did express concern for missing what they perceive the behavior bestows on them. The most frequent responses included positive expectations (n = 138; 39%). This was endorsed by 44% of those meeting guidelines and 32% of those not meeting guidelines. Responses were most commonly linked to the affect domain such as "I feel better after training," or "I enjoy walking and running" but many positive expectations also included distal outcomes of PA such as "it is good for my health" or "I want to lose weight." Negative expectations in the form of a missed opportunity were the second highest reported reasons for regret (n = 109, 31%). This was endorsed by 28% of those meeting guidelines and 34% of those not meeting guidelines. These were generally a re-framing of the positive expectations such as "I would lose the gains I have made," "I would be bored," "I would miss the chance to be healthy," or "I would have a harder time falling asleep."

Personal Shame

The next dominant theme for feeling regret reflected responses that linked to the individual's perceived role in the performance of PA. This included 99 responses (28%) across two sub-themes. The most common sub-theme was an expression of personal shame and disappointment (n = 89; 25%). This was endorsed by 22% of those meeting guidelines and 29% of those not meeting guidelines. This theme included responses such as "I would be disappointed in myself," "I would feel like I was failing myself," "it sucks to set goals and then not keep them," and "I would feel like I let myself down." The second sub-theme, considerably smaller in expression (n = 10; 3%), was more descriptive of the personal role one has with regular PA as an identity. This was endorsed by 4% of those meeting guidelines and 1% of those not meeting guidelines. Responses included "I'm an athlete," "I am an active person," or "I am a runner."

External Pressures

The final theme that emerged featured reasons surrounding external pressures for PA. These reasons included no expression of missed opportunity or personal concern but a sense of regret because that others would be letdown by inaction (n = 10; 3%). This was endorsed by 4% of those meeting guidelines and 1% of those not meeting guidelines. Examples for this theme included "My trainer will not be happy," "My team depends on my athletic capabilities," and "My exercise partner would shred me."

DISCUSSION

Anticipated regret is a reliable predictor of future intentions and behavior (Sandberg and Conner, 2008; Conner et al., 2015), but the sources of regret are poorly understood. Thus, the purpose of this study was to theme reasons for why people responded to regret over missing regular PA. Based on the rationale and theorizing from Conner et al. (2015), we hypothesized that most people would anticipate regretting PA due to self-conscious reasons or personal standards. This hypothesis had some support. Almost a third of the reasons given for regret were aligned with personal self-conscious reasons. These were most often expressed in evaluative (e.g., I will feel like I am letting myself down) terms, thus supporting theorizing that negative emotions are anticipated pre-emptively and serve as motivation to avoid the outcome (Simonson, 1992).

A small number of reasons were also framed in terms of an identity in PA (e.g., I am an athlete). From a conceptual standpoint, future research should examine the interplay between PA identity and anticipated regret, as they may be linked via these negative emotions (Stets and Burke, 2000; Price Tangney, 2003). Manipulations where participants are asked to consider not exercising for several weeks have shown that those with exercise identities experience heightened negative affect compared to those who identify less with exercise (Strachan and Brawley, 2008; Strachan et al., 2009) and this includes personal selfconscious emotions (Flora et al., 2012). The manipulations are very similar to the phrasing of anticipated regret questions, so it seems reasonable to assume that identity may be a partial source of these anticipated affective reactions. As PA identity is also a reliable predictor of intention and behavior (Rhodes et al., 2016) an examination of these constructs may be helpful in developing theoretical depth. Interestingly, the only study to evaluate both concepts in the same model showed that anticipated regret was not related to intention independent of identity, although they shared only a modest relationship with each other (Jackson et al., 2003). Clearly more research is needed to make any judgments on how these constructs interrelate.

A rather surprising finding from our results was that the dominant theme for anticipated regret was about the missed opportunities that regular PA bestows. These reasons were not framed in terms of any self-conscious emotions but merely that participants would miss out on an enjoyable experience, a chance to get outdoors, the potential to keep healthy, or to maintain/improve one's figure. While, we did hypothesize that some regret would be from this missed opportunity, we did not expect such an overwhelming 69% of responses to reflect this aspect.

These results are important because they shed light on how people are perceiving regret and where this may fit in terms of our current theories. Much of regret may be overlapping with the conceptual aspects of attitudes/behavioral beliefs (Fishbein et al., 2001). Interestingly, this was also the only area where there was a marked difference in our exploratory analyses of these themes separated by past activity status (i.e., meeting PA guidelines). Active participants reported even more positive expectations than inactive participants, which is likely a consequence of stronger overall behavioral beliefs toward PA (McEachan et al., 2011). It may be that anticipated regret questions are helpful measures of these concepts because they underlie the personal value component. That is, when people are asked to answer whether PA is important or beneficial in traditional attitude questions, they may be answering in a more colloquial sense than when asked if they would regret not reaping these benefits. Typically, asking about the expectancy and value of PA in a straightforward approach has not yielded much predictive benefit above mere expectancies (Gagne and Godin, 2000; Rhodes et al., 2009a),

yet an expression of this using regret, which may personalize the response, could be useful. Anticipated regret for PA does tend to correlate with attitude in the medium to large range (Conner and Abraham, 2001; Abraham and Sheeran, 2003, 2004; Jackson et al., 2003; Sheeran and Abraham, 2003; Sandberg and Conner, 2011; Wang, 2011), underscoring its shared variance. Furthermore, experimental manipulations of anticipated regret are centered upon the attitudinal domain (either through exposure to attitude questions or educational material; Abraham and Sheeran, 2004; Sandberg and Conner, 2011) and so this follows a logical sequence that anticipated regret may better reflect the personalized value of PA than standard attitude questions. Regardless, the divisive reasons for regret, between selfconscious emotions and missed opportunities, suggest that more clarity is needed in future anticipated regret measurement. We recommend that these reasons (e.g., I would regret not engaging in PA because I would feel I am letting myself down; I would regret not engaging in PA because I will have missed a chance to improve my health) be included in future assessments to help tease out the different sources of regret.

Finally, a small number of reasons (3%) for regret reflected less personal shame or missed opportunity than external social pressures. These included letting key others down (e.g., teammates, workout partner) who seemed tied to the respondent's social network. The relatively low number of responses for these external pressures suggests this is not a frequent source of regret and would not explain much of its strong predictive value in intention and behavior. This is commensurate with subjective norm in the theory of planned behavior and introjected regulation in selfdetermination theory as neither construct is a reliable predictor of PA (McEachan et al., 2011; Teixeira et al., 2012). Still, the above noted recommendation to clarify the reasons for regret during assessment would help parse out external social obligations from the more frequent sources of regret in future research.

Despite the interesting and novel findings of the study, there are limitations that warrant mention. First, the sample

REFERENCES

- Abraham, C., and Sheeran, P. (2003). Acting on intentions: the role of anticipated regret. Br. J. Soc. Psychol. 42, 495–511. doi: 10.1348/0144666033225 95248
- Abraham, C., and Sheeran, P. (2004). Deciding to exercise: the role of anticipated regret. Br. J. Health Psychol. 9, 269–278. doi: 10.1348/135910704773 891096
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 50, 179–211. doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Burke, P. J. (2006). Identity change. Soc. Psychol. Q. 69, 81–96. doi: 10.1177/019027250606900106
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychol. Bull.* 112, 155–159. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Colley, R. C., Garriguet, D., Janssen, I., Craig, C., Clarke, J., and Tremblay, M. S. (2011). Physical activity of canadian children and youth: accelerometer results from the 2007–2009 canadian health measures survey. *Health Rep.* 22, 15–23.

herein is comprised of undergraduate students so these findings may not generalize to older participants. Second, our single item measure of anticipated regret may not have yielded as much from the thought-listing procedure as a multi-item measure, so replication with the more typical two- and threeitems measures will help for future research on this matter. Third, the procedures in this study ask participants to consider hypothetical regret which may be different from the actual feelings of experienced regret. While hypothetical regret would still seemingly serve as the motivation for pre-emptive behavioral enactment, it would be interesting to also examine whether actual regret mirrors the expectations of participants. Fourth, the thought-listing procedure was effective at prompting a host of reasons for regret, but other procedures such as a thinkaloud protocol (Fonteyn et al., 1993) may help triangulate these results

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RR conceived of the topic, wrote the paper, and assisted in the analyses. CM collected these data and engaged in the primary analyses as well as assisting in the writing.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

RR is supported by a Canadian Cancer Society Senior Scientist Award and the Right to Give Foundation with additional funds from the Canadian Cancer Society, the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada and the Canadian Institutes for Health Research.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2016.00700

Data sheet 1 | Reasons for anticipated regret.

- Conner, M., and Abraham, C. (2001). Conscientiousness and the theory of planned behavior: toward a more complete model of the antecedents of intentions and behavior. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 27, 1547–1561. doi: 10.1177/01461672012711014
- Conner, M., McEachan, R., Taylor, N., O'Hara, J., and Lawton, R. (2015). Role of affective attitudes and anticipated affective reactions in predicting health behaviors. *Health Psychol.* 34, 642–652. doi: 10.1037/hea00 00143
- Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behaviour. *Psychol. Inquiry* 11, 227–268. doi: 10.1080/08870440902783628
- Ekkekakis, P., Hargreaves, E. A., and Parfitt, G. (2013). Envisioning the next fifty years of research on the exercise affect relationship. *Psychol. Sport Exercise* 14, 751–758. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2013.04.007
- Fishbein, M., Triandis, H. C., Kanfer, F. H., Becker, M., Middlestadt, S. E., and Eichler, A. (2001). "Factors influencing behavior and behavior change," in *Handbook of Health Psychology*, eds A. Baum and T. A. Revenson (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates), 3–17.

- Flora, P. K., Strachan, S. M., Brawley, L. R., and Spink, K. S. (2012). Exercise identity and attribution properties predict negative self-conscious emotions for exercise relapse. J. Sport Exercise Psychol. 34, 647–660.
- Fonteyn, M. E., Kuipers, B., and Grobe, S. J. (1993). A description of think aloud method and protocol analysis. Q. Health Res. 4, 430–441. doi: 10.1097/WNN.0b013e3181e07d29
- Gagne, C., and Godin, G. (2000). The theory of planned behavior: some measurement issues concerning belief-based variables. *J. Appl. Soc. Psychol.* 30, 2173–2193. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2000.tb02431.x
- Giner-Sorolla, R. (2001). Guilty pleasures and grim necessities: affective attitudes in dilemmas of self-control. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 80, 206–221. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.80.2.206
- Godin, G., Jobin, J., and Bouillon, J. (1986). Assessment of leisure time exercise behavior by self-report: a concurrent validity study. *Can. J. Public Health* 77, 359–361.
- Godin, G., and Shephard, R. J. (1985). A simple method to assess exercise behavior in the community. *Can. J. Appl. Sport Sci.* 10, 141–146.
- Jackson, C., Smith, A., and Conner, M. (2003). Applying an extended version of the theory of planned behaviour to physical activity. J. Sports Sci. 21, 119–133. doi: 10.1080/0264041031000070976
- Jacobs, D. R., Ainsworth, B. E., Hartman, T. J., and Leon, A. S. (1993). A simultaneous evaluation of ten commonly used physical activity questionnaires. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 25, 81–91. doi: 10.1249/00005768-199301000-00012
- McEachan, R. R. C., Conner, M., Taylor, N. J., and Lawton, R. J. (2011). Prospective prediction of health-related behaviors with the theory of planned behavior: a meta-analysis. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 5, 97–144. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.613995
- Petty, R. E., and Cacioppo, J. T. (1986). "The elaboration likelihood model of persuasion," in Advances in Experimental Psychology, ed. L. Berowitz (New York, NY: Academic Press), 124–203.
- Price Tangney, J. (2003). "Self-relevant emotions," in *Handbook of Self and Identity*, eds M. R. Leary and J. Price Tagney (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 384–400.
- Rhodes, R. E., and Blanchard, C. M. (2007). What do confidence items measure in the physical activity domain? J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 37, 759–774. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2007.00184.x
- Rhodes, R. E., Blanchard, C. M., Courneya, K. S., and Plotnikoff, R. C. (2009a). Identifying belief-based targets for the promotion of leisure-time walking. *Health Educ. Behav.* 36, 381–393. doi: 10.1177/1090198107308376
- Rhodes, R. E., Fiala, B., and Conner, M. (2009b). Affective judgments and physical activity: a review and meta-analysis. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 180–204. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9147-y
- Rhodes, R. E., and Kates, A. (2015). Can the affective response to exercise predict future motives and physical activity behavior? A systematic review of published evidence. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 49, 715–731. doi: 10.1007/s12160-015-9704-5
- Rhodes, R. E., Kaushal, N., and Quinlan, A. (2016). Is physical activity a part of who I am? A review and meta-analysis of identity, schema and physical activity. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 10, 204–225.
- Rhodes, R. E., and Nigg, C. R. (2011). Advancing physical activity theory: a review and future directions. *Exercise Sports Sci. Rev.* 39, 113–119. doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e31821b94c8

- Sandberg, T., and Conner, M. (2008). Anticipated regret as an additional predictor in the theory of planned behaviour: a meta-analysis. Br. J. Soc. Psychol. 47, 589–606. doi: 10.1348/014466607X258704
- Sandberg, T., and Conner, M. (2011). Understanding self-generated validity to promote exercise behavior. *Br. J. Soc. Psychol.* 50, 769–783. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8309.2010.02004.x
- Sheeran, P., and Abraham, C. (2003). Mediator of moderators: temporal stability of intention and the intention-behavior relationship. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 29, 205–215. doi: 10.1177/0146167202239046
- Simonson, I. (1992). The influence of anticipated regret and responsibility on purchase decision. J. Consumer Res. 19, 105–118. doi: 10.1086/209290
- Stets, J. E., and Burke, P. J. (2000). Identity theory and social identity theory. Soc. Psychol. Q. 63, 224–237. doi: 10.2307/2695870
- Strachan, S. M., and Brawley, L. R. (2008). Reactions to a perceived challenge to identity: a focus on exercise and healthy eating. J. Health Psychol. 13, 575–588. doi: 10.1177/1359105308090930
- Strachan, S. M., Brawley, L. R., Spink, K. S., and Jung, M. (2009). strength of exercise identity and identity-exercise consistency: affective and cognitive relationships. *J. Health Psychol.* 14, 1196–1206. doi: 10.1177/1359105309346340
- Stryker, S., and Burke, P. J. (2000). The past, present and future of an identity theory. Soc. Psychol. Q. 63, 284–297. doi: 10.2307/2695840
- Teixeira, P. J., Carraça, E. V., Markland, D., Silva, M. N., and Ryan, R. M. (2012). Exercise, physical activity, and self-determination theory: a systematic review. *Int. J. Behav. Nutri. Phys. Activ.* 9:78. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-78
- Tremblay, M. S., Warburton, D. E. R., Janssen, I., Paterson, D. H., Latimer, A. E., and Rhodes, R. E. (2011). New physical activity guidelines for Canadians. *Appl. Physiol. Nutri. Metab.* 36, 36–46. doi: 10.1139/H11-009
- Troiano, R. P., Berrigan, D., Dodd, K. W., Masse, L. C., Tilert, T., and McDowell, M. (2008). Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 40, 181–188. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31815 a51b3
- Wang, X. (2011). The role of anticipated negative emotions and past behavior in individuals' physical activity intentions and behaviors. *Psychol. Sport Exercise* 12, 300–305. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2010.09.007
- Warburton, D. E. R., Katzmarzyk, P., Rhodes, R. E., and Shephard, R. J. (2007). Evidence-informed physical activity guidelines for Canadian adults. *Appl. Physiol. Nutri. Metab.* 32, S16–S68. doi: 10.1139/H07-123
- Williams, D. M., and Evans, D. R. (2014). Current emotion research in health behavior science. *Emot. Rev.* 6, 282–292. doi: 10.1177/1754073914 523052

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Rhodes and Mistry. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Acute Relationships Between Affect, Physical Feeling States, and Physical Activity in Daily Life: A Review of Current Evidence

Yue Liao1*, Eleanor T. Shonkoff² and Genevieve F. Dunton³

¹ Department of Behavioral Science, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA, ² ChildObesity180, Tufts University, Boston, MA, USA, ³ Department of Preventive Medicine, Institute for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention Research, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Wolfgang Michael Schlicht, University of Stuttgart, Germany Martina K. Kanning, University of Stuttgart, Germany Andreas Richard Schwerdtfeger, Karl-Franzens-University Graz, Austria

> ***Correspondence:** Yue Liao yueliao@mdanderson.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 25 September 2015 Accepted: 09 December 2015 Published: 23 December 2015

Citation:

Liao Y, Shonkoff ET and Dunton GF (2015) The Acute Relationships Between Affect, Physical Feeling States, and Physical Activity in Daily Life: A Review of Current Evidence. Front. Psychol. 6:1975. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01975 Until recently, most studies investigating the acute relationships between affective and physical feeling states and physical activity were conducted in controlled laboratory settings, whose results might not translate well to everyday life. This review was among the first attempts to synthesize current evidence on the acute (e.g., within a few hours) relationships between affective and physical feeling states and physical activity from studies conducted in free-living, naturalistic settings in non-clinical populations. A systematic literature search yielded 14 eligible studies for review. Six studies tested the relationship between affective states and subsequent physical activity; findings from these studies suggest that positive affective states were positively associated with physical activity over the next few hours while negative affective states had no significant association. Twelve studies tested affective states after physical activity and yielded consistent evidence for physical activity predicting higher positive affect over the next few hours. Further, there was some evidence that physical activity was followed by a higher level of energetic feelings in the next few hours. The evidence for physical activity reducing negative affect in the next few hours was inconsistent and inconclusive. Future research in this area should consider recruiting more representative study participants, utilizing higher methodological standards for assessment (i.e., electronic devices combined with accelerometry), reporting patterns of missing data, and investigating pertinent moderators and mediators (e.g., social and physical context, intensity, psychological variables). Knowledge gained from this topic could offer valuable insights for promoting daily physical activity adoption and maintenance in non-clinical populations.

Keywords: exercise, mood, accelerometry, experience sampling, ecological momentary assessment, free-living

INTRODUCTION

Despite the health-promoting effects of physical activity (Penedo and Dahn, 2005), most individuals are physically inactive in their daily lives (Bauman et al., 2011). A large body of research has suggested that physical activity can boost emotional well-being (i.e., the "feel good" effect; Reed and Ones, 2006). Several behavioral theories have suggested that individuals will

engage in behaviors that provide pleasure (e.g., Bentham, 1962), or from which they anticipate a positive affective response (e.g., Mellers, 2000). Accordingly, people would be expected to engage in continued physical activity over time if they experienced a boost in positive affect but to exercise less across time if negative affect resulted. Yet, research is lacking on the extent to which these pleasure theories underlie individual motivations to engage in daily physical activity.

Until recently, most studies investigating the acute associations between affective states and physical activity have been conducted in controlled laboratory settings (e.g., performing pedaling exercise in a lab). Although lab studies allow researchers to have a precise control of the physical activity session (i.e., the intensity and duration), and an exact timing of when to assess affective states, the external validity of findings from these studies is questionable since both behaviors and emotion reactions could differ dramatically between lab-based and naturalistic settings (Gunes et al., 2008; Bussmann et al., 2009). One of the reasons is that in the laboratory, conditions are prescribed to participants, while in the real world, individuals have natural preferences and choices about situations they seek and avoid (Wilhelm and Grossman, 2010). Unveiling the acute relationships between affective states and physical activity in free-living situations might help to shed light on how people make decisions to engage in physical activity during their everyday lives. Moreover, most lab-based studies focus on affective responses either during or after physical activity. Whether affective states also act as precursors to engaging in physical activity is less clear. A better understanding of whether affective states predict physical activity (and vice versa) could have important implications for promoting everyday physical activity, especially long-term physical activity maintenance.

Previous studies on this topic usually use a variety of terms such as "affect," "emotion," and "mood" to describe people's psychological experience. While psychologists have distinct definitions for each of these term (e.g., "emotion" is considered to be a more generic term than "affect" since it could include other attributes such as physiological changes; Lazarus, 1991), researchers from other fields (e.g., behavioral science and public health) sometimes use these words interchangeably. In addition, some physical activity researchers use the term "physical feeling states" to capture sensory experiences such as energy and fatigue that may be distinct from positive/negative affective states (Dunton et al., 2014). For this review, all terms used to describe the immediate emotional states that a person feels at any given moment were included, and were hereafter referred to as either "affective states" or "physical feeling states" to reflect their momentary nature.

The current review aimed to answer the following questions among non-clinical populations: (1) Do affective and physical feeling states predict subsequent physical activity levels in freeliving situations? (2) Does free-living physical activity lead to improvement in subsequent affective and physical feeling states (e.g., increases in positive affect, decreases in negative affect)?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Literature Search Strategy

Literature searches were conducted for articles that were published in English using Medline, PsycINFO, and Google Scholar. Articles published prior to November 2, 2015 were included. The following keyword combinations were used: Physical Activity or Exercise and Mood or Emotion or Affect (see Supplementary Table S1 for sample full search strategy used for OVID Medline). Titles and abstracts identified through the search process were reviewed to identify relevant articles.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Studies were included in this review that (1) examined the short term relationship between free-living physical activity and some type of affect or feeling measure; and (2) involved participants who were free from psychological- or physical-disorders. Freeliving physical activity was defined as any physical activity that is not performed in a controlled environment or under extensive monitoring by research personnel for research study purposes.

Studies were excluded if: (1) the physical activity was performed in a controlled lab or research setting; (2) the time frame for the physical activity and affect relationship under examination was greater than 1 day; (3) affect was only measured during physical activity, or the temporal relationship between physical activity and affect was not clear (e.g., study only compared differences in affective state between active vs. nonactive episodes); and (4) physical activity or affect were only assessed at one time point.

Data Extraction

The data extraction procedure involved two stages. First, a coding form was developed for general data extraction to identify study characteristics including source, participants, methods, and results. Second, risk of bias assessment for each study was performed based on four domains including selection bias, confounders, data collection methods, and withdrawals and drop-outs, adapted after the Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies (National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools, 2008). Two reviewers performed the data extraction procedure independently. All discrepancies between reviewer's ratings were resolved through discussions that led to a consensus.

RESULTS

Literature Search

The initial searches yielded 3,745 potentially relevant articles. After title and abstract scanning, 211 articles were retrieved for further evaluation. One hundred and two studies were excluded because physical activity was not measured in a free-living situation. Forty-two studies were excluded because the association between physical activity and affect was observed over a time frame greater than 1 day. Twenty-eight studies were excluded because physical activity was only assessed at one time point (e.g., one aerobic class session). Another 25 studies were

excluded because the temporal precedence of either physical activity or mood was not clear (e.g., examined the association between average daily physical activity level and average daily mood) or because of the cross-sectional study design. A total of 14 unique studies were eligible for the final review (see **Supplementary Figure S1**).

Study Characteristics

Table 1 summarizes the general characteristics of the 14 included studies. A majority of the studies (N = 12) utilized an experience sampling or Ecological Momentary Assessment (EMA) method (for more details about these two methods, see papers by Scollon et al., 2003; Shiffman et al., 2008, and Ebner-Priemer and Trull, 2009). Among these studies, 9 used electronic devices (e.g., a PDA) to deliver surveys and collect responses, and the other three used paper-pencil surveys with beepers to signal alerts. Only 6 studies used an objective measure (i.e., accelerometer) of physical activity. Seven studies used a self-reported physical activity instrument. One used gym attendance (based on a computerized scan of membership card for gym entry) as a proxy for physical activity and cross-checked with self-reported exercise tracking forms.

Quality Assessment

Table 2 shows the results of the quality assessment for each study. Selection bias was generally high (rating of weak) since most studies used convenience samples (e.g., college students) instead of randomly selected participants from the general population (only one study recruited this way). All studies used appropriate statistical methods (e.g., multilevel modeling) to control for clustering within individuals and some studies additionally controlled for other within-person confounding variables. Data collection methods were rated for both affect and physical activity assessment, and one studies received a weak rating due to the use of unestablished assessment tools. Three studies received a weak rating on withdrawals since they did not report any information regarding study drop-outs or missing data. Overall, three studies received a weak global rating.

Short-Term Associations of Affective States with Subsequent Physical Activity

Only 6 of the 14 studies examined whether affective states predicted subsequent physical activity. Three studies found a significant positive association between positive affect and subsequent physical activity (Carels et al., 2007; Dunton et al., 2009; Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010), two found positive but nonsignificant association (Mata et al., 2012; Dunton et al., 2014), and one found a significant negative association (Wichers et al., 2012). In these studies, the length of accumulated physical activity levels being examined ranged from 30 min after assessment of positive affect (Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010; Dunton et al., 2014) to the whole day after affect assessment in the morning (Carels et al., 2007). Overall, based on findings from these studies, there is preliminary evidence for positive affective states predicting subsequent physical activity. Five studies examined the association between negative affect and subsequent physical activity. One study found that higher negative affect was associated with less physical activity within a subsequent 30-min window (Dunton et al., 2009). None of the other four studies found a significant association (Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010; Mata et al., 2012; Wichers et al., 2012; Dunton et al., 2014). Therefore, preliminary evidence suggests that negative affective state is not necessarily an antecedent of physical activity in free-living situations.

Two studies also examined the association between physical feeling states (i.e., energy and fatigue) and subsequent physical activity. One study found that feeling more energetic led to more subsequent physical activity, and feeling more tired was associated with less subsequent physical activity (Dunton et al., 2014) in children. The other study did not find any significant association among middle-aged to older adults (Dunton et al., 2009). Overall, the evidence for physical feeling states predicting subsequent physical activity is very limited and inconclusive.

Short-Term Associations of Physical Activity with Subsequent Affective States

Twelve studies examined the effects of physical activity on subsequent affective state. Eight out of the 11 studies found a significantly positive association between physical activity and subsequent positive affective state. In these studies, the time frame of the association ranged from immediately after (Gauvin et al., 1996; Carels et al., 2007; LePage and Crowther, 2010), to 3 h after a physical activity bout/session (Guérin et al., 2013). Three studies did not find a significant relationship (Mata et al., 2012; von Haaren et al., 2013; Kanning et al., 2015), and one did not report the significance test result (Annesi, 2002). Thus, based on these results, there is some consistent evidence for physical activity improving subsequent positive affective state.

Of the five studies that tested the effects of physical activity on subsequent negative affective state, two found a significant decrease in negative affect after engaging in physical activity (Gauvin et al., 1996; LePage and Crowther, 2010), two found no significant association (Mata et al., 2012; Wichers et al., 2012), and one found no significant association at within-person level but a significantly negative association at between-person level (Dunton et al., 2014). Therefore, the current evidence for physical activity decreasing subsequent negative affective state is mixed and inconclusive.

Seven studies also tested effects of physical activity on subsequent physical feeling states (e.g., energetic and calmness/tranquility). Five studies found a significant positive association between physical activity and subsequent feeling of energy (Gauvin et al., 1996; Kanning et al., 2012, 2015; Kanning, 2013; Dunton et al., 2014), one did not find a significant association (von Haaren et al., 2013), and one did not report the significance test result (Annesi, 2002). Thus, there is some evidence for physical activity increasing subsequent feeling of energy. Three studies found a significant decrease in calmness (Kanning et al., 2012, 2015; Kanning, 2013), one found a significant increase (Gauvin et al., 1996), one did not find a significant association (von Haaren et al., 2013), and one did not

First author, year	Country	n# Participant characteristics	Mean age (ranç	ge)Female %	inge)Female Affect assessment %	Affect assessment frequency	Physical activity assessment
Kanning et al., 2015	Gemany	69 A randomized sample of older adults	60.1(50-70)	51%	A six-item short scale adapted from the Multidimensional Mood Questionnaire (measures energetic arousal, valence, and calmness, with two bipolar for each).	When accelerometer detected a volume of physical activity that surpassed a predefined activity threshold (activity > 220 mili-g: 10-min moving average) or fell below a predefined inactivity threshold for 3 days.	Activity level measured from accelerometer for 3 days.
Dunton et al., 2014	United States	119Children from low to middle income households	N/A(9-13)	51%	Rating on eight adjectives assessing PA (two items), NA (four items), energy (one item), and fatigue (one item).	Randomly 3–7 times a day during preprogrammed intervals for 4 days.	Activity level measured from accelerometer for 4 days.
von Haaren et al., 2013	Germany	29 Inactive college students	21.3(N/A)	N/A	A six-item short scale adapted from the Multidimensional Mood Questionnaire (measures energetic arousal, valence, and calmness, with two bipolar for each).	Randomly every 2 h between 10 am and 10 pmActivity level measured from for 2 days.	mActivity level measured from accelerometer for 2 days.
Guérin et al., 2013	Canada	63 Active mothers	42.6(N/A)	100%	PA subscale (10 items) from the Positive and Negative Affect Scale (PANAS).	Before, after, and 3-h after each self-reported moderate-to-vigorous physical activity session for 2 weeks.	Self-reported type, intensity, and duration of exercise.
Kanning, 2013 Germany	Germany	87 College students	24.6(N/A)	54%	A six-item short scale adapted from the Multidimensional Mood Questionnaire (measures energetic arousal, valence, and calmness, with two bipolar for each).	Randomly every 45 min for 14 h.	Activity level measured from accelerometer for 1 day.
Kanning et al., Germany 2012	Germany	44 College students	26.2(N/A)	48%	A six-item short scale adapted from the Multidimensional Mood Questionnaire (measures energetic arousal, valence, and calmness, with two bipolar for each).	Every 45 min for 14 h.	Activity level measured from accelerometer for 1 day.
Mata et al., 2012	United States	53 Volunteers recruited from community	25.4(N/A)	%02	Rating on 11 adjectives assessing PA (four items) and NA (seven items) guided by PANAS.	Every 90 min (up to eight times each day) for 7–8 days.	Self-reported activity level (Godin) at each electronic survey prompt.
Wichers et al., 2012	Belgium	504Female twins from the general population	27(18–46)	100%	Ratings on 10 adjective assessing PA (four Randomly even) items) and NA (seven items) guided by PANAS. day) for 5 days.	Randomly every 90 min (up to 10 times each day) for 5 days.	Self-reported one item of activity level on a 7-point Likert scale at each electronic survey prompt.
Schwerdtfeger Germany et al., 2010	Germany	124Volunteers recruited through campus	31.7(18–73)	52%	Rating on 11 adjectives assessing PA (six items)Every 1 h for 1 day (about 12 total for each and NA (five items).	Every 1 h for 1 day (about 12 total for each participant).	Activity level measured from accelerometer for 1 day.
LePage and United Crowther, 2010States	United 0 States	54 Regularly active college 19.1(N/A) students	a 19.1(N/A)	1 00%	PA (10 items) and NA (10 items) subscales fromRandomly four times a day and following each the PANAS - Expanded Form (PANAS-X). self-reported exercise bout for 10 days.	Randomly four times a day and following each self-reported exercise bout for 10 days.	Self-reported type and amount of exercise.
Dunton et al., 2009	United States	23 Inactive adults aged 50+ years recruited from community	60.7(50–76)	%02	Rating on 10 adjectives assessing PA (one Four fixed times (7:45 am, 11:45 a items), NA (seven items), energy (one item), and and 7:45 pm) per day for 2 weeks. fatigue (one item).	Four fixed times (7:45 am, 11:45 am, 3:45 pm, and 7:45 pm) per day for 2 weeks.	, Self-reported type and duration of exercise.
Carels et al., 2007	United States	36 Obese participants recruited from community	49.3(N/A)	89%	A single-item, unidimensional 10-point feeling scale ranging from "very negative mood" to "very positive mood."	Daily diary filled out each morning and before bedtime, and before and after each self-reported exercise bout for 8 weeks.	Self-reported type, intensity, and duration of exercise.
Annesi, 2002	United States	69 Fitness center members from community	37.9(21–60)	71%	Exercise-induced Feeling Inventory (12-item) assessing positive engagement, revitalization, tranquility, and physical exhaustion.	Before and after each self-reported exercise bout for 6 weeks across 14 weeks.	Fitness center attendance cross-checked with self-reported exercise tracking forms.
Gauvin et al., 1996	United States	86 Recruited through YMCA from community	32.9(N/A)	1 00%	Exercise-induced Feeling Inventory (12-item) and 4 adjectives for PA 5 adjectives for NA	Randomly four times a day, and before and after self-renorted exercise bouts for 6 weeks.	Self-reported intensity of physical activity (that lasted at least 20 min)

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of included studies.

TABLE 2 | Quality assessment of included studies.

Study	Selection bias	Confounders ¹	Data collection methods ²	Withdrawals and drop-outs	Global rating ³
Kanning et al., 2015	Moderate	Strong	Strong	Strong	Strong
Dunton et al., 2014	Weak	Moderate	Strong	Strong	Moderate
von Haaren et al., 2013	Weak	Moderate	Strong	Weak	Weak
Guérin et al., 2013	Weak	Moderate	Strong	Strong	Moderate
Kanning et al., 2013	Weak	Moderate	Strong	Strong	Moderate
Kanning et al., 2012	Weak	Moderate	Strong	Weak	Weak
Mata et al., 2012	Moderate	Strong	Strong	Strong	Strong
Wichers et al., 2012	Strong	Strong	Moderate	Strong	Strong
Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010	Weak	Strong	Strong	Weak	Weak
LePage and Crowther, 2010	Weak	Moderate	Moderate	Strong	Moderate
Dunton et al., 2009	Weak	Moderate	Moderate	Strong	Moderate
Carels et al., 2007	Moderate	Strong	Weak	Moderate	Moderate
Annesi, 2002	Weak	Moderate	Moderate	Strong	Moderate
Gauvin et al., 1996	Weak	Moderate	Moderate	Strong	Moderate

¹Studies were rated as strong on confounders (i.e., sufficiently controlled for potential confounding variables) if a multilevel modeling method was used (i.e., controlling for multiple observations within-person) and other within-person confounding variables were included (e.g., activity taking place 15 min before the affect assessment, preactivity affect and feeling states, pleasantness of activity, and time of day). Studies were rated as moderate if only one of the two methods of controlling for confounding was used. ²Affect assessment and physical activity assessment were rated separately for data collection methods for each study. Studies were rated strong for affect assessment if they used an established scale with known reliability and validity. Studies were rated as strong for physical activity assessment if a valid and reliable self-reported measure was used; and as weak if no validity or reliability of the self-reported measure was used. ³Studies were rated as strong if they received three Strong ratings with no Weak ratings; as moderate if less than three Strong and one Weak ratings; as weak if two or more Weak ratings.

report significance test result (Annesi, 2002). Thus, the effect of physical activity on subsequent feelings of calmness is mixed and inconclusive.

negative affective states (e.g., feeling stressed, sad, anxious) among non-clinical populations.

DISCUSSION

To the authors' knowledge, this review is one of the first attempts to systematically examine the bi-directional acute relationship between affective and physical feeling states and free-living physical activity among non-clinical populations. The fact that only a limited number of studies were included in our review suggests that more research is needed to better understand the links between affective states and free-living physical activity, especially whether and how affective and physical feeling states might act as a predictor for daily physical activity. Findings from this review show that positive affective states could potentially lead to being more physically active subsequently, although this positive relationship did not always reach significance. Further, most studies did not find a significant relationship between negative affective state and subsequent physical activity. Physical feeling states (i.e., energy and fatigue) might also be a predictor for free-living physical activity, although current evidence only showed this effect among children but not older adults. Overall, current literature suggests that people's affective states, especially positive affective states (e.g., happy, excited), might be a predictor of free-living physical activity. Similar to the findings from lab studies (e.g., Reed and Ones, 2006), results from this review show that physical activity seems to improve immediate subsequent positive affective states and enhances feelings of vitality in people's daily lives. However, engaging in physical activity may not necessarily decrease subsequent

Limitations of Current Studies

The present review used a modified version of Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies to assess study quality across all included studies, which addressed aspects (e.g., selection bias, data collection methods, withdrawals/missing data) that could be important for future studies to consider when investigating the acute relationships between affective and physical feeling states and physical activity in freeliving settings. First, most of the reviewed studies used a convenience sample (e.g., undergraduate students from a Psychology class). Therefore, findings from these studies might not be representative of the general population, or high-risk populations for physical inactivity. Future studies on this topic would be strengthened by recruiting more representative (e.g., diverse age, ethnicity, and socioeconomic background) study participants from community-based samples.

Secondly, only six studies used both an electronic device to deliver and record momentary mood assessment, and an accelerometer to measure physical activity levels; which is considered as the highest methodological standard to use for investigating within-person associations between momentary affective states and physical activity in everyday lives (see the position statement by Kanning et al., 2013). Further, in order to capture a more representative sample of people's behaviors, the total monitoring period should also be longer (e.g., more than 1 day).

Finally, none of the reviewed studies that used electronic devices provided information regarding level of data loss or

missing data. As reported by Dunton et al. (2012), missing data from EMA could be due to non-compliance (i.e., nonresponse or non-wear) by the participants, or could be due to technical problems with the devices (e.g., device lost/damage, battery drain, app failed to initiate). A better understanding of the reasons for data loss could provide important insights for future studies that may want to adopt technology-based devices (e.g., whether researchers should put more effort into ensuring participant compliance or enhance device reliability). Therefore, when reporting results, researchers should consider providing such information.

Future Directions

Future research in this area could be informed through the exploration of potential moderators of the acute relationships between affective states and physical activity, such as co-occurring contextual exposures. Studies have suggested that adults are more likely to be physically active if their significant others are also exercising with them (Giles-Corti and Donovan, 2002), and are less active when they are at home indoors compared with other locations (Liao et al., 2015). Further, being with other people may enhance positive affective response during physical activity compared to alone (Dunton et al., 2015), and more positive affective states occurred when outdoors and with others than when indoors and alone (Dunton et al., 2011). More studies on this topic are needed to examine the multi-way interactions among physical activity, affective, and physical feeling states, and physical and social contexts to find an optimal contextual setting for physical activity engagement. In addition, other psychological variables could influence both affective/physical feeling states and physical activity levels. For instance, one of the reviewed studies showed that the more the physical activity was autonomously regulated, the more energetic individuals felt afterwards (Kanning et al., 2012), and the other study found that higher momentary self-efficacy led to a higher physical activity level (Dunton et al., 2009). It would be worthwhile to investigate how fluctuations in these psychological variables might acutely influence affective states and physical activity or moderate their relation. For example, does positive affective response to physical activity change global self-efficacy or outcome expectancies over time, leading to more physical activity?

Further, intensity and duration of physical activity may influence the affective responses to physical activity (e.g., the dual-mode model; Ekkekakis, 2005). However, research in this area has mainly been performed in controlled laboratory settings. Only two of the reviewed studies examined the role of perceived intensity and both found that higher intensity activities led to a greater increase in positive affect afterwards (Carels et al., 2007; Guérin et al., 2013). In addition, since sedentary behavior is associated with increased risks of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease (Edwardson et al., 2012; Wilmot et al., 2012); and there are studies demonstrating the metabolic-health benefits from breaks in sedentary time (e.g., some light activity in-between sedentary time; Owen et al., 2010). It would be also be a promising direction to examine how reduced sedentary time may affect affective states in future studies.

Lastly, although observational studies carried out in freeliving settings have the strengths of demonstrating ecological validity and temporal precedence of the associations between affective states and physical activity, these studies are limited in their ability to draw causal conclusions. Future studies should seek out methods to test these associations using experimentally based approaches such as randomly assigning individuals to affect or activity conditions and measuring subsequent free-living behavior.

In summary, more research is needed to elucidate the bidirectional relationships between affective and physical feeling states and physical activity, especially whether and how affective and physical feeling states might acutely predict subsequent activity in people's everyday lives. More research in these areas would be valuable for physical activity adoption and long-term physical activity maintenance strategies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YL conceived of the study, conducted the literature search, performed data extraction, and drafted the manuscript. ES performed data extraction. GD conceived of the study, participated in its design, and helped to draft the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was partially supported by the American Cancer Society under Grant 118283-MRSGT-10-012-01-CPPB (Dunton, PI); National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute under Grants 1R01HL119255 (Dunton, PI) and 1R21HL108018 (Dunton, Intille, PIs).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Dr. Luanne Rohrbach from Department of Preventive Medicine at the University of Southern California for her comments on the preliminary version of this manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2015.01975

FIGURE S1 | Flowchart for literature search.

REFERENCES

- Annesi, J. J. (2002). Relationship between changes in acute exercise-induced feeling states, self-motivation, and adults' adherence to moderate aerobic exercise. *Percept. Mot. Skills* 94, 425–439. doi: 10.2466/pms.2002.94.2.467
- Bauman, A., Ainsworth, B. E., Sallis, J. F., Hagströmer, M., Craig, C. L., Bull, F. C., et al. (2011). The descriptive epidemiology of sitting: a 20-country comparison using the international physical activity questionnaire (IPAQ). Am. J. Prev. Med. 41, 228–235. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2011.05.003
- Bentham, J. (1962). The Collected Works of Jeremy Bentham: An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Bussmann, J. B. J., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Fahrenberg, J. (2009). Ambulatory activity monitoring: progress in measurement of activity, posture, and specific motion patterns in daily life. *Eur. Psychol.* 14, 142–152. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040.14.2.142
- Carels, R. A., Coit, C., Young, K., and Berger, B. (2007). Exercise makes you feel good, but does feeling good make you exercise? An examination of obese dieters. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 29, 706–722.
- Dunton, G. F., Atienza, A. A., Castro, C. M., and King, A. C. (2009). Using ecological momentary assessment to examine antecedents and correlates of physical activity bouts in adults age 50+ years: a pilot study. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 249–255. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9141-4
- Dunton, G. F., Huh, J., Leventhal, A. M., Riggs, N., Hedeker, D., Spruijt-Metz, D., et al. (2014). Momentary assessment of affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in children. *Health Psychol.* 33, 255–263. doi: 10.1037/a00 32640
- Dunton, G. F., Liao, Y., Intille, S., Huh, J., and Leventhal, A. (2015). Momentary assessment of contextual influences on affective response during physical activity. *Health Psychol.* 34, 1145–1153. doi: 10.1037/hea0000223
- Dunton, G. F., Liao, Y., Intille, S., Wolch, J., and Pentz, M. A. (2011). Physical and social contextual influences on children's leisure-time physical activity: an ecological momentary assessment study. *J. Phys. Act. Health* 8(Suppl. 1), S103–S108.
- Dunton, G. F., Liao, Y., Kawabata, K., and Intille, S. (2012). Momentary assessment of adults' physical activity and sedentary behavior: feasibility and validity. *Front. Psychol.* 3:260. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00260
- Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Trull, T. J. (2009). Ambulatory assessment: an innovative and promising approach for clinical psychology. *Eur. Psychol.* 14, 109–119. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040.14.2.95
- Edwardson, C. L., Gorely, T., Davies, M. J., Gray, L. J., Khunti, K., Wilmot, E. G., et al. (2012). Association of sedentary behaviour with metabolic syndrome: a meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE* 7:e34916. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034916
- Ekkekakis, P. (2005). "The study of affective responses to acute exercise: the dualmode model," in *New Approaches to Sport and Exercise Psychology*, eds R. Stelter and K. K. Roessler (Aachen: Meyer & Meyer Sport), 119–146.
- Gauvin, L., Rejeski, W. J., and Norris, J. L. (1996). A naturalistic study of the impact of acute physical activity on feeling states and affect in women. *Health Psychol.* 15, 391–397. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.15.5.391
- Giles-Corti, B., and Donovan, R. J. (2002). The relative influence of individual, social and physical environment determinants of physical activity. Soc. Sci. Med. 54, 1793–1812. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00150-2
- Guérin, E., Fortier, M. S., and Sweet, S. N. (2013). An experience sampling study of physical activity and positive affect: investigating the role of situational motivation and perceived intensity across time. *Health Psychol. Res.* 1, e21. doi: 10.4081/hpr.2013.704
- Gunes, H., Piccardi, M., and Pantic, M. (2008). "From the Lab to the real world: affect recognition using multiple cues and modalities," in *Affective Computing: Focus on Emotion Expression, Synthesis, and Recognition*, ed. J. Or (Vienna: I-Tech Education and Publishing), 185–218.
- Kanning, M. (2013). Using objective, real-time measures to investigate the effect of actual physical activity on affective states in everyday life differentiating the contexts of working and leisure time in a sample with students. *Front. Psychol.* 3:602. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00602
- Kanning, M., Ebner-Priemer, U., and Brand, R. (2012). Autonomous regulation mode moderates the effect of actual physical activity on affective states: an ambulant assessment approach to the role of self-determination. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 34, 260–269.

- Kanning, M. K., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Schlicht, W. M. (2013). How to investigate within-subject associations between physical activity and momentary affective states in everyday life: a position statement based on a literature overview. *Front. Psychol.* 4:187. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00187
- Kanning, M., Ebner-Priemer, U., and Schlicht, W. (2015). Using activity triggered e-diaries to reveal the associations between physical activity and affective states in older adult's daily living. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 12, 111. doi: 10.1186/s12966-015-0272-7
- Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Progress on a cognitive-motivational-relational theory of emotion. Am. Psychol. 46, 819–834. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.46.8.819
- LePage, M. L., and Crowther, J. H. (2010). The effects of exercise on body satisfaction and affect. *Body Image* 7, 124–130. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2009.12.002
- Liao, Y., Intille, S., and Dunton, G. F. (2015). Using Ecological Momentary Assessment to understand where and with whom adults' physical and sedentary activity occur. *Int. J. Behav. Med.* 22, 51–61. doi: 10.1007/s12529-014-9400-z
- Mata, J., Thompson, R. J., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Jonides, J., and Gotlib, I. H. (2012). Walk on the bright side: physical activity and affect in major depressive disorder. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 121, 297–308. doi: 10.1037/a0023533
- Mellers, B. A. (2000). Choice and the relative pleasure of consequences. *Psychol. Bull.* 126, 910–924. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.126.6.910
- National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools (2008). *Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies*. Hamilton, ON: McMaster University.
- Owen, N., Healy, G. N., Matthews, C. E., and Dunstan, D. W. (2010). Too much sitting: the population-health science of sedentary behavior. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 38, 105–113. doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e3181e373a2
- Penedo, F. J., and Dahn, J. R. (2005). Exercise and well-being: a review of mental and physical health benefits associated with physical activity. *Curr. Opin. Psychiatry* 18, 189–193. doi: 10.1097/00001504-200503000-00013
- Reed, J., and Ones, D. S. (2006). The effect of acute aerobic exercise on positive activated affect: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 7, 477–514. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2005.11.003
- Schwerdtfeger, A., Eberhardt, R., Chmitorz, A., and Schaller, E. (2010). Momentary affect predicts bodily movement in daily life: an ambulatory monitoring study. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 32, 674–693.
- Scollon, C. N., Kim-Prieto, C., and Diener, E. (2003). Experience sampling: promises and pitfalls, strengths and weaknesses. J. Happiness Stud. 4, 5–34. doi: 10.1023/A:1023605205115
- Shiffman, S., Stone, A. A., and Hufford, M. R. (2008). Ecological momentary assessment. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 4, 1–32. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415
- von Haaren, B., Loeffler, S. N., Haertel, S., Anastasopoulou, P., Stumpp, J., Hey, S., et al. (2013). Characteristics of the activity-affect association in inactive people: an ambulatory assessment study in daily life. *Front. Psychol.* 4:163. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00163
- Wichers, M., Peeters, F., Rutten, B. P. F., Jacobs, N., Derom, C., Thiery, E., et al. (2012). A time-lagged momentary assessment study on daily life physical activity and affect. *Health Psychol.* 31, 135–144. doi: 10.1037/a0025688
- Wilhelm, F. H., and Grossman, P. (2010). Emotions beyond the laboratory: theoretical fundaments, study design, and analytic strategies for advanced ambulatory assessment. *Biol. Psychol.* 84, 552–569. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2010.01.017
- Wilmot, E. G., Edwardson, C. L., Achana, F. A., Davies, M. J., Gorely, T., Gray, L. J., et al. (2012). Sedentary time in adults and the association with diabetes, cardiovascular disease and death: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetologia* 55, 2895–2905. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2677-z

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Liao, Shonkoff and Dunton. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Affect and Subsequent Physical Activity: An Ambulatory Assessment Study Examining the Affect-Activity Association in a Real-Life Context

Christina Y. N. Niermann^{1*}, Christian Herrmann², Birte von Haaren³, Dave van Kann⁴ and Alexander Woll¹

¹ Institute of Sports and Sports Science, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Karlsruhe, Germany, ² Department of Sport, Exercise and Health, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland, ³ Institute of Psychology, German Sport University Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ⁴ Department of Health Promotion, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ralf Brand, University Potsdam, Germany

Reviewed by:

Martin S. Hagger, Curtin University, Australia Stuart Biddle, Victoria University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Christina Y. N. Niermann christina.niermann@kit.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 February 2016 Accepted: 22 April 2016 Published: 09 May 2016

Citation:

Niermann CYN, Herrmann C, von Haaren B, van Kann D and Woll A (2016) Affect and Subsequent Physical Activity: An Ambulatory Assessment Study Examining the Affect-Activity Association in a Real-Life Context. Front. Psychol. 7:677. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00677 Traditionally, cognitive, motivational, and volitional determinants have been used to explain and predict health behaviors such as physical activity. Recently, the role of affect in influencing and regulating health behaviors received more attention. Affects as internal cues may automatically activate unconscious processes of behavior regulation. The aim of our study was to examine the association between affect and physical activity in daily life. In addition, we studied the influence of the habit of being physically active on this relationship. An ambulatory assessment study in 89 persons (33.7% male, 25 to 65 years, M = 45.2, SD = 8.1) was conducted. Affect was assessed in the afternoon on 5 weekdays using smartphones. Physical activity was measured continuously objectively using accelerometers and subjectively using smartphones in the evening. Habit strength was assessed at the beginning of the diary period. The outcomes were objectively and subjectively measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) performed after work. Multilevel regression models were used to analyze the association between affect and after work MVPA. In addition, the cross-level interaction of habit strength and affect on after work MVPA was tested. Positive affect was positively related to objectively measured and self-reported after work MVPA: the greater the positive affect the more time persons subsequently spent on MVPA. An inverse relationship was found for negative affect: the greater the negative affect the less time persons spent on MVPA. The cross-level interaction effect was significant only for objectively measured MVPA. A strong habit seems to strengthen both the positive influence of positive affect and the negative influence of negative affect. The results of this study confirm previous results and indicate that affect plays an important role for the regulation of physical activity behavior in daily life. The results for positive affect were consistent. However, in contrast to previous reports of no or an inverse association, negative affect decreased subsequent MVPA. These inconsistencies may be-in part-explained by the different measurements of affect in our and other studies. Therefore, further research is warranted to gain more insight into the association between affect and physical activity.

Keywords: multilevel regression model, accelerometer, ecological momentary assessment, diary, habit, mood

INTRODUCTION

Explaining and predicting health behavior and health behavior change has long been an important topic in health psychological research, and several theoretical models and approaches have been developed and used (Rothman, 2000; Schwarzer, 2008). Most models assume that health behaviors such as physical activity are consciously regulated by cognitive, motivational, and volitional processes (Gibbons et al., 2009). These commonly used models only modestly explain and predict health behavior (Williams, 2008; Rhodes and Yao, 2015). Recently, several authors have introduced new perspectives such as unconscious influences on behavior and the role of affect (Williams, 2008; Schwarzer, 2014; Sniehotta et al., 2014). Health behaviors such as physical activity and eating are behaviors of daily life, which are not necessarily regulated by conscious processes such as planning (Sheeran et al., 2013). Everyday life health behaviors are regulated in two ways (Kremers et al., 2006): via cognitive, motivational, and volitional processes and via processes triggered automatically by external (situational or environmental) features or internal cues (affects or emotions; Bargh and Chartrand, 1999; Slovic et al., 2005). According to Russell (2003) affect is conceptualized as "a neurophysiological state that is consciously accessible as a simple, nonreflective feeling" (p. 147). Other terms used for describing this concept are "mood" or "feeling" (Russell, 2003). Affects play an important role in regulating human behavior and influence behavioral reflexes, motivational processes underlying various behaviors as well as complex decision making (Russell, 2003; Naqvi et al., 2006). Automaticity of behavioral reactions is adaptive and beneficial, and humans would not be able to accomplish daily life if even simple decisions and actions would involve deliberate thoughts (Bargh and Chartrand, 1999; Chartrand and Bargh, 1999). Habits represent such an automated pathway to action (Gardner, 2014).

Affect and Physical Activity

Although several studies have examined the relationship between affect and physical activity (Williams, 2008), affective processes preceding behavior have received less attention in health psychological research than cognitive, social, and environmental determinants. Exercise, affective response, and exercise adherence are presumably part of a causative chain. While to date the link between affective response and adherence has received little attention, many studies have examined the link between exercise and affective responses. Overall, these studies have shown that physical activity influences positive (but not negative) affect, and engaging in physical activities has psychological benefits (Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010). However, this relationship is not that simple, it depends on intensity and duration of physical activity (Ekkekakis, 2005).

Most previous studies have focused on the unidirectional relationship between affect and physical activity. Considering the role of affects as internal cues triggering automatic processes of behavior regulation suggests the possibility that the relationship between affect and physical activity is bidirectional. However, to date only few studies have investigated affect as predictor of subsequent physical activity (Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010; Liao et al., 2015). Overall, higher positive affect appears to predict higher subsequent physical activity levels but the extent of negative affect does not seem to predict the subsequent physical activity level. Only one study revealed a significant association of negative affect and subsequent physical activity (Dunton et al., 2009).

Habit and Physical Activity

A habit is defined as a learned sequence of situational cues that activate a specific goal or end-state and prompt a behavior (Verplanken and Orbell, 2003; Gardner, 2014). Core components are cue-dependence, automaticity, and conditioned stimulus-response association (Orbell and Verplanken, 2010). Thus, habit reflects the impulsive and automatically triggered pathway to behavior. Performing habitual behavior requires little awareness, consciousness, and cognitive effort and is hence highly efficient (Verplanken and Orbell, 2003). Moreover, habits persist even if conscious motivation wanes (Gardner, 2014). In the health behavior context habits have an ambivalent character. Habitual behavior is stable and resistant against "disturbances" which is positive for healthful but negative for unhealthful behaviors, in terms of behavior change interventions (Neal et al., 2006; Verplanken and Wood, 2006; Orbell and Verplanken, 2010). A strong habit to exercise regularly reflects that this behavior is automatically triggered via internal or external cues. Little awareness and cognitive effort is necessary to perform physical activities which makes it less vulnerable to situational disturbing internal or external conditions.

Previous studies have shown that habit strength is related to health behaviors such as healthy diet or physical activity. A systematic review and meta-analysis revealed medium to large effect sizes for the correlation between physical activity habits and physical activity behavior (Gardner et al., 2011). Most studies concentrated on exercise, sedentary behavior, and active commuting, and only few studies focused on overall physical activity (Gardner et al., 2011; Thurn et al., 2014). Moreover, most observational and correlational studies have used subjective measures of physical activity compared to few longitudinal or experimental studies using objective measures of physical activity (Gardner, 2014; Thurn et al., 2014).

Considering the importance of habits and affect in behavior regulation in daily life, these constructs should be examined in a real-life context. Hence, an ambulatory assessment study may be appropriate for studying within person associations between habit strength, affect, and physical activity.

Ambulatory Assessment

To address the relationship between affect and physical activity the characteristics of these complex constructs must be considered and their interplay during short time intervals in daily life must be understood (Shiffman et al., 2008). Affective states underlie dynamic fluctuations across days and even within-days and may be influenced by situational and environmental factors (Stone et al., 1996). Studies using single, retrospective self-reported ratings of affect did not address

Abbreviations: MVPA, moderate to vigorous physical activity.

this association adequately because of limitations such as recall bias (Shiffman et al., 2008). Ambulatory assessment of people in their natural environments can be performed using different methods including momentary self-reports, ecological momentary assessments, and observational and physiological methods (Trull and Ebner-Priemer, 2013). These methods have several advantages: affective states within persons during a week in the participants' natural environment can be assessed repeatedly using electronic diaries, and physical activity and selfreported affective states can be measured simultaneously with accelerometers and mobile devices, respectively. Hence, these methods allow analyzing the interrelationship between affect and physical activity in daily life.

Aims and Hypotheses

The first aim of this study was to examine the association between positive and negative affect and subsequent moderateto-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) in a real-life context. Ambulatory assessment was used to assess participants' MVPA and affect in their natural environment. We used electronic diaries to assess affective states and self-reported MVPA repeatedly within persons and accelerometers to objectively monitor MVPA. We hypothesized that positive affect is positively related to subsequent MVPA while negative affect is negatively related to subsequent MVPA. The second aim was to investigate the effect of habit strength on MVPA in daily life. We hypothesized that a strong habit to be physically active is associated with more time in MVPA during weekdays. Moreover, we assumed that habitual physical activity could protect this behavior against barriers or low self-control resources (Neal et al., 2013). Therefore, we hypothesized that a strong habit to perform regular MVPA moderates the effect of positive and negative affect on MVPA in the following way: Perceiving a strong habit to exercise regularly should strengthen the effect of positive affective states and should buffer the effect of a negative mood.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This ambulatory assessment study was conducted as a part of the multidisciplinary project *EATMOTIVE* funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research. The participants answered questions regarding their physical activity, sedentary behavior, nutrition, mood, daily hassles and conflicts, and family life on a day level using electronic diaries. Additionally, all participants wore an accelerometer to objectively measure their daily physical activity.

Procedure

We focused on employed adults aged 25–65 years living in the region of Konstanz, Germany. Participants were recruited by initial contact through the "Konstanz Life Study" (Renner et al., 2012) and at two local sport events (games of the regional handball and basketball teams) by the study staff. Eligible participants received verbal information and an information flyer. By writing down their email addresses they agreed to receive an email from the study staff. In addition, university employees received an email with the study information and the option of replying to the email when interested. Interested persons were invited to participate in one of 15 introductory events held every 3 weeks at the University of Konstanz informing participants about the content and the goals of the study. Participants received a smartphone and an accelerometer, learned how to handle the devices and received a paper-pencil questionnaire. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Ethics Statement

The study protocol was defined by a multidisciplinary expert panel of scientists involved in the EATMOTIVE project. The study fully conformed to the Declaration of Helsinki and the ethics guidelines of the German Psychological Society and was approved by the ethics committee of the University of Konstanz. Participants received detailed information regarding voluntary participation, completing questionnaires, and processing of their data according to the ethics guidelines of the German Psychological Society (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Psychologie)¹.

Study Protocol

On the day prior to the diary period all participants were informed on the study and the measuring devices and completed a paper-pencil questionnaire assessing time-invariant variables such as demographics and habit strength.

Each participant received a smartphone (Samsung GT-I9001) to answer daily questionnaires assessing time-variant variables (e.g., positive and negative affect; MVPA) and an ActiGraph GT3X+ accelerometer (ActiGraph, Pensacola, USA) for assessing physical activity. Each participant was tracked for 7 consecutive days starting on a Wednesday. To measure affect, participants received a short text message including a link to an online questionnaire at fixed times during the day: in the morning (t1, prompted at 6:30 a.m.) to be completed after getting up, in the afternoon (t2, prompted 4:30 p.m.) after finishing work, and in the evening (t3, prompted at 9:00 p.m.) to be completed before going to bed. On weekend days, the morning questionnaire was prompted at 8:00 a.m., and no afternoon questionnaire was prompted. Overall, each participants had to answer 19 daily questionnaires (7 mornings, 5 afternoons, and 7 evenings), but only the 5 work days were used for analyses. Ninety-one persons participated in this study. The participant compliance during the 7 days of the study was high with 97.7% completed questionnaires and 79 participants (85.8%) providing complete data on all days.

Measures

Affect

Despite the advantages of electronic diaries for studying psychological processes and their variability in daily life, these methods are demanding for participants. Hence, these questionnaires should be as short as possible to reduce participants' burden and achieve good compliance (Cranford et al., 2006). As we were interested whether positive and negative affective states predict subsequent MVPA differently, we used an

¹Deutsche Gesellschaft für Psychologie, Ethische Richtlinien der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Psychologie e.V. und des Berufsverbandes Deutscher Psychologinnen und Psychologen e.V. http://www.dgps.de/index.php?id=96422

instrument that allows to measure several discrete affects (Gray and Watson, 2007). Therefore, in line with previous studies we used a categorical measure of distinct affective states, the Profile of Mood States-15 (POMS-15; Cranford et al., 2006). We used a German translation of the two subscales, "vigor" and "fatigue," that represent positive and negative affective states after work (t2). Positive affect represents the experience of a positive mood and negative affect reflects experiencing a negative or aversive mood (Watson and Clark, 1997). Both scales comprise three items (vigor representing a positive affective state: vigorous, cheerful, lively; fatigue representing a negative affective state: fatigued, worn out, exhausted) rated on a 5-point scale ranging from 1-not at all to 5-extremely. We only used affect at t2 to examine the influence on subsequent physical activity. Both 3-item scales showed good internal consistencies on all 5 days (positive affect: $\alpha_{dav 2} = 0.83$ to $\alpha_{dav 4} = 0.88$; negative affect: $\alpha_{\text{day 3}} = 0.83$ to $\alpha_{\text{day 5}} = 0.91$).

Physical Activity

Objectively measured moderate to vigorous physical activity

Physical activity was objectively measured using ActiGraph GT3X+ accelerometers (50 Hz, 60 s intervals). Participants were asked to wear the accelerometer on their right hip during waking hours except for water-related activities, such as swimming, bathing, or taking a shower (Swartz et al., 2000; Cain and Geremia, 2012). The average ActiGraph wear time was 14.9 h per day (ranging from 10.1 to 19.2 h), and all participants were included in the analysis (Ward et al., 2005; Cain and Geremia, 2012). Time spent in MVPA (minutes) were calculated as outcome variable based on 60 s intervals of aggregated counts with the software ActiLife (version 6.10.4). Choi's wear time criteria were used to validate wear time (Choi et al., 2011). To optimize data fidelity to our research question, person-specific daily filters were developed to extract physical activity data. The filters were based on the time points t2 and t3 when questionnaires were completed on weekdays. This time frame represents time after work. End times (t3) exceeding midnight, were replaced by 11:59 p.m. Because wear time after work varied between participants, we applied an additional 70/80 wear time validation for the extracted physical activity data (Catellier et al., 2005). Minimal wear time after work was defined as 262 min. Troiano's cut points were used to classify physical activity levels, thus ≥2020 counts-per-minute (CPM) indicated MVPA (Troiano et al., 2008).

Self-reported moderate to vigorous physical activity

Self-reported MVPA was operationalized via time spent with exercising and doing sports. This measure did not cover lifestyle activities such as active commuting. Every evening (t3), participants were asked to answer three questions regarding their MPVA during after work time on the smartphone. They reported how many minutes they had spent in MVPA ["How many minutes did you spent today exercising and doing sports? Please refer to those activities that raised your breathing rate and your heart rate and that made you sweat, e.g., exercising in the fitness studio, jogging, playing tennis, nordic-walking (but not light walking)"], the type of activity, and with whom they performed the activity.

Habit Strength

The medium-term time-invariant variable habit strength was assessed at the beginning of the diary period using the German version (Thurn et al., 2014) of the Self-Report Habit Index (SRHI; Verplanken and Orbell, 2003). The SRHI is a frequently used scale for measuring habit strength by focusing on automaticity of the behavior (Gardner et al., 2011; Gardner, 2014). The stem "Behavior X is something..." (in this case: "Exercising is something..." is followed by 12 items (e.g., "... that I do without thinking"). The items were rated on a 4-point scale ranging from 0—"not true" to 3—"true." The mean of the items represents habit strength with high scores indicating a strong habit. The items showed a good internal consistency in this study ($\alpha = 0.94$).

Data Analysis

Multilevel regression models were used to analyze whether affect (day level) and habit strength (person level) predicted the objective after-work MVPA (outcome 1) and self-reported after work MVPA (outcome 2) using the Hierarchical Linear Modeling (HLM) Software version 7.01 (SSI, Inc., IL, USA). In addition, cross-level interactions (habit strength \times positive/negative affect) were calculated to analyze whether habit strength had an impact on the influence of positive/negative affect on physical activity. Analyses were performed using random intercept models. Age and gender were included as covariates (person level). Day level variables were centered to the group mean and person level variables were included without centering. All variables were z-standardized to report standardized regression coefficients. For both physical activity outcome variables (objective and self-reported MVPA), separate models for positive and negative affect were calculated. This approach was chosen because of multi-collinearity as positive and negative affect were significantly correlated. Therefore, four models were calculated: positive affect and habit strength as predictors of objective MVPA (outcome 1, Model 1.1); negative affect and habit strength as predictors of objective MVPA (Model 1.2); positive affect and habit strength as predictors of self-reported MVPA (outcome 2, Model 2.1); negative affect and habit strength as predictors of self-reported MVPA (Model 2.2). These models were built up successively. The first step (M0) represents the zero-model to calculate the Intra-Class-Coefficient (ICC). In the second step (M1) the covariates (age and gender) were added to calculate the effects of the covariates. In the third step (M2) the day level variable affect was added. In the fourth step (M3) habit on the person level was added. In the last step (M4) the cross-level interaction was added.

RESULTS

Data of 30 men with a mean age of 43.8 years (SD = 10.8 years) and 59 women with a mean age of 45.2 years (SD = 8.1 years) were included in the analyses. Thirty-nine participants were full time and 44 were half time employed, one participant was on parental leave and four participants were homemakers.

Fifty-six (62.6%) participants had a university-entrance diploma ("Abitur") and six (6.6%) had an advanced technical college certificate ("Fachhochschulreife"). Seventy-four (83.1%) participants lived in a joint household with their spouse and 71 (79.8%) participants had at least one child living in the household.

Descriptive Results

On average, participants reported 31.2 min of MVPA (SD = 42.1 min, ICC = 0.22) during workdays. Eighty-five participants with 236 valid days of after work physical activity data were included in the analyses of objective after work MVPA. The average daily after work wear time was $353.9 \min (SD =$ 79.1 min). On average, participants spent 4.9% (SD = 6.1%) of their after work time in MVPA representing 17.4 min per day (SD = 21.2 min). The portion of after work time spent in light physical activity was 33.1% (118 min), whereas 62.0% (218 min) of after work time was spent in sedentary activities. Self-reported and objective after work MVPA were only moderately correlated (r = 0.32, p < 0.001). The average reported positive affect was M = 3.49 (SD = 0.76, ICC = 0.38) and the average negative affect was M = 2.23 (SD = 0.87, ICC = 0.29). The ICC's showed that 62% (positive affect) up to 78% (self-reported MVPA) of the variance was caused by within-person variability. Habit strength was assessed at the beginning of the diary period. Participants reported a habit strength of regularly exercising of M = 1.83(SD = 0.72).

Prediction of Objectively Measured after Work MVPA

The person level covariate age was positively related to objective after work MVPA ($\beta = 0.18, p < 0.05$; **Table 1**, M1). There was no association between gender and objective after work MVPA ($\beta = -0.06, p = 0.46$).

Positive affect, operationalized via three items representing vigor, significantly predicted objective after work MVPA ($\beta = 0.23$, p < 0.05; **Table 1**, M2). Higher positive affect in the afternoon was associated with more time subsequently spent in MVPA. There was a main effect of the time-invariant variable habit strength ($\beta = 0.23$, p < 0.01; **Table 1**, M3). Strong habits reported before the diary period were associated with higher levels of MVPA during the subsequent workdays. Moreover, there was a significant cross-level interaction effect ($\beta = 0.21$, p < 0.05) of positive affect (day level) and habit strength (person level; **Table 1**, M4). The effect of positive affect on after work MVPA differed depending on habit strength and was stronger in combination with a strong habit.

Subjective fatigue, representing a negative affective state, was negatively associated with time in after work MVPA ($\beta = -0.20$, p < 0.05), and the higher the negative affect the less MVPA was performed subsequently (**Table 2**, M2). Adding habit strength to the regression model revealed a significant main effect of habit strength ($\beta = 0.23$, p < 0.01; **Table 2**, M3). There was a significant cross-level interaction between habit strength and negative affect ($\beta = -0.14$, p < 0.05), and the association of negative affect and after work MVPA was influenced by

habit strength (**Table 2**, M4). Contrary to our assumptions, habit strength seemed to strengthen the effect of negative affect.

Adding the cross-level interactions (M4) tended to increase the main effects of both positive ($\beta = 0.26, p < 0.01$) and negative affect ($\beta = -0.24, p < 0.01$) on objective after work MVPA (**Tables 1, 2,** M4).

Prediction of Self-Reported after Work MVPA

Neither age ($\beta = 0.10$, p = 0.16) nor gender ($\beta = -0.05$, p = 0.45) were significantly related to self-reported after work MVPA (**Tables 3, 4**, M1). The models revealed significant effects of positive ($\beta = 0.18$, p < 0.01) and negative affect ($\beta = -0.13$, p < 0.05; **Tables 3, 4**, M2) and habit strength ($\beta = 0.28$, p < 0.001) on after work MVPA (**Tables 3, 4**, M3). The cross-level interactions were not significant neither for positive ($\beta = 0.01$, p = 0.89) nor for negative affect ($\beta = -0.01$, p = 0.85; **Tables 3, 4**, M4).

DISCUSSION

The aim of our study was to examine the effect of positive and negative affect on subsequent MVPA. In the last decade, the relationship between physical activity and affect received increasing attention, and there are two perspectives. First, it is assumed that exercising causes affective responses and these affective responses influence exercise adherence (Ekkekakis and Lind, 2006). While there is evidence for the benefits of physical activity on subsequent affective states (Kanning et al., 2013; Liao et al., 2015) only few studies have examined the link between affect and future subsequent physical activity (Williams, 2008).

Secondly, considering the important role of affects in regulating behavior (Russell, 2003; Baumeister et al., 2007) and the importance of behavior regulation in daily life, it seems obvious to assume that affective states impact subsequent physical activity. However, to date the pathway of the relationship between physical activity and affect has not been thoroughly investigated (Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010; Liao et al., 2015).

Affect and Subsequent MVPA

Consistent with preliminary evidence from other studies, we found that a positive affective state (operationalized as the feeling of vigor) in the afternoon was related to more time spent in MVPA in the subsequent hours. In agreement with our results, Dunton et al. (2009) showed that positive affect (operationalized via the rating of the adjective "happy") was associated with higher levels of MVPA in the subsequent interval. Mata et al. (2012) explored the change in affect before engaging in physical activities and found that positive affect (operationalized via the rating of the adjectives "happy," "excited," "alert," and "active") increased over time before engaging in physical activities. However, this observation could originate from positive affect leading to engagement in physical activities or anticipating physical activity leading to increased positive affect. Carels et al. (2007) investigated a longer interval covering the entire day after affect assessment in the morning and showed that a positive affective state (measured via an one-item TABLE 1 | Model 1.1: Prediction of objective after work MVPA by positive affect and habit strength.

Day level	MO		M1			M2			M3			M4	
	ICC = 0.238	Beta	SE	р									
Intercept		-0.025	0.078	0.748	-0.026	0.078	0.741	-0.012	0.074	0.870	-0.013	0.073	0.859
posA_t2					0.231	0.096	0.018	0.231	0.096	0.018	0.264	0.096	0.007
PERSON LEVE	EL												
habit								0.230	0.072	0.002	0.230	0.072	0.002
age		0.182	0.079	0.023	0.182	0.079	0.023	0.179	0.074	0.018	0.179	0.074	0.018
gender		-0.059	0.080	0.459	-0.059	0.079	0.461	-0.101	0.076	0.189	-0.100	0.076	0.190
INTERACTION	l												
habit x posA_t2											0.205	0.082	0.013
Deviance	654.43			655.23			654.26			646.23			645.01

Dependent variable: objective MVPA; posA_t2: positive affect measured at t2; habit: habit strength; covariates: age, gender; significant beta coefficients are indicated by bold numbers.

 TABLE 2 | Model 1.2: Prediction of objective after work MVPA by negative affect and habit strength.

Day level	MO		M1			M2			M3			M4	
	ICC = 0.238	Beta	SE	р	Beta	SE	р	Beta	SE	р	Beta	SE	p
Intercept		-0.025	0.078	0.748	-0.003	0.078	0.741	-0.012	0.074	0.870	-0.013	0.073	0.864
negA_t2					-0.203	0.085	0.017	-0.203	0.084	0.017	-0.244	0.086	0.005
PERSON LEV	EL												
habit								0.230	0.072	0.002	0.230	0.071	0.002
age		0.182	0.079	0.023	0.182	0.079	0.023	0.179	0.074	0.018	0.179	0.074	0.018
gender		-0.059	0.080	0.459	-0.059	0.079	0.461	-0.101	0.076	0.189	-0.101	0.076	0.189
INTERACTION	1												
habit x negA_t2											-0.136	0.069	0.048
Deviance	654.43			655.23			654.45			646.42			647.8

Dependent variable: objective MVPA; negA_t2: negative affect measured at t2; habit: habit strength; covariates: age, gender; significant beta coefficients are indicated by bold numbers.

one-dimensional emotion scale) in the morning was related to the initiation of exercise during the day in obese adults, but not to its duration and intensity. However, it should be recognized that Dunton et al. (2009), Mata et al. (2012), and Carels et al. (2007) used self-report measures for both affective states and physical activity. Dunton et al. (2014) used accelerometers to measure MVPA and found that "feeling energetic" was associated with more time in MVPA in the subsequent 30 min in children. Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) also used accelerometers and found that positive affect (operationalized via the rating of the adjectives "lively," "awake," "active," "powerful," "dynamic," and "happy") was significantly associated with higher levels of MVPA in four intervals: 1, 5, 15, and 30 min after affect measurement. In contrast to Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) and Dunton et al. (2014), we considered a longer interval covering the time between answering the t2 questionnaire and going to bed. On average, this interval covered almost 6 h. Therefore, affect seems to influence subsequent short to medium term physical activity and this influence remains significant even when considering a longer interval of more than 5 h. Our study provides additional evidence regarding the role of positive affect in the regulation of physical activity behavior.

The results on negative affect were less consistent. In our study higher negative affect, operationalized via subjective fatigue, was associated with lower levels of subsequent MVPA. This result is consistent with the result of Dunton et al. (2009) (negative affect: "emotionally upset," "stressed," "lonely/alone," "annoyed/angry," "tense/anxious," "sad/depressed," and "discouraged/frustrated") and Dunton et al. (2014) (emotional state: "feeling tired") but in contrast to Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) ("nervous," "stressed," "irritable," "depressed," "relaxed" '[-]), who reported increase in physical activity in the medium intervals (15 and 30 min) after assessment of negative affect. Mata et al. (2012) found no association between negative affect ("anxious," "sad," "disgusted," "angry," "guilty," "ashamed," "frustrated") and subsequent physical activity. Hence, further research in this field in general is warranted, and especially the role of negative affect should be investigated in future studies.

Participants in our study overestimated their levels of MVPA by 45%. Nonetheless, we observed the same pattern of associations for objective and self-reported MVPA. However, the association between positive and negative affect and self-reported after work MVPA was weaker than that of objective after work MVPA. These slightly different results for objective

TABLE 3 | Model 2.1: Prediction of self-reported after work MVPA by positive affect and habit strength.

Day level	MO		M1			M2			M3			M4	
	ICC = 0.223	Beta	SE	p	Beta	SE	р	Beta	SE	p	Beta	SE	p
Intercept		-0.011	0.067	0.869	-0.003	0.068	0.969	-0.02	0.061	0.970	-0.002	0.060	0.969
posA_t2					0.176	0.058	0.002	0.176	0.058	0.002	0.177	0.070	0.012
PERSON LEVE	L												
habit								0.282	0.062	< 0.001	0.282	0.059	< 0.00
age		0.096	0.067	0.155	0.084	0.068	0.223	0.082	0.062	0.187	0.082	0.077	0.290
gender		-0.051	0.067	0.446	-0.055	0.068	0.424	-0.098	0.062	0.117	-0.098	0.068	0.154
INTERACTION													
habit x posA_t2											0.009	0.064	0.890
Deviance	1219.23			1223.98			1205.31			1188.48			1194.1

Dependent variable: self-reported MVPA; posA_t2: positive affect measured at t2; habit: habit strength; covariates: age, gender; significant beta coefficients are indicated by bold numbers.

TABLE 4 | Model 2.2: Prediction of self-reported after work MVPA by negative affect and habit strength.

Day level	MO		M1			M2			M3			M4	
	ICC = 0.223	Beta	SE	p	Beta	SE	р	Beta	SE	p	Beta	SE	р
Intercept		-0.011	0.067	0.869	-0.003	0.068	0.969	-0.002	0.061	0.970	-0.002	0.061	0.970
negA_t2					-0.132	0.055	0.017	-0.132	0.055	0.017	-0.132	0.055	0.017
PERSON LEV	EL												
habit								0.282	0.062	< 0.001	0.282	0.062	< 0.00
age		0.096	0.067	0.155	0.084	0.068	0.223	0.082	0.062	0.187	0.082	0.062	0.187
gender		-0.051	0.067	0.446	-0.055	0.068	0.424	-0.098	0.062	0.117	-0.098	0.062	0.117
INTERACTION	1												
habit x negA_t2											-0.010	0.051	0.845
Deviance	1219.23			1223.98			1208.89			1192.06			1197.9

Dependent variable: value self-reported MVPA; negA_t2: negative affect measured at t2; habit: habit strength; covariates: age, gender; significant beta coefficients are indicated by bold numbers.

and self-reported MVPA indicate that the link between affect and physical activity must be examined with a differentiated view on physical activity. Accelerometer and self-reported data reflect different facets of physical activity: while accelerometer data covers all bodily movements, self-reported physical activities refer to physical exercise and sports that are done mostly intentionally. Further studies should focus on different types of activity and on subsequent physical activity in different intervals.

Interestingly, the measurement of affect differed considerably among previous studies (Carels et al., 2007; Dunton et al., 2009, 2014; Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010; Mata et al., 2012) possibly explaining some of the inconsistencies in the results. For instance, Dunton et al. (2014) assessed positive affect via the adjectives "happy" and "joyful" and negative via the adjectives "stressed," "mad or angry," "nervous or anxious," and "sad" (rated on a 4-point scale ranging from "not at all" to "extremely") and found no associations with MVPA, whereas "physical feeling states," operationalized via two items ("feeling tired" and "feeling energetic," rated on the same 4-point scale) were significantly associated with subsequent MVPA. Feeling energetic was associated with higher levels of MVPA and feeling tired predicted lower levels of physical activity. In our study, negative affective state was operationalized via the feeling of fatigue measured with four items, and we found a negative association with physical activity. Whereas Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) used the adjectives "nervous," "stressed," "irritable," "depressed," "relaxed(-)" and found an inverse relationship (negative affect predicted higher levels of physical activity). Mata et al. (2012) used the adjectives "anxious," "sad," "disgusted," "angry," "guilty," "ashamed," and "frustrated" and found no association. Moreover, it should be noted that different terms were used for equal constructs (for example mood, affect, affective states, feeling states). It is possible that the findings regarding the link between affect and physical activity differ depending on the facet of positive/negative affect that is measured, and maybe adjectives such as "happy" or "sad" are too general to be related to subsequent physical activity. Therefore, further studies should examine different facets of positive and negative affect and their association with subsequent MVPA.

Finally, previous studies have included different populations, and hence the observed inconsistencies may also be caused by population specific characteristics. Moreover, inter-individual differences in the link between affect and physical activity may be present because of individual characteristics.

The Role of Habit Strength

To the best of our knowledge, the role of time-invariant variables such as habit strength has not been investigated in relation to the affect-physical activity link. Habits are beneficial (although some may be disadvantageous, too) for regulating behavior in daily life because they require little cognitive effort and are efficient (Wood et al., 2002). Habitual behavior is less vulnerable to disturbances than deliberative behavior, and the stronger the habit to be physically active the more the persons are physically active (Gardner et al., 2011). As hypothesized we found that habit strength predicted after work MVPA throughout the week. In addition and in line with our assumption, there was a cross-level interaction effect for both positive and negative affect indicating that habit strength has an impact on the relationship between affect and behavior. However, in contrast to our hypothesis, the direction of this cross-level interaction indicated that a strong habit of being physically active strengthened the influence of negative affect. Negative affect reduced subsequent MVPA more in combination with a strong habit. It is possible that the previously mentioned benefit of cognitive efficacy and unconsciousness of habitual behavior turns into a disadvantage if self-control processes are not activated. Accordingly, we did not find a cross-level interaction effect for self-reported MVPA and the effect sizes of affect tended to be smaller. Self-reported MVPA mainly reflects intentional or planned physical activities representing the reflective pathway to action, and this pathway is characterized by conscious regulation processes. Negative affect seems to have a detrimental influence even on these physical activities but this effect was slightly smaller and was not strengthened in combination with a strong habit. Habit strength seems not to be relevant for the association between these activities and negative affect. Examining the role of intentions or self-regulatory processes in this context would be interesting. Moreover, studies on inter-individual differences in the link between affect and physical activity should integrate other person level variables, such as intrinsic vs. extrinsic motivation or goal orientation.

Strength and Limitations

A major strength of this study was the ambulatory assessment design allowing investigating the relationship between affect and physical activity between and within persons in daily life. We combined continuous accelerometer-monitoring of physical activity with electronic diary assessment of the momentary affective state. In addition, physical activity was measured subjectively via daily self-reports. Thus, the study design fully complies with the recommendations of Kanning et al. (2013) regarding the methodological requirements necessary for investigating within-subject associations between affective states and physical activity in daily life. The fact that the sample was better educated than the average German population (Statistisches Bundesamt²) is a limitation of this study possibly limiting the generalizability of the findings. Moreover, 5 weekdays may not be a sufficient representation of usual behavior in daily life. However, longer electronic diary periods increase participants' burden and likely reduce compliance. We restricted affect measurement to eight items—four items for positive affect and four items for negative affect—to reduce participants' burden. Finally, although there appears to be a causal relationship between affect and subsequent MVPA, it is possible that other variables may influence both affect and physical activity in a similar way.

CONCLUSION

In this study, we used ambulatory assessment to examine the relationship between affect and physical activity in a real-life setting. Positive affect increased and negative affect decreased objective and self-reported MVPA. Hence, affective states play an important role in the regulation of physical activity in daily life. Although more research is needed to confirm these findings, our results and those of few other studies indicate that considering unconscious processes, e.g., triggered via affects, might improve the explanation and prediction of engagement and especially maintenance of physical activity in daily life. Furthermore, adapting intervention strategies such as planning by considering the role of affects for daily behavior regulation, might improve long-term behavior change.

In addition, we found that the relationship between affect and physical activity is influenced by habit strength where the stronger the habit of being physically active the stronger the effect of positive but also of negative affect. Future studies should integrate time-invariant variables such as motives or goal orientations to gain further insight into the complexity of the relationship between affect and physical activity.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CN was responsible for the overall conception, design and analysis of this study and wrote the manuscript. CH conducted the statistical analyses, contributed to the interpretation of the study results and revised the manuscript. BV and DV contributed to the conception of the manuscript, writing the manuscript, were responsible for preparing the accelerometer and electronic diary data for statistical analysis, the data management, and revised the manuscript. AW participated in the conception and design of the study. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study is part of the research project "EATMOTIVE" funded by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research, Germany (Grant 0315671).

²https://www.destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/GesellschaftStaat/ BildungForschungKultur/Bildungsstand/Tabellen/Bildungsabschluss.html

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all participants and project staff who participated in and supported this study, Dr. Miriam Reiner-Henrich and Dr. Fabian Krapf for their support during the

REFERENCES

- Bargh, J. A., and Chartrand, T. L. (1999). The unbearable automaticity of being. Am. Psychol. 54, 462–479. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.54.7.462
- Baumeister, R. F., Vohs, K. D., DeWall, C. N., Zhang, L., Baumeister, R. F., Vohs, K. D., et al. (2007). How emotion shapes behavior: feedback, anticipation, and reflection, rather than direct causation. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 11, 167–203. doi: 10.1177/1088868307301033
- Cain, K. L., and Geremia, C. M. (2012). Accelerometer Data Collection and Scoring Manual for Adult and Senior Studies. San Diego, CA: San Diego State University.
- Carels, R. A., Coit, C., Young, K., and Berger, B. (2007). Exercise makes you feel good, but does feeling good make you exercise? An examination of obese dieters. J. Sport Exer. Psychol. 29, 706–722.
- Catellier, D. J., Hannan, P. J., Murray, D. M., Addy, C. L., Conway, T. L., Yang, S., et al. (2005). Imputation of missing data when measuring physical activity by accelerometry. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 37, S555–S562. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000185651.59486.4e
- Chartrand, T. L., and Bargh, J. A. (1999). The chameleon effect: the perception– behavior link and social interaction. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 76, 893–910. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.76.6.893
- Choi, L., Liu, Z., Matthews, C. E., and Buchowski, M. S. (2011). Validation of accelerometer wear and nonwear time classification algorithm. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 357–364. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181ed61a3
- Cranford, J. A., Shrout, P. E., Iida, M., Rafaeli, E., Yip, T., and Bolger, N. (2006). A procedure for evaluating sensitivity to within-person change: can mood measures in diary studies detect change reliably? *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 32, 917–929. doi: 10.1177/0146167206287721
- Dunton, G. F., Atienza, A. A., Castro, C. M., and King, A. C. (2009). Using ecological momentary assessment to examine antecedents and correlates of physical activity bouts in adults age 50+ years: a pilot study. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 249–255. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9141-4
- Dunton, G. F., Huh, J., Leventhal, A. M., Riggs, N., Hedeker, D., Spruijt-Metz, D., et al. (2014). Momentary assessment of affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in children. *Health Psychol.* 33, 255–263. doi: 10.1037/a0032640
- Ekkekakis, P. (2005). "The study of affective responses to acute exercise: the dual-mode model," in *New Approaches to Sport and Exercise Psychology*, eds R. Stelter and K. K. Roessler (Oxford: Meyer & Meyer Verlag), 119–146.
- Ekkekakis, P., and Lind, E. (2006). Exercise does not feel the same when you are overweight: the impact of self-selected and imposed intensity on affect and exertion. *Int. J. Obes.* 30, 652–660. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803052
- Gardner, B. (2014). A review and analysis of the use of 'habit' in understanding, predicting and influencing health-related behaviour. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 9, 277–295. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2013.876238
- Gardner, B., de Bruijn, G.-J., and Lally, P. (2011). A systematic review and metaanalysis of applications of the self-report habit index to nutrition and physical activity behaviours. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 42, 174–187. doi: 10.1007/s12160-011-9282-0
- Gibbons, F. X., Houlihan, A. E., and Gerrard, M. (2009). Reason and reaction: the utility of a dual-focus, dual-processing perspective on promotion and prevention of adolescent health risk behaviour. Br. J. Health Psychol. 14, 231-248. doi: 10.1348/135910708X376640
- Gray, E. K., and Watson, D. (2007). "Assessing positive and negative affect via selfreport," in *Handbook of Emotion Elicitation and Assessment*, eds J. A. Coan and J. J. B. Allen (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 171–183.
- Kanning, M. K., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Schlicht, W. M. (2013). How to investigate within-subject associations between physical activity and

data collection, Dr. Harald Seelig for his support in conducting and interpreting the statistical analyses and PD Dr. Annegret Mündermann for copy-editing the manuscript. We acknowledge support by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Open Access Publishing Fund of Karlsruhe Institute of Technology.

momentary affective states in everyday life. Front. Psychol. 4:187. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00187

- Kremers, S. P., de Bruijn, G.-J., Visscher, T. L., van Mechelen, W., de Vries, N. K., and Brug, J. (2006). Environmental influences on energy balancerelated behaviors: a dual-process view. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 3:9. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-3-9
- Liao, Y., Shonkoff, E. T., and Dunton, G. F. (2015). The acute relationships between affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in daily life. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1975. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01975
- Mata, J., Thompson, R. J., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Jonides, J., and Gotlib, I. H. (2012). Walk on the bright side: physical activity and affect in major depressive disorder. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 121, 297–308. doi: 10.1037/a0023533
- Naqvi, N., Shiv, B., and Bechara, A. (2006). The role of emotion in decision making a cognitive neuroscience perspective. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 15, 260–264. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2006.00448.x
- Neal, D. T., Wood, W., and Drolet, A. (2013). How do people adhere to goals when willpower is low? The profits (and pitfalls) of strong habits. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 104, 959–975. doi: 10.1037/a0032626
- Neal, D. T., Wood, W., and Quinn, J. M. (2006). Habits—a repeat performance. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 15, 198–202. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2006.00435.x
- Orbell, S., and Verplanken, B. (2010). The automatic component of habit in health behavior: habit as cue-contingent automaticity. *Health Psychol.* 29, 374–383. doi: 10.1037/a0019596
- Renner, B., Sproesser, G., Klusmann, V., and Schupp, H. (2012). Die Konstanzer Life-Studie [The Konstanz Life Study]. Adipositas 6, 123–124.
- Rhodes, R. E., and Yao, C. A. (2015). Models accounting for intention-behavior discordance in the physical activity domain: a user's guide, content overview, and review of current evidence. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 12:9. doi: 10.1186/s12966-015-0168-6
- Rothman, A. J. (2000). Toward a theory-based analysis of behavioral maintenance. *Health Psychol.* 19(Suppl. 1), 64–69. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.19.suppl1.64
- Russell, J. A. (2003). Core affect and the psychological construction of emotion. *Psychol. Rev.* 110, 145–172. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.110.1.145
- Schwarzer, R. (2008). Modeling health behavior change: how to predict and modify the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors. *Appl. Psychol.* 57, 1–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00325.x
- Schwarzer, R. (2014). Life and death of health behaviour theories. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 8, 53–56. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2013.810959
- Schwerdtfeger, A., Eberhardt, R., Chmitorz, A., and Schaller, E. (2010). Momentary affect predicts bodily movement in daily life: an ambulatory monitoring study. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 32, 674–693.
- Sheeran, P., Gollwitzer, P. M., and Bargh, J. A. (2013). Nonconscious processes and health. *Health Psychol.* 32, 460–473. doi: 10.1037/a0029203
- Shiffman, S., Stone, A. A., and Hufford, M. R. (2008). Ecological momentary assessment. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 4, 1–32. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415
- Slovic, P., Peters, E., Finucane, M. L., and MacGregor, D. G. (2005). Affect, risk, and decision making. *Health Psychol.* 24(Suppl. 4), 35–40. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.24.4.s35
- Sniehotta, F. F., Presseau, J., and Araújo-Soares, V. (2014). Time to retire the theory of planned behaviour. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 8, 1–7. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2013.869710
- Stone, A. A., Smyth, J. M., Pickering, T., and Schwartz, J. (1996). Daily mood variability: form of diurnal patterns and determinants of diurnal patterns. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 26, 1286–1305. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.1996.tb01781.x
- Swartz, A. M., Strath, S. J., Bassett, D. R., O., Brien, W. L., King, G. A., and Ainsworth, B. E. (2000). Estimation of energy expenditure using CSA accelerometers at hip and wrist sites. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 32(9, Suppl. 1), S450–S456. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200009001-00003

- Thurn, J., Finne, E., Brandes, M., and Bucksch, J. (2014). Validation of physical activity habit strength with subjective and objective criterion measures. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 15, 65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2013. 09.009
- Troiano, R. P., Berrigan, D., Dodd, K. W., Masse, L. C., Tilert, T., McDowell, M., et al. (2008). Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 40, 181–188. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31815 a51b3
- Trull, T. J., and Ebner-Priemer, U. (2013). Ambulatory assessment. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 9, 151–176. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-1 85510
- Verplanken, B., and Orbell, S. (2003). Reflections on past behavior: a self-report index of habit strength. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 33, 1313–1330. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2003.tb01951.x
- Verplanken, B., and Wood, W. (2006). Interventions to break and create consumer habits. J. Public Policy Market. 25, 90–103. doi: 10.1509/jppm.25.1.90
- Ward, D. S., Evenson, K. R., Vaughn, A., Rodgers, A. B., and Troiano, R. P. (2005). Accelerometer use in physical activity: best practices and research recommendations. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 37, S582–S588. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000185292.71933.91

- Watson, D., and Clark, L. A. (1997). Measurement and mismeasurement of mood: recurrent and emergent issues. J. Pers. Assess. 68, 267–296. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa6802_4
- Williams, D. M. (2008). Exercise, affect, and adherence: an integrated model and a case for self-paced exercise. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 30, 471–496.
- Wood, W., Quinn, J. M., and Kashy, D. A. (2002). Habits in everyday life: thought, emotion, and action. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 83, 1281–1297. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.83.6.1281

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Niermann, Herrmann, von Haaren, van Kann and Woll. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




The Bidirectional Effect between Momentary Affective States and Exercise Duration on a Day Level

Anna Schöndube1*, Martina Kanning2 and Reinhard Fuchs1

¹ Department of Sport Psychology, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ² Department of Sport and Exercise Science, University of Konstanz, Konstanz, Germany

Despite the well-documented positive effect of exercise on health outcomes, most people do not succeed in exercising regularly. In addition to several other influences, affective states seem to support exercise participation. Associations between exercise and affect have been shown in the laboratory. However, the dynamic relation between affect and exercise in daily life is not yet well-understood. The objective of this study was to investigate the bi-directional effect of momentary affective states on naturally occurring exercise and vice versa in healthy participants in real-life environments by applying an ecological momentary assessment design. We hypothesized that (1) exercise duration is positively associated with affective states on a day level, (2) affective states in the morning predict subsequent exercise duration, and (3) exercise duration predicts affective states in the evening on that respective day. Data from N = 60students aged between 19 and 32 years were analyzed. Affect and exercise duration were assessed daily over a period of 20 days via an electronic diary. Multilevel analysis revealed that positive affective valence was positively associated with exercise duration (p = 0.003) on a day level. In addition, the more the participants exercised that respective day, the better and more content they felt in the evening (p = 0.009). Energetic arousal in the morning significantly predicted subsequent exercise duration (p = 0.045). The findings indicate that it would be worthwhile to focus more on within-subject analyses when analyzing the dynamic relation between affect and exercise. Furthermore, affective states should be taken into account in creating effective interventions to foster exercise behavior and enhance maintenance.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Andreas Richard Schwerdtfeger, University of Graz, Austria Steffen Schmidt, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Germany

*Correspondence:

Anna Schöndube schoendube.anna@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 April 2016 Accepted: 05 September 2016 Published: 21 September 2016

Citation:

Schöndube A, Kanning M and Fuchs R (2016) The Bidirectional Effect between Momentary Affective States and Exercise Duration on a Day Level. Front. Psychol. 7:1414. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01414 Keywords: ambulatory assessment, ecological momentary assessment, mood, physical activity, health behavior

INTRODUCTION

Most people do not reach the recommended volume of exercise, even though the health-enhancing effects are well-documented (Lee et al., 2012). Many factors have been examined as influencing factors on exercise behavior (Fuchs et al., 2012). Recent research has focused on state variables such as affect (Jekauc, 2015). An understanding of the dynamic relation between affective states and exercise may help to create effective exercise promotion programs. Ample evidence shows positive associations between positive affective states and exercise (Berger and Motl, 2000). However, most previous studies have investigated this association in the laboratory (Liao et al., 2015), whereas studies about the association between affective states and physical activity are rare, and findings are contradictory (Kanning et al., 2013; Liao et al., 2015). In addition, in attempting to understand the

dynamic relation between these two variables, researchers have seldom focused on within-subject analyses, which have the advantage of yielding knowledge about dynamic processes rather than just about between-person differences. This study uses an ambulatory assessment approach to analyze the bi-directional effect between affective states and physical activity, especially naturally occurring exercise, in real life in healthy participants.

The effect of physical activity or exercise on affect has often been shown in the laboratory, which allows a controlled design (Ekkekakis and Petruzzello, 2000). However, these studies lack external validity. A few recent field studies have tried to answer the question of whether affective reactions are associated with physical activities in real life (e.g., Dunton et al., 2009, 2014; Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010; Kanning et al., 2013; von Haaren et al., 2013). The authors of these studies chose ecological momentary assessment (EMA) as a suitable method to collect real-time data in daily life (Shiffman et al., 2008). EMA involves having test subjects wear a tool in daily life that beeps and prompts them to complete an electronic diary on their phone.

In a review, Liao et al. (2015) systematically examined the short-term associations between affective states and subsequent acute free-living physical activity as well as the short-term associations between physical activity and subsequent affective states. Most of the EMA studies included in the review that examined the association between affect and subsequent physical activity found a positive association between positive affective valence and physical activity, whereas evidence of negative affective valence predicting physical activity was inconclusive. A study by Dunton et al. (2014) succeeded in additionally showing that energetic arousal positively predicts physical activity in children. Some studies examined in the review of Liao et al. (2015) also found an increase in energetic arousal and a decrease or an increase in calmness following physical activity. The mixed results of the association between physical activity and calmness might be explained by the length of the time interval between the assessment of both variables. When measuring calmess within 1 h after physical activity, a decrease in calmness has been shown (Kanning, 2013; Kanning et al., 2015). With longer time intervals an increase in calmness can be detected (Gauvin et al., 1996).

In conclusion, evidence suggests that positive affective valence and energetic arousal predict subsequent physical activity and that physical activity leads to positive affective valence and may affect calmness. However, most of the studies examined in the review by Liao et al. (2015) defined physical activity as activity in daily life, not solely activity executed for the purpose of exercising. Carels et al. (2007), for example, investigated the association between affect and exercise and found that affect in the morning is associated with an increased likelihood to exercise that day in obese dieters. They also found that positive affective valence following exercise is higher when the duration and intensity of the exercise are higher.

As demonstrated above, there is reason to assume that there is an association between affective states and exercise in real life. Understanding this association may be important for creating effective exercise promotion programs. Positive experiences with exercising might positively affect long-term maintenance ("outcome experiences"; Fuchs et al., 2012). A recent study by Jekauc (2015) has shown that inducing positive affect during exercise has an effect on long-term maintenance, indicating that positive affective valence plays an important role in exercise behavior prediction. Affecting attitudes through affective messages has been shown to lead to a stronger increase in exercise participation than affecting attitudes through health-related messages (Conner et al., 2011). In sum, positive affective valence can, if associated with exercising, be considered one of the strongest factors contributing to the maintenance of exercise behavior.

Empirical results indicate that there is an association between affect and physical activity in real life. We would like to broaden the evidence by testing whether there is also a bi-directional association between momentary affective states and freely occurring daily exercise participation in healthy participants. Unlike previous studies investigating daily life activities such as stairway climbing or vacuuming, our study aims to gain insights into planned sport activities (encompassing either classical "sports" or health-related physical exercise). We are interested in whether naturally occurring sport and exercise behavior is related to affective states. To avoid retrospective distortions and to observe real-life effects, we collected our data using electronic diaries (EMA). Our primary research hypothesis, developed on the basis of previous findings, was that (1) a participant would exercise more on days on which he or she reported higher mean positive affective valence, higher mean energetic arousal, and higher mean calmness. With regard to an additional focus on the temporal relationship between affect and naturally occurring exercise, we assumed in our second hypothesis that (2) high positive affective valence, high energetic arousal, and high calmness in the morning would predict longer exercise duration on that day. In our third hypothesis, we expected that (3) the more the participant exercised that day, the higher would be the positive affective valence, energetic arousal, and calmness reported by that participant in the evening.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Out of 75 participants, N = 60 participants provided sufficient data to be included in the analysis. We excluded 15 participants because they did not engage in any exercise during the 4 weeks of data collection or more than 50% of their values were missing or their data could not be analyzed due to technical problems. The sample included participants aged between 19 and 32 years (M = 23.5; SD = 2.8); 20 were male and 40 female. Data was collected in three waves: April 2015 (Wave 1), May and June 2015 (Wave 2), and July and August 2015 (Wave 3). Participants were recruited via leaflets and posters distributed in different buildings of the University of Freiburg. Potential participants were invited to write us an e-mail so that we could call them back and screen them for eligibility. Individuals were included if they currently exercised at least once a week for at least 30 min. In addition, since we intended to investigate activities that are self-directed and therefore might be affected by momentary states, participants

had to indicate that they did not exercise solely because they felt obliged to do so because of other people (athletic clubs, parents, friends). Individuals who were competitive athletes or were enrolled in a sports science degree program or had undergone psychiatric therapy/treatment in the previous 12 months were excluded from the study. Individuals who met the eligibility criteria were scheduled for the initial laboratory meeting at the university. Participants received a financial compensation of $20 \in$ after the end of the study.

Procedure

The study protocol was reviewed and approved by the institutional ethics committee. For data collection, we used an electronic diary via smartphones ("Google Nexus 5": LG, Seoul, South Korea), using the app "movisensXS" (movisens GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany). We chose to collect data over a long period (20 working days) in order to obtain generalizable data. In addition, we assumed that methododological reactivity, the possibility that participants change their usual beahvior because it is being monitored, would be less likely if the data collection period was longer. At the initial laboratory meeting, participants gave their written consent, completed a questionnaire assessing demographic characteristics, received the necessary equipment, and were instructed on how to operate the smartphones. They were also informed about the following facts and procedures during the study period of 20 working days (Monday to Friday): the calling and Internet capabilities of the smartphones were disabled. The participants were asked to keep the phones switched on throughout the period. An acoustic signal prompted the participants to make an entry of data collection in the electronic diary at four random measurement points per day within four pre-programmed time windows: in the morning (between 9:30 and 10:30 a.m.), around midday (between 12:30 and 1:30 p.m.), in the evening (between 4:30 and 5:30 p.m.), and at bedtime (between 10:00 and 11:00 p.m.). If the participant made no entry, the smartphone beeped again after a few minutes. The participants could also decline to make entries or delay them by up to 20 min. During class or in the library, the students could set the phones to a vibration mode. The app was programmed to display the questions and provide the response choices on the smartphone screen. The completion of the electronic diary entry took about 2-3 min. Affect scores were assessed at all measurement points, four times a day for 20 working days. At bedtime, participants additionally provided data on the amount of time they had spent exercising that day. After the data collection period, participants were invited to the laboratory again to return the smartphones and to receive the financial compensation. Data were stored on the phone and were downloaded to a server after the end of the study.

Measures of Affect

There are many different definitions and specifications of mood, emotions, and affect. In the current paper, we follow Panteleimon Ekkekakis's definition of affect as an "immediate, uncontrollable, automatic response" (p. 95), a "pleasant or unpleasant feeling that does not require any prior cognitive processing" (p. 95), with typical affects being the feeling of "pleasure vs. displeasure," "energy vs. tiredness," or "tension vs. calmness" (Hanin and Ekkekakis, 2014, p. 95). To assess the variability of affect in daily life, we used a short scale for assessing affect developed and validated for EMA by Wilhelm and Schoebi (2007) and based on the Multidimensional Mood Scale (MDMQ; Steyer et al., 1997). The six-item scale measures three dimensions of affect with two bipolar items per dimension: valence (well–unwell; content– discontent), energetic arousal (tired–awake; full of energy– without energy), and calmness (agitated–calm; relaxed–tense). Participants had to rate the items on a seven-point scale on the basis of the statement "At the moment, I feel ..." They provided the answers by choosing a number from 0 to 6 on the display.

Measures of Naturally Occurring Exercise

Naturally occurring exercise was measured as a continuous variable (exercise duration) by the item "How many minutes in total have you been engaging in exercise today?" Participants could type in the number of minutes. At the initial laboratory meeting, participants were explained the difference between instrumental "everyday life activities" (e.g., stair climbing, going to work by bicycle) and activities that are defined as "exercise behavior" (including all classical sports and health-related exercises; Fuchs et al., 2015). Most of the studies mentioned above used accelerometers to assess physical activity objectively. Since we were not interested in daily life physical activity but in naturally occurring planned exercise done for its own sake (sports) or for health-related reasons, which will probably occur only every 2-3 days, it was not necessary or suitable for our participants to wear accelerometers during the entire period of data collection (20 days). This would have placed another burden on the participants, possibly reducing compliance. Therefore, we relied on EMA self-reports to assess naturally occurring exercise duration.

Data Analysis

Since we wished to observe exercise duration as it occurs in real life, the time of the day for exercising will differ from individual to individual and from day to day. In addition, it is hard to assess affect directly before and after episodes of exercise in real life since the event "exercise duration" occurs too infrequently in real life (e.g., three times a week). We therefore decided to assess affect four times a day at fixed time points and used the mean level of all four affect measurements from the whole day to clarify whether there was an association between affect and exercise duration on a day level. Plus, we used the morning affect measurement point to predict exercise duration on that day (Carels et al., 2007) and the evening affect measurement point to predict affective reactions from exercise duration that day.

The data from our study had a nested structure, with 20 days nested within 60 persons. Therefore, we estimated multilevel models using HLM 7.0 (Raudenbush et al., 2011). Multilevel models can differentiate between within-subject effects (level 1: day level) and between-subject effects (level 2: person level). We used restricted maximum likelihood estimations for the analysis and set the α -level of the tests to p < 0.05. Prior to analysis,

within-person predictors were person-mean centered (Snijders and Bosker, 2011). We started by ckecking if the affect assessment data of the different days were not correlated. If participants reported similar affect scores on two consecutive measurement occasions, there is a risk of underestimation of the within-subject variability (Schwartz and Stone, 1998). Correlations are provided in Supplementary Material.

Model 1: Association between exercise duration and affective states on a day level

In the first analysis, we started by estimating the intra-class coefficient (ICC) in a model in which exercise duration is not modeled as a function of another variable. Second, we entered the predictor variables valence, energetic arousal, and calmness (day mean) into the model on level 1. We also entered gender into the model on level 2 as a control variable.

Level 1 Model:

Exercise duration_{ti} = $b_{0i} + b_{1i}^*$ (Valence)_{ti} + b_{2i}^* (Energetic arousal)_{ti}+ b_{3i}^* (Calmness)_{ti} + r_{ti}

Level 2 Model:

$$b_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{0i}^{*}(\text{Gender}) + \mu_{0i}$$
$$b_{1i} = \gamma_{0} + \gamma_{11} + \mu_{1i}$$
$$b_{2i} = \gamma_{20} + \gamma_{21} + \mu_{2i}$$
$$b_{3i} = \gamma_{30} + \gamma_{31} + \mu_{3i}$$

The level 1 model represents the participant's responses (subscript i) to the exercise duration item on the day level (subscript t). Exercise duration is a function of the intercept b_{0i} and the three level 1 predictors (b_{1i}, b_{2i}, b_{3i}) . b_{1i} is the effect of the within-person valence, meaning the increase in exercise duration with every increase of valence. b_{2i} is the within-person effect of energetic arousal, and b_{3i} is the within-person effect of calmness. The error for level 1 is given by r_{ti} . Level 2 expresses the betweensubject effect, including the fixed effects γ_{00} of the averaged intercepts and slopes across all participants and the covariate γ_{0i} , which displays the effect of gender on exercise duration. This level also includes the random effect μ_{0i} .

Model 2: Subsequent exercise duration as predicted by affective states

In the second model, we entered the affect variables into the model like in model 1, but instead of using the day mean for each affect dimension, we used only the affect data collected at the morning assessment point.

Model 3: Subsequent affective states as predicted by exercise duration

In the third model, we started again by estimating the ICC but this time in three different models without predictors. Valence, energetic arousal, or calmness functioned as the respective outcome variables in the three models. In a second step we entered exercise duration as a level 1 predictor, and in a third step we entered gender on level 2. On the basis of these variables, we estimated whether valence, energetic arousal, and calmness (intercept) varied significantly as a function of gender. Level 1 Model:

Affect (Valence/Energetic arousal/Calmness)_{ti} =

$$b_{0i} + b_{1i}^*$$
(Exercise duration)_{ti} + r_{ti}

Level 2 Model:

$$b_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}^* (\text{Gender}) + \mu_{0i}$$

 $b_{1i} = \gamma_{10} + \gamma_{11} + \mu_{1i}$

The Level 1 model calculated the within-subject effects. It represents the participant's responses (subscript i) on one of the affect subscales on a day level (subscript t). The affect subscale is a function of the individual intercepts b_{0i} and b_{1i} , which is the effect of the within-person exercise duration, meaning the increase in affect with every increase of exercise duration. On Level 2, γ_{01} displays the effect of gender on affect.

RESULTS

Descriptive Analysis

The sample with N = 60 participants provided 1072 data points for model 1 (association), 1159 data points for model 2 (exercise duration as predicted by morning affect), and 1082 data points for model 3 (evening affect as predicted by exercise duration). The overall average exercise duration across all subjects per day was M = 38.7 min (SD = 50.9 min), with a range from 0 to 300 min. Overall, the participants exercised on 48.2% of the days (exercise duration > 0 min), with a range from 2 to 17 days (out of 20 days) per person. The average daily levels for valence, energetic arousal, and calmness were 9.8 (SD = 1.7), 8.6 (SD = 1.7), and 9.3 (SD = 1.5), respectively, representing a medium levels of affective states.

Test of Hypotheses

Model 1: Association between naturally occurring exercise duration and affective states on a day level

To test whether affect is associated with exercise duration on a day level, we first estimated the ICC of exercise duration $(\rho_I = 0.16)$. It indicated that 84% of the variability in exercise duration was attributed to within-person differences and only 16% to between-person differences. This demonstrates that exercise duration shows substantial within-person variation on a day level, which requires a multilevel approach. Next, we entered the predictors into the model. The model is presented in Table 1. The random effects of the energetic arousal and calmness slope were not significant, so they were removed. The slope of valence varied between persons (p < 0.001). Exercise duration was almost significantly associated with gender (p = 0.050), indicating that men exercised more than women. We also found that exercise duration was significantly positively associated with valence (p = 0.003) but not with energetic arousal (p = 0.239), indicating that good feelings were related to a longer exercise duration. The association between

exercise duration and calmness was negative but not significant (p = 0.141).

Model 2: Subsequent exercise duration as predicted by affective states

In model 2, the three dimensions of affect that were assessed in the morning functioned as predictors of exercise duration that day. The random effects of the three slopes were not significant, so they were removed. The model is presented in **Table 2**. We found that exercise duration was again almost significantly associated with gender (p = 0.052) and with energetic arousal (p = 0.045) but not with the other affect dimension (valence: p = 0.736; calmness: p = 0.740).

Model 3: Subsequent affective states as predicted by exercise duration

The last model estimated the extent to which exercise duration predicts affect in the evening. The results for the ICC were $\rho_I = 0.22$ for valence, $\rho_I = 0.23$ for energetic arousal, and

 $\rho_I = 0.24$ for calmness, indicating that 78, 77, and 76% of the affect subscale's variance, respectively, was caused by withinperson variation. The model is presented in Table 3. In the valence model, the random effects of exercise duration varied between persons (p = 0.043), whereas the random error terms of exercise duration in the other models had to be removed. Valence in the evening was significantly predicted by gender (p < 0.001) and by exercise duration (p = 0.009), indicating that men felt better and more content in the evening than women and that participants felt better and more content the longer they had exercised that day. Energetic arousal and calmness were both significantly predicted by gender (p = 0.002; p = 0.003) but not by exercise duration (p = 0.954; p = 0.144). The random error terms of the slopes in these models were not significant, so they were fixed. Gender differences indicated that men had significantly higher scores on all three affect subscales.

TABLE 1 Predicting exercise duration by valence	e, energetic arousal, and calmness on a day level.
---	--

		Fixed effects			Random effects			
	Est	SE (df)	t-ratio	<i>p</i> -value	Variance estimate	SD	X(df)	p-value
Intercept	22.88	8.38 (58)	2.73	0.008	443.02	21.05	240.58 (57)	<0.001
Gender	11.77	5.89 (58)	1.99	0.050				
Valence	2.02	0.65 (59)	3.11	0.003	5.23	2.29	105.12 (58)	< 0.001
Energetic arousal	0.44	0.37 (666)	1.18	0.239				
Calmness	-0.63	0.43 (666)	-1.48	0.141				

TABLE 2 | Prediction of daily exercise duration by valence, energetic arousal, and calmness in the morning.

	Fixed effects				Random effects			
	Est	SE (df)	t-ratio	p-value	Variance estimate	SD	X(df)	p-value
Intercept	22.59	8.86 (58)	2.55	0.013	406.96	20.17	243.12 (58)	<0.001
Gender	12.15	6.13 (58)	1.98	0.052				
Valence	0.46	1.37 (916)	0.34	0.736				
Energetic arousal	1.55	0.77 (916)	2.01	0.045				
Calmness	-0.34	1.03 (916)	-0.33	0.740				

TABLE 3 | Prediction of valence, energetic arousal, and calmness by exercise duration.

		Fixed ef	fects		Random effect			
	Est	SE (df)	t-ratio	p-value	Variance estimate	SD	X(df)	<i>p</i> -value
Model: valence								
Intercept	8.49	0.41 (58)	20.48	< 0.001	0.94	0.97	285.94 (58)	< 0.001
Gender	1.13	0.28 (58)	4.08	< 0.001				
Exercise duration	0.00	0.00 (59)	2.69	0.009	0.01	0.00	78.78 (59)	0.040
Model: energetic are	ousal							
Intercept	5.59	0.52 (58)	10.73	< 0.001	1.52	1.23	314.93 (58)	< 0.001
Gender	1.17	0.35 (58)	3.302	0.002				
Exercise duration	0.00	0.00 (981)	0.06	0.954				
Model: calmness								
Intercept	8.34	0.49 (58)	17.03	< 0.001	1.36	1.17	342.82 (58)	< 0.001
Gender	1.078	0.34 (58)	3.15	0.003				
Exercise duration	0.01	0.00 (981)	1.46	0.144				

DISCUSSION

This ambulatory assessment study analyzed the bi-directional effects of naturally occurring exercise duration on affective states and vice versa. The within-subject associations revealed three important findings: first, only positive affective valence was positively associated with exercise duration on a day level; second, only energetic arousal in the morning predicted subsequent exercise duration that day; and third, exercise duration only predicted higher positive affective valence in the evening. Thus, our hypotheses were only partly confirmed since we could only find effects on one of the three dimensions (positive affective valence, calmness, energetic arousal) for each analysis. The significant effects of gender in the analyses might be due to the fact that we had an unequal distribution of gender in our sample. The findings support the hypothesis that positive affective valence is positively related to naturally occurring exercise. This is in line with other findings (Gauvin et al., 1996; Carels et al., 2007; Dunton et al., 2009, 2014; Kanning and Schlicht, 2010; Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010; von Haaren et al., 2013). However, our data did not support the hypothesis that the feeling of being energized (energetic arousal) or relaxed (calmness) is related to exercise duration. However, this result is consistent with findings from Dunton et al. (2009), who also did not find a significant positive association between energetic arousal and physical activity among middle-aged and older adults.

To obtain evidence on the temporal sequence and direction of the association between naturally occurring exercise and affect, we investigated whether affect predicted exercise duration in the morning and whether exercise duration predicted affect in the evening. Findings revealed that only energetic arousal in the morning predicted exercise duration. Participants exercised more on days on which they felt energized and awake in the morning. This finding is in line with results from Dunton et al. (2014), who found that an energetic feeling predicts physical activity in children. Contrary to findings from other ambulatory assessment studies (e.g., Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010; Dunton et al., 2014), we did not find that positive affective valence predicts exercise. These studies revealed that positive feelings predict subsequent physical activity. However, Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) assessed "positive activated affect," measured with six items: lively, awake, active, powerful, dynamic, and happy. It comprises positive affective valence as well as energetic arousal. The results indicate that it might be wise to assess the two dimensions separately.

With regard to our third hypothesis, the data confirmed previously published findings by showing that the more participants exercise, the better and more content they feel (positive affective valence) in the evening of that respective day. This is in line with results from Gauvin et al. (1996), Carels et al. (2007), Mata et al. (2012), von Haaren et al. (2013), and Kanning et al. (2015), who found a positive association between physical activity and subsequent positive affect. In contrast to our findings, some of these studies also reported significant associations between physical activity and energetic arousal as well as physical activity and calmness. However, most former studies analyzed the association between momentary affect and momentary activity in daily life. They did not assess whether physical activity or exercise predict affective states in the evening. It may be that the association between affect and activity depends on the assessment interval. It could be that feelings of relaxation and power will disappear as time goes by. Further studies are needed to assess the predictive power of physical activity and exercise on subsequent affect in different time frames.

Our main results are that participants exercised more on days on which positive affective valence was high and that they showed higher positive affective valence in the evening the more they had exercised that day. Plus, the more energized and awake participants felt in the morning, the more they exercised that day. Our explanation for the positive association between positive affective valence and exercise is that positive affective valence facilitates exercise behavior by motivating the individual. According to Baumeister et al. (2007), affect acts as a short-term, intra-individual predictor of behavior since automatic positive affective valence leads to an increase in goal pursuit. It may be assumed that when individuals experience positive affect, they become motivated to reach their long-term health goals, thus facilitating exercise initiation. Positive affect has also been shown to counteract ego-depletion (Ren et al., 2010), which is a state of a diminished self-control resource (Baumeister, 2002). Egodepletion follows after a person has carried out tasks that require self-control. In daily life, it may be the case that self-control is low due to daily self-control demands that an individual is confronted with, and as a consequence the individual may no longer be capable of initiating a behavior that requires self-control. Exercise behavior depends on self-control since it is related to long-term health goals. Positive affect might compensate for diminished self-control. Feeling energized in the morning might have the same effect. It may be an indicator of high self-control on that day. In sum, affect may play a role in the acute initiation and duration of exercise, because the current state of the individual is a predictor of current behavior. However, since data analyses have shown that the more participants exercise, the higher their positive affective valence is in the evening, it also seems plausible to assume that the relationship works the other way around.

Strength and Limitations

We conducted an EMA study to investigate within-subject associations between momentary affective states and naturally occurring exercise that provides high methodological standards (Kanning et al., 2013). An ambulatory assessment allows for an investigation with high ecological validity (Shiffman et al., 2008; Trull and Ebner-Priemer, 2013). Since we collected data for 20 days, we assume that the data accurately reflected the daily lives of the individuals. The assessment of both affect and naturally occurring exercise in real life led to a high external validity of our data. Another strength of our study is that we used a multidimensional measure of affect and thus took not just valence but also arousal and calmness into account. Wilhelm and Schoebi (2007) have shown that this three-dimensional assessment of affect is suitable and adequate for registering fluctuations in affect in real time (cf. Schimmack and Grob, 2000).

Despite these benefits, the decision to employ EMA comes at the expense of a limited experimental control of confounding variables. External factors (e.g., doctor's appointments) beyond affective states might have an impact on exercise duration. In addition, other events besides exercise (e.g., social conversations) might have an impact on affect in the evening. A methodological limitation of our study was that normality of the dependent variable cannot be assumed, since natural occurring exercise duration is a skewed variable. Yet another limitation of our study was that our sample consisted of university students. Thus, generalizations based on these results need to be made with caution, because they may be affected by selection bias. Furthermore, it may be that only individuals who were especially motivated to exercise regularly were attracted by our posters and leaflets, which is supported by the high values of naturally occurring exercises in the sample.

Implications for Future Research

Future research should investigate the bi-directional effects of affect on naturally occurring exercise and vice versa in a more controlled way. Most of all, it is important to create a design in which affect is assessed immediately before and after a person exercises in daily life (e.g., with an activitytriggered design). This allows identification of the temporal sequence of the association and more precise assessment of the underlying dynamic relationship between affective states and naturally occurring exercise. In addition, due to dense assessments there are fewer influences that might have an impact on affect or exercise as the dependent variable. It would also be interesting to examine the effect of naturally occurring exercise on affect and vice versa with varying time intervals (e.g., after 1 h, after 3 h) to examine how long the effects of affect or exercising last. Plus, exercise days could be compared to non-exercise days regarding the stability or enhancement of positive affective valence over the day. Experimental approaches will be needed to enable causal inferences. As a means of obtaining a randomized controlled trial, it might be useful to randomly assign individuals to activity conditions (Liao et al., 2015). To validate the self-report data of exercise duration, future studies should combine self-reports and objective data (accelosensors). Since affect is not the only variable to influence exercise behavior in daily life, the interplay between affective states and other important variables, such as intentions, should be taken into account in future studies. In addition, future research should investigate the bidirectional effects of affective states and exercise in initiating exercise bahavior in individuals who do not yet exercise. Our study emphasizes the importance of analyzing within-subject effects when investigating the relationship between naturally occurring exercise and affective states. Future intervention studies that aim to increase naturally occurring exercise should take situational

variables such as momentary affective states into account. Furthermore, strategies for increasing positive affective valence should be considered as means of enhancing naturally occurring exercise.

CONCLUSION

The health message of this study clearly states that naturally occurring exercise behavior is associated with positive affective valence on a day level and with positive affective valence in the evening. The findings demonstrate that it would be worthwhile to focus more on within-subject analyses when analyzing the dynamic relation between affective states and naturally occurring exercise. Whether the affective state precedes the exercise behavior or is rather a response to exercise behavior is not quite clear on the day level. However, either way it might affect exercising in daily life, because positive affective states preceding exercising might facilitate the initiation and duration of exercising, whereas affective states following exercising might affect future exercise behavior by having an impact on expectations. We propose that inducing positive affect before exercising and, for example, a conscious focusing on positive affect after exercising could increase naturally occurring exercise. In addition, "feeling energized and awake" might be an important precondition for exercising. Momentary affective states should be taken into account in the creation of effective interventions to foster habitual physical exercise.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS contributed to the conception and the design of the study. She analyzed and interpreted the data and did a first draw of the paper. She did a final approval. MK analyzed and interpreted the data and was revising the paper critically for important intellectual content. She did a final approval. RF contributed to the conception and design of the study. He was revising the paper critically for important intellectual content and did a final approval.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We acknowledge support by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and the Open Access Publishing Fund of Freiburg University.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2016.01414

Affective States and Exercise

REFERENCES

- Baumeister, R. F. (2002). Ego depletion and self-control failure: an energy model of the self's executive function. Self Identity 1, 129–136. doi: 10.1080/152988602317319302
- Baumeister, R. F., Vohs, K. D., DeWall, C. N., and Zhang, L. (2007). How emotion shapes behavior: feedback, anticipation, and reflection, rather than direct causation. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 11, 167–203. doi: 10.1177/10888683073 01033
- Berger, B. G., and Motl, R. W. (2000). Exercise and mood: a selective review and synthesis of research employing the profile of mood states. J. Appl. Sport Psychol. 12, 69–92. doi: 10.1080/10413200008404214
- Carels, R. A., Coit, C., Young, K., and Berger, B. (2007). Exercise makes you feel good, but does feeling good make you exercise? An examination of obese dieters. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 29, 706–722. doi: 10.1123/jsep.29.6.706
- Conner, M., Rhodes, R. E., Morris, B., McEachan, R., and Lawton, R. (2011). Changing exercise through targeting affective or cognitive attitudes. *Psychol. Health* 26, 133–149. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.531570
- Dunton, G. F., Atienza, A. A., Castro, C. M., and King, A. C. (2009). Using ecological momentary assessment to examine antecedents and correlates of physical activity bouts in adults age 50+ years: a pilot study. *Annu. Behav. Med.* 38, 249–255. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9141-4
- Dunton, G. F., Huh, J., Leventhal, A. M., Riggs, N., Hedeker, D., Spruijt-Metz, D., et al. (2014). Momentary assessment of affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in children. *Health Psychol.* 33, 255–263. doi: 10.1037/a0032640
- Ekkekakis, P., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2000). Analysis of the affect measurement conundrum in exercise psychology. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 1, 71–88. doi: 10.1016/S1469-0292(00)00010-8
- Fuchs, R., Klaperski, S., Gerber, M., and Seelig, H. (2015). Messung der bewegungsund sportaktivität mit dem BSA-fragebogen: eine methodische zwischenbilanz. Z. Gesundheitspsychol. 23, 60–76. doi: 10.1026/0943-8149/a000137
- Fuchs, R., Seelig, H., Göhner, W., Burton, N., and Brown, W. (2012). Cognitive mediation of intervention effects on physical exercise: causal models for the adoption and maintenance stage. *Psychol. Health* 27, 1480–1499. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2012.695020
- Gauvin, L., Rejeski, W. J., and Norris, J. L. (1996). A naturalistic study of the impact of acute physical activity on feeling states and affect in women. *Health Psychol.* 15, 391–397. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.15.5.391
- Hanin, J., and Ekkekakis, P. (2014). "Emotions in sport and exercise settings," in *Routledge Companion to Sport and Exercise Psychology*, eds A. Papaioannou and D. Hackfort (London: Routledge), 83–104.
- Jekauc, D. (2015). Enjoyment during exercise mediates the effects of an intervention on exercise adherence. *Psychology* 6, 48–54. doi: 10.4236/psych. 2015.61005
- Kanning, M. (2013). Using objective, real-time measures to investigate the effect of actual physical activity on affective states in everyday life differentiating the contexts of working and leisure time in a sample with students. *Front. Psychol.* 3:602. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00602
- Kanning, M., Ebner-Priemer, U., and Schlicht, W. (2015). Using activity triggered e-diaries to reveal the associations between physical activity and affective states in older adult's daily living. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 12, 111. doi: 10.1186/s12966-015-0272-7
- Kanning, M., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Schlicht, W. M. (2013). How to investigate within-subject associations between physical activity and momentary affective states in everyday life: a position statement based on a literature overview. *Front. Psychol.* 4:187. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00187

- Kanning, M., and Schlicht, W. (2010). Be active and become happy: an ecological momentary assessment of physical activity and mood. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 32, 253–261. doi: 10.1123/jsep.32.2.253
- Lee, I.-M., Shiroma, E. J., Lobelo, F., Puska, P., Blair, S. N., and Katzmarzyk, P. T. (2012). Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet* 380, 219–229. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9
- Liao, Y., Shonkoff, E. T., and Dunton, G. F. (2015). The Acute relationships between affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in daily life. A review of current evidence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1975. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01975
- Mata, J., Thompson, R. J., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Jonides, J., and Gotlib, I. H. (2012). Walk on the bright side: physical activity and affect in major depressive disorder. J Abnorm. Psychol. 121, 297–308. doi: 10.1037/a0023533
- Raudenbush, S. W., Bryk, A. S., and Congdon, R. (2011). HLM7 for Windows [Computer Software]. Skokie, IL: Scientific Software International, Inc.
- Ren, J., Hu, L., Zhang, H., and Huang, Z. (2010). Implicit positive emotion counteracts ego depletion. Soc. Behav. Pers. Int. J. 38, 919–928. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2010.38.7.919
- Schimmack, U., and Grob, A. (2000). Dimensional models of core affect: a quantitative comparison by means of structural equation modeling. *Eur. J. Pers.* 14, 325–345. doi: 10.1002/1099-0984(200007/08)14:4<325::AID-PER380>3.0.CO;2-I
- Schwartz, J. E., and Stone, A. A. (1998). Strategies for analyzing ecological momentary assessment data. *Health Psychol.* 17, 6–16. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.17.1.6
- Schwerdtfeger, A., Eberhardt, R., Chmitorz, A., and Schaller, E. (2010). Momentary affect predicts bodily movement in daily life: an ambulatory monitoring study. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 32, 674–693. doi: 10.1123/jsep.32.5.674
- Shiffman, S., Stone, A. A., and Hufford, M. R. (2008). Ecological momentary assessment. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 4, 1–32. doi: 10.1146/annurev. clinpsy.3.022806.091415
- Snijders, T., and Bosker, R. (2011). Multilevel Analysis: An Introduction to Basic and Advanced Multilevel Modeling. London: Sage Publishers.
- Steyer, R., Schwenkmezger, P., Notz, P., and Eid, M. (1997). Der Mehrdimensionale Befindlichekeitsfragebogen (MDBF). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Trull, E. J., and Ebner-Priemer, U. (2013). Ambulatory assessment. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 9, 151–176. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185510
- von Haaren, B., Loeffler, S. N., Haertel, S., Anastasopoulou, P., Stumpp, J., Hey, S., et al. (2013). Characteristics of the activity-affect association in inactive people: an ambulatory assessment study in daily life. *Front. Psychol.* 4:163. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00163
- Wilhelm, P., and Schoebi, D. (2007). Assessing mood in daily life. Structural validity, sensitivity to change, and reliability of a short-scale to measure three basic dimensions of mood. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 23, 258–267. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759.23.4.258

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Schöndube, Kanning and Fuchs. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Momentary Affective States Are Associated with Momentary Volume, Prospective Trends, and Fluctuation of Daily Physical Activity

Martina K. Kanning1* and Dominik Schoebi2

¹ Department of Sport Science, University of Konstanz, Konstanz, Germany, ² Department of Psychology, University of Fribourg, Fribourg, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

lan Renshaw, Queensland University of Technology, Australia Yue Liao, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, USA Markus Reichert, Heidelberg University, Germany

*Correspondence:

Martina K. Kanning martina.kanning@uni-konstanz.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 26 February 2016 Accepted: 05 May 2016 Published: 23 May 2016

Citation:

Kanning MK and Schoebi D (2016) Momentary Affective States Are Associated with Momentary Volume, Prospective Trends, and Fluctuation of Daily Physical Activity. Front. Psychol. 7:744. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00744 Several interventions aiming to enhance physical activity in everyday life showed mixed effects. Affective constructs are thought to potentially support health behavior change. However, little is known about within-subject associations between momentary affect and subsequent physical activity in everyday life. This study analyzed the extent to which three dimensions of affective states (valence, calmness, and energetic arousal) were associated with different components of daily activity trajectories. Sixty-five undergraduates' students (Age: M = 24.6; SD = 3.2; females: 57%) participated in this study. Physical activity was assessed objectively through accelerometers during 24 h. Affective states assessments were conducted randomly every 45 min using an e-diary with a six-item mood scale that was especially designed for ambulatory assessment. We conducted three-level multi-level analyses to investigate the extent to which momentary affect accounted for momentary volume, prospective trends, and stability vs. fluctuation of physical activity in everyday life. All three affect dimensions were significantly associated with momentary activity volumes and prospective trends over 45 min periods. Physical activity didn't fluctuate freely, but featured significant autocorrelation across repeated measurements, suggesting some stability of physical activity across 5-min assessments. After adjusting for the autoregressive structure in physical activity assessments, only energetic arousal remained a significant predictor. Feeling energized and awake was associated with an increased momentary volume of activity and initially smaller but gradually growing decreases in subsequent activity within the subsequent 45 min. Although not related to trends in physical activity, higher valence predicted lower stability in physical activity across subsequent 45 min, suggesting more short-term fluctuations in daily activity the more participants reported positive affective valence. The current analyses afford interesting insight into within-subject associations between momentary affect and activity-trajectories in everyday life. Energetic arousal emerged as the only meaningful predictor of physical activity in daily life after adjusting for autoregression. A significant effect of valence on short-term activity fluctuations might indicate that activity interventions would benefit from taking into account enhancement of positive affective valence in everyday life. Moments of enhanced valence may scaffold attempts helping inactive people to get started with daily activities and overcome periods of inactivity in everyday life.

Keywords: exercise, emotion, ambulatory assessment, ecological momentary assessment, activity-trends, affect

INTRODUCTION

Strong evidence demonstrating health enhancing benefits of physical activity underscores the need for effective interventions to initiate physical activity behavior change (Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee, 2008; Lee et al., 2012). Being physically active helps to prevent non-communicable diseases like coronary heart disease, type 2 diabetes, and some forms of cancer (World Health Organization, 2002; Wartburton et al., 2006). Despite its health relevance, most people don't reach the recommended volume of being physically active for at least for 150 min per week (Troiano et al., 2008).

To increase physical activity, most interventions have been informed by social-cognitive theoretical models, such as theory of planned behavior (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975), or the transtheoretical model (Prochaska and Velicer, 1997). Despite their well-established theoretical foundation, however, interventions showed mixed success in enhancing physical activity (Prestwich et al., 2014). Although these behavior change theories implicitly consider affective influences, behavior change interventions focus mainly on cognitive and reasoned determination and disregard affective influences. Yet, several studies have shown that affective constructs are relevant not only to explain variations in physical activity but also to predict prospective activities (for an overview: Ekkekakis et al., 2013). Incorporating affective influences in health behavior interventions may improve intervention effects (Helfer et al., 2015). So far, however, within-subject effects of affective states on subsequent physical activity are not well understood. The current study used an ambulatory assessment approach to examine whether and to what extent momentary affective states are associated with different components of daily activity-trajectories. Ambulatory assessments allow the repeated assessments of individual changes in physical activity and affective states over time in everyday life (Ebner-Priemer and Trull, 2009).

Prior studies pointed to the importance of affect in predicting health related behaviors. For instance, a questionnaire study (Lawton et al., 2009) assessed affective and cognitive attitudes of 390 healthy adults at time one to predict self-reported behaviors at a 1 month follow-up assessment. The study revealed that, compared to cognitive attitudes, affective attitudes were significantly more powerful predictors of alcohol use, smoking, exercising, and fruit and vegetable consumptions at time 2. Associations of affect with prospective physical activity were analyzed in a recent systematic review (Rhodes and Kates, 2015). The authors included 24 studies that measured affect in response to an acute or regular bout of physical activity, and that assessed enacted or intended physical activity as the dependent variable. Positive changes in affect during moderate physical activity was prospectively linked to more activity behaviors, whereas post-exercise affective responses were unrelated with activity. Williams et al. (2012) used a longitudinal design to examine whether affective valence during a treadmill walk of 10 min predicted physical activity. One hundred sixty four healthy, lowactive adults participated in this physical activity promotion trail. Positive affective valence reported during the brief walk predicted

concurrent physical activity and self-reported lifestyle activity 6 months later.

Ample evidence supports the importance of affect in predicting either physical activity intention to be active or the behavior of subsequent activity (Rhodes and Nigg, 2011). Based on this evidence, we argue that affect should be considered alongside cognitive and reasoned determination as factors explaining behavior change in physical activity (Ekkekakis et al., 2013). Several issues require clarification, however: first, most studies analyzed affective reactions due to a specific exercise program or treadmill walking and used these affect-perceptions to predict the intention to or the behavior of subsequent physical activity. Physical activities in daily living such as going for a walk, gardening, playing with children, or making a cycling tour have hardly received attention, although such lifestyle activities make up a large part of the entire volume of physical activities. Increasing this type of activity is important to prevent health related diseases. For instance, a prospective cohort study with more than 400.000 individuals (Wen et al., 2011) indicated that 15 min of activity a day was associated with a 14% reduction in all-cause mortality risk, and with a 3 years longer life expectancy. Second, the design of most former studies did not allow for analyzing associations of momentary affective states and physical activities as a process unfolding over time. Consequently, we know little about within-subject changes in daily physical activities following prior momentary affective states.

According to the Activity-State Hypothesis (Rowland, 1998) physical activity in everyday life seems to follow an homeostatic mechanism, indicating stability in dynamic systems by the process of negative feedback. That means that physical activity (or energy expenditure) might be overall stable over time and that after high volumes of activity low volumes are probably following and vice versa. Thus, physical activity in everyday life is highly predicted by former activity. This oscillating pattern of activity needs to be taken into account when analyzing variations in daily physical activities over time. If we assume a substantial concurrent association between affect and physical activity, activity is likely elevated at that time point and will likely decrease across subsequent measurements. As a result, potential positive prospective effects of affect on physical activity will be attenuated or masked; where potential negative prospective effects of affect on activity would be enhanced. To adjust for such bias when predicting subsequent physical activity from affect reports, it is important to take into consideration prior volumes of physical activity at any predicted measurement point of activity. This allows for predicting prospective physical activity variations independent of prior volumes of activity. Incorporating moment-to-moment (autoregressive) associations of physical activity reflects also a meaningful dimension of physical activity itself, namely its fluctuation or stability across time. For physical activity interventions, it is now relevant to know how important this autoregressive structure is in influencing activity compared to affective determinants.

The current study examined the extent to which momentary affective states predict momentary volume, prospective trends,

and stability vs. fluctuation in daily physical activity. We used an ambulatory assessment approach to capture individuals' momentary affective states and their physical activity in their daily lives. Based on the existing state of research (e.g., Kanning et al., 2013; Liao et al., 2015), we tested the hypotheses that valence and energetic arousal are positively whereas calmness is negatively associated with momentary volume of physical activity in daily life. We extended existing research in (1) analyzing to what extent the three different dimensions of affective states predicted prospective trends in physical activity, and (2) by investigating associations of momentary affect on stability vs. fluctuations of prospective physical activity across time. **Figure 1** provides examples for activity trends with high vs. low stability.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

A convenience sample of 65 undergraduate students (57% females) participated in this ambulatory assessment study. The sample was recruited from a German university and had a mean age of 24.6 years (SD = 3.2). The data were part of another study, which have been presented elsewhere (Kanning, 2013), but the analyses here and the combination of physical activity and affective states are unique to this paper.

Before data recording, subjects were informed about the aim of our study, which was analyzing the association between physical activity and affective states. All of the subjects took part in the study voluntarily. They received no monetary compensation for their participation. Following the process of institutional ethical approval, all of the participants provided written informed consent. APA ethical standards were followed in the conduct of the study.



FIGURE 1 | Activity trajectories across time with low (broken line) and high (bold line) stability. The graph exemplifies trajectories with a negative time trend after adjusting for autocorrelation. Moment-to-moment changes increase with time, on average, resulting in a curvilinear shape of trajectories.

Ambulatory Assessment Procedure

Physical activity in daily living was measured continuously using a 3-way accelerometer (varioport-e; Becker Meditech, Germany) for 24 h. The varioport-e was started and then attached to each subjects' hip. Twenty-four hours later, subjects returned to the laboratory where data recording was stopped. Participants were allowed to take off the accelerometer when sleeping. Ratings for affect were assessed via electronic diaries (Palm, Tungsten E2). For this, the palmtop prompted subjects every 45 min during a defined 14-h daytime period (8:00am–10:00pm). If the person made no entry to the electronic diary, the palmtop beeped again 10 min later to remind the person to fill in the questionnaire. The assessment always took place on weekdays. We included only reports that were made within 10 min of the first beep, which was the case for 87.9% of the reports. The average latency between the beep and the report was $M = 2.15 \min (SD = 3.96)$.

Measures

Affective States

Momentary affective states were measured by using the Short Mood Scale (Wilhelm and Schoebi, 2007), which is based on the Multidimensional Mood Questionnaire, for which validity and reliability has been demonstrated (Steyer et al., 1997). The short scale is the only instrument that has been explicitly developed and evaluated for use in ambulatory assessment. The scale contains six items that assess the intensity of three dimensions of affective states that are ordered as semantic differentials: valence (unwell vs. well, discontent vs. content), calmness (relaxed vs. tense, calm vs. agitated), and energetic arousal (tired vs. awake, without energy vs. full of energy). Subjects answered the question "At this moment, I feel..." by moving a slider from the left end (e.g., unwell) to the right end (e.g., well) of the bipolar scale. Scores for each subscale were obtained by averaging the item scores, which resulted in a range from 0 to 5. Wilhelm and Schoebi (2007) investigated homogeneity at the between-person and the withinsubject level. The reliability coefficient for the between-person level reached 0.92 for valence and 0.90 for energetic arousal and calmness. The reliability coefficient for the within-subject level reached 0.70 for valence and calmness and 0.77 for energetic arousal. Based on this finding, the reliabilities both resulted in good internal consistencies.

Physical Activity in Daily Living (PA)

The varioport-e measured acceleration (defined as change in velocity over time) and describes the intensity, the rate of occurrence and the duration of an actual physically active episode. Acceleration was measured in milli-g, for each minute in the 24-h period. All offline analyses and artifact-checks were performed by the interactive software package "Freiburg Monitoring System" according to a published procedure (Myrtek, 2004).

Data Analysis

The data featured multiple dependencies, with activity measurements (level 1) being nested within affective state assessments at 45-min intervals (level 2), which were nested within participants (level 3). We therefore analyzed the data

using multilevel models with three levels. To examine whether momentary affect predicted momentary activity volume, prospective trends, and fluctuation, we used a multilevel model in which we estimated a growth parameter for each 45-min interval for which participants reported about their affective states. To approximate a normal distribution, reduce short-term fluctuations, and reduce the amount of data, we aggregated activity scores for each 5 min interval, and then computed the moving average over series of three consecutive 5-min activity aggregates. To assess momentary volume of activity and prospective trends, and their associations with prior affect variables, we first ran a model that did not adjust for the autoregressive structure in daily physical activity (model 1). We then extended this model to incorporate an autoregressive structure (model 2). Comparing these models revealed to what extent associations between affect and different components of daily activity-trajectories were accounted by prior activity volumes.

In model 1, we tested a growth model at level 1, with the nine moving average activity scores (45/5 = 9) changing as a function of time, for each 45-min interval between affect measurements. Minor deviations from 45-min were possible due to response latency. This model allowed for momentary activity volume and prospective trends to vary within person across 45-min lags. For example, activity could increase over the 45 min, and then decrease across the subsequent 45 min, before remaining stable across the third subsequent 45-min interval. The level-1 equation for model 1 can be written as:

Activity_{i+1ik} =
$$b_0$$
 (constant_{ij}) + b_1 (time_{ijk}) + e_{ijk}

The activity following one time unit (5-min) after a particular time point *i*, during the 45-min lag *j* of person *k*, is represented by a constant b_0 , capturing the momentary activity volume at the beginning of the 45-min lag, a time parameter b_1 ,

reflecting trends in activity across the 45-min time lag, and an error term e_{ijk} . A positive time trend reflects increasing activity across a particular 45-min period, and a negative time trend reflects decreasing activity across a 45-min period, as exemplified in **Figure 2**. We also examined extended growth models, including squared and cubic time trends to capture curvilinear associations. Because these models did not significantly improve the predictions, we report only the linear growth models.

At level 2, we then used the affect reports at each 45-min interval to explain variability in (a) momentary activity volume, and (b) trends of activity across 45 min intervals.

Level-2 equations (model 2):

 $b_0 = g_{00} + g_{01} (affect_{jk}) + u_{00}$ $b_1 = g_{10} + g_{11} (affect_{ik}) + u_{01}$

Parameter g_{01} reflects the extent to which momentary activity volume at the beginning of the 45-min lag j of person k is a function of that person's affect report at the beginning of lag j. The estimate for g_{11} captures the association of a person's affect report at the beginning of lag j, and his or her trend in activity across that lag. Finally, u_{00} and u_{01} represent residual variance of the constant and the linear growth parameter.

In model 2, we added the first order autoregressive parameter to capture the stability of activity across time. This parameter captures moment-to-moment stability (or instability), and adjusts the time trajectories for regression toward the mean by eliminating the effects of prior volumes of activity. Thus, in this model, the time parameter no longer captures constant linear trends of activity across 45-min intervals, but the extent to which activity changes between 5-min activity measurements become increasingly positive or negative over the 45-min intervals. The full level-1 equation (model 2) can be written as follows:

Activity_{i+1jk} =
$$b_0$$
 (constant_{ij}) + b_1 (time_{ijk}) + b_2 (activity_{ijk}) + e_{ijk}



In addition to the equation for model 1, the equation now includes an autoregressive parameter b_2 , capturing stability in activity across time.

In addition to regressing momentary activity volume (g_{01}) and trends of activity across 45 min intervals (g_{11}) on affect reports, we also estimated whether stability or fluctuation in activity across time was predicted by affect (g_{21}) .

Level-2 equations (model 2):

 $b_0 = g_{00} + g_{01} (affect_{jk}) + u_{00}$ $b_1 = g_{10} + g_{11} (affect_{jk}) + u_{01}$ $b_2 = g_{20} + g_{21} (affect_{jk}) + u_{02}$

The estimate for g_{21} captures the association of a person's affect report and stability in her activity across repeated measurements, and u_{02} represents the residual variance of the autoregressive parameter across 45-min lags.

Importantly, the affect predictors were centered at each individual's mean affect across all measurements, and therefore, the estimates for these parameters reflected within-subject associations between affect and activity volumes, and withinsubject stability. We ran several models in which only one (as shown in the level-2 equations above) or multiple affect components (valence, energetic arousal, and calmness) were tested as predictors of momentary activity volume, trends, and stability estimates. In the model with all three affect components, no significant effects emerged that were not significant in the models testing each component separately, and we therefore report the results from the combined test.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

The average activity level individuals across was M = 90.25 milli-g (between-subject SD = 27.31milli-g), while the median was Md = 54.99 milli-g (between-subject SD = 20.31 milli-g). For comparison purposes, jogging episodes produce approximately 1,000 milli-g/min, walking episodes produce approximately 350 milli-g/min, and sheer sitting episodes produce approximately 10 milli-g/min (Kanning et al., 2013). The results for testing level-1 predictors largely confirmed our expectations. Estimating linear trajectories across 45-min periods (model 1) indicated no significant overall trend (b = -0.163, t = 0.565, p = 0.574). The average activity change between repeated measures was 0.14 (SD = 0.82) and did not differ significantly from zero (95% CI = -0.07; 0.35), thus suggesting that activity fluctuated around a habitual level. Examining first order autoregression suggested significant stability in activity across time (b = 0.718, t = 40.760, p < 0.001). The average level of valence was M = 3.56 (between-subject SD = 0.60), of energetic arousal M = 3.02 (between-subject SD = 0.56), and calmness M = 3.43 (between-subject SD = 0.60), indicating moderate to high values of momentary affect with substantial within-subject variation (cf. **Table 1**).

Did Momentary Affect Predict Momentary Activity Volume, Prospective Trends, and Stability vs. Fluctuation in Daily Physical Activity?

Momentary activity volume, prospective trends, and stability varied significantly across 45-min intervals (ps < 0.001), but autocorrelation and time trends did not vary across individuals (ps > 0.421).The results for the level-2 for model 1 and model 2 are summarized in **Table 2**.

Estimates for model 1 suggested that at times reports of more positive affective valence (b = 11.797, p = 0.005) less calmness (b = -12.176, p = 0.001), and more energetic arousal (b = 20.521, p < 0.001), were associated with higher momentary activity. Affective states also predicted activity trends across time. Reports of more positive affective valence (b = -1.486, p = 0.014), and more energetic arousal (b = -0.779, p = 0.049) were associated with activity decreases over the subsequent 45-min intervals. A marginally significant parameter suggested that reports of more calmness were associated with activity increases (b = 1.031, p = 0.055). Importantly, the pattern of estimates for prospective trends was complementary with that of activity volumes, suggesting a trend toward mean activity after activity peaks and low points.

When taking into account prior activity volumes in model 2, a significant association between affective states and activity trends resulted only for energetic arousal. In cases when participants reported more energetic arousal, activity changes trended toward decreases, whereby the decrease was initially small but gradually growing across the subsequent 45-min interval (b = -0.610, p = 0.013).

Positive affective valence was associated with less positive (more negative) autoregressive parameter estimates (b = -0.031, p = 0.026), suggesting that within 45-min intervals after

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics of the three dimensions of affective states and pl	physical activity.
---	--------------------

Variable	Betwee	n-subject	Within-subject variability		Minimum	Maximum	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD			
Physical activity	90.25	27.31	104.94	47.42	0	1330.71	
Valence	3.56	0.6	0.85	0.31	0	5	
Energetic arousal	3.02	0.56	1.16	0.29	0	5	
Calmness	3.43	0.6	0.89	0.33	0	5	

Within-subject variability is indicated as standard deviations.

Level 2 parameter	Momentary activity volume (intercept)			Tren	Trend (time slope)			Stability/fluctuation (activity slope)		
	Coefficient	t-ratio	p-value	Coefficient	t-ratio	<i>p</i> -value	Coefficient	t-ratio	<i>p</i> -value	
Model 1										
Valence	11.797	2.827	0.005	-1.486	2.466	0.014				
Calmness	-12.176	3.264	0.001	1.031	1.920	0.055				
Energetic arousal	20.521	7.502	< 0.001	-0.779	1.974	0.049				
Model 2										
Valence	6.955	1.417	0.157	-0.489	1.297	0.195	-0.031	2.224	0.026	
Calmness	-7.992	1.814	0.070	0.206	0.613	0.540	0.012	0.904	0.366	
Energetic arousal	19.892	6.174	< 0.001	-0.610	2.474	0.013	-0.008	0.793	0.428	

TABLE 2 | Within-subject relations between the three dimensions of affective states (valence, calmness, and energetic arousal) and different components of daily activity-trajectories (momentary volume, trend, and stability).

participants reported better feelings, physical activity was less stable, or in other words, fluctuated more strongly across 5-min measurements.

DISCUSSION

This ambulatory assessment study was among the first to investigate different components of daily activity-trajectories (momentary volume, prospective trends, and stability vs. fluctuation) and to analyze to what extent affective states predicted trends and stability independent from prior volumes of activity. The results suggested that momentary affective states were significantly associated with momentary volume of physical activity. Furthermore, energetic arousal is negatively associated with prospective activity trends, whereas valence is positively associated with prospective fluctuations of physical activity.

To our knowledge, trajectories in daily physical activity have hardly been investigated in detail. So far, several studies investigated patterns of physical activity, analyzing how much time the sample was sedentary or physically active with moderate or high intensity (e.g., Evenson et al., 2015; Hooker et al., 2015). Although these studies described the quantity of different activity volumes, they did not analyze trajectories in physical activity. The findings of the presented study suggested that the volume of physical activity in daily life varies over time without significant short-term trends. Thus, physical activity in everyday life oscillate around a habitual level, supporting the Activity-State Hypothesis (Rowland, 1998). The Activity-State Hypothesis has been predominantly used to explain compensatory change in one domain (e.g., leisure-time), when physical activity is being increased or decreased in another domain (e.g., school, at work; for an overview Gomersall et al., 2013). Although the presented study investigated daily physical activities without distinguishing between different domains, the findings suggested that physical activity might follow an autoregressive structure. To create effective interventions for enhancing physical activity, it is important to understand whether and to what extent affective states can influence daily physical activity in addition to the autoregressive structure of activity.

Valence, energetic arousal, and calmness were all significantly associated with the momentary volume of daily life activity. These findings converge with former ambulatory assessment studies on associations between physical activity and affective states in everyday life. However, most of these former studies tested the effects of physical activities on affective states, rather than vice versa (for an overview: Kanning et al., 2013). Nevertheless, a recent systematic literature review examined six studies that tested whether affective states predicted subsequent physical activity (Liao et al., 2015). For instance, in a 12 h- ambulatory assessment with 124 healthy adults between 18 and 73 years, Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) assessed physical activity continuously and affective states every hour during waking hours. The authors examined associations between momentary affect and the average activity volumes during four subsequent periods (1, 1-5, 1-15, and 1-30 min). Their results suggested that the more positive subjects felt, the more active they were during all four subsequent activity-periods. However, the other studies included in Liao's et al. (2015) review did not consistently report positive associations, suggesting overall mixed support for the assumption that positive feelings lead to physical activity.

The focus of the current research was on different components of daily activity-trajectories and whether these activity variations were predicted by affective states in daily life. The findings of model 1 suggested that patterns of change in momentary activity volumes corresponded with prospective activity trends. Feeling well (valence), full of energy (energetic arousal) and agitated [calmness (-)] were each associated with a high level of momentary volume of the physical activity aggregated across the 5 min directly following the e-diary assessment and with decreases in activity during the subsequent 45 min. These results suggested a trend toward mean activity after activity peaks. To address that autoregressive structure and because high activity would naturally regress to the mean and therefore spuriously inflate negative associations between affect dimensions and activity, we integrated an autoregressive parameter in model 2, which allowed us to predict activity-trends independently from prior volumes of activity. This model 2 revealed that calmness and valence were no longer meaningful predictors of activity changes. However, energetic arousal remained a significant predictor for momentary volume and prospective trends of daily physical activity. Thus, when an individual felt highly energized,

his or her activity volume was high and decrease across the subsequent 45 min interval. Interestingly, decreases in activity were initially small but gradually growing across the subsequent 45-min interval. So first, participants hold their activity volume followed by an increasing decrease in subsequent physical activity (cf. Figure 1).

Beside the function to control for the presumed biological mechanism, the autoregressive parameter itself captures stability of physical activity across time. The significant and negative association of valence pointed to more fluctuations in activity the better the person felt before. Positive affective valence appears to foster changes in activity volumes in everyday life. According to Fredrickson's broaden and build model positive emotions (e.g., joy, contentment, and love) broaden individual's repertoire for action to seek new goals, for instance, and expend individual's resources and friendships (Fredrickson, 1998). Thus, individuals are ideally situated to think and act in ways that promote both resource building and involvement with approach goals. Although this model is about the effect of general positive emotions and does not reflect on potential effects of momentary affect in everyday life, it may hint at how positive affective valence may operate in daily life. It may be that positive feelings support people more readily engaged in doing the things that they want or have to do in their everyday life (e.g., run some errands, going for a walk), and therefore, lead to more frequent changes of the specific types of activity. In most cases, such engagement is associated with an increased variety of physical activity. The effect of positive affective valence on prospective physical activity may also be interesting for physical activity interventions. It is a challenge for inactive people to bring themselves to an active lifestyle. If positive feelings help individuals to get started with daily activities, it may be easier for them to overcome periods of inactivity in everyday life. Thus, interventions to increase daily activities may be more effective if they provide strategies for emotion regulation in addition to prescriptions how to be active in daily life. If an inactive person is able to experience positive feelings, it will be more likely that this person engages in the recommended activity. To enhance positive feelings in everyday life, an intervention may support inactive individuals in selecting and modifying everyday life situations, which are individually associated with positive feelings and which may be suitable to be physically active.

Some limitations need to be taken into account when interpreting the results. First, physical activity and affective states were assessed only during the course of a single day. To better support the existence of a biological mechanism and to analyze trajectories in daily physical activity, the assessment period needs to cover more than 1 day. Second, this study involved only university students, which resulted in a sample that is both younger and of a higher socioeconomic status than the overall population. Generalizations based on these results thus need to be done with caution. Lastly, this study did not assess important environmental (e.g., weather, physical environment) or psychosocial (e.g., being together with meaningful people, social support) factors, which might have influenced both momentary affect and physical activity.

CONCLUSION

Broad evidence indicates that affect is an important predictor of physical activity motivation and behavior. Physical activity interventions should therefore make use of affect and related constructs to improve their effectiveness to induce behavior change. Our results suggest that important dimensions of momentary affect - valence, calmness, and energetic arousal were all significantly associated with momentary volume and prospective trends in physical activity in daily life. After adjusting for the autoregressive structure, and thereby adjusting for prior activity levels when predicting prospective physical activity, calmness and valence were no longer significantly related to prospective activity trends, whereas energetic arousal remained a significant predictor. Energetic arousal thus emerged as the only meaningful predictor of momentary activity volumes, and of prospective trends in activity changes. Specifically, feeling highly energized predicted initially smaller changes that grow larger over the span of the 45 min periods. In addition, positive affective valence was predictive of short-term activity dynamics, as reflected by a significant association with more short-term fluctuations (or less stability) in everyday life activity volumes. These findings could imply that interventions designed to enhance daily physical activity might be more effective if they incorporated strategies to foster positive affective valence in everyday life. Strategies to enhance positive feelings may help inactive people to initiate change their inactive lifestyles.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK made substantial contributions to the design of the work and conducted the study. MK interpreted the data, drafted the work, and gave the final approval of the version to be published. DS made substantial contributions to the analysis and the interpretation of the data. DS revised the work critically for important intellectual content and gave final approval of the version to be published. MK and DS both agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

FUNDING

We acknowledge support by the Open Access Publishing fund of University of Konstanz.

REFERENCES

- Ebner-Priemer, U., and Trull, T. J. (2009). Ambulatory Assessment. An innovative and promising apporach for clinical psychology. *Euro. Psychol.* 14, 109–119.
- Ekkekakis, P., Hargreaves, A. A., and Parfitt, G. (2013). Envisioning the next fifty years of research on exercise-affect relationship. *Psychol. Sport Exe.* 14, 751–758.
- Evenson, K. R., Wen, F., Metzger, J. S., and Herring, A. H. (2015). Physical activity and sedentary behavior patterns using accelerometry from a national sample of United States adults. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 12, 1–13. doi: 10.1186/s12966-015-0183-7
- Fishbein, M., and Ajzen, I. (1975). Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behavior: An Introduction to the Theorie and Research. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Fredrickson, B. L. (1998). What good are positive emotions. Rev. Gen. Psychol. 2, 300-319. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.300
- Gomersall, S. R., Rowland, A. V., English, C., Maher, C., and Olds, T. S. (2013). The activitystat hypothesis the concept, the evidence and the methologies. *Sports Med.* 43, 135–149. doi: 10.1007/s40279-012-0008-7
- Helfer, S. G., Elhai, J. D., and Geers, A. L. (2015). Affect and exercise: positive affective expectations can increase post-exercise mood and exercise intentions. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 49, 269–279. doi: 10.1007/s12160-014-9656-1
- Hooker, S. P., Hutto, B., Zhu, W., Blair, S. N., Colabianchi, N., Vena, J. E., et al. (2015). Accelerometer measured sedentary behavior and physical activity in white and black adults: the REGARDS study. *J. Sci. Med. Sport* 19, 336–341. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2015.04.006
- Kanning, M. (2013). Using objective, real-time measures to investigate the effect of actual physical activity on affective states in everyday life differentiating the context of working and leisure time in a sample with students. *Front. Psychol.* 3:602. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00602
- Kanning, M., Ebner-Priemer, U., and Schlicht, W. (2013). How to investigate within-subject associations between physical activity and affective states in everyday life: a position statement based on a literature overview. *Front. Psychol.* 4:187. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00187
- Lawton, R., Conner, M., and Mceachan, R. (2009). Desire or reason: predicting health behaviors from affective and cognitive attitudes. *Health Psychol.* 28, 56–65. doi: 10.1037/a0013424
- Lee, I.-M., Shiroma, E. J., Lobelo, F., Puska, P., Blair, S. N., and Katzmarkzyk, P. T. (2012). Effects of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet* 380, 219–229. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9
- Liao, Y., Shonkoff, E. T., and Dunton, G. F. (2015). The acute relationships between affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in daily life: a review of current evidence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1975.
- Myrtek, M. (2004). *Heart and Emotion. Ambulatory Monitoring Studies in Everyday Life.* Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee (2008). *Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report 2008*. Washington, DC: US Department of Heath and Human Services.
- Prestwich, A., Sniehotta, F. F., Whittington, C., Dombrowski, S. U., Rogers, L., and Michi, S. (2014). Does theory influence the effectiveness of health

behavior interventions? A meta-analysis. *Health Psychol.* 33, 465-474. doi: 10.1037/a0032853

- Prochaska, J. O., and Velicer, W. F. (1997). The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. Am. J. Health Promot. 12, 38–48. doi: 10.4278/0890-1171-12.1.38
- Rhodes, R. E., and Kates, A. (2015). Can the affective response to exercise predict future motives and physical activity behavior? A systematic review. Ann. Behav. Med. 49, 715–731. doi: 10.1007/s12160-015-9704-5
- Rhodes, R. E., and Nigg, C. R. (2011). Advancing physical activity theory: a review and future directions. *Exe. Sport Sci. Rev.* 39, 113–119. doi: 10.1097/JES.0b013e31821b94c8
- Rowland, T. W. (1998). The biological basis of physical activity. *Med. Sci. Sports Exe.* 30, 392–399. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199803000-00009
- Schwerdtfeger, A., Eberhardt, R., Chmitorz, A., and Schaller, E. (2010). Momentary affect predicts bodily movement in daily life: an ambulatory monitoring study. J. Sport Exe. Psychol. 32, 674–693.
- Steyer, R., Schwenkmezger, P., Notz, P., and Eid, M. (1997). Der Mehrdimensionale Befindlichekeitsfragebogen (MDBF). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Troiano, R. P., Berrigan, D., Dodd, K. W., Masse, L. C., Tilert, T., and Mcdowell, M. (2008). Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometers. *Med. Sci. Sports Exe.* 40, 181–188. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31815a51b3
- Wartburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W., and Bredin, S. S. D. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *Can. Med. Assoc. J.* 174, 801–809. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.051351
- Wen, C. P., Wai, J. P. M., Tsai, M. K., Yang, Y. C., Cheng, T. Y. D., Lee, M.-C., et al. (2011). Minimum amount of physical activity for reduced mortality and extended life expectency: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet* 378, 1244–1253. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60749-6
- Wilhelm, P., and Schoebi, D. (2007). Assessing mood in daily life. Structural validity, sensitivity to change, and reliability of a Short-Scale to measure three basic dimensions of mood. *Euro. J. Psychol. Assess.* 23, 258–267. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759.23.4.258
- Williams, D. M., Dunsinger, S., Jennings, E. G., and Marcus, B. H. (2012). Does affect valence during and immediately following a 10-min walk predict concurrent and future physical activity? *Ann. Behav. Med.* 44, 43–51. doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9362-9
- World Health Organization (2002). *World Health Report*. Available at: http://www.who.int/whr/2002/en/index.html

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Kanning and Schoebi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Within-Subject Associations between Mood Dimensions and Non-exercise Activity: An Ambulatory Assessment Approach Using Repeated Real-Time and Objective Data

Markus Reichert^{1, 2*}, Heike Tost¹, Iris Reinhard³, Alexander Zipf⁴, Hans-Joachim Salize¹, Andreas Meyer-Lindenberg¹ and Ulrich W. Ebner-Priemer^{2, 5}

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Central Institute of Mental Health, Medical Faculty Mannheim, Heidelberg University, Mannheim, Germany, ² Department of Sports and Sports Science, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Karlsruhe, Germany, ³ Division of Biostatistics, Central Institute of Mental Health, Medical Faculty Mannheim, Heidelberg University, Mannheim, Germany, ⁴ GlScience Research Group, Institute of Geography, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany, ⁵ Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, Central Institute of Mental Health, Mannheim, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Dominik Schoebi, University of Fribourg, Switzerland Eva Maria Rathner, University of Graz, Austria

*Correspondence: Markus Reichert markus.reichert@zi-mannheim.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

> **Received:** 13 April 2016 **Accepted:** 03 June 2016 **Published:** 24 June 2016

Citation:

Reichert M, Tost H, Reinhard I, Zipf A, Salize H-J, Meyer-Lindenberg A and Ebner-Priemer UW (2016) Within-Subject Associations between Mood Dimensions and Non-exercise Activity: An Ambulatory Assessment Approach Using Repeated Real-Time and Objective Data. Front. Psychol. 7:918. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00918

A physically active lifestyle has been related to positive health outcomes and high life expectancy, but the underlying psychological mechanisms maintaining physical activity are rarely investigated. Tremendous technological progress yielding sophisticated methodological approaches, i.e., ambulatory assessment, have recently enabled the study of these mechanisms in everyday life. In practice, accelerometers allow to continuously and objectively monitor physical activity. The combination with e-diaries makes it feasible to repeatedly assess mood states in real-time and real life and to relate them to physical activity. This state-of-the-art methodology comes with several advantages, like bypassing systematic distortions of retrospective methods, avoiding distortions seen in laboratory settings, and revealing an objective physical activity assessment. Most importantly, ambulatory assessment studies enable to analyze how physical activity and mood wax and wane within persons over time in contrast to existing studies on physical activity and mood which mostly investigated between-person associations. However, there are very few studies on how mood dimensions (i.e., feeling well, energetic and calm) drive non-exercise activity (NEA; such as climbing stairs) within persons. Recent reviews argued that some of these studies have methodological limitations, e.g., scarcely representative samples, short study periods, physical activity assessment via self-reports, and low sampling frequencies. To overcome these limitations, we conducted an ambulatory assessment study in a community-based sample of 106 adults over 1 week. Participants were asked to report mood ratings on e-diaries and to wear an accelerometer in daily life. We conducted multilevel analyses to investigate whether mood predicted NEA, which was defined as the mean acceleration within the 10-min interval directly following an e-diary assessment. Additionally, we analyzed the effects of NEA on different time frames following the e-diary prompts in an exploratory manner. Our results revealed that valence significantly and positively

predicted NEA within persons (p = 0.001). Feeling more energetic was associated with significantly increased NEA (p < 0.001), whereas feeling calmer was associated with significantly decreased NEA (p < 0.001) on the within-person level. The analyses on different time frames of NEA largely confirmed our findings. In conclusion, we showed that mood predicted NEA within adults but with distinct magnitudes and directions of effects for each mood dimension.

Keywords: ambulatory assessment, ecological momentary assessment, mood, affective states, physical activity, non-exercise activity, activities of daily life, accelerometry

INTRODUCTION

Physical activity is an important determinant of human health, and being physically active has been shown to contribute to the prevention of and recovery from severe somatic and psychiatric diseases (for an overview refer to Pedersen and Saltin, 2015). Specifically, both engaging in exercise (such as swimming, playing football, working out at the gym) and living a physically active life comprising high levels of non-exercise activity (NEA; e.g., daily routines of walking to the office, biking for transport, climbing stairs) have been related to high health expectancy, for example reductions in the risk of cardiovascular disease (Healy et al., 2008; Wen et al., 2011). A better understanding of the psychological determinants of physical activity is of central significance to enhancing health promoting lifestyles with less sedentary behavior. According to behavioral theories, affective experiences play an important role in human behavior. In other words, activities related to positive affective experiences are supposed to be more likely to be repeated than those associated with a negative mood.

Although a large body of intervention studies have investigated between-subject effects of exercise on mood (for an overview refer to Reed and Ones, 2006; Reed and Buck, 2009), unfortunately, there has been a lack of research on the within-subject associations between physical activity and mood. Between-subject designs do not reveal how physical activity and mood wax and wane within people over time. Therefore, the between-subject findings that people who are on average more active than others feel better on average than others provide no evidence that there is a within-subject timely relationship between both of those processes, i.e., that within subjects, episodes of activity are related to good moods and that episodes of low activity are related to bad moods. From a more theoretical perspective, between-subject associations cannot be translated into within-subject relationships (Aarts et al., 2014), which implies that if the topic of interest is how mood maintains physical activity, a within-subject assessment approach is mandatory.

To investigate within-subject associations of physical activity and mood in participants' everyday lives, ambulatory assessment is currently the most promising and recommended state-ofthe-art technique (Kanning et al., 2015). The use of e-diaries on smartphones to repeatedly assess mood states in real-time and of accelerometers to continuously and objectively monitor activity provides several advantages. It enables researchers to (a) assess the dynamic and time-dependent interplay between mood and physical activity (Ebner-Priemer and Trull, 2009); (b) assess mood in real time and thus bypass the systematic distortions observed in retrospective methods (Stone et al., 2002; Fahrenberg et al., 2007); (c) avoid the distortions produced by laboratory settings (Bussmann et al., 2009); and (d) increase the validity of physical activity assessments compared with participant selfratings (Prince et al., 2008; Adamo et al., 2009).

Over the past decade, several research groups have used ambulatory assessment approaches to study withinsubject effects of physical activity on mood in everyday life. Schwerdtfeger et al. (2008) found higher intensity and/or duration of everyday life activity to be associated with higher positive activated affect in 124 healthy participants over 12 assessment-hours. Significant positive effects of physical activity on energetic arousal and a significant negative effect on calmness were shown by Kanning et al. (2012) in a sample of 44 undergraduates over 24 h. In 2013, Bossmann et al. showed significant positive effects of physical activity on energetic arousal and valence in 77 university students over the course of 24 h. Kanning (2013) showed physical activity to be positively related with subsequent ratings of valence and energetic arousal as well as negative effects of physical activity on calmness in a sample of 87 undergraduates. In 2015, Kanning et al. revealed significantly heightened energetic arousal and more agitation (calmness) following physical activity over 3 days in adults. Dunton et al. (2015) found social interaction and physical context (i.e., being outdoors) to moderate the effects of physical activity on mood.

Although the abovementioned studies show increasing evidence for physical activity affecting mood within subjects and a large body of treatment studies have found effects of exercise on mood (for a discussion we refer to Schlicht et al., 2013), the within-subject impact of mood on physical activity remains largely unknown. This is surprising because psychomotor retardation has been conceptualized as a consequence of major depressive disorder ever since and many studies showed limited physical activity in depressed patients (Burton et al., 2013; Reichert et al., 2015). Thus, research in this direction seems very promising.

Unfortunately, only very few within-subject studies have investigated the predictive value of mood on non-exercise activity (Liao et al., 2015). In 2007, Carels et al investigated the associations of mood and exercise in a sample of 36 obese adults who participated in a behavioral weight loss program. Mood was assessed every morning and every evening as well as prior to and after each bout of exercise over at least 4 weeks within the weight loss program. Both mood and exercise data (i.e., duration, intensity and type) were collected via participants' self-reports in diaries. Carels et al. focused on the investigation of mood-exercise associations and therefore did not take non-exercise activity into account. Regarding the effects of mood on exercise, Carels et al. (2007) found mood in the morning to significantly increase the initiation of exercise on the same day both on the within- and between-person level. However, mood assessed in the morning was not related to either the duration or the intensity of exercise.

Dunton et al. (2009) reported associations between affective factors and non-exercise activity in 23 physically inactive adults aged 50 years and above. The adults were asked to complete electronic diaries in the morning, at midday, in the afternoon and in the evening to report on positive/negative affect, energetic arousal and types of non-exercise activity, among others. Dunton et al. (2009) found an increase in positive affect and a decrease in negative affect at t-1 to be associated with significantly increased moderate-to-vigorous physical activity at the following assessment (t). However, the trend in the affect dimension of energetic arousal, i.e., feeling more energetic and less tired being related to enhanced levels of non-exercise activity, lacked significance. Dunton et al. (2014) conducted an ambulatory assessment study to investigate whether mood does affect physical activity in 119 children aged 11 to 13 years. They analyzed how mood ratings on e-diaries influenced accelerometer-measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity within the 30 min following the prompts. Although increased levels of energy and decreased ratings of fatigue were associated with increases in moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, the positive and negative affect ratings were not related to subsequent physical activity.

Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) analyzed the effects of mood on physical activity across a 12-h period in a sample of 126 adults mainly comprising students. In their study, Personal Digital Assistants (PDAs) randomly queried for mood approximately 12 times, and physical activity was assessed using accelerometers attached to participant's ankles. Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) parameterized physical activity by applying the categories sedentary, light, moderate, and vigorous activity based on thresholds using unit counts. Moreover, they averaged the different time frames of physical activity following mood assessments, namely 1 min, 1 to 5 min, 1 to 15 min, and 1 to 30 min. Positive activated affect was significantly associated with physical activity across all aggregated time frames, i.e., the more the participants felt good and energized, the more they were physically active. In addition, low negative affect significantly predicted higher physical activity within the 15 and 30 min following a mood assessment. In addition, Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) found mood to influence different intensity levels of physical activity, showing an inverse association between enhanced mood and sedentary periods. In other words, higher positive activated affect and lower negative affect led to less sedentary behavior. Heightened positive activated affect and diminished negative affect predicted moderate to vigorous physical activity as well.

Wichers et al. (2012) analyzed the associations between selfrated physical activity and mood in 504 female twins who filled out booklets when triggered by a digital wrist watch

approximately 10 times per day throughout a study period of 5 days. Their hypotheses were mainly focused on the effects of increases in physical activity on mood. Interestingly, their data suggested that increases in physical activity followed a decrease in positive affect. However, this finding showed significance only for the positive affect that was rated three prompts prior to the increase in physical activity. Moreover, the finding could not be replicated in both groups of twins. Mata et al. (2012) compared the associations of physical activity and mood between 53 depressed patients and healthy controls. Over 7 days, the participants rated mood and physical activity on palmtops approximately 8 times per day. Mata et al. (2012) found positive affect to increase before bouts of physical activity and to decrease afterwards but no effects of negative affect on physical activity in both depressed and healthy participants. This finding implies a peak of positive affect at the time participants were physically active. However, as Mata et al.'s study (2012) was based on self-reported physical activity, the exact time points of activity are not known, and therefore suggestions of the exact temporal course of physical activity and mood remain unclear.

To sum up, the results of these studies suggest that an increase in positive affect within subjects is followed by enhanced physical activity in everyday life, whereas negative affect does not necessarily predict physical activity; feeling more energetic and less tired may increase physical activity. However, these findings are limited and inconclusive (for a discussion refer to Liao et al., 2015). Moreover, the abovementioned studies had methodological limitations.

In detail, Liao et al. (2015) criticized (a) the convenient recruiting strategies such as studying volunteers from a university, (b) the short study periods of a few hours or days, and (c) the rare use of accelerometers to objectively assess physical activity, i.e., only in two studies accelerometers were used (Schwerdtfeger et al., 2010; Dunton et al., 2014) whereas the other four studies were based on participant self-reports. This previous point is particularly important as self-reported physical activity has been shown to be only modestly related to objectively assessed physical activity (Prince et al., 2008; Adamo et al., 2009). Thus, Liao et al. (2015) identified the need for (a) investigations of representative community-based samples, (b) long assessment periods exceeding at least 1 day, and (c) assessments using accelerometers and e-diaries and reports on missing data. Moreover, Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) raised (d) the issue of temporal resolution, i.e., investigating how mood and physical activity are interconnected over time. Unfortunately, in previous studies, mood was mostly assessed via self-report, and therefore it was impossible to investigate the associations with a high temporal resolution. Specifically, when assessing mood and physical activity only at 8 time points during the day, for example, time-lagged analyses remain very limited due to the large temporal offset between mood ratings and physical activity reports. However, these investigations are important to garner a deeper understanding of how mood affects physical activity over time, e.g., in which time frames mood influences physical activity.

To investigate how mood is associated with subsequent nonexercise activity and to overcome the methodological limitations of the very few existing studies on this issue, we conducted an ambulatory assessment study (a) in a large communitybased sample of adults (b) over the course of 1 week. We (c) objectively assessed non-exercise activity (via accelerometer) and queried mood repeatedly (i.e., valence, energetic arousal and calmness) in real time and real life (using electronic diaries on smartphones). To investigate (d) which time frames of physical activity are associated with the mood-dimensions valence, energetic arousal and calmness, we conducted explorative analyses.

We hypothesized a positive relationship between both mood dimensions, valence and energetic arousal, and subsequent non-exercise activity. Given the temporal order, this does imply that valence (hypothesis I) and energetic arousal (hypothesis II) would predict non-exercise activity. Moreover, we hypothesized that calmness was associated with subsequent non-exercise activity (hypothesis III). As the effects of the mood dimension of calmness on physical activity have not yet been investigated, we stated a nondirectional hypothesis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The sample for the current analyses was derived from the ongoing URGENCY study (Impact of Urbanicity on Genetics, Cerebral Functioning and Structure and Condition in Young People) implemented at the Central Institute of Mental Health in Mannheim (CIMH), Germany. The psychiatric-epidemiological center (PEZ) at the CIMH was responsible for recruiting participants aged between 18 and 28 years. The current sample was drawn from the municipalities of Mannheim, Ludwigshafen, Heidelberg, Weinheim, and the Rhine-Neckar district containing parts of the Forest of Odes in the period from December 2014 to September 2015. Monetary compensation was provided for participation in the URGENCY study. Participants with moderate to severe impairment of intelligence, participants unable to provide consent or with legal incapacity and participants with acute diseases were excluded. Additional exclusion criteria were a lifetime history of cardiovascular, chronic endocrine, immunological, or clinically manifested mental disorders. To enable the exclusion of exercise periods and thereby focus our analyses on non-exercise activity, only data from participants who reported on their exercise activities within the study period were included. Of the initial 106 participants' datasets, 9 were excluded for missing accelerometer data (lost devices, incomplete recordings, etc.). Furthermore, 3 datasets were excluded because of the substantial amount of time that the accelerometer was not worn or because the e-diary compliance was below 30%. One dataset was additionally excluded because of the shifted diurnal rhythm of the participant resulting from shift work. Finally, the analyzed sample comprised 93 participants (62.4% female) with a mean age of 23.4 years (SD = 2.7); their mean BMI was 22.8 kg/m^2 (SD = 3.6).

Ambulatory Assessment Procedure

First, participants were instructed on how to use the smartphone (Motorola Moto G^1) and accelerometer (Move-II²) during an extensive briefing consisting of individual device tests at the PEZ. Thereafter, they carried both devices in their everyday life for seven consecutive days. Mood was assessed every day from 7:30 to 22:30, applying a mixed sampling strategy implemented on the Android smartphones using the experience sampling software movisensXS (version 0.6.3658)².

In practice, participants were prompted every 40 to 100 min from 7:30 to 22:30 by an acoustic, vibration and visual signal on the smartphone; that is, they were invited to complete e-diary ratings at least 9 and up to 22 times per day. Ediary prompts could be postponed for 5, 10 or 15 min. In detail, e-diary assessment triggers were GPS-based and timebased. Since previous investigations revealed that standard approaches (e.g., time-based sampling) are likely to miss episodes of high non-exercise activity which occur rarely in everyday life (Ebner-Priemer et al., 2013), we used GPS-triggered e-diaries to optimize the sampling strategy (Dorn et al., 2015). Specifically, assessments were triggered every time the participants covered distances above 0.5 km. Moreover, the time-based sampling initiated prompts at fixed times (8:00 and 22:20) and additionally at least every 100 min from the preceding prompt (time-out trigger); it inhibited triggers within 40 min of the preceding prompt.

We aimed to focus the analyses on non-exercise activity. Hence, when the participants returned the devices at the PEZ after their study week, they were asked to report on their performed bouts of exercise within the assessment period (i.e., exercise duration, point in time) to enable the exclusion of these time frames from the analyses. To optimize participants' recall, we applied an approach following the idea of the Day Reconstruction Method (Kahneman et al., 2004). In practice, participants were shown the locations where they had stayed within the study period (tracked via smartphone) on a map. The participants were asked to label the locations (such as at home, at work, in the park, in the gym) to facilitate the recollection of exercise activities.

Measures

Non-exercise activity was assessed using the triaxial acceleration sensors of the move-II² (measurement range: +/-8 g; sampling frequency: 64 Hz; resolution: 12 bits; storage: internal memory card). Participants attached the devices at their right hip during the day for the entire study period except when sleeping. To assess mood, a short scale comprising two bipolar items for the mood dimensions valence, energetic arousal, and calmness, respectively, was administered in the e-diaries. This instrument was based on the Multidimensional Mood Questionnaire (Steyer et al., 1997) and was developed and evaluated by Wilhelm and Schoebi (2007) for the purposes of ambulatory assessment studies. They showed good psychometric properties on the between-person level with reliability coefficients of 0.92 for

¹Motorola moto g. http://www.motorola.com/us/products/moto-g. Accessed 07 Feb 2016.

²Movisens GmbH. http://www.movisens.com/. Accessed 07 Feb 2016.

valence (items: unwell to well, discontent to content) and 0.90 for both energetic arousal (items: energy to full energy, tired to awake) and calmness (items: tense to relaxed, agitated to calm) and coefficients of 0.70 (valence and calmness) and 0.77 (energetic arousal) for the within-person level. Hence, this short scale was appropriate to assess within-person dynamics of mood over time in everyday life on e-diaries. In our study, visual analogue scales (0–100) were used. Additionally, the items were presented in reversed polarity and in a mixed order, as recommended by Wilhelm and Schoebi (2007).

Analyses

First, we processed the accelerometer data computing Movement Acceleration Intensity [milli-g/min], i.e., the mean value of acceleration captured at the three sensor axis applying vector addition, using the software DataAnalyzer². With this step, gravitational components were excluded using a high-pass filter (0.25 Hz), and artifacts (such as shocks to the device from driving by car) were excluded using a low-pass filter (11 Hz).

Second, we combined the e-diary data and the 1-min intervals of Movement Acceleration Intensity [milli-g] using the software DataMerger (version 1.6.3868)². Based on former studies (e.g., Bossmann et al., 2013; Kanning, 2013; Kanning et al., 2015), we parameterized non-exercise activity (such as walking to the supermarket, being physically active at work, etc.) as the aggregated mean Movement Acceleration Intensity [milli-g] across 10-min time frames.

Third, we used SPSS (IBM; version 23.0.0.0) to aggregate mean Movement Acceleration Intensity [milli-g] for the 10-min intervals directly following each e-diary entry (later referred to as [0-10]). Because we were also interested in the time course of effects of mood dimensions on non-exercise activity, we aggregated mean Movement Acceleration Intensity [millig] within consecutive 10-min intervals following each e-diary entry. Specifically, we aggregated mean Movement Acceleration Intensity [milli-g] for the time frames from 11-20, 21-30, ..., up to 281-290, and 291-300 min (later referred to as [11-20], [21-30], etc.). Moreover, to focus our analyses on non-exercise activity and to thus not take exercise (such as jogging, playing tennis, etc.) into account, we excluded e-diary-assessments that were collected within 300 min prior to participants' exercises for all analyses. Additionally, because the distribution of nonexercise activity showed only few very high values and was rightskewed (due to a high amount of the participants' sedentary time), we log-transformed all outcome variables for the purposes of statistical analyses. Specifically, all computed values for the intervals of non-exercise activity ([0-10], [11-20], [21-30],..., up to [291-300]) were log-transformed applying the natural logarithm.

Thereafter, we conducted multilevel analyses to investigate within-person influences of mood dimensions (i.e., valence, energetic arousal and calmness) on non-exercise activity using SPSS (version 23.0.0.0., IBM). We nested repeated measurements (level 1) within participants (level 2) and calculated unconditional models to estimate intra-class correlations. Next, we calculated our main model using the outcome variable non-exercise activity, which was defined as the mean Movement Acceleration Intensity (logarithmized values) over the 10-min interval directly following the mood assessments. We included the level 1 predictors time, time-squared, valence within-subject, energetic arousal withinsubject, and calmness within-subject. The predictors valence within-subject, energetic arousal within-subject, and calmness within-subject were centered around the persons' mean mood scores across the study week. The predictors time and timesquared were transformed to the daily study start time, i.e., we subtracted the value 7.5 because the study started at 7:30. To control for between-person effects, we added the level 2 predictors age, gender, BMI [kg/m²], and exercise/week [min]. Additionally, we added the mean mood scores for each participant as a level 2 predictor, namely the between-subject values for valence, energetic-arousal, and calmness. Specifically, these predictors were calculated by aggregating the mean mood scores across all e-diary assessments for the whole study week for each participant. We successively added random effects for each level 1 predictor. However, we retained only significant random effects in the final model (refer to Table 1). Finally, to investigate the short- and long-term impacts of mood on non-exercise activity, we calculated 30 multilevel models changing the outcome variable (refer to Figure 1). In detail, we used the aggregated mean Movement Acceleration Intensity (logarithmized values) across time frames [0-10], [11-20], [21-30], ..., up to [291-300]. However, due to the results of our main model, we added only the level 2 predictors age, valence between-subject, energetic arousal between-subject, and calmness between-subject; we did not consider any random effects in these 30 models. We set the α -level to 0.05 for all the analyses.

Main Model

Level 1 equation:

$$Y_{ij} = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j} \times \text{Time}_{ij} + \beta_{2j} \times \text{Time}_{ij}^2 + \beta_{3j} \times \text{Valence}_{ij} + \beta_{4j}$$

× Energetic Arousal_{ii} + $\beta_{5i} \times \text{Calmness}_{ii} + r_{ii}$

Level 2 equation:

 $\beta_{5i} = \gamma_{50} + u_{5i}$

$$\beta_{0j} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01} \times \operatorname{Age}_{j} + \gamma_{02} \times \operatorname{Gender}_{j} + \gamma_{03} \times \operatorname{BMI}_{j}$$
$$+ \gamma_{04} \times \operatorname{Exercise}_{j} + \gamma_{05} \times \operatorname{Valence}_{j} + \gamma_{06}$$
$$\times \operatorname{Energetic} \operatorname{Arousal}_{j} + \gamma_{07} \times \operatorname{Calmness}_{j} + u_{0j}$$
$$\beta_{1j} = \gamma_{10}$$
$$\beta_{2j} = \gamma_{20}$$
$$\beta_{3j} = \gamma_{30}$$
$$\beta_{4j} = \gamma_{40} + u_{4j}$$

The effects within subjects were estimated at level 1. The subscript j refers to participant j and subscript i to the time of measurement. The level of non-exercise activity at time i in participant j is represented by Y_{ij} . The intercept and the effects of time, time-squared, valence within-subject, energetic arousal within-subject, and calmness within-subject are represented by the beta coefficients (β) at level 1. The residuals are represented by r_{ij} . The between-subject effects were estimated at level 2.

TABLE 1 Multilevel model analysis of influences of mood dimensions of	on non-exercise activity: Fixed and random effects.
---	---

Outcome		Fixed		Random				
Predictor	Beta coefficient	Standard Error	t-Value (df)	p-Value	Variance estimate	SD	Wald-Z	p-value
Intercept	2.60744	0.48976	5.32 (87.3)	<0.001	0.10377	0.01901	5.46	<0.001
Time [hours]	0.23052	0.01347	17.12 (5726.1)	< 0.001				
Time-squared [hours ²]	-0.01334	0.00087	-15.34 (5785.4)	< 0.001				
Age [years]	-0.02416	0.01426	-1.69 (85.7)	0.094				
Gender	0.03948	0.08555	0.46 (85.9)	0.646				
BMI [kg/m ²]	0.00480	0.01061	0.45 (83.4)	0.652				
Exercise/week [min]	-0.00022	0.00028	-0.79 (89.6)	0.434				
Valence within-subject	0.00444	0.00131	3.38 (5412.1)	0.001				
Energetic arousal within-subject	0.01411	0.00099	14.21 (96.3)	< 0.001	0.00003	0.00001	2.25	0.025
Calmness within-subject	-0.01023	0.00166	-6.16 (123.0)	< 0.001	0.00010	0.00003	3.28	0.001
Valence between-subject	0.02026	0.00762	2.66 (88.2)	0.009				
Energetic arousal between-subject	-0.00063	0.00480	-0.13 (88.0)	0.896				
Calmness between-subject	-0.01380	0.00604	-2.29 (85.7)	0.025				

As stated above, we retained only significant random effects in our final model. Since we found significant random effects only for the predictors energetic arousal within-subject and calmness within-subject, u_{4j} and u_{5j} represent the variation of participants' individual slopes for the predictors energetic arousal withinsubject and calmness within-subject around the respective overall mean slope (refer to **Table 1**).

Model for Analyses of Time Course

For the analyses on the short- and long-term impacts of mood on non-exercise activity (refer to **Figure 1**), we used the model presented below. We calculated 30 multilevel models, changing only the outcome variables. Specifically, we inserted the non-exercise activity within the time frames [0–10], [11–20], [21–30], ..., up to [291–300] min after each e-diary entry as the outcome variables.

Level 1 equation:

$$Y_{ij} = \beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j} \times \text{Time}_{ij} + \beta_{2j} \times \text{Time}_{ij}^2 + \beta_{3j} \times \text{Valence}_{ij} + \beta_{4j}$$

× Energetic Arousal_{ii} + β_{5i} × Calmness_{ii} + r_{ii}

Level 2 equation:

$$\begin{aligned} \beta_{0j} &= \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01} \times \operatorname{Age}_{j} + \gamma_{02} \times \operatorname{Valence}_{j} + \gamma_{03} \\ &\times \operatorname{Energetic} \operatorname{Arousal}_{j} + \gamma_{04} \times \operatorname{Calmness}_{j} + u_{0j} \\ \beta_{1j} &= \gamma_{10} \end{aligned}$$

$$\beta_{2j} = \gamma_{20}$$
$$\beta_{3j} = \gamma_{30}$$
$$\beta_{4j} = \gamma_{40}$$
$$\beta_{5j} = \gamma_{50}$$

To compute the percentage changes in non-exercise activity, we used the equation below.

 $\delta = (e^{\beta(valence, energetic arousal, or calmness) \times 10}) - 1) \times 100$

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the ethics committee of the Medical Faculty Mannheim at the Ruprecht-Karls-University in Heidelberg. This study fulfilled the ethical guidelines for medical research according to the Declaration of Helsinki. Written and oral information regarding the study procedures were presented to all eligible participants before written informed consent was obtained. There was no surrogate consent procedure. All participants were free to withdraw from the study at any time.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

The 93 participants completed 81.2% (SD = 14.3) of all e-diary prompts, i.e., on average 10 mood assessments/participant/day. To focus our analyses on the influences of mood on non-exercise activity, we excluded 9.2% of the completed e-diary entries that were followed by exercise within 300 min; the final data set consisted of a total of 5980 mood assessments. Participants' average non-exercise activity was 36.3 milli-g/participant/minute (range = [14.3-58.6]; SD = 9.8) across the 7 assessment days. For the sake of comparison, sedentary behavior (e.g., sitting) is associated with approximately 7 mg, walking (3.1 mph gait speed) with approximately 367 mg, and jogging (6.5 mph gait speed) with approximately 1103 mg (Anastasopoulou et al., 2014). The mean mood scores of the whole sample were 71.2 (SD = 10.5) for valence, 57.9 (SD = 10.6) for energetic arousal, and 67.7 (SD =11.5) for calmness. The within-subject correlations between the mood components calculated applying Fisher's Z-transformation indicated that valence and energetic arousal were moderately associated (r = 0.36) across the study week. Moreover, valence and calmness were highly synchronized (r = 0.66) whereas energetic arousal and calmness were scarcely correlated (r =0.08) within persons. Non-exercise activity was defined as the mean physical activity occurring in the 10-min intervals directly following the e-diary assessments. The intra-class correlation



coefficient ($\rho_I = 0.068$) revealed that 93.2% of the variance was explained by within-subject variation in non-exercise activity. A total of 49 participants (52.7%) engaged in exercise, with an average exercise duration of 186.2 min/participant/week (*SD* = 137.8).

Predicting Non-exercise Activity

Table 1 shows the influences of various within-person (level 1) and between-person (level 2) predictors on non-exercise activity. Non-exercise activity was parameterized into 10-min intervals of physical activity following each e-diary prompt. Descriptively, seven of twelve predictors showed significance, namely time (p < 0.001), time-squared (p < 0.001), valence within-subject (p = 0.001), energetic arousal within-subject (p < 0.001), calmness within-subject (p < 0.001), valence between subject (p = 0.009), and calmness between-subject (p = 0.025). Age, gender, BMI, energetic arousal between-subject, and exercise/week lacked significance, i.e., were not associated with non-exercise activity.

As expected, we found significant influences of the three mood dimensions on non-exercise activity within persons. Specifically, valence was positively related to the 10-min episodes of non-exercise activity following each e-diary assessment within-persons (refer to **Table 1**), thus confirming hypothesis I. However, the small beta coefficient (0.004) indicated a minor

influence of valence on non-exercise activity. In practice, a 10-point increase in valence (on a scale from 0 to 100) led to an average increase in non-exercise activity of 4.5% within the 10 min after an e-diary assessment. Regarding the mood dimension of energetic arousal, we again found a significant positive influence on non-exercise activity (refer to **Table 1**), thus confirming hypothesis II. The beta coefficient of energetic arousal (0.014) was much higher than that of valence. In practice, when participants felt 10 points more energized (on a scale from 0 to 100), their non-exercise activity increased on average by 15.2% over the 10-min interval post-e-diary prompt.

As hypothesized (hypothesis III), calmness was also significantly related to non-exercise activity (refer to **Table 1**). The negative beta coefficient (-0.010) indicated that the calmer participants felt, the lower their subsequent non-exercise activity was. In practice, when participants felt 10 points (scale of 0 to 100) more calm, their non-exercise activity decreased on average by 9.7% in the 10 min after each e-diary prompt. We found significant random effects only for the within-subject predictors energetic arousal and calmness (refer to **Table 1**). This finding indicated between-subject variability in the withinsubject relationship between mood dimensions and non-exercise activity. However, the variance estimates were minor (refer to **Table 1**), indicating negligible differences.

Moreover, our model showed that the participants' nonexercise activity was significantly influenced by the time of day, with positive effects of time (beta coefficient = 0.231) and negative effects of time-squared (beta coefficient = -0.013; refer to Table 1). Specifically, the effects of time on non-exercise activity were reversely u-shaped, i.e., non-exercise activity increased from the daily study start time (at approximately 7:30) to the afternoon (approximately 16:00) and then decreased until the study end time (at approximately 22:30). Additionally, we found significant between-person effects of valence and calmness on non-exercise activity (refer to Table 1). Participants who felt better on average across the study week showed on average higher non-exercise activity within the 10-min intervals following the e-diary assessments (beta coefficient = 0.020). Participants with heightened feelings of calmness throughout the study week revealed on average lower levels of non-exercise activity (beta coefficient = -0.014; refer to Table 1). The finding that participants' mean levels of valence and calmness across the study week were related to non-exercise activity was consistent with intervention studies showing positive betweensubject effects of exercise on positive affect (for an overview refer to Reed and Ones, 2006; Reed and Buck, 2009). However, due to their between-subject designs, these studies did not investigate how physical activity and mood increased and decreased within people over time, i.e., they provided no evidence regarding whether there was a timely relationship between episodes of physical activity and mood within persons.

Within-Subject Associations between Mood Dimensions and Non-exercise Activity over Time

To obtain a deeper understanding of the short- and longterm impacts of mood on physical activity, we analyzed consecutive time frames of non-exercise activity to determine the effects of mood dimensions. Determination of these effects was previously requested by Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010), but the effects remained largely unknown due to the methodological limitations of former studies (Liao et al., 2015). Therefore, we conducted several multilevel-analyses using models that were similar to our full model presented above (refer to Table 1) and inserted consecutive 10-min time frames of non-exercise activity following the e-diary assessments as the outcome variable (11-20, 21-30, ..., up to 281-290 and 291-300 min after e-diary assessment, later referred to as [11-20], [21-30], etc.). However, we excluded non-significant predictors (i.e., gender, BMI, exercise/week) and negligible random variables (i.e., within-subject energetic arousal and within-subject calmness) from the initial model. Figure 1 shows the influence of valence, energetic arousal and calmness on the consecutive 10-min intervals of average non-exercise activity after each e-diary prompt. Specifically, the y-axis depicts the beta coefficients of the mood dimensions influencing the respective 10-min interval of non-exercise activity, which is displayed on the x-axis. For example, the value of the red line on the y-axis for the time frame from [31-40] min reveals the direction (positive) and magnitude (beta coefficient = 0.012) of energetic arousal influencing nonexercise activity.

Figure 1 shows a significant influence of valence on nonexercise activity only within the [1-10] min following e-diary assessments (beta coefficient = 0.004; p = 0.001). However, across all averaged time frames thereafter, we found nonsignificant beta coefficients, with values close to zero (green line). Moreover, our models revealed significant effects of energetic arousal on non-exercise activity across all time frames up to 300 min, illustrated with the red line (refer to Figure 1). The beta coefficients depicting the influence of energetic arousal on non-exercise activity generally decreased from the time frame [1-10] (beta coefficient = 0.014; p < 0.001) to the time frame [291-300] (beta coefficient = 0.004; p < 0.001). Thus, the effects of energetic arousal were highest within the first 10-min interval directly following the e-diary prompts and then continuously decreased up to 300 min after the mood assessments. The fact that the beta coefficients approached zero was not surprising and demonstrates how the effects subsided over time. The significant beta coefficients with values noticeably larger than zero for all time frames up to 300 min fits nicely with our finding of a large influence of energetic arousal on non-exercise activity as determined in the main model (refer to Section Predicting Non-exercise Activity). Additionally, the mood dimension calmness again showed the greatest influence on the first 10-min interval directly following the mood assessment (beta coefficient = -0.010; p < 0.001). The following beta coefficients decreased up to 300 min after the e-diary prompts. The significant and noticeably non-zero beta coefficients up to the time frame of [131-140] min (beta coefficient = -0.003; p = 0.026) again fit nicely with our finding that calmness negatively influenced non-exercise activity (refer to Section Predicting Non-exercise Activity).

DISCUSSION

As expected, our analyses showed significant within-person influences of mood dimensions on non-exercise activity, yielding distinct sizes and directions of effects for valence, energetic arousal and calmness. Specifically, valence was positively related to non-exercise activity within persons in the 10 min following a particular mood assessment, thus confirming hypothesis I. However, the effect of valence on non-exercise activity was small and the analyses of the other 10-min intervals of nonexercise activity up to 300 min after the mood assessments revealed non-significant effects close to zero. At first sight, this is surprising because three of six existing studies on withinperson effects of mood on physical activity found positive affect to significantly influence subsequent physical activity (Liao et al., 2015). However, a closer look at these studies revealed that their results were limited regarding the influence of valence on non-exercise activity. In particular, Carels et al. (2007) were interested in predicting the initiation of self-reported bouts of exercise in obese adults throughout the day by morning mood, and Dunton et al. (2009) investigated a sample of adults

(n = 23) aged above 50 years and also used self-reported levels of physical activity. Accordingly, both studies examined particular samples using self-reported physical activity, which is known to be only weakly related with objective measures of physical activity (Prince et al., 2008; Adamo et al., 2009). Moreover, Carels et al.'s (2007) study reported on exercise instead of non-exercise activity. Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) found positive influences of positive affect on physical activity over 12 h using accelerometry in a large sample (n = 126). However, they assessed mood using the construct positive activated affect and thus did not differentiate between the mood dimensions valence and energetic arousal. Interestingly, Wichers et al. (2012), who investigated the effects of positive affect on physical activity in a large twin sample (n = 504), found weak evidence of positive affect decreasing physical activity. Moreover, only one of the five existing within-subject studies interested in the associations between negative affect and physical activity found significant influences of negative affect on subsequent physical activity, whereas the other studies were not able to show any association (Liao et al., 2015). Therefore, combining our findings with those of existing studies does suggest that valence is not necessarily a strong within-person predictor of non-exercise activity in adults.

As hypothesized (hypothesis II), energetic arousal significantly influenced non-exercise activity within persons. The beta coefficients indicated a strong effect of feeling energetic on non-exercise activity within the 10 min after e-diary assessments. Moreover, energetic arousal significantly influenced all 10-min intervals of non-exercise activity up to 300 min after the e-diary assessment, confirming a robust effect of energetic arousal on non-exercise activity. Our finding is consistent with Dunton et al. (2014), who found feeling less tired and more energetic to be related to subsequent physical activity in 119 children aged eleven to thirteen years. Moreover, Dunton et al. (2009) results indicated a non-significant trend of the effects of feelings of energy and fatigue on non-exercise activity. Schwerdtfeger et al. (2010) found mood, defined as positive activated affect, to positively influence physical activity within their sample. Accordingly, in their study, it remained unclear to which degree positive affect on the one hand and activation on the other hand accounted for this finding. Our results suggest that energetic arousal strongly increases non-exercise activity, whereas the effects of valence are small.

Because existing studies have treated mood as a twodimensional construct, i.e., mostly investigating how positive and negative affect influence physical activity (Liao et al., 2015), the influence of calmness on physical activity has remained unclear to date. Our results showed significant negative withinperson influences of calmness on the 10-min interval of non-exercise activity after mood assessment, thus confirming hypothesis III. In other words, when participants felt calmer, they were less physically active in everyday life. The time course analyses confirmed this finding, showing significant influences of calmness on non-exercise activity noticeably larger than zero for up to 130 min following the e-diary assessment.

LIMITATIONS

Several limitations of our study deserve mentioning. First, due to the accelerated longitudinal design of the URGENCY study with annual follow-ups, our sample consisted of adult participants aged between 18 and 28 years. Accordingly, our results are limited to this restricted age range. Second, as our sample comprised 62% female participants, the gender was unevenly distributed. However, we found no systematic differences in the results when checking for gender effects. Third, we focused our analyses on non-exercise activities (such as daily routines of walking to the office, climbing stairs) thus excluding exercise activities (such as swimming, playing football). Non-exercise activities are most often characterized by short activity duration and low activity intensity (Kanning et al., 2013). Since associations between mood states and physical activity may differ for physical activities with distinct duration and intensity, our results do not reveal, e.g., how mood states are associated with structured exercise activities characterized by high demands of energy consumption. However, as non-exercise activity has been shown to be an important determinant for human health (Healy et al., 2008; Wen et al., 2011), we made the conscious decisions to focus our analyses on non-exercise activity. Further research is needed to investigate within-subject associations between mood states and distinct subcomponents of physical activity. Fourth, as we found significant relationships between mood-dimensions and subsequent non-exercise activity, we interpreted that mood causes changes in non-exercise activity. This assumption of causality is based on the temporal order of mood assessments and examined time frames of non-exercise activity. However, the temporal offset of non-exercise activity relative to the mood ratings constitutes a causal criterion (Susser, 1991) but it does not evidence causality since other existing but hidden causal variables (or mechanisms) that influence both mood and NEA (e.g., circadian rhythms) may have been missed. Reininghaus et al. (2016) propose to conduct ecological momentary intervention studies to verify putative psychological mechanisms. They argue that this kind of approach is suitable to overcome uncertainties of solely investigating several causal criteria therewith reducing the likelihood to miss hidden causal variables. Thus, further studies are needed to evidence causality of mechanisms.

CONCLUSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first ambulatory assessment study on the topic of within-subject mood effects on non-exercise activity in a large community-based sample of adults over the course of 1 week using repeated real-time and real life assessments of mood, conceptualized as a threedimensional construct, as well as objectively assessed nonexercise activity. In conclusion, we found differential influences of mood on non-exercise activity. Within participants, feelings of energy and tension strongly increased non-exercise activity in the time following the mood assessment. However, valence showed only small effects on subsequent non-exercise activity. Thus, ambulatory assessment approaches appear suitable to investigate the effects of mood on non-exercise activity. Our results increase the evidence for circular effects of mood and physical activity, thus yielding important insight into the mechanisms maintaining physical activity. These findings may contribute to fostering physically active lifestyles, which are known to be related to high health expectancy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MR, HT, IR, HS, AZ, AM, and UE made substantial contributions to the conception and the design of the study. MR and HS acquired data. IR, MR, UE, HT, and AM analyzed and interpreted the data. MR, HT, IR, HS, AZ, AM, and UE were involved in drafting the manuscript and revising it critically for important intellectual content. MR, HT, IR, HS, AZ, AM, and UE have given final approval of this version of the manuscript to be published. MR, HT, IR, HS, AZ, AM, and UE agree to be accountable for

REFERENCES

- Aarts, E., Verhage, M., Veenvliet, J. V., Dolan, C. V., and van der Sluis, S. (2014). A solution to dependency: using multilevel analysis to accommodate nested data. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 491–496. doi: 10.1038/nn.3648
- Adamo, K. B., Prince, S. A., Tricco, A. C., Connor-Gorber, S., and Tremblay, M. (2009). A comparison of indirect versus direct measures for assessing physical activity in the pediatric population: a systematic review. *Int. J. Pediatr. Obes.* 4, 2–27. doi: 10.1080/17477160802315010
- Anastasopoulou, P., Tubic, M., Schmidt, S., Neumann, R., Woll, A., and Haertel, S. (2014). Validation and comparison of two methods to assess human energy. *PLoS ONE* 9:e90606. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090606
- Bossmann, T., Kanning, M., Koudela-Hamila, S., Hey, S., and Ebner-Priemer, U. (2013). The association between short periods of everyday life activities and affective states: a replication study using ambulatory assessment. *Front. Psychol.* 4:102. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00102
- Burton, C., McKinstry, B., Szentagotai Tăta, A., Serrano-Blanco, A., Pagliari, C., and Wolters, M. (2013). Activity monitoring in patients with depression: a systematic review. J. Affect. Disord. 145, 21–28. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.07.001
- Bussmann, J. B., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Fahrenberg, J. (2009). Ambulatory activity monitoring. Eur. Psychol. 14, 142–152. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040.14.2.142
- Carels, R. A., Coit, C., Young, K., and Berger, B. (2007). Exercise makes you feel good, but does feeling good make you exercise?: an examination of obese dieters. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 29, 706–722.
- Dorn, H., Törnros, T., Reichert, M., Salize, H. J., Tost, H., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., et al. (2015). "Incorporating land use in a spatiotemporal trigger for ecological momentary assessments," in *GI_Forum 2015 – Geospatial Minds for Society*, eds A. Car, T. Jekel, J. Strobl, and G. Griesebner (Salzburg: Journal for Geographic Information Science), 113–116. doi: 10.1553/giscience2015s113
- Dunton, G. F., Atienza, A. A., Castro, C. M., and King, A. C. (2009). Using ecological momentary assessment to examin antecedents and correlates of physical activity bouts in adults age 50+years: a pilot study. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 249–255. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9141-4
- Dunton, G. F., Huh, J., Leventhal, A., Riggs, N., Spruijt-Metz, D., Pentz, M. A., et al. (2014). Momentary assessment of affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in children. *Health Psychol.* 33, 255–263. doi: 10.1037/a00 32640
- Dunton, G. F., Liao, Y., Intille, S., Huh, J., and Leventhal, A. (2015). Momentary assessment of contextual influences on affective response during physical activity. *Health Psychol.* 34, 1145–1153. doi: 10.1037/hea0000223
- Ebner-Priemer, U. W., Koudela, S., Mutz, G., and Kanning, M. (2013). Interactive multimodal ambulatory monitoring to investigate the association between physical activity and mood. *Front. Psychol.* 3:596. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00596

all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of this work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

FUNDING

The study was supported by the Ministry of Science, Research and the Arts of the State of Baden-Württemberg.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Andreas Hoell, Christina Andras, Alan Schary, and Beate Höchemer for recruiting the participants. We acknowledge support by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Open Access Publishing Fund of Karlsruhe Institute of Technology.

- Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Trull, T. J. (2009). Ambulatory assessment. an innovative and promising approach for clinical psychology. Eur. Psychol. 14, 109–119. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040.14.2.109
- Fahrenberg, J., Myrtek, M., Pawlik, K., and Perrez, M. (2007). Ambulatory assessment – monitoring behavior in daily life settings. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 23, 206–213. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759.23.4.206
- Healy, G. N., Dustan, D. W., Salmon, J., Cerin, E., Shaw, J., and Zimmet, P. Z. (2008). Breaks in sedentary time: beneficial associations with metabolic risk. *Diabetes Care*. 31, 661–666. doi: 10.2337/dc07-2046
- Kahneman, D., Krueger, A. B., Schkade, D. A., Schwarz, N., and Stone, A. A. (2004). A survey method for characterizing daily life experience: the day reconstruction method. *Science* 306, 1176–1780. doi: 10.1126/science.1103572
- Kanning, M. (2013). Using objective, real-time measures to investigate the effect of actual physical activity on affective States in everyday life differentiating the contexts of working and leisure time in a sample with students. *Front. Psychol.* 3:602. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00602
- Kanning, M., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Brand, R. (2012). Autonomous regulation mode moderates the effect of actual physical activity on affective states: an ambulant assessment approach to the role of self-determination. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 34, 260–269.
- Kanning, M., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Schlicht, W. (2015). Using activity triggered e-diaries to reveal the associations between physical activity and affective states in older adult's daily living. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 12:111. doi: 10.1186/s12966-015-0272-7
- Kanning, M., Ebner-Priemer, U. W., and Schlicht, W. M. (2013). How to investigate within-subject associations between physical activity and momentary affective states in everyday life: a position statement based on a literature overview. *Front. Psychol.* 4:187. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00187
- Liao, Y., Shonkoff, E. T., and Dunton, G. F. (2015). The acute relationships between affect, physical feeling states, and physical activity in daily life: a review of current evidence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1975. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01975
- Mata, J., Thompson, R. J., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Jonides, J., and Gotlib, I. H. (2012). Walk on the bright side: physical activity and affect in major depressive disorder. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 121, 297–308. doi: 10.1037/a0023533
- Pedersen, B. K., and Saltin, B. (2015). Exercise as medicine evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in 26 different chronic diseases. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Spor.* 25(Suppl. 3), 1–72. doi: 10.1111/sms.12581
- Prince, S. A., Adamo, K. B., Hamel, M. E., Hardt, J., Connor-Gorber, S., and Tremblay, M. (2008). A comparison of direct versus self-report measures for assessing physical activity in adults: a systematic review. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 5:56. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-5-5
- Reed, J., and Buck, S. (2009). The effect of regular aerobic exercise on positiveactivated affect: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 10, 581–594. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2009.05.009

- Reed, J., and Ones, D. S. (2006). The effect of acute aerobic exercise on positive activated affect: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 7, 477–514. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2005.11.003
- Reichert, M., Lutz, A., Deuschle, M., Gilles, M., Hill, H., Limberger, M. F., et al. (2015). Improving motor activity assessment in depression: which sensor placement, analytic strategy and diurnal time frame are most powerful in distinguishing patients from controls and monitoring treatment effects. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0124231. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0124231
- Reininghaus, U., Depp, C. A., and Myin-Germeys, I. (2016). Ecological interventionist causal models in psychosis: targeting psychological mechanisms in daily life. *Schizophr. Bull.* 42, 264–269. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv193
- Schlicht, W., Reicherz, A., and Kanning, M. (2013). "Affective reactions to physical activity, exercise and the activities of daily living: A review," in *Handbook of Psychology of Emotions*, eds C. Mohiyeddini, M. Eyseneck, and S. Bauer (New York, NY: Nova Science), 307–324.
- Schwerdtfeger, A., Eberhardt, R., and Chmitorz, A. (2008). Is there a correlation between everyday-life physical activity and psychological well-being? A methodological study using ambulatory monitoring. Z. Gesundheitspsychol. 16, 2–11.
- Schwerdtfeger, A., Eberhardt, R., Chmitorz, A., and Schaller, E. (2010). Momentary affect predicts bodily movement in daily life: an ambulatory monitoring study. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 32, 674–693.
- Steyer, R., Schwenkmezger, P., Notz, P., and Eid, M. (1997). Multidimensional Mood Questionnaire (MDMQ). Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Stone, A. A., Shiffman, S., Schwartz, J. E., Broderick, J. E., and Hufford, M. R. (2002). Patient non-compliance with paper diaries. *BMJ* 324, 1193–1194. doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7347.1193
- Susser, M. (1991). What is a cause and how do we know one? A grammar for pragmatic epidemiology. Am. J. Epidemiol. 133, 635–648.
- Wen, C. P., Wai, J. P. M., Tsai, M. K., Yang, Y. C., Cheng, T. Y. D., and Lee, M.-C. (2011). Minimum amount of physical activity for reduced mortality and

extended life expectancy: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet 378*, 1244–1253. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60749-6

- Wichers, M., Peeters, F., Rutten, B. P. F., Jacobs, N., Derom, C., Thiery, E., et al. (2012). A time-lagged momentary assessment study on daily life physical activity and affect. *Health Psychol.* 31, 135–144. doi: 10.1037/a00 25688
- Wilhelm, P., and Schoebi, D. (2007). Assessing mood in daily life: structural validity, sensitivity to change, and reliability of a short-scale to measure three basic dimensions of mood. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 23, 258–267. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759.23.4.258

Disclosure: AL received consultancy fees from: Astra Zeneca, Elsevier, F. Hoffmann-La Roche, Gerson Lehrman Group, Lund-beck foundation, Outcome Europe, Outcome Sciences, Roche Pharma, Servier International, and Thieme Verlag, and lecture fees-including the travel fees-from: Abbott, Astra Zeneca, Aula Congresos, BASF, Groupo Ferrer International, Janssen-Cilag, Lilly Deutschland, LVR Klinikum, Servier Deutschland, Otsuka Pharmaceuticals. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and was not influenced by any financial relationship with the named organizations.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Reichert, Tost, Reinhard, Zipf, Salize, Meyer-Lindenberg and Ebner-Priemer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Dropping Out or Keeping Up? Early-Dropouts, Late-Dropouts, and Maintainers Differ in Their Automatic Evaluations of Exercise Already before a 14-Week Exercise Course

Franziska Antoniewicz and Ralf Brand*

Division of Sport and Exercise Psychology, University of Potsdam, Potsdam, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Karen Zentgraf, University of Münster, Germany

Reviewed by:

Martin S. Hagger, Curtin University, Australia Dennis Dreiskaemper, University of Münster, Germany

> *Correspondence: Ralf Brand ralf.brand@uni-potsdam.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 10 November 2015 Accepted: 19 May 2016 Published: 02 June 2016

Citation:

Antoniewicz F and Brand R (2016) Dropping Out or Keeping Up? Early-Dropouts, Late-Dropouts, and Maintainers Differ in Their Automatic Evaluations of Exercise Already before a 14-Week Exercise Course. Front. Psychol. 7:838. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00838 (AEE) varied according to adherence to an exercise program. Eighty-eight participants (24.98 years \pm 6.88; 51.1% female) completed a Brief-Implicit Association Task assessing their AEE, positive and negative associations to exercising at the beginning of a 3-month exercise program. Attendance data were collected for all participants and used in a cluster analysis of adherence patterns. Three different adherence patterns (52 maintainers, 16 early dropouts, 20 late dropouts; 40.91% overall dropouts) were detected using cluster analyses. Participants from these three clusters differed significantly with regard to their positive and negative associations to exercising before the first course meeting ($\eta_p^2 = 0.07$). Discriminant function analyses revealed that positive associations to exercise behavior over the medium term. The findings contribute to theoretical understanding of evaluative processes from a dual-process perspective and may provide a basis for targeted interventions.

The aim of this study was to examine how automatic evaluations of exercising

Keywords: exercise adherence, automatic evaluations, BIAT, dropout, associations, affect

INTRODUCTION

Automatic evaluations of exercising (AEE; i.e., the spontaneous associations of exercising with either positive or negative affect) are a fairly well-researched phenomenon (e.g., Bluemke et al., 2010; Antoniewicz and Brand, 2014). Engagement in exercise is not just a consequence of deliberate reasoning but also the result of unintentional, automatic evaluations. Most empirical research on AEE has focused on correlations between AEE and exercise volumes (Bluemke et al., 2010; Conroy et al., 2010), the predictive power of AEE in relation to proximal episodes of physical activity (e.g., step counts for 1 week, Conroy et al., 2010) or decisions about exercising (Antoniewicz and Brand, 2014; Brand and Schweizer, 2015). Other research has investigated changes in AEE (Markland et al., 2015; Antoniewicz and Brand, 2016); however, the potential role of AEE in exercise maintenance has not been researched before.

Non-adherence to exercise programs is a well documented phenomenon (e.g., Marcus et al., 2000). Dropout rates of approximately 50% after a couple months are not uncommon (Matsumoto and Takenaka, 2004). We think that research on the psychological variables that influence the behavioral decisions of maintainers and non-maintainers is crucial to designing and implementing successful exercise interventions.

This study aimed to address a significant research gap by (1) providing a theoretical account of the role of AEE in exercise adherence and (2) testing a hypothesis relating exercise adherence to AEE which was derived from this account.

The Role of Automatic Evaluations of Exercising in Exercise Maintenance

According to dual process models of social cognition evaluative reactions involve two interconnected evaluative processes: one spontaneous and automatic, the other rather thoughtful and deliberative (Chaiken and Trope, 1999; Kahneman and Frederick, 2002). The Reflective Impulsive Model (RIM; Strack and Deutsch, 2004) represents one attempt to explain the distinction. According to this model, an individual who comes to the conclusion that the advantages of exercising today (e.g., thinking about health benefits) outweigh the disadvantages (e.g., exercise is time-consuming) will develop an intention to exercise that evening. The RIM assigns this process to the reflective system. The model further assumes that at the same time as the reflective processing AEE (e.g., doing aerobics is enjoyable) arise as a result of activation of an associative network which is part of the impulsive system. These AEE elicit a corresponding motivational orientation (e.g., I want to attend an aerobic session today). This aspect of social cognition - the role of the impulsive system - is central to our study.

Automatic evaluations of exercising represent learnt associations, which serve as a "conceptual and procedural long-term memory, where associative weights between contents change slowly and gradually" (Deutsch and Strack, 2006, p. 167) and according to RIM the salience and accessibility of these associative clusters varies according to the frequency of their activation. One would expect a regular exerciser to have strong, easily accessible positive affective associations to exercising and weaker negative affective associations to exercising.

Exercising is massively associated with bodily sensations and evokes affective responses (Ekkekakis et al., 2011). Affective states provide information and can be registered in memory (Clore, 1992; Ekkekakis et al., 2016). External stimuli (e.g., the experience of entering the gym) and internal stimuli (e.g., thinking about exercising) can activate affective representations which serve as inputs to evaluative information processing. Findings from exercise psychology show that positive affect during and after exercise predicts future exercising (e.g., Ekkekakis et al., 2011), and that positive AEE, as well as unconnected evaluative judgments, influence immediate decisions about exercising (Brand and Schweizer, 2015). Repeated activation of stored affective representations by acute affective states, experienced during and shortly after exercise, reinforces their association with exercise (Deutsch and Strack, 2006), i.e., increases the strength of the association between mental representations of exercise behavior and affective evaluative concepts. Every time an individual has to decide whether or not to attend the exercise course that day, both reflective and impulsive evaluative processes contribute to the formation of a motivational orientation (in the impulsive system) and a behavioral intention (in the reflective system), and reinforce pre-existing affective representations associated with attending the exercise course. This learning cycle is the reason why we expected to find predominantly positive spontaneous AEE in persistent exercisers.

Researching Automatic Evaluations of Exercising

Individuals are often unaware of their automatic associations (Nosek et al., 2007) and data based on questionnaires that ask participants to introspect about such associations are therefore not an appropriate or valid measure of them, so over the past 20 years researchers have begun to investigate the validity of response time latency tasks (Fazio and Olson, 2003) as indicators of automatic associations. These indirect tests, e.g., the Affective Priming Task (Fazio et al., 1995) and the Implicit Association Test (IAT; Greenwald et al., 1998), infer the individuals' AEE from the speed with which they categorize word or picture stimuli into various categories.

The Implicit Association Test

Over the past two decades the IAT (Greenwald et al., 1998) has become recognized in social psychology as a standard measure of spontaneous associations between mental concepts (it should be noted, however, that there is active debate on the automaticity of the measured reactions; De Houwer et al., 2009). The standard version of the IAT uses sets of stimuli related to two complementary targets (e.g., 'exercise' vs. 'non-exercise') or two complementary evaluative categories ('good' vs. 'bad'). The respondent has to sort the stimuli as quickly and accurately as possible into combined categories which are varied systematically across blocks (e.g., stimuli representing 'exercise' or 'good' are moved to the left side whilst stimuli representing 'non-exercise' or 'bad' stimuli are moved to the right side in test block A; whereas in test block B 'exercise' and 'bad' stimuli have to be sorted to the left side and 'non-exercise' and 'good' stimuli are sorted to the right side). Research from exercise psychology indicates that there is no clear conceptual opposite of 'physical activity' (e.g., Rebar et al., 2015). The brief IAT (BIAT; Sriram and Greenwald, 2009) is a version of the IAT which addresses this issue. In the BIAT participants only have to pay attention to two out of four categories in each test block (i.e., detect whether stimuli represent the concepts of, e.g., 'exercise' or 'good' in one test block and 'exercise' or 'bad' in the other). This makes features of the nonfocal category ('non-exercise') less important. Another approach to addressing the lack of a complement to the target category is the Single Category (SC)-IAT (Karpinski and Steinman, 2006). In one SC-IAT block respondents decide whether stimuli belong to the categories 'exercise' or 'good' or to the category 'bad'; in the other test block they decide whether stimuli belong to the 'exercise' or 'bad' categories or to the evaluative category 'good.'

The common assumption underlying all IATs is that when stimuli sharing the same response are compatible (e.g., for participants who evaluate exercising positively the same response is required to stimuli representing 'exercise' or 'good') stimuli are handled more quickly than when the categorization is incompatible with one's automatic evaluation. Test scores are usually calculated by subtracting mean reaction times from the incompatible block from those in the compatible block - the two associative foci (Sriram and Greenwald, 2009) - divided by the pooled standard deviation from blocks. The resulting relative difference score (D-score; Greenwald et al., 2003) is an effect size-like measure. Thinking of a continuum between either having spontaneous negative affective evaluations with exercising or positive affective evaluations, the D-scores resembles one score along this continuum. A positive D-score can be interpreted as relatively positive AEE.

Selected Relevant Studies

A few exercise psychology studies have already used IATs and the *D*-score to illustrate the relationships between automatic evaluations from various forms of physical activity (e.g., Conroy et al., 2010; Hyde et al., 2012; Antoniewicz and Brand, 2016).

Conroy et al. (2010) employed the SC-IAT to show that more positive *D*-scores (i.e., faster reactions to 'good' stimuli when the same response is required for stimuli belonging to the target category of exercise) were associated with higher physical activity (number of steps per day) after controlling for well-established predictors of physical activity (e.g., self-efficacy). The authors concluded that spontaneous physical activity behavior over a short timeframe - 1 week - was influenced by both reflective motivational processes and impulsive processes.

Hyde et al. (2012) used the same length of observation period, 1 week, and focused on the stability of participants' automatic evaluations. At the beginning and end of the 1-week period participants worked through a SC-IAT and reported their physical activity during the previous week. Changes in *D*-score indicating a shift to a more favorable AEE were accompanied by an increase in physical activity level. The authors concluded that AEE include stable and more temporally variable components, both of which are related to physical activity behavior.

Antoniewicz and Brand (2016) investigated variability in AEE by manipulating participants' AEE with an Evaluative Conditioning Task. They assessed changes in SC-IAT D-scores immediately after the manipulation in three experimental groups (associating exercise with positive affect; associating exercise with negative affect; control condition). The manipulation was shown to be effective; D-scores were significantly higher in the group that learned positive AEE than in the control group. Drawing on theories positing that the impulsive system is based on associative processes (Deutsch and Strack, 2006) and the proposed interpretation of D-scores (Greenwald et al., 2003) the authors distinguished between the two D-score components (i.e., associations between 'exercise-good' - the positive associative focus and 'exercise-bad' - the negative associative focus) and analyzed their manipulation induced changes. This revealed that the observed learning was mainly driven by changes during the 'exercise-bad' association rather than the 'exercise-good'

association. The authors interpreted this as an indication that amongst their sports student participants the 'exercisegood' association was relatively stable, whilst the 'exercise-bad' association was more susceptible to manipulation.

This Study

This study aimed to address a significant research gap by investigating the influence of AEE on adherence to a longterm exercise program. We monitored participants' adherence to a 3-month program of exercise (classifying them according to adherence, e.g., dropouts vs. maintainers) and assessed their baseline spontaneous evaluative associations with exercise.

According to dual process theories such as the RIM, the motivational orientation toward exercise (e.g., approach or avoid exercise) is based on the difference between the weights of 'exercise-good' associations and 'exercise-bad' associations. There is no doubt that exercising can simultaneously have both positive and negative associations for an individual. Regular participation in an aerobics class might elicit positive affect when it evokes thoughts of the friends one meets there whilst also eliciting more negative affect related to the resulting muscle ache. It is our contention that although a relative measure such as BIAT *D*-score might reflect AEE and hence capture differences between exercisers and non-exercisers as shown before, the initially measured D-score might be too robust to reflect the more nuanced differences between people who start an exercise program and adhere (i.e., maintainers) and people who do the same and quit in the long run (i.e., dropouts). We assume that it could be useful to conceive AEE in terms of separate exercise-positive and exercise-negative associations rather than using combined measures (e.g., D-score).

Carrying forward findings from previous studies (Antoniewicz and Brand, 2016) we expected to find interindividual differences not only between exercisers and non-exercisers but also between finer behavioral sub-groups (e.g., sporadic vs. frequent exercisers) on the level of the two more nuanced exercise-positive and exercise-negative associations. We hypothesized that at baseline (before the start of the exercise program) positive associations (i.e., a positive associative focus) would be stronger in participants who would subsequently persist with the program than in those who would drop out.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Sample

Data were collected from 121 participants. Data from some participants were excluded from analysis because of problems understanding the instructions for the tests (n = 20), because participants had left the exercise program ahead of schedule for health reasons (n = 2), because they had an error rate of more than 20% in BIAT sorting trials (n = 7) or because they reported before the program that they had little intention of finishing the program (n = 4). Intention to finish the program was assessed with a single question, "How committed are you to completing the exercise course?," with answers given on a six-point Likert

scale ranging from 0 = 'no intention at all' to 5 = 'very strong intention.' Intending to finish the program (score of at least 4) was a pre-defined inclusion criterion, thus reducing influences of the reflective system (i.e., intention) for adhering, while looking for differences in the impulsive system (i.e., AEE). Final analyses were based on data from 88 participants (24.98 years \pm 6.88; 51.1% female).

Adherence Clusters

In order to minimize bias in the data due to socially desirable responding (Kristiansen and Harding, 1984) and recall bias, attendance at the 14 exercise sessions was documented by the exercise instructor (present coded as '1'; absent coded as '0') at the start of the session. Taking up the idea of Seelig and Fuchs (2011), we chose to refrain from the often used simple way of counting exercise sessions and calculating average participation rates and frequencies. Instead, we transformed our behavioral variable (whether a person is present or absent) to a categorical criterion measure and sought to identify typical adherence patterns. By doing so, we were able to depict behavioral qualities rather than artificial fractions of actually indivisible behavioral entities. Therefore the individual adherence data was transformed into 12 simple moving averages (each based on three sessions) per participant. The resulting series of moving averages were examined with hierarchical cluster analyses to identify different patterns of adherence in our group of participants. Three different adherence patterns emerged. Fifty-two participants were classified as 'maintainers,' 16 as 'early dropouts' and 20 as 'late dropouts' (giving an overall drop-out rate of 40.91% for the course). The results of this analysis and the chronology of adherence patterns are illustrated in Figure 1. Individuals of the maintainer group for example managed to at least reasonably adhere to the exercise program (78,85% attendance, range = 42.86-100.00%), whereas early dropouts stopped visiting the program during the first half of the 14-week exercise program (14.73% attendance, range = 7.14-35.71%) and late dropouts during the second half (56,01% attendance, range = 28.57-71.43%). The adherence groups did not differ with regard to age [F(2,82) = 1.28, p > 0.05], gender $[\chi^2(2) = 1.31, p > 0.05]$ or intention to participate in the course, F(2,85) < 1. Early dropouts (M = 175.33 min, SD = 112.75), late dropouts (M = 160.00 min, SD = 112.75)SD = 95.59) and maintainers (M = 202.75 mins, SD = 119.75) reported taking similar weekly volumes of exercise before the first course meeting [F(2,83) = 1.13, p > 0.05].

Materials

Positive and Negative Associations

Automatic evaluations of exercising, positive and negative associations with exercise, were measured with a pictorial BIAT. The stimuli depicted scenes representing the target category 'exercise' (e.g., running, playing soccer, playing tennis, doing gymnastics) or non-sports activities (e.g., sleeping, watching TV, reading, sitting), i.e., the non-focal category. All stimuli were without obvious affective content (e.g., smiling faces). The evaluative categories 'good' and 'bad' were represented by eight (four and four) different smileys and frownies. Stimuli were presented in the middle of the screen and remained there until







the participant categorized them by pressing the 'E' or 'I' key on a standard QWERTZ keyboard. In test block A (positive associative focus) participants had to press the 'E' key if the stimulus belonged to either the target category 'exercise' or the evaluative category 'good'; they were asked to press the 'I' key in response to all other stimuli in this block. In test block B (negative associative focus) 'exercise' and 'bad' stimuli were assigned to the 'E' key and all others to the 'I' key. Block order was counterbalanced between participants. All participants started with 24 practice trials, followed by 40 trials with response time logging (Inquisit 2.0 software). They were instructed to categorize stimuli as quickly and accurately as possible. The resulting *D*-score was calculated with the revised scoring algorithm by Greenwald et al. (2003).

Design and Procedure

Before the first exercise session potential participants were asked whether they were willing to take part in a study on 'evaluations of exercising.' Participants completed their first BIAT immediately before the start of the first exercise session. Then they completed a short paper-pencil questionnaire containing questions on intention of finishing the exercise course, weekly volume of exercise (in minutes per week) and basic socio-demographic information (age and gender). Finally, the course instructors documented the presence or absence of participants. Attendance was documented by instructors before each session throughout the 14 weeks of the exercise course. The participants attended a weekly exercise course that combined cardio training with exercises focusing on strength and coordination. Participants were fully debriefed, after the last exercise session. The study was carried out according to the recommendations of the ethical committee of the University of Potsdam.

Statistical Analyses

Group differences in *D*-scores were assessed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and group differences in the separate positive and negative associative foci were analyzed with one-way multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) with the associative foci as dependent variables and the adherence groups as independent variables. Follow-up discrimination analysis (Field, 2013) was used as a *post hoc* test. This strategy allows to analyze the relative discriminative power for each of the two (inter)dependent variables 'positive and negative associative foci' with regard to the criterion variable adherence group (maintainer; early dropout; late dropout).

RESULTS

Full descriptive data are given in **Table 1**. ANOVA revealed that *D*-scores were similar for the three groups, F(2,85) = 0.57, p > 0.05, with early dropouts having the least positive AEE (*D*-score = 0.40). However, in the MANOVA there was an omnibus effect (Pillai's trace) of adherence group on positive and negative exercise associations (**Figure 2**), V = 0.15, F(4,170) = 3.35, p < 0.01, $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$. A follow-up discriminant function analysis revealed two functions, explaining 99.6% (canonical $R^2 = 0.16$) and 0.4% (canonical $R^2 < 0.01$) of the variance, respectively. The combination of the two discriminant functions differentiated between the three groups, L = 0.85, $\chi^2(4) = 13.33$, p < 0.01. Removing the first function revealed that the second function did

TABLE 1 Means and standard deviations of the dependent variables for
the three adherence groups.

Dependent variables	Early dropouts	Late dropouts	Maintainers
Positive associative focus	753.43	597.28	671.89
	(120.83)	(79.93)	(139.80)
Negative associative focus	998.37	792.67	905.11
	(266.10)	(178.13)	(339.95)
D-score	0.40	0.55	0.52
	(0.47)	(0.28)	(0.51)
Intention	4.88	4.85	4.77
	(0.34)	(0.37)	(0.40)

Values in braces are the standard deviations of the adherence groups mean reaction times, D-scores or intention measure.

not contribute significantly to the effect, L = 0.99, $\chi^2(1) = 0.52$, p > 0.05. Inspection of correlations between the independent variables and the two discriminant functions revealed that positive exercise associations were strongly positively loaded on the first function (r = 0.97) and weakly to moderately negatively loaded on the second function (r = -0.21); negative exercise associations were strongly positively loaded on the second function (r = 0.84) and less strongly positively loaded on the first function (r = 0.55). These results suggest that the two associative foci are differently associated with the adherence groups.

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to examine individual differences in positive and negative associations with exercise in exercisers who started a 3-month program of weekly exercise sessions. Analysis of adherence to the program uncovered three groups of exercisers, maintainers, early dropouts and late dropouts. We detected no statistically significant differences on the level of average D-scores. However, the strengths of positive and negative associations with exercise measured before the start of the exercise program differed significantly and with a mediumsized effect between the three adherence groups. In order to better understand the differences between the two associative foci and the adherence groups, a discriminant function analysis was conducted. This approach is recommended, since MANOVA examines "whether groups differ along a linear combination of outcome variables and discriminant function analysis, unlike ANOVA, breaks down the linear combination in more detail" (Field, 2013, p. 654).

Discriminant function analysis revealed that a combination of the two underlying types of exercise association (positive and negative) was highly effective in discriminating between the three adherence groups. Positive exercise associations contributed more to adherence group classification. The three groups were identified empirically (we described whether our participants were present or not) after our measurement of AEE; we thus conclude that AEE in the positive focus (not in the negative focus) are helpful in predicting exercise course adherence. Having a closer look at the positive associative focus, on the descriptive level, early dropouts seem to have the longest reaction times. This goes in line with our expectations. However, maintainers did not display the shortest reaction times (i.e., the most favorable exercise associations). There are several explanations for this result. First, the reliabilities of IATs are part of a lively debate (e.g., Banse et al., 2001) leading at least some researchers to the conclusion that indirect measures like the IAT should "be used with caution" (Bluemke and Friese, 2008, p. 977). The slightly faster reaction times of the late dropouts, compared to the maintainers, could be due to measurement error. A second explanation lies in our exclusive inspection of the automatic level, the two associative foci, while neglecting probable (well-evidenced) influences from the reflective system. An initial positive association with exercising seems to facilitate later exercise adherence, according to our results. Nonetheless,

planning and coping skills remain important and might help exercisers to overcome negative automatic evaluations. Future studies are needed to focus on probable interactions between the impulsive and reflective components influencing exercise behavior.

Previous studies investigated the association between AEE and exercise behavior over a short time period (Conroy et al., 2010). Our findings extend understanding of the relationship between AEE and behavior in several ways. We suggest that adherence to a program of exercise can be described as a series of situated decisions of the form 'do I attend my aerobics class today or watch TV instead?' Earlier research has shown that AEE correlated significantly with situated decisions about exercising (Brand and Schweizer, 2015). Our data corroborate the hypothesis that longterm adherence to a program of exercise, i.e., repeated decisions to engage in exercise, and positive associations with exercising (associations between mental representations of 'exercise' and the evaluative category 'good') at the beginning of the course are correlated. This result is compatible with previous accounts of AEE and their role in physical activity behavior (e.g., Hyde et al., 2012).

In the terms of learning theory each exercise class represents a learning experience which influences the weights of associations between affective representations and exercise representations accordingly. A pre-existing positive AEE might act as a buffer against the effects of future exercise classes which might trigger predominantly negative affect. Deutsch and Strack (2006) posited that in long-term memory the weight of associations between, for example the concepts 'exercising' and 'good' change only slowly. If the stored evaluation of exercising is that it is 'enjoyable,' i.e., there is a stored association between exercising and positive affect which is reflected in a general motivation to engage in exercise, then it is likely that even if the individual has recently had an unpleasant (negative) experience of exercising his or her overall motivation to exercise will remain high (i.e., he or she is likely to make situated decisions to exercise, rather than undertake an alternative activity). This view is consistent with other authors' findings on the correlation between directly assessed hedonic responses to exercise and adherence to a program of exercise (Williams et al., 2008; Ekkekakis, 2009; Kwan and Bryan, 2010). Williams et al. (2008, p. 232) concluded that "a positive affective response may lead to greater participation in physical activity programs" on the basis of an assessment of affective responses to an exercise session and follow-up tracking of physical activity for 6 months. We propose that the correlation between positive affect and exercise behavior is not only a matter of reflective evaluative judgments based on rational deliberation (e.g., 'no pain, no gain') but also automatic evaluations (i.e., spontaneous affective responses or 'gut feeling'; the output of the impulsive system). This implies that exercise intervention practitioners should attempt to facilitate immediate, positive affective responses to exercise for participants in order to reinforce exercise-positive associations which may influence both impulsive and reflective processing of exercise-related stimuli and choices.

Our findings also contribute to understanding of AEE measurement. We suggest that it is more appropriate to conceive AEE in terms of separate exercise-positive and exercise-negative

associations rather than as an overall AEE, on a single linear continuum. It is noteworthy that it is the overall linear continuum model which provides the rationale for calculation of IAT D-scores. Co-existing positive and negative associations and learning experiences in everyday life (e.g., exercising makes me feel better but at the same time it is time-consuming) are the norm rather than the exception. Our behavior is guided by this complex interplay of reflective judgments and automatic associations; both factors should be assessed in more detail when assessing patterns of complex behavior such as exercise habit. Assessing positive and negative associative foci separately supports a more nuanced interpretation of individual differences evaluations based on impulsive system processes. The lack of significant differences between the D-scores of maintainers and early and late dropouts reinforces the case for considering positive and negative automatic evaluations separately, particularly as differences between the adherence groups were detected when positive and negative associative foci were examined separately. Furthermore our results suggest that the positive and negative associative focus contribute differentially to patterns of exercise adherence. Given that we investigated individuals who already had decided to visit this exercise course it is unsurprising that most of them had positive associations involving exercise and that these positive associations had a significant impact on behavior. One would expect our participants to display strong or salient exercise-positive associations acquired as a result of numerous previous positive experiences of exercising (all opportunities for associative learning). As Strack and Deutsch (2006, p. 167) put it: "Frequently co-occurring perceptual features, valence, and behavioral programs form associative clusters, which vary in their accessibility according to the recency and frequency of their activation." Future research should investigate inactive individuals in order to clarify the observed differential impact of positive and negative associative in individuals without the intention to exercise.

CONCLUSION

We also conclude that our approach to describe exercise behavior on the full categorical level (i.e., visit the program or not) was successful. Many studies effectively described physical activities in terms of volume (e.g., step counts or minutes per week) and the observation that exercise volume correlates with AEE (e.g., Eves et al., 2007; Conroy et al., 2010) is certainly useful. This type of quantitative information neglected, however, qualitative behavioral differences, e.g., how similar volumes of exercise actually summed up. In a 14-week exercise session, individuals could either participate in every second exercise session (and thus be classified as a maintainer) or stop attending the exercise course after having been there for the first seven sessions (and thus belong to the late-dropout group). Accounting for such chronological information was fruitful and should stimulate further research and developments regarding the design of targeted exercise interventions (e.g., Keele-Smith and Leon, 2003).

Although the results of this study contributed to our understanding of AEE and their relationship with exercise behavior there are limitations to our study that need to be addressed. The moderate sample size of 88 participants needs to be mentioned. Since our study was embedded in an actual 14week exercise program with uncertain attendance, we abstained from calculating an *a priori* power analysis. However, a post hoc analysis of the achieved power (taking our given sample and effect size into account) resulted in a power of 0.86, what supports the significance of our results. The regular exercisers in our sample all reported that they were likely to attend the sessions regularly and it is important to be cautious about generalizing the findings to less motivated individuals. The relationship between AEE and adherence to an exercise program in less motivated individuals is a question for future empirical research. It is also unclear whether the same results would have been obtained when investigating the relationship between AEE and exercise for more than 14 weeks.

These limitations notwithstanding, we think that our study highlights the influence of AEE and the two underlying associations on adherence to a program of exercise. Our aim was to enrich understanding of the research issues in several ways. First, we have offered a plausible theoretical account of the relationship between situations-specific AEE and long-term

REFERENCES

- Antoniewicz, F., and Brand, R. (2014). Automatic evaluations and exercise setting preference in frequent exercisers. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 36, 631–636. doi: 10.1123/jsep.2014-0033
- Antoniewicz, F., and Brand, R. (2016). Learning to like exercising: evaluative conditioning changes automatic evaluations of exercising and influences subsequent exercising behavior. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. doi: 10.1123/jsep.2015-0125 [Epub ahead of print].
- Banse, R., Seise, J., and Zerbes, N. (2001). Implicit attitudes towards homosexuality: reliability, validity, and controllability of the IAT. Z Exp. Psychol. 48, 145–160. doi: 10.1026/0949-3946.48.2.145
- Bluemke, M., Brand, R., Schweizer, G., and Kahlert, D. (2010). Exercise might be good for me, but I don't feel good about it: do automatic associations predict exercise behavior? J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 32, 137–153.
- Bluemke, M., and Friese, M. (2008). Reliability and validity of the single-target IAT(ST-IAT): assessing automatic affect towards multiple attitude objects. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 38, 977–997. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.487
- Brand, R., and Schweizer, G. (2015). Going to the gym or to the movies?: situated decisions as a functional link connecting automatic and reflective evaluations of exercise with exercising behavior. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 37, 63–73. doi: 10.1123/jsep.2014-0018
- Chaiken, S., and Trope, Y. (eds) (1999). *Dual-Process Theories in Social Psychology*. New York, NY: Guilford.
- Clore, G. L. (1992). "Cognitive phenomenology: feelings and the construction of judgment," in *The Construction of Social Judgement*, eds L. L. Martin and A. Tesser (Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associations), 133–164.
- Conroy, D. E., Hyde, A. L., Doerksen, S. E., and Ribeiro, N. F. (2010). Implicit attitudes and explicit motivation prospectively predict physical activity. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 39, 112–118. doi: 10.1007/s12160-010-9161-0
- De Houwer, J., Teige-Mocigemba, S., Spruyt, A., and Moors, A. (2009). Implicit measures: a normative analysis and review. *Psychol. Bull.* 135, 347–368. doi: 10.1037/a0014211
- Deutsch, R., and Strack, F. (2006). Duality models in social psychology: from dual processes to interacting systems. *Psychol. Inq.* 17, 166–172. doi: 10.1207/s15327965pli1703_2
- Ekkekakis, P. (2009). Let them roam free? Physiological and psychological evidence for the potential of self-selected exercise intensity in public health. *Sports Med.* 39, 857–888. doi: 10.2165/11315210

adherence to an exercise program. This invites further reflections on integrating AEE into theories of exercise behavior. Dualsystem models are one approach to doing so and provide a basis for future research into exercise habits. Second, we have provided evidence that AEE predict exercise behavior over the long term, thus extending previous findings which investigated exercise habits or exercise behavior over short time periods. Third, the decomposition of AEE into its components (i.e., exercise-positive and exercise-negative associations) was shown to be essential to understanding the relationship between exercise behavior and AEE. Our finding improves understanding of the concept of AEE and should lead to development of more effective exercise interventions. Mainstream research in exercise psychology should investigate automatic as well as reflective processes of behavior regulation in the future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FA developed this research question. FA conducted the empirical part of the study. RB and FA jointly re-analyzed the data, adjusted and broadened the chain of arguments and then cooperatively wrote this report.

- Ekkekakis, P., Parfitt, G., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2011). The pleasure and displeasure people feel when they exercise at different intensities: decennial update and progress towards a tripartite rationale for exercise intensity prescription. *Sports Med.* 41, 641–671. doi: 10.2165/11590680-00000000-00000
- Ekkekakis, P., Vazou, S., Bixby, W. R., and Georgiadis, E. (2016). The mysterious case of hat public health guideline that is (almost) entirely ignored: call for a research agenda on the causes of the extreme avoidance of physical activity in obesity. Obes. Rev. 17, 313–329. doi: 10.1111/obr.12369
- Eves, F. F., Scott, E. J., Hoppe, R., and French, D. P. (2007). Using the affective priming paradigm to explore the attitudes underlying walking behaviour. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 12, 571–585. doi: 10.1348/135910706X153775
- Fazio, R. H., Jackson, J. R., Duncton, B. C., and Williams, C. J. (1995). Variability in automatic activation as an unobtrusive measure of racial attitudes: a bona fide pipeline? *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 69, 1013–1027. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.69. 6.1013
- Fazio, R. H., and Olson, M. A. (2003). Implicit measures in social cognition research: their meaning and use. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 54, 297–327. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.54.101601.145225
- Field, A. (2013). Discovering Statistics using IBM SPSS Statistics: and Sex and Drugs and Rock 'n' Roll, 4th Edn. London: Sage publications.
- Greenwald, A. G., McGhee, D. E., and Schwartz, J. L. K. (1998). Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 1464–1480. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.6.1464
- Greenwald, A. G., Nosek, B. A., and Banaji, M. R. (2003). Understanding and using the implicit association test: I. An improved scoring algorithm. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 85, 197–216. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.197
- Hyde, A. L., Elavsky, S., Doerksen, S. E., and Conroy, D. E. (2012). The stability of automatic evaluations of physical activity and their relations with physical activity. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 34, 715–736.
- Kahneman, D., and Frederick, S. (2002). "Representativeness revisited: attribute substitution in intuitive judgment," in *Heuristic and Biases: The Psychology of Intuitive Judgment*, eds T. Gilovich, D. Griffin, and D. Kahneman (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 49–81.
- Karpinski, A., and Steinman, R. B. (2006). The single category implicit association test as a measure of implicit social cognition. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 91, 16. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.91.1.16
- Keele-Smith, R., and Leon, T. (2003). Evaluation of individually tailored interventions on exercise adherence. Western J. Nurs. Res. 25, 623–640. doi: 10.1177/0193945903255404

- Kristiansen, C. M., and Harding, C. M. (1984). The social desirability of preventive health behavior. *Public Health Rep.* 99, 384–388.
- Kwan, B. M., and Bryan, A. (2010). In-task and post-task affective response to exercise: translating exercise intentions into behaviour. Br. J. Health Psychol. 15, 115–131. doi: 10.1348/135910709X433267
- Marcus, B. H., Forsyth, L. H., Stone, E. J., Dubbert, P. M., McKenzie, T. L., Dunn, A. L., et al. (2000). Physical activity behavior change: issues in adoption and maintenance. *Health Psychol.* 19, 32–41. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.19. Suppl1.32
- Markland, D., Hall, C. R., Duncan, L. R., and Simatovic, J. (2015). The effects of an imagery intervention on implicit and explicit exercise attitudes. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 17, 24–31. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2014.11.007
- Matsumoto, H., and Takenaka, K. (2004). Motivational profiles and stages of exercise behavior change. *Int. J. Sport Health Sci.* 2, 89–96. doi: 10.5432/ijshs.2.89
- Nosek, B. A., Greenwald, A. G., and Banaji, M. R. (2007). "The implicit association test at age 7: a methodological and conceptual review," in *Automatic Processes* in Social Thinking and Behavior, ed. J. A. Bargh (Abingdon: Psychology Press), 265–292.
- Rebar, A. L., Ram, N., and Conroy, D. E. (2015). Using the EZ-diffusion model to score a single-category implicit association test of physical activity. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 16, 96–105. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2014.09.008

- Seelig, H., and Fuchs, R. (2011). Physical exercise participation: a continuous or categorical phenomenon? *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 12, 115–123. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2010.10.004
- Sriram, N., and Greenwald, A. G. (2009). The brief implicit association test. *Exp. Psychol.* 56, 283–294. doi: 10.1027/1618-3169.56.4.283
- Strack, F., and Deutsch, R. (2004). Reflective and impulsive determinants of social behavior. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev. 8, 220–247. doi: 10.1207/s15327957pspr0803_1
- Williams, D. M., Dunsiger, S., Ciccolo, J. T., Lewis, B. A., Albrecht, A. E., and Marcus, B. H. (2008). Acute affective response to a moderate-intensity exercise stimulus predicts physical activity participation 6 and 12 months later. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 9, 231–245. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2007.04.002

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Antoniewicz and Brand. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Automatic Evaluation Stimuli – The Most Frequently Used Words to Describe Physical Activity and the Pleasantness of Physical Activity

Amanda L. Rebar^{1,2*}, Stephanie Schoeppe¹, Stephanie J. Alley¹, Camille E. Short³, James A. Dimmock⁴, Ben Jackson⁴, David E. Conroy^{5,6}, Ryan E. Rhodes⁷ and Corneel Vandelanotte^{1,2}

¹ Physical Activity Research Group, School of Human, Health, and Social Sciences, Central Queensland University, Rockhampton, QLD, Australia, ² Health Psychology and Behavioural Medicine Research Group, Faculty of Health Sciences, School of Psychology and Speech Pathology, Curtin University, Perth, WA, Australia, ³ Faculty of Health Sciences, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ⁴ School of Sport Science, Exercise, and Health, The University of Western Australia, Perth, WA, Australia, ⁵ Department of Kinesiology and Human Development and Family Studies, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, USA, ⁶ Department of Preventive Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA, ⁷ Behavioural Medicine Laboratory, School of Exercise Science, University of Victoria, Victoria, BC, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Darko Jekauc, Humboldt University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Rosa Magallon, University of Zaragoza, Spain Vitalie Faoro, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium

> ***Correspondence:** Amanda L. Rebar a.rebar@cqu.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Science and Sport Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 April 2016 Accepted: 10 August 2016 Published: 23 August 2016

Citation:

Rebar AL, Schoeppe S, Alley SJ, Short CE, Dimmock JA, Jackson B, Conroy DE, Rhodes RE and Vandelanotte C (2016) Automatic Evaluation Stimuli – The Most Frequently Used Words to Describe Physical Activity and the Pleasantness of Physical Activity. Front. Psychol. 7:1277. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01277 Physical activity is partially regulated by non-conscious processes including automatic evaluations - the spontaneous affective reactions we have to physical activity that lead us to approach or avoid physical activity opportunities. A sound understanding of which words best represent the concepts of physical activity and pleasantness (as associated with physical activity) is needed to improve the measurement of automatic evaluations and related constructs (e.g., automatic self-schemas, attentional biases). The first aim of this study was to establish population-level evidence of the most common word stimuli for physical activity and pleasantness. Given that response latency measures have been applied to assess automatic evaluations of physical activity and exercise, the second aim was to determine whether people use the same behavior and pleasant descriptors for physical activity and exercise. Australian adults (N = 1,318; 54.3% women; 48.9% aged 55 years or older) were randomly assigned to one of two groups, through a computer-generated 1:1 ratio allocation, to be asked to list either five behaviors and pleasant descriptors of physical activity (n = 686) or of exercise (n = 632). The words were independently coded twice as to whether they were novel words or the same as another (i.e., same stem or same meaning). Intercoder reliability varied between moderate and strong (agreement = 50.1 to 97.8%; $\kappa = 0.48$ to 0.82). A list of the 20 most common behavior and pleasantness words were established based on how many people reported them, weighted by the ranking (1-5) people gave them. The words people described as physical activity were mostly the same as those people used to describe exercise. The most common behavior words were 'walking,' 'running,' 'swimming,' 'bike riding,' and 'gardening'; and the most common pleasant descriptor

words were 'relaxing,' 'happiness,' 'enjoyment,' 'exhilarating,' 'exhausting,' and 'good.' These sets of stimuli can be utilized as resources for response latency measurement tasks of automatic evaluations and for tools to enhance automatic evaluations of physical activity in evaluative conditioning tasks.

Keywords: dual process, implicit, non-conscious, modes, exercise

INTRODUCTION

Regular physical activity is essential for maintaining good physical and mental health (Warburton et al., 2006; Sattelmair et al., 2011; Rebar et al., 2015b); however, most people are not regularly physically active enough to obtain substantial health benefits (Bauman et al., 2009; Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2015). It is widely accepted that enhancing a person's motivation can increase how active they are (Michie et al., 2009), but physical activity promotion efforts have narrowly targeted strategies meant to enhance reflective, intentional motivation such as self-monitoring and goal-setting at the expense of more non-conscious, impulsive predictors of behavior (Marteau et al., 2012; Sheeran et al., 2013). We can expand our knowledge of, and ability to promote, physical activity by focusing on the development of empirically sound tools for measuring and enhancing the non-conscious regulatory processes that also regulate physical activity behavior (Rebar et al., 2016).

Based on dual process theories, decisions to be active are the result, not only of reflective processes, which are slow and deliberate, but also non-conscious processes, which are rapid and spontaneous (Chaiken and Trope, 1999; Evans and Frankish, 2009). When opportunities to be physically active arrive, immediately (within 0.25 s!), we are biased to approach or avoid that opportunity depending on the non-conscious process referred to as 'automatic evaluations'. Automatic evaluations are the immediate affective (i.e., pleasant/unpleasant) responses a person has toward an event or stimulus, which go on to influence decisions and behaviors (Murphy and Zajonc, 1993; Bargh et al., 1996; Cunningham et al., 2004). Although the exact origin of a person's automatic evaluations is still unknown, it is suspected that they are an amalgamation of experiences with the event/stimulus and of the concepts and beliefs that they associate with it (Rudman, 2004; Cunningham et al., 2007).

Importantly, automatic evaluations may or may not be consistent with evaluations that a person reports about a behavior after some reflection. For example, a person could have somewhat unpleasant automatic evaluations of physical activity but self-report having strongly pleasant evaluations after some reflection. The exact interplay between non-conscious and reflective evaluations and their impact of physical activity behavior remains unclear, but evidence suggests that they are distinct (Hyde et al., 2010) and have distinct influences over a person's physical activity behavior (Conroy et al., 2010).

People who automatically associate physical activity cues (e.g., words, images) with the concept of pleasantness are more physically active than people who do not have these associations – one study showed that 14% of physical activity behavior can be explained by these automatic evaluations (Rebar et al., 2015a). Automatic evaluations of physical activity have been assessed with a variety of response latency measures like the Implicit Association Test (Greenwald et al., 1998) or the Extrinsic Affective Simon Task (De Houwer, 2003). Although the procedures vary, the general aim of these tests is to gauge the degree of association people have between pleasantness/unpleasantness and the concept of *physical activity* based on timing and accuracy of responses to stimuli (e.g., words) that represent these concepts.

The validity of these response latency tasks is, in part, dependent on how well the stimuli represent the targeted constructs (i.e., *physical activity* and *pleasantness*). For example, Bluemke et al. (2010) showed that automatic evaluations were more linked to behavior when the *pleasant* stimuli were words describing positive experiences with physical activity (e.g., 'athletic'), as opposed to just pleasantness in general (e.g., 'patient'). Additionally, to be generalizable across a broad range of study samples, the stimuli should be words that most people in a population tend to associate with the targeted concepts. This study will be the first to provide population-level evidence about the words that most people perceive as representative of physical activity and exercise behaviors and of the pleasantness associated with physical activity/exercise.

In addition to providing stimuli for measures of automatic evaluations of physical activity, the findings of this study might act also as a resource for tools to enhance automatic evaluations of physical activity. For example, evaluative conditioning works to enhance people's automatic evaluations through repeated presentation of stimuli representative of the targeted behavior alongside pleasant stimuli (Hofmann et al., 2010). This technique is commonly applied in advertising and political campaigns (e.g., pairing sexually appealing images with soda products, or constantly using negative words paired with opposing political candidate names) and used in interventions that have effectively changed other health behaviors including alcohol consumption (Houben et al., 2010) and healthy eating (Hollands et al., 2011). The findings of this study, therefore, will assist in the development of tools to promote physical activity via enhancement of automatic evaluations.

Although the discussion to this point has focused on physical activity, it is possible that researchers may also wish to investigate 'exercise,' as opposed to physical activity. Physical activity and exercise have similar but distinct meanings in the public health literature (Caspersen et al., 1985). In accordance with the research literature, *exercise* is a specific goal-directed type of *physical activity*; however, it is unclear whether the general

population distinguishes between the terms 'physical activity' and 'exercise,' as many people use them interchangeably. This is an important unanswered question that has implications to consider for developing physical activity interventions including, but not exclusive to, strategies targeting automatic evaluations like evaluative conditioning. As such, the primary aim of this study was to establish a set of words that adults perceive as strongly representative of the concepts of *physical activity* and *pleasant*, and the secondary aim was to determine whether Australian adults differentiate between behavior and pleasant words to describe *exercise* versus *physical activity*. It is hypothesized that the differences are mainly within the academic community, so there will be few differences at the population level.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedures

This study was a part of the 2015 National Social Survey - a population survey targeted at a random sample of Australian residents. Mobile and landline telephone numbers were dialed by a team of 34 interviewers via computer-assisted telephone interviewing by the Central Queensland University Population Research Laboratory in July - August of 2015. Gender-based and geographically proportionate random sampling of phone numbers was used to get near-equal sampling of men and women and to cover each state and territory area of Australia. Respondents were asked to participant in the study if they confirmed that they were 18 years of age or older. Participants (N = 1,318) were randomly assigned, in a ratio of 1:1 as determined by a computer-generated allocation, to answer the questions about either descriptors of 'physical activity' (n = 686) or 'exercise' (n = 632) behavior and pleasantness. A betweenperson design, as opposed to a within-person design in which the same participants were asked about 'exercise' and physical activity,' was used to reduce the risk of response biases. Asking people to report words relevant to the term 'physical activity' and then to the term 'exercise' (or vice versa) may have resulted in people feeling pressured to come up with different word choices, even if they did not perceive a true difference between the two terms.

Measures

A random half of the sample was asked, "Can you tell me five activities that you think about when you think of physical activity?" Interviewers clarified that, "We are looking specifically for behaviors, rather than feelings associated with physical activity." Next, these participants were asked, "Can you tell me five words that you would use to describe a physical activity that you enjoy or find pleasant?" At this point, interviewers clarified, "We are looking specifically for feelings, rather than behaviors associated with physical activity." The other half of the sample were asked the same questions about 'exercise' instead of 'physical activity.' Interviewers all used the same wording for each participant and recorded the participants' immediate responses in the order that participants reported them.

Data Coding and Analyses

Data were coded twice by independent reviewers (ALR, SS, SA) to assess (1) whether each response represented a novel 'word' category (ves/no), and (2) which 'word' category it represented (e.g., aerobics, walking, calm, and competition). Word categories represented responses with either the same stem (e.g., walk and walking) or the same meaning (e.g., accomplishment and achievement). There was no a priori determination as to what the 'word' categories would be or how many there would be. Interrater reliability was calculated as percentage agreement with a zero tolerance and unweighted Cohen's Kappa (k; Gamer et al., 2012; Gwet, 2014), with $0.40 < \kappa < 0.59$ representing a weak level of agreement, $0.60 < \kappa < 0.79$ representing moderate agreement, and $\kappa \ge 0.80$ representing strong agreement (McHugh, 2012). Following the initial coding and reliability calculation, coding discrepancies were discussed amongst all three coders and the coding scores were adjusted accordingly to reflect the consensus code.

Scores were then calculated for each 'word' category as the number of participants that mentioned it, weighted by the ranking each participant gave it. The weighing was based on the assumption that people would report their most accessible or salient words first. Specifically, five points were given to a 'word' category for each time a person mentioned the 'word' first, four points for each mention as the second word, three points for each mention as the third word, two points for each mention as the fourth word, and one point for each mention as the fifth word. So, a score of 20 might represent a 'word' that four people mentioned as the first word representing the category or that 20 people mentioned as the fifth word representing the category. Based on the drop-offs of the distributions of the scores, it was determined that the top 20 ranked 'words' captured a reasonable sample of the most common responses.

RESULTS

The top 20 ranked words representing physical activity and exercise behaviors are presented in **Table 1** and the top 20 ranked words representing pleasant experiences of physical activity and exercise are presented in **Table 2**. Overall, there were not substantial differences between the words people used to describe physical activity and exercise.

Sample Characteristics

Response rate of the survey was 33%, which is typical for phonebased surveys (Curtin et al., 2000, 2005). There was a near equal sampling of gender (n = 716 women, 54.3%). Nearly half of participants were 55 years or older (n = 645, 48.9%), 16.6% (n = 219) were between the ages of 45–54 years, 14.1% (n = 186) were 35–44 years, and 19.3% (n = 255) were 18–34 years. A third of participants had education levels of secondary/high school or lower (n = 436, 33%), 22.2% had technical education or higher, and 44.2% (n = 583) had University or higher levels of education. In regards to employment status, 37.6% (n = 496) were employed full-time, 21.0% (n = 276) were employed part-time or casually, and the rest were unemployed TABLE 1 | Rank ordering of the top 20 words people from independent samples used to describe physical activity or exercise behaviors and their associated representative scores.

Rank	Physical activity behavior words	Represen- tative scores	Exercise behavior words	Represen- tative scores
1	Walking	2027	Walking	1947
2	Running	1117	Running	1073
3	Swimming	795	Swimming	851
4	Gardening	763	Bike Riding	835
5	Bike riding	648	Gardening	440
6	Housework	482	Gym work outs	390
7	Gym work outs	451	Housework	301
8	Tennis	290	Tennis	279
9	Playing sport	282	Weight lifting	204
10	Manual labor	217	Playing sport	155
11	Golf	189	Golf	146
12	Football	186	Football	138
13	Weight lifting	150	Dancing	121
14	Yoga	116	Yoga	119
15	Dancing	115	Stretching	87
16	Farm work	110	Exercise machines	86
17	Chopping wood	98	Manual labor	85
18	Exercise	93	Exercise classes	84
19	Soccer	79	Playing with children	84
20	Hiking	73	Aerobics	78

(n = 61, 4.6%), retired or pensioners (n = 384, 29.2%), students (n = 35, 2.7%) or responsible solely for home duties (n = 57, 4.3%).

Intercoder Reliability

Intercoder reliability ranged between moderate and strong. Reliability was highest for coding of whether or not each behavior word represented novel physical activity/exercise 'word' categories (physical activity behavior words: agreement = 95.9 to 97.8%; $\kappa = 0.69$ to 0.82; exercise behavior words: agreement = 96.4 to 97.3%; κ = 0.56 to 0.82). Reliability for whether or not each pleasant descriptor word was a novel 'word' category was acceptable (physical activity pleasant descriptors: agreement = 70.7 to 81.1%; κ = 0.70 to 0.79; exercise pleasant descriptors: agreement = 50.1 to 59.5%; $\kappa = 0.47$ to 0.53). Reliability for the 'word' categories of the physical activity/exercise behavior words remained within the strong/moderate range (physical activity behaviors: agreement = 79.6 to 89.8%; κ = 0.79 to 0.88; exercise behaviors: agreement = 77.7 to 82.8%; κ = 0.76 to 0.81). Reliability for the 'word' categories of the pleasant descriptors of physical activity/exercise was also within the acceptable range (physical activity pleasant descriptors: agreement = 70.8 to 81.2%; $\kappa = 0.70$ to 0.79; exercise pleasant descriptors: agreement = 50.1 to 64.6%; $\kappa = 0.48$ to 0.55). Lower reliability was commonly the result of one coding difference that occurred repeatedly amongst the most common answers.

TABLE 2 | Rank ordering of the top 20 words people from independent samples used to describe pleasant experiences of physical activity or exercise behaviors and their associated representative scores.

Rank	Pleasant physical activity words	Represen- tative scores	Pleasant exercise words	Represen- tative scores
1	Relaxing	836	Relaxing	713
2	Happiness	573	Happiness	509
3	Enjoyment	571	Exhilarating	412
4	Exhilarating	484	Exhaustion	379
5	Exhaustion	452	Good	353
6	Good	350	Enjoyment	308
7	Energetic	323	Fun	298
8	Fun	301	Social	271
9	Refreshing	287	Healthy	271
10	Satisfying	278	Energetic	250
11	Social	260	Calm	245
12	Achievement	246	Refreshing	235
13	Healthy	233	Satisfying	222
14	Calm	228	Achievement	212
15	Pleasant	211	Invigorating	204
16	Beautiful	176	Pleasant	177
17	Invigorating	147	Challenging	172
18	Challenging	137	Fit	170
19	Clarity	136	Beautiful	107
20	Painful	130	Free	100

Physical Activity and Exercise Behaviors

The most common word used to describe physical activity and exercise behavior was *walking*. Following in popularity were *running, swimming, bike riding,* and *gardening* for both physical activity and exercise. Of note, people reported leisure activities such as *golf, dancing,* and *yoga* as well as activities like *housework* and *manual labor* in their responses for both physical activity and exercise. The only major difference in the words people used to describe physical activity and exercise was that *exercise machines* and *exercise classes* were commonly reported to represent exercise, but few people responded that these behaviors represented physical activity (exercise representative scores: *exercise machines* = 86, *exercise classes* = 84; physical activity representative scores: *exercise machines* = 6, *exercise classes* = 17).

Pleasant Physical Activity and Exercise Descriptors

People described their pleasant experiences with physical activity and exercise similarly. People reported the words *relaxing*, *happiness*, good, enjoyment, exhilarating, and exhaustion as most representative. Some adjectives described mental states such as *clarity* and energetic, some focused on physical descriptors such as *healthy* and *fit*, and some focused on describing the activity such as *fun* and *challenging*. The words *clarity* and *painful* were reported as more representative as descriptors of physical activity (physical activity representative scores: *clarity* = 136, *painful* = 130) than of exercise (exercise representative scores: *clarity* = 72, *painful* = 74).

DISCUSSION

Researchers are beginning to measure and intervene with people's automatic evaluations of physical activity (Rebar et al., 2016). This study provides empirically based word stimuli representative of physical activity/exercise behaviors and pleasant descriptors of physical activity/exercise for use in such research. Not surprisingly, the most common words people used to describe physical activity behaviors were in line with findings of previous survey research on people's preferences for physical activities (Booth et al., 1997). The most common behavior words including transport (e.g., walking), leisure (e.g., swimming), and occupational (e.g., manual labor) activities. Almost all of the activities were aerobic. Generally, the stimuli used in previous studies of automatic evaluations of physical activity/exercise (e.g., Calitri et al., 2009; Scott et al., 2009; Conroy et al., 2010; Hyde et al., 2010; Rebar et al., 2015a) included more resistance-based (e.g., lifting, sit-ups) and fewer lifestyle (e.g., gardening, manual labor) behaviors than are present in the stimuli list from the present study. It may be that by not including certain types of physical activity in stimuli sets, these measures may not have fully captured automatic evaluations of the physical activity behaviors most relevant to certain individuals. Although the impact that the stimuli have on response latency measures is not clear, developers of such tasks suggest that the stimuli set should be well-representative and broad enough to encompass the entire targeted concept (De Houwer, 2001; Nosek et al., 2005). Researchers should consider incorporating stimuli that fully represent the relevant targeted behavior.

The pleasant descriptors of physical activity included pleasantactivated feelings (e.g., exhilarating and energetic) as well as pleasant-deactivated feelings (e.g., relaxing and calming). Some words described the instrumental value of physical activity (e.g., healthy and fit) and some words described more affective values (e.g., fun and enjoyment). This suggests people based their descriptions of pleasantness on both affective and instrumental attitudes, although evidence suggests that affective attitudes may be more predictive of physical activity behavior (Lowe et al., 2002; Rhodes et al., 2009). Most studies testing automatic evaluations of physical activity used generic positive/negative words and so were not similar to the stimuli produced from the present study (Calitri et al., 2009; Conroy et al., 2010; Hyde et al., 2010; Berry et al., 2011; Rebar et al., 2015a), but see Bluemke et al. (2010) and Brand and Schweizer (2015) for activity-based stimuli in German. The findings of Bluemke et al. (2010) suggest measures of automatic evaluations may be more linked to physical activity behavior if the adjective stimuli used are activity-related words; the outcomes of the present study make those types of stimuli more readily available for future researchers wishing to measure automatic evaluations.

There are a variety of measurement tools researchers can use to assess automatic evaluations including the Implicit Association Test (or variations thereof; Greenwald et al., 1998; Karpinski and Steinman, 2006; Siram and Greenwald, 2009), the evaluative priming method (Fazio et al., 1995; Eves et al., 2007), or the impulsive approach and avoidance manikin task (Krieglmeyer and Deutsch, 2010). The stimuli that emerged in this study can also be a resource for the assessment of other non-conscious constructs beyond automatic evaluations. For example, the list of physical activity or exercise words can be utilized when testing automatic associations between *physical activity/exercise* and *self* as a measure of non-conscious self-schema (e.g., Banting et al., 2009). Alternatively, the *physical activity/exercise* stimuli might be utilized in measures of attention biases such as via the dot probe task (e.g., Calitri et al., 2009). The present study list of stimuli will also likely be applicable for measures of self-reported affective and instrumental evaluations of physical activity.

Beyond measurement, these stimuli can be a resource for novel evaluative conditioning intervention tools that are integrated in broader health behavior interventions, as there has been a call to incorporate more strategies to target non-conscious regulation (Marteau et al., 2012; Sheeran et al., 2013). Evaluative conditioning has demonstrated long-lasting effects on behavior (De Houwer et al., 2001). Indeed, many people can attest to these long-term consequences when they have an automatic disgust response as a result of a long ago learned association of a particular food with nausea or when distant memories are provoked by a certain odor. Harnessing these long-term conditioning effects has potential for enhancing the effectiveness of physical activity interventions. Evaluative conditioning is only one strategy for intervening with automatic evaluations and other possibilities likely exist. For example, it may be that just by highlighted the positive attributes of physical activity in physical activity interventions (e.g., 'isn't this fun?," "wasn't that relaxing?"), people will be more likely to maintain regular activity because of the powerful motivational influence of recalling pleasant aspects of the experience (Kwan and Bryan, 2010). This study provides word stimuli resources to be used within such studies.

In addition to providing the stimuli list as a resources for future research, this study demonstrated that the words Australian adults use to describe physical activity are not substantially distinct from those used to describe exercise. This suggests that the distinction typically made in research that exercise is a goal-directed type of physical activity (Caspersen et al., 1985) may not be made by the general population. Some studies have focused on automatic evaluations of physical activity (e.g., Conroy et al., 2010; Hyde et al., 2012; Rebar et al., 2015a), whereas some have focused on exercise more specifically (e.g., Berry and Spence, 2009; Calitri et al., 2009; Bluemke et al., 2010). In light of the present findings, it may be the case that these measures of automatic evaluations of physical activity/exercise are targeting the same constructs. This finding points toward the possibility of summative work across these studies, although such efforts will be largely dependent on consistency of the behavioral measures.

Study Limitations

This study was designed to be representative of an Australian adult population. However, compared to the national population, the sample is older, on average (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2013). As such, the findings cannot be generalized as being

Automatic Evaluation Stimuli

representative of all Australian adults. For example, the older population may explain why lifestyle activities were more commonly reported than resistance training activities. The set of words were meant to represent generic perceptions and are not tailored for specific population subsamples. Additionally, given that this study was conducted to obtain population-level evidence, all the behavior and pleasant descriptor words may not be applicable at an individuallevel. Adjustments of the stimuli may be necessary for use in specific populations (e.g., men or women, specific age groups, people with specific chronic conditions). Alternatively, researchers may wish to design options for tailoring tests in an idiosyncratic fashion, so that the stimuli used are applicable for each person. Although the words seem broadly generalizable for English-speaking populations, this study sample was Australian and, therefore, the representativeness of the words may not be generalizable to people in other countries.

Another limitation is that the word stimuli lists were developed through self-reported methods, so might be more representative of deliberative, reflective evaluations and may not fully represent automatic evaluations. However, by asking participants to spontaneously report the words (without much deliberation), we have taken efforts to try and capture people's automatic responses. Additionally, although there was good intercoder reliability, by nature the coding of words as having similar meanings is a subjective task, and therefore, it cannot be ruled out that judgments made by the coders misrepresent the true meaning of the respondents on occasion.

Finally, although this study provides an important resource for use within response latency measures, the word lists produced may not meet all the stimuli needs of these measures, and therefore researchers may need to seek other resources to find other stimuli (e.g., general positive/negative word stimuli are available; see Bradley and Lang, 1999). Population-based evidence of negative descriptors of physical activity is not yet available; therefore researchers seeking to examine negative associations may need to conduct some pilot testing or base

REFERENCES

- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2013). *Australian Social Trends*. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2015). *National Health Survey: First results, 2014-*15. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Banting, L. K., Dimmock, J. A., and Lay, B. S. (2009). The role of implicit and explicit components of exerciser self-schema in the prediction of exercise behaviour. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 10, 80–86. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport. 2008.07.007
- Bargh, J. A., Chaiken, S., Raymond, P., and Hymes, C. (1996). The automatic evaluation effect: Unconditional automatic attitude activation with a pronunciation task. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 32, 104–128. doi: 10.1006/jesp. 1996.0005
- Bauman, A., Bull, F., Chey, T., Craig, C. L., Ainsworth, B. E., Sallis, J. F., et al. (2009). The International prevalence study on physical activity: results from 20 countries. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 6, 21. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-6-21
- Berry, T. R., and Spence, J. C. (2009). Beware the couch potato stereotype: effects of physical activity and sedentary lifestyle priming on automatic attitude activation. *Res. Q. Exerc. Sport* 80, 1–8.

their stimuli on previously tested stimuli (e.g., Bluemke et al., 2010).

CONCLUSION

Automatic evaluations are underutilized in investigations of the psychology of physical activity and as a tool for increasing people's physical activity levels. This study provides populationlevel evidence-based sets of words that are highly representative of *physical activity/exercise* and *pleasant* descriptors of physical activity/exercise. These words can be used as a resource in efforts to better measure automatic evaluations in response latency tasks and to enhance automatic evaluations via evaluative conditioning tasks. The next step in this line of research is to find effective ways to utilize this resource to increase physical activity levels and stimulate the physical health benefits with which physical activity is associated (Warburton et al., 2006; Sattelmair et al., 2011; Rebar et al., 2015b).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AR, SS, SA, and CV helped conceive of the idea of the study design, assisted in coding, analyzing the data, interpreted the findings, and provided intellectual content for manuscript. CS, JD, BJ, DC, and RR helped conceive of the idea of the study design, assisted in interpreting the findings, and provided intellectual content for manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

AR (GNT1105926) and CS (GNT1090517) are supported by Early Career Fellowships from the National Health Medical Research Council. CV is supported by a Future Leader Fellowship from the National Heart Foundation of Australia (#100428).

- Berry, T. R., Spence, J. C., and Clark, M. E. (2011). Exercise is in! Implicit exercise and sedentary-lifestyle bias held by in-groups. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 41, 2985–2998. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2011.00857.x
- Bluemke, M., Brand, R., Schweizer, G., and Kahlert, D. (2010). Exercise might be good for me, but I don't feel good about it: do automatic associations predict exercise behavior. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 32, 137–153. doi: 10.1123/jsep.32.2.137
- Booth, M. L., Bauman, A., Owen, N., and Gore, C. J. (1997). Physical activity preferences, preferred sources of assistance, and perceived barriers to increased activity among physically inactive Australians. *Prev. Med.* 26, 131–137. doi: 10.1006/pmed.1996.9982
- Bradley, M. M., and Lang, P. J. (1999). Affective Norms for English Words (ANEW): Instruction Manual and Affective Ratings. Technical Report C-1. Gainesville, FL: University of Florida.
- Brand, R., and Schweizer, G. (2015). Going to the gym or to the movies?: situated decisions as a functional link connecting automatic and reflective evaluations of exercise with exercising behavior. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 37, 63–73. doi: 10.1123/jsep.2014-0018
- Calitri, R., Lowe, R., Eves, F. F., and Bennett, P. (2009). Associations between visual attention, implicit and explicit attitude and behaviour for physical activity. *Psychol. Health* 24, 1105–1123. doi: 10.1080/08870440802245306

- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., and Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep.* 100, 126–131.
- Chaiken, S., and Trope, Y. (1999). *Dual-Process Theories in Social Psychology*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Conroy, D. E., Hyde, A. L., Doerksen, S. E., and Ribeiro, N. F. (2010). Implicit attitudes and explicit motivation prospectively predict physical activity. Ann. Behav. Med. Publ. Soc. Behav. Med. 39, 112–118. doi: 10.1007/s12160-010-9161-0
- Cunningham, W., Raye, C., and Johnson, M. (2004). Implicit and explicit evaluation: fMRI correlates of valence, emotional intensity, and control in the processing of attitudes. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 16, 1717–1729. doi: 10.1162/0898929042947919
- Cunningham, W. A., Zelazo, P. D., Packer, D. J., and Van Bavel, J. J. (2007). The iterative reprocessing model: a multilevel framework for attitudes and evaluation. Soc. Cogn. 25, 736–760. doi: 10.1177/1088868314544221
- Curtin, R., Presser, S., and Singer, E. (2000). The effects of response rate changes on the index of consumer sentiment. *Public Opin. Q.* 64, 413–428. doi: 10.1086/318638
- Curtin, R., Presser, S., and Singer, E. (2005). Changes in telephone survey nonresponse over the past quarter century. *Public Opin. Q.* 69, 87–98. doi: 10.1093/poq/nfi002
- De Houwer, J. (2001). A structural and process analysis of the implicit association test. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 37, 443–451. doi: 10.1006/jesp.2000.1464
- De Houwer, J. (2003). The extrinsic affective simon task. Exp. Psychol. 50, 77–85. doi: 10.1026//1618-3169.50.2.77
- De Houwer, J., Thomas, S., and Baeyens, F. (2001). Association learning of likes and dislikes: a review of 25 years of research on human evaluative conditioning. *Psychol. Bull.* 127, 853–869. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.6.853
- Evans, J. S. B., and Frankish, K. E. (2009). In Two Minds: Dual Processes and Beyond. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Eves, F. F., Scott, E. J., Hoppé, R., and French, D. P. (2007). Using the affective priming paradigm to explore the attitudes underlying walking behaviour. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 12, 571–585. doi: 10.1348/135910706X153775
- Fazio, R. H., Jackson, J. R., Dunton, B. C., and Williams, C. J. (1995). Variability in automatic activation as an unobtrusive measure of racial attitudes: a bona fide pipeline? *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 69, 1013–1027. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.69. 6.1013
- Gamer, M., Lemon, J., and Singh, I. F. P. (2012). *irr: Various Coefficients of Interrater Reliability and Agreement*. Available at: http://CRAN.R-project.org/p ackage=irr
- Greenwald, A. G., McGhee, D. E., and Schwartz, J. L. (1998). Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 1464–1480. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.6.1464
- Gwet, K. L. (2014). Handbook of Inter-Rater Reliability: the Definitive Guide to Measuring the Extent of Agreement Among Raters. Gaithersburg, MD: Advanced Analytics, LLC.
- Hofmann, W., De Houwer, J., Perugini, M., Baeyens, F., and Crombez, G. (2010). Evaluative conditioning in humans: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 136, 390–421. doi: 10.1037/a0018916
- Hollands, G. J., Prestwich, A., and Marteau, T. M. (2011). Using aversive images to enhance healthy food choices and implicit attitudes: an experimental test of evaluative conditioning. *Health Psychol.* 30, 195–203. doi: 10.1037/a00 22261
- Houben, K., Schoenmakers, T. M., and Wiers, R. W. (2010). I didn't feel like drinking but I don't know why: the effects of evaluative conditioning on alcohol-related attitudes, craving and behavior. *Addict. Behav.* 35, 1161–1163. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2010.08.012
- Hyde, A. L., Doerksen, S. E., Ribeiro, N. F., and Conroy, D. E. (2010). The independence of implicit and explicit attitudes toward physical activity: introspective access and attitudinal concordance. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 11, 387–393. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2010.04.008
- Hyde, A. L., Elavsky, S., Doerksen, S. E., and Conroy, D. E. (2012). The stability of automatic evaluations of physical activity and their relations with physical activity. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 34, 715–736. doi: 10.1123/jsep.34.6.715
- Karpinski, A., and Steinman, R. B. (2006). The single category implicit association test as a measure of implicit social cognition. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 91, 16–32. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.91.1.16

- Krieglmeyer, R., and Deutsch, R. (2010). Comparing measures of approachavoidance behaviour: the manikin task vs. two versions of the joystick task. *Cogn. Emot.* 24, 810–828. doi: 10.1080/02699930903047298
- Kwan, B. M., and Bryan, A. D. (2010). Affective response to exercise as a component of exercise motivation: attitudes, norms, self-efficacy, and temporal stability of intentions. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 11, 71–79. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport. 2009.05.010
- Lowe, R., Eves, F., and Carroll, D. (2002). The influence of affective and instrumental beliefs on exercise intentions and behavior: a longitudinal analysis. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 32, 1241–1252. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb0 1434.x
- Marteau, T. M., Hollands, G. J., and Fletcher, P. C. (2012). Changing human behavior to prevent disease: the importance of targeting automatic processes. *Science* 337, 1492–1495. doi: 10.1126/science.1226918
- McHugh, M. L. (2012). Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. *Biochem. Med.* 22, 276–282. doi: 10.11613/BM.2012.031
- Michie, S., Abraham, C., Whittington, C., McAteer, J., and Gupta, S. (2009). Effective techniques in healthy eating and physical activity interventions: a meta-regression. *Health Psychol.* 28, 690–701. doi: 10.1037/a0016136
- Murphy, S. T., and Zajonc, R. B. (1993). Affect, cognition, and awareness: affective priming with optimal and suboptimal stimulus exposures. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 64, 723–739. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.64.5.723
- Nosek, B. A., Greenwald, A. G., and Banaji, M. R. (2005). Understanding and using the implicit association test: II. Method variables and construct validity. *Pers. Social. Psychol. Bull.* 31, 166–180. doi: 10.1177/0146167204271418
- Rebar, A. L., Dimmock, J. A., Jackson, B., Rhodes, R. E., Kates, A., Starling, J., et al. (2016). A systematic review of non-conscious regulatory processes and physical activity. *Health Psychol. Rev* doi: 10.1080/17437199.2016.1183505 [Epub ahead of print].
- Rebar, A. L., Ram, N., and Conroy, D. E. (2015a). Using the EZ-diffusion model to score a single-category implicit association test of physical activity. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 16, 96–105. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2014. 09.008
- Rebar, A. L., Stanton, R., Geard, D., Short, C., Duncan, M. J., and Vandelanotte, C. (2015b). A meta-meta-analysis of the effect of physical activity on depression and anxiety in non-clinical adult populations. *Health Psychol. Rev.* 9, 366–378. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2015.1022901
- Rhodes, R. E., Fiala, B., and Conner, M. (2009). A review and meta-analysis of affective judgments and physical activity in adult populations. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 38, 180–204. doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9147-y
- Rudman, L. A. (2004). Sources of implicit attitudes. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 13, 79–82. doi: 10.1111/j.0963-7214.2004.00279.x
- Sattelmair, J., Pertman, J., Ding, E. L., Kohl, H. W., Haskell, W., and Lee, I.-M. (2011). Dose response between physical activity and risk of coronary heart disease a meta-analysis. *Circulation* 124, 789–795. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.110.010710
- Scott, E. J., Eves, F. F., Hoppé, R., and French, D. P. (2009). Accessibility of salient beliefs about the outcomes of physical activity. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 14, 159–174. doi: 10.1348/135910708X327608
- Sheeran, P., Gollwitzer, P. M., and Bargh, J. A. (2013). Nonconscious processes and health. *Health Psychol.* 32, 460–473. doi: 10.1037/a0029203
- Siram, N., and Greenwald, A. G. (2009). The Brief Implicit Association Test. *Exp. Psychol.* 56, 283–294. doi: 10.1027/1618-3169.56.4.283
- Warburton, D. E., Nicol, C. W., and Bredin, S. S. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *Can. Med. Assoc. J.* 174, 801–809. doi: 10.1503/ cmaj.051351

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Rebar, Schoeppe, Alley, Short, Dimmock, Jackson, Conroy, Rhodes and Vandelanotte. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

